
SLJLL,IVAN, MOTJNTJOY,  STAINBACK &. M I L L E R  PSC 

ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

Ronald M Sullivan 

Jesse T Mountjoy 

Frank Srainbaclc 

James M Miller June 1, 2012 
Micliacl A Fiorelln 

Allen M’ Holbrook 
Michael Sul l ivan  Via Federal Express 

Bryan R Reynolds 

Tyson A Kamuf Jeff neRouen 
Mark Srarnes Executive Director 

Ells,vorth Mount,ay Public Service Commission 
Susan Montalvo-Gcsscr 

M~~ L Mnorl,ou.ic 

21 1 Sower Boulevard, P.O. Box 615 
Frankfort, Kentucky 40602-06 15 

PUBLIC SERVICE 

Re: In th,e Matter of:  Applica,tion of Big Rivers Electric Corporation 
for  Approval of  its 201 2 Environmental Compliance Plan, 
for  Approval of its Amended Environmental Cost Recovery 
Surcharge Tarif f ,  for Certificates of Public Convenience and 
Necessity, arnd for Authority to Establish a Regulatory Account, 
P.S.C. Case No. 2012-00063 

Dear Mr. DeRouen: 

Enclosed for filing are a n  original and ten copies of Big Rivers Electric 
Corporation’s (i) response to Kentucky Industrial TJtility Customers, Inc.’s initial 
data requests, (ii) response to Attorney General’s initial data requests, (iii) response 
to Public Service Commission’s first request for information, (iv) response to h S’ ierra 
Club’s first requests for information, (v) a Petition for Confidential Treatment for 
certain documents being filed with the responses, and (vi) a motion to deviate from 
the requirement that  all documents filed in response to  data requests be furnished 
in paper form. Copies of this letter and all enclosures have been served on each of 
the persons listed on the attached service list. A copy of the information for which 
confidential treatment is sought has also been served on each party that has 
entered into Big Rivers’ confidentiality agreement. 

Sincerely yours, 

kv( -w- 
mes M. Miller 

JMM/ej 
Enclosures 

cc: Mark A. Bailey 
Albert Yockey Telephone (270) 926-3000 

Telccopier (270) 683-6693 

I00 St Ann Building 

PO Box 727 

Owensboro, Kentucky 

42 302-0727 



Service List 
PSC Case No. 2012-00063 

Jennifer B. Hans, Esq. 
Dennis G. Howard, 11, Esq 
Lawrence W. Cook, Esq. 
Matt James, Esq. 
Assistant Attorneys General 
1024 Capitol Center Drive 
Suite 200 
Frankfort, KY 40601-8204 

Michael L. Kurtz, Esq. 
Kurt J .  Boehm, Esg. 
Boehm, Kurtz and Lawry 
36 East Seventh Street, Suite 1510 
Cincinnati, OH 45202 

David C. Brown, Esg. 
Stites & Harbison PL,LC 
1800 Providian Center 
400 West Market Street 
Louisville, EN 40202 

Joe Childers, Esq. 
Joe F. Childers & Associates 
300 Lexington Building 
201 West Short Street 
Lexington, Kentucky 40507 

Kristin Henry 
Staff Attorney 
Sierra Club 
85 Second Street 
San Francisco, CA 94105 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

THE APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION FOR 
APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN AND 

REVISIONS TO ITS ENVLRONIYIENTAL S U R C € M G E  TARIFF, FOR 
CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITV, APJD FOR 

AUTHORITY TO ES A REGIXAT'O ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

VERIFICATION 

I, Patrick N. Augustine, verify, state, and affirm that I prepared or supervised the 
preparation of the data responses filed with this Verification, and that those data responses are 
true and accurate to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief formed after a reasonable 
inquiry. 

Patrick N. kugusde  

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA ) 
COUNTY OF FAIRFAX ) 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by Patrick N. Augustine on this 
t h e 3  day of May, 2012. 

Notary Public, Conimonweakh of 
Virginia 
My Commission Expires 



BIG R I n R S  ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

THE APPLICATION OF Is G RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION FOR 
APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PIAN AND 

REVISIONS TO ITS ENVIRONMENTAL SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR 
CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC C O W N I E N C E  AND NECESSITY, AND FOR 

AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

VERIFICATION 

I, Brian J. Azman, verify, state, and affirm that I prepared or supervised the 
preparation of the data responses filed with this Verification, and that those data responses are 
true and accurate to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief formed after a reasonable 
inquiry. 

STATE OF INDIANA 1 
1 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON ) 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by Brian J. Azman on this 
the 2 9 t h  day of Mav, 2012. \ 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

THE APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CQRPO ATTON FOR 
APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN AND 

REVISIONS TO ITS ENVIRONMENTAL SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR 
CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR 

AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

VERIFICATION 

I, Robert W. Berry, verify, state, and affirm that I prepared or supervised the 
preparation of the data responses filed with this Verification, and that those data responses are 
true and accurate to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief formed after a reasonable 
inquiry. 

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY ) 
COUNTY OF HENDERSON ) 

STJBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by Robert W. Berry on this the 
3_11_ day of May, 2012. 

Notdry h b l i c ,  Ky. S&te at Large 
My Commission Expires 1-3 -/f 

Notary Public, Kentucky State-At-Large 
My Commission Expires: July 3,2014 
ID 421 951 



RIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

THE APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL, 

ENVIRONMENTAL SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 
CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AN FOR AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH A 

REGUL,ATORU ACCOUNT 

OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN AND REVISIONS rro ITS 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

VERIFICATION 

I, William DePriest, veri@, state, a id  affirm that I prepared or supervised the preparation 
of the data resDoiises filed with this Verification. a id  that those data resnoiises are true and I 

accurate to the best of my knowledge, inforiiiation, 

William DePriest 

STATE OF IL,LINOIS 1 
COUNTY OF COOK 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by William DePriest on this the z a a y  of 
May, 2012. 

b. - - Notary Public, 
State of Illiiiois 
My Comini 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

THE APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION FOR 
APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN AND 

REVISIONS TO ITS ENVIRONMENTAL SIJRCHARGE TARIFF, FOR 
CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR 

AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

VERIFICATION 

I, David G. Crockett, verify, state, and affirm that I prepared or supervised the 
preparation of my data responses filed with this Verification, and that those data responses are 
true and accurate to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief formed after a reasonable 
inquiry. 

- ~- 

David G. Crockett 

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY ) 
COUNTY OF HENDERSON ) 

STJBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by David G. Crockett on this the . P d a y  
of May, 20 12. 

Si. i 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

THE APPLICATION OF BIG R I m R S  ELECTRIC CORPORATION FOR 

REVISIONS TO ITS ENVIRONMENTAL SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR 

AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN AND 

CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

VERIFICATION 

I, Mark A. Hite, verify, state, and affirm that I prepared or supervised the preparation 
of the data responses filed with this Verification, and that those data responses are true and 
accurate to the best of my laowledge, information, and belief formed after a reasonable inquiry. 

Mark A. Hite 

COMMONWEALTH OF E(ENT'CJCKY ) 
COTJNTY OF HENDERSON ) 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by Mark A. Hite on this the 3/ 
day of May, 2012. 

My Commission Expires 7- 3-/Y 

Notary Public, Kentucky State-At-Large 
My Commission Expires: July 3,201 4 
ID 421951 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

THE APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION FOR 
APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN AND 

REVISIONS TO ITS ENVIRONMENTAL SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR 
CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR 

AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

VERIFICATION 

I, Thomas I.,. Shaw, verify, state, and affirm that I prepared or supervised the 
preparation of the data responses filed with this Verification, and that those data responses are 
true and accurate to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief formed after a reasonable 
inquiry. 

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY ) 
COTJNTY OF HENDERSON ) 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by Thomas I.,. Shaw on this the rt” 
3 1  day of May, 2012. 

My Commission Expires 7- 3-/y 

Notary Public, Kentucky State-At-Large 
My Commission Expires: July 3,201 4 
ID 421 951 



BIG RIVlERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

THE APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION FOR 
APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN ANI) 

REVISIONS TO ITS ENVIRONMENTAL SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR 

AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 
CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONV€ZNIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

VERIFICATION 

I, John Wolfram, verify, state, and affirm that I prepared or supervised the preparation 
of the data responses filed with this Verification, and that those data responses are true and 
accurate to the best of my laowledge, information, and belief formed after a reasonable inquiry. 

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY ) 
COUNTY OF HENDERSON 1 

d- SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me by John Wolfram on this the L/ - 
day of May, 2012. 

Notby  Public, Kyj tate a t  Large 
MY Commission Expires PP-7,- 3 



ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

4----- 
Your Touchstone Energy" Cooperative 

COMMONWEALTH O F  KENTUCKY 

BEFORE THE PTJBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION O F  KENTUCKY 

In the Matter  of: 

APPLICATION O F  BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC 
CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL O F  ITS 
2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE 

ENVIRONMENTAL COST RECOVERY 
SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES 
O F  PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND 
NECESSITY, AND FOR AUTHORITY TO 
ESTABLISH A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

PLAN, FOR APPROVAT., O F  ITS AMENDED 

) 
1 
) 

) CaseNo.  
) 2012-00063 
) 
) 
) 
1 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General's 
Initial Request  for  Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

Volume 1 of 2 

FILED: June 1,2012 



.- 

~ 

AG 1-37 - Big Rivers 2010 Financial Statements 

AG 1-37 - Big Rivers 2010 Notes to Financial Statements 

___ yaurt,u*wnc Energy' C"ope"rt"e && 
--%- . 

Application of Big Rivers Electric Corporation 
for Approval of its 2012 

Environmental Compliance Plan, etc. 
Case No. 2012-00063 

Electronic Files in Response to the 

OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENT@ COMPLIANCE PLAN, FOE APPROVAL OF ITS 
AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR 

CERTI LIC CONVl3NXENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR 
ESTABLISH A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

E NO. 2012-00063 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General's 
Initial Request for Information dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

Information filed on CD accompanying responses 

I AG 1-23 - Bia Rivers 2011 Load Forecast I I 
I AG 1-32 - BR Series 2010A Offering Statement I I 

AG 1-37 - Big Rivers 2010 Financial Statements 

AG 1-37 - Big Rivers 2010 Notes to Financial Statements 
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NO. 2012-00063 

‘ce of the Attorney General’s 
est for Information 

ated May 21,21012 

June 1,2012 

1 lctem 1) What is the actual, average usage for EC’s rural class of  
2 customers for the past five years? 
3 

4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

9 

10 

11 
12 
13 

14 
15 

a. 

b. 

Provide a chart depicting the amount by which each such 
customer’s bill will increase, both in a dollar amount, and 
on a percentage basis. The percentage basis should 
reflect the percent of increase based on the company’s 

is should be provided on the 

Provide also the information indicated in. subpart (a), 
rolzen down by the three member c ~ ~ ~ e r a t i v e ’ s  

data for each of their own average rural class customers. 
The percentage basis should reflect the percent of  increase 
based on each member cooperative’s current ECR billings. 

16 Response) Please see the attached chart. 
17 
18 
19 

20 
21 
22 

a. Please refer to Exhibit Wolfram-6 found in the Direct Testimony 
of John Wolfram, which compares 2016 rates by customer class in 
the “Base Case” to rates in the “Build Case”. The difference in the 
2016 rates is due to the “2012 Plan” net cost and is expressed as a 
percentage of 2016 “Base Case” rates and as a percentage of 2012 

0. 2012-00063 



F ITS 2012 E 9 

ay 21,2012 

une 1,2012) 

1 

2 
3 

4 b. 
5 

6 
7 
8 

9 

“Base Case” rates. Also, please see Item 19b of these responses 
for a calculation of the average monthly dollar increase per 
customer class. 
The data for each rate class shown in Exhibit Wolfram-6 is 
generally applicable to all three member systems. Any slight 
variations from these averages would stem from differences in the 
consumption or load factor of individual end use consumers. 

10 

11 

tnesses) Mark A. Hite and John Wolfram 

0. 2012-00063 

ite a 
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1s 
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21 

9 

of the Attorney 
t for Information 
ay 21,2012 

une 1,2012 

at is the actual, average monthly usage for  
industrial class customers o f fo r  the past five years? 

rovide a chart depicting the amount by which each such 
customer’s bill will increase, both in  a dollar amount, and 
on a percentage basis. The percentage basis should 
reflect the percent of increase based on the company’s 

billings. This should be provided on the 
basis of  BREC’s wholesale rates. 
Provide also the information indicated in  subpart (a), 

data for  each of their own average ru,ral class customers. 
The percentage basis should reflect the percen 
based on each member cooperative’s current E 

b. 
roken down by the three member eo 

esponse) Please see the chart attached to Item 1. 

a, b. Please see the response to Item 1. 

itnesses) Mark A. Hite and John Wolfram 

Case No. 2012-00063 

ite an 
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2 

3 

4 

S 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

1s 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

9 

June 1,2012 

at is the actual, average monthly usage for the two smelters 
for  the past five years? 

rovide a chart depicting the amount by which both 
smelter’s bill will increase, both in  a dollar amount, and 
on a percentage basis. The percentage basis should 
reflect the percent of  increase base on the company’s 

billings. This should e prwvided on the 
basis of  BREC’s wholesale rates. 

b. the smelters’ E sums are actually billed by 
provide data depicting the projecte increases, both in 
dollar amounts and on a percentage basis. The 
percentage basis should reflect the percent of increase 
based on each member cooperative’s current E 

esponse) Please see the chart attached to Item 1. 

a,b. Please see the response to Item 1. 

itnesses) Mark A. Hite and John Wolfram 





1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

6 
7 

8 

9 

10 

11 
12 
13 
14 

9 

torney General’s 

June 1,2012 

tern 4) State whether the cost estimates in EC’s filing include any 
estimates for any predicted, or any potential escalation of labor and 

assumptions upon which any such estimate was based. 
information in an Excel spreadsheet, with all formulae intact. 

so, provide all such data, together with any and all 
rovide all such 

esponse) Capital costs and Q&M costs were based on 2011 pricing. A capital 
cost escalation rate of 2.5% and an  Q&M cost escalation rate of 2.5% were 
assumed in all calculations. This data is included in the economic evaluation 
parameters defined in Exhibit DePriest - 2, Table 1-1. 

itness) William DePriest 





1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
1s 
16 
17 

18 
19 
20 
21 

9 

June 1,2012 

Item 5 )  

extent, i f  any, BREC considered the availability and cost of  purchasing 
power instead of retrofitting any one, or all of its existing generating 
units. Provide this information in a chart, per each generating unit, with 
one column depicting the total sum of  all project(s) for that unit which 
are the subject of this filing, and in another column depict any and all 
projections of  costs for purchased power to replace the generation from 
each generating unit. The chart should go forward in time for ten (10) 
years. If not, why not? so, please explain in detail including any cost 
studies, analyses, etc. 

lease reference the application in general. State to what 

a. I f  the company has not conducted any studies regarding 
costs for replacement power, state in complete detail why 
not. 

esponse) As described in Mr. Hite’s testimony, Big Rivers did run a scenario to  
purchase generation in lieu of retrofitting its generating units for CSAPR 
compliance. This is referred to as the “Buy Case” first discussed on page 6 of Mr. 
Hite’s testimony. 

Since MATS requires all units to meet an  emission rate, it is not 
practical to comply with MATS by reducing generation. Big Rivers would have to 



9 

est for Information 
May 21,2012 

June 1,2 

1 
2 

3 
4 
5 itness) Robert VV. Berry 
6 

retire all units and either purchase generation or add new generation to comply 
with M_ATS without making modifications to existing units. 





s cc, 

1 
2 

3 

4 

5 

6 
7 

S 

9 

10 

11 
12 

13 

14 
15 

16 
17 
1s  

9 

esponse to the Office of the Atdor 
nitial Request for ~ n ~ o r ~ a d i o ~  

une 1,2012 

&em 6) If the proposed deviation from methodology is 
approved, will the smelters in essence receive special treatment that they 

o not otherwise receive under the applicant’s current methodology? 

esponse) No. The reason for changing Big Rivers’ environmental surcharge 
cost allocation to a total adjusted revenue basis is that the existing kWh cost 
allocation basis will no longer be appropriate because of the capital costs included 
in the 2012 Plan. For example, in 2016, 100% ($43.4 million) of all current plan 
environmental surcharge eligible costs are variable, or kWh based. Following the 
2012 Plan being completed, in 2016, it is estimated that 34% ($27.2 million) of the 
total environmental surcharge eligible costs will be fixed and 66% ($53.0 million) 
will be variable. Allocating fixed costs on a kWh basis is not consistent with the 
widely accepted regulatory principle that fixed costs should be recovered through 
fixed charges (such as a demand charge) and variable costs should be recovered 
through variable charges (such as energy or per-kWh charges). 

itnesses) Mark A. Hite and John Wolfram 

itnesses: 





8 

9 
10 
11 

12 
13 

14 

1s 
16 

17 
18 

19 
20 
21 
22 

9 

ffice of the A t t o ~ ~ e y  

eference the filing in general. lease state whether the 
conzpany anticipates any plant of  any type or sort to be decommissioned 
and/or retire SO, please state whether the projected costs thereof are 
included in the total costs which are the subject o f th i s  filing. 

a. t h  regard to any ecommissionin /retireinent of plant, 
provide a chart depicting e impact of these costs, broken 
down by ratepayer class. vide this information both in 
wholesale rates 6: will charge its members, as well as 
in retail rates the three ineinber cooperatives will charge 
to their customers, broken down by ratepayer class. 

the impact this will have on 
6. "th regard to any decommissioning / retirement, provide 

EC's depreciation rates. 

espornse) Big Rivers does not anticipate any of its power plants being 
decommissioned and/or retired in its entirety. Big Rivers does estimate that 
$49.185 million in gross plant will be retired from the Wilson scrubber, as 
discussed in the testimonies of Mr. Hite and Mr. Wolfram. 

a. Not applicable. 
b. Not applicable. 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-7 

itness: Robe 
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June 1, 

1 
2 itness) Robert W. Berry 
3 





1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

9 

t for Information 

lease refer to the Application at p .  7, p a ~ a ~ r a p h  16. 
identify where in the 2012 lan, and where in 
estimated capital cost and estimated cost o fop@ra t~on  for each of the 
construction projects listed can be found. 

erry’s testimony, the 

esponse) The estimated capital cost for each project in the 2012 Plan can be 
found in the last column on the first page of Exhibit Berry - 2, and the estimated 
O&M cost is also in Exhibit Berry - 2 on page 2 of 2 beginning in the fifth column 
from the left margin. These costs can also be found in section IV of Mr. Berry’s 
testimony. Section IV is the “Project Overview and Descriptions” section 
beginning on page 18 of 33 and continuing through line sixteen on page 24 of 33. 

tness) Robert W. Berry 





9 

ation 

12 

tern 9) the company currently a party or amicus in any l ~ w s u i ~ ~  
regarding the EPA regulations which necessitated this filing? 
provide complete details. 

esponse) No. 

itness) Robert W. Berry 





9 

the Commission a d o ~ t s  the 20 lan as proposed by 
recower through its what are the total costs that 

environmental surcharge ta eeifie dollar amount. 

anse) Please see the  response to I tem 17. 

tness) John Wolfkam 





1 

2 

3 

4 
5 
6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

9 

une 1,2012 

identify and provide a copy of the agreement between 
C regarding the cost share a ~ ~ o ~ a t i o n  of the retrofits to 

esponse) Please see the documents in Big Rivers’ response to Item 48 of 
KIUC’s First Set of Data Requests, and which are provided on a CD accompanying 
Big Rivers’ response to those requests. 

itness) Robert W. Berry 





1 
2 
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4 
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6 

7 
S 

9 
10 
11 
12 
13 

14 
1s  
16 

17 

1s  

19 
20 
21 

22 

EC investigated or otherwise inquired whether the 
use's proposed budget could prevent, impact or otherwise limit 

funding for the retrofits and other capital projects etailed in the 
n ex~lanat ion for  your answer as proposed? 

and any communications 
proposed budget's impae i f  it were passed by the U S .  
CQngreSS. 

e's proposed budget revent, imp ae t 
or otherwise 
coal-fired ~ e ~ e r ~ t i o n ~  I f  SO, how does it impact 

EC consider any such possible 

funding for new build projects for 

limitations in  devising its 2012 
that information affect the pla 
details. 

ifso, how did 
vide complete 

onse) Big Rivers is unaware of any current provision in the White House's 
proposed fiscal year budget ending September 30, 2013, that restricts, prevents, or 
impacts the potential for Big Rivers' being approved for an RUS loan guarantee 
for an FFB loan for Big Rivers' 2012 Plan capital projects. During a March 20, 
2012, meeting in Washington D.C. between Big Rivers and RUS representatives, 
Big Rivers asked whether RIJS funding would be available to Big Rivers for its 



S E  

1 

2 

3 

4 
5 

6 
7 
8 

9 

10 

9 

June 1,2012 

2012 Plan, and the RUS staff said that, subject to Big Rivers fulfilling the 
application requirements, there would be funds available for those purposes. 

a. Big Rivers is not considering a new build coal-fired generation 
project and has not investigated the availability of RUS funding 
for such a project. 

itness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-000 
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5 
6 
7 
8 
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10 
11 
12 
13 
14 

15 
16 
17 
18 

19 
20 

9 

of the Ad%l3rnc?y 
.d; for Information 
ay  21,2012 

tem 13) REc is unable to obtain US financing9 what other 
financing will be used and how will that financing affect the total overall 
costs to &e passed on via the environmental surcharge? 

a. EC willing to consider using as much short-term 
term financing? financing as possible, as opposed to lo 

not, explain in detail why not. 

onse) In addition to pursuing RUS financing for its 2012 Plan capital 
expenditures, Big Rivers is investigating a revolver that would allow for multiple 
advances that would subsequently bridge to permanent RTJS financing, capital 
market options including a private placement and a public offering, and a 
structure that allows for numerous long-term loans, generally pursuant to a 2012 
Plan funding schedule. A RUS borrowing at 0.125% over the U.S. Treasury rate is 
the lowest cost option. Note that on March 23, 2012, the 20-year 1J.S. Treasury 
rate was 2.41%. The evaluation of Big Rivers' 2012 Plan assumed a borrowing 
rate of 5.50%, and was based on a capital market financing. Please see Big Rivers' 
response to Item 29 of the Commission Staffs First Request for Information for 
additional information regarding the 5.50% interest rate. 



1 
2 

9 

ulle 1,2012 

a. The risk of utilizing short-term financing is that the current 
historically low interest rates will rise. 

3 

4 
5 itness) Mark A. Hite 
6 

Case No. 2012-00063 
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6 
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8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 
19 

20 
21 
22 

¶ 

rence the application at par 
seprovide a compreh e, detailed summary and 

timeline pertaining to the applicant's compliance contained within 
the application. The answer should include the names of any individu~ls9 
agents firms or contractors, whether under the direct employment by the 
applicant, under contract by the applicant, under the supervision of the 

 nowl ledge of or participated in any way with the co~~p l iance  plan, 
including those projects not chosen, in  the application. lease provide 
copies of any and all materials which relate to this question, including 
but not limited to the following: 

raph 7 and the application 

licant9 or otherwise engaged by the applicant in any fashion who have 

a. 
b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

f i  

tice of  final rule, 
re1 imina ry preparation for compliance, inc 1 uding those 

for any projects abandoned or rejected, 
reparation sche ules for project(s1, ~ncluding any that 

were rejected or aband~ned,  
Costs estimates, including for any projects that were 
rejected or abandoned, 

one(s1, and 
ecision making, at any and all stages, includi 

ny materials, models, software, stu ies, and analyses. 
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14 

1s 
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19 
20 

ation 

une 1,2012 

any of the materials are in eel or other fo1-m th t contain formulae, 
please provide them with cells intact. 

onse) Rig Rivers objects to this request on the grounds that it is overly 
broad and that it seeks information protected by the attorney client and work 
product privileges. Without waiving this objection, Big Rivers states as follows. 

Big Rivers Environmental Compliance Plan is set forth in Exhibit 
Berry-2. The timeline for compliance is set forth generally in Big Rivers’ response 
to Item 37 of the Commission Staffs First Request for Information. Please see Big 
Rivers’ responses to Item 1 of the Commission Staffs First Request for 
Information and Items 21 and 25 of these responses for information related to 
outside firms Rig Rivers’ has engaged in relation t o  its compliance plan. Please 
also see the CD Big Rivers filed with its April 26, 2012, response to I<IUC’s Motion 
to Dismiss and the CDs Big Rivers filed May 24,2012, May 29,2012, and May 30, 
2012, in response to the May 11, 2012, letter from KITJC’s counsel to Big Rivers’ 
counsel. 

itness) Robert W. Berry 
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9 

quest for Information 
d May 21,2012 

Item 15) 
pertain to or are based uponJ modeling, please provide any and all inputs 
that were chosen as well as those that were not chosen. 

th regard to any and all materials in the appLmtion t tat 

a. For- any and all inputs used in the modeling, please 
provide the basis for choosing the use thereof. 
For any and all inputs which were considered but not 
used in the modeling, please provide the basis for 

b. 

oosing not to use t 

Response) 
a. ?lease see the CD Big Rivers’ filed May 24, 2012, in response to 

the May 11, 2012, letter from KIUC’s counsel to Big Rivers’ 
counsel. 
Big Rivers objects to this question because it is overly broad, 
seeks information which is not relevant to proceeding, and seeks 
information which is protected by the attorney client and work 
product privileges . 

b. 

Witnesses) Robert W. Berry (a) and Counsel (a and b) 
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une 1,2012 

16) I f  any of the materials rejected any 
compliance over- another option, please provid 
timeline pertaining to the applicant’s decision to reject the option. 

rticular option for 
detailed summary and 

onse) Big Rivers objects to this question because it is overly broad, seeks 
information which is not relevant to proceeding, and seeks information which is 
protected by the attorney client and work product privileges. Without waiving 
these objections, Rig Rivers states as follows: 

Rig Rivers rejected the option to install SNCRs on the Coleman units 
due to the operational limitations caused by this technology. Installing SNCR’s on 
these smaller units such as those in the Big Rivers fleet is problematic as it limits 
the turn down capability? causes premature air heater fouling and the NOx 
removal efficiency of an  SNCR is approximately 50% compared to a SCR removal 
efficiency of approximately 90%. 

Discussions regarding this change between Big Rivers and Sargent & 

Lundy personnel occurred in November, and December 2011 and January 2012. 
In addition to the Coleman SNCR decision, the following options 

were considered in the Sargent & Lundy study arid were evaluated to be not least 
cost options. They include converting Green units to natural gas, installing the 
FMC PerNoxide system at Green, and installing low NOx burners a t  Coleman. 
Details of this evaluation are in the S&L study, Exhibit DePriest-2. 

Case No. 2012-00063 
esponse to AG 1-16 

itness: Robe 



of the Attorney 

June 1,201 

1 

2 

3 itness) Robert MT. Berry 
4 





s c c  
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6 
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8 
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11 

12 

13 

14 

1s 

9 

eference the application at paragraph 8. State the specific 
total amount of the recovery of costs which the company seeks to recover 
forprojects contained in the 2012plan. Provide also an. annual break 
down of those costs over the life span of theprojects. 

espomse) Big Rivers is seeking recovery on capital projects totaling $283.49 
million, as detailed in Exhibit Hite-2 of the direct testimony of Mark Hite. 
Specific detail on the breakdown of those project’s costs for the years 2012 through 
2026 can be found on the ECP tab of the “Build Case” financial model Excel file 
provided with Big Rivers’ April 26, 2012, response to KITJC’s motion to dismiss. 
Please see Big Rivers’ response to Item 18 for other costs. 

tness) Mark A. Hite 
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9 

quest for Information 
ed May 21,2012 

renee the application at paragraph $ and the application 
se provide a detailed breakdown of the following: 

3 
4 

S 
6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

1s 

16 

17 

18 

19 

e. ““other c o s t ~ ~ ’ ~  identify in^ fully the nature ofsuc 

Costs.” 

esponse) Please reference the ECP tab of the “Build Case” financial model 
Excel file provided with Big Rivers’ April 26, 2012, response to KITJC’s motion to 

dismiss. Fixed costs included in the ECP tab are all related to the “2012 Plan” as  
the current environmental compliance plan contains no fixed cost component. 
Please note that the variable costs on the ECP tab include variable costs for the 
current environmental compliance plan and the “2012 Plan”. 

itness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 20121 

Page B of1 
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14 
15 

9 

onse to the Office of the Attorney 
equest for ~ n f o r m a ~ i o ~  

June I, 2012 

tern? 19) eference the application at p a r ~ g r a p h  9 and 
prefiled testimony and exhibits, in particular 
the following. 

a.  The actual average usage per month for each customer 
class taking service under the tariffs listed on 
The actual average dollar increase per  month requested 
for each customer class taking service under the tariffs 
listed on ~ o l ~ r a i ~ - ~ ~  

h. 

onse) 
a,b. See attached. 

itness) Mark A. Hite 
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1s 
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17 

18 
19 

June 1,2012 

Item 20) Reference the application at paragraph 1 2  State with 
specificity the efforts undertaken by the applicant to obtain the air 
permits and the anticipated date of receipt of the air permits noted 
therein. 

onse) Big Rivers met with John Lyons of the Division for Air Quality on 
March 5, 2012, to discuss the process by which to modify or amend existing Title V 
permits for the installation of control equipment. On May 8, 2012, Big Rivers 
submitted a renewal application for the Title V permit for Wilson station, which 
addresses the possible installation of a new FGD scrubber. Big Rivers relies on 
the Division for Air Quality to timely review the applications and t o  issue the 
permits; however, Big Rivers understands that the permits could be issued before 
the end of August. 

Big Rivers will submit a Title V permit modification to the Division 
for Air Quality for the installation of an SCR on Green Station Unit 2 by the end 
of July 2012. 

tness) Thomas I,. Shaw 

Case No. 2012-00063 
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8 
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10 
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12 
13 

14 
1s 
16 
17 
18 

19 
20 
21 

22 

tern 21) eference the application at parag~~aph  13. State with 
specificity the efforts undertaken by the applicant to complete the 
engineering and design construction of the projects which the a~p l i can t  
has undertaken. the answer, rovide all details including the 
individuals or entities involved, the costs, the anticipated completion 
date($, schedules involved, property procurement process? i f  any, and all 
other relevant information for  completion of the projects. 

esponse) To date, Big Rivers has not entered into any contract with 
engineering and design firms, equipment suppliers, or construction firms relative 
to the projects listed in its filing. 

Big Rivers has solicited proposals from engineering firms regarding 
preparation of a RFP for the Wilson FGD replacement project. Proposals were 
solicited from Burns and McDonnell, Sargent & Lundy, and Black and Veatch. 

Big Rivers anticipates selecting one of these vendors during June 
2012. Current schedule would involve completion of this RFP by September. 
Assuming Rig Rivers receives an  order during the fourth quarter of 2012, Rig 
Rivers would issue the RFP and solicit bids from FGD firms during the last 
quarter of 2012. The engineering firm selected would assist with bid evaluation 
and recommendation of successful vendor. Contract award would occur around 
the end of 2012, with vendor design, manufacture and procurement, and 
construction following. 
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11 

June 1,2101 

The plan is to begin construction during the summer of 2013 
(pending issuance of permits) with the replacement FGD in  service around 
January 2016. In addition, Rig Rivers will follow similar steps for the other 
projects included in the filing. Big Rivers anticipates spending $2.35 million for 
engineering services for the projects included in the Environmental Compliance 
Plan not including vendor engineering. These costs are included in the total costs 
proposed for the 2012 Plan in the Application. 

itness) Robert W. Berry 
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une 1,2012 

tern 22) Provide any economically feasibility tests undertaken by the 
company with regard to the ability of  the end-user to p a y  his/her/its bill 
and thus the ability of same to continue to take the projected amount of 
load and not decrease usage thus affecting the overall demand on the 
system. 

esponse) Big Rivers did not calculate any potential erosion in  usage by end use 
consumers that might result from the increase in rates stemming from the rate 
changes in the requested environmental cost recovery mechanism in this 
proceeding. Price elasticity analyses are not ordinarily undertaken by Applicants 
in cases where the proposed rate increases are of the magnitude contemplated in 
this case. 

itness) John Wolfram 
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9 

June 1,2012 

rovide projected load growth, or Each thereoL for the next ten 
years for each customer class by tariff. Ivf possible, provide also a 
breakdown of the information by each distribution cooperative. 

Response) Big Rivers’ 2011 Load Forecast provides load growth for the next 5 
and 15 year time-frames. The 15 year projected growth rates for peak load are 
provided below. 

Big Rivers Rural 1.3% 
Kenergy Rural 1.3% 
Jackson Purchase Rural 1.5% 
Meade County Rural 1.5% 

Big Rivers Direct ServeLarge Industrial 
Kenergy Direct ServeLarge Industrial 0.0% 
Jackson Purchase Direct Serve/Large Industrial 

0.0% 

0.0% 

Please also see the load forecast projections which are provided on the CD 
accompanying these responses.. 

tness) Robert W. Berry 

Case No. 2012-00863 
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t ~ r n e y  GeneraI9s 
quest for Information 
ed May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

tern 24) eference the application at paragraph 15. 

specificity, i f  known, the anticipated approach, and the likelihood of 
obtaining same, for the refinancing of the proposed construction projects 
in the application. 

esponse) Please see the Direct Testimony of Mark Hite beginning on page 15, 
and Big Rivers' response to Item 29 of the Commission Staffs First Request for 
Information, which address the 2012 Plan financing. There is no refinancing 
involved. Big Rivers plans to  file its Financing Application for its 2012 Plan no 
earlier than August 2, 2012. 

itmess) Mark A. Hite 
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June I,.ZQf2 

25) eference the application at p a r a ~ r a ~ h  18. State with 
specificity the time period, the amount, the purpose and the entity 
associated with the costs incurred in developing the ap~l ica t ion .  

esponse) Please see Big Rivers’ response to Item 1 of the Commission Staffs 
First Re quest for Information. 

tness) Mark A. Hite 





S ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

1 
2 

3 

4 
5 
6 

7 
8 
9 

10 

11 
12 

13 

14 
1.5 

16 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMEN ED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 
RE URCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CE TTFICATES O F  PUBLIC 

OR AUTHORITY TO ENCE AND NECESSITY, AND 
EGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General's 
Initial Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

J u n e  1,2012 

Item 26) 
the ratepayers. Where is the actu<al dollar amount listed? 

Reference the application at exhibit 2 is which, the notice to 

Response) Exhibit Wolfram-6, which was attached to the notice Big Rivers sent 
to its members (see Exhibit 2 of the application, page 5 of S),  shows the estimated 
amount of the proposed increase per customer class. Column 1 shows current 
(2012) rates. Column 2 shows estimated rates in 2016 if Big Rivers does not 
undertake the 2012 Plan or take any compliance steps outlined in this 
Application. Column 3 shows estimated rates in 2016 including the projects in the 
2012 Plan. Thus, the estimated dollar impact in 2016 of completing the 2012 Plan 
relative to current (2012) rates can be determined by subtracting the number in 
column 1 from the number in column 3.  

Witness) John Wolfram 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response t o  AG 1-26 

Witness: J o h n  Wolfram 
Page 1 of 1 
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9 

esponse to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for I n ~ o r ~ a ~ i o ~  

Item 27) Provide copies of any an all correspondence, information, 
studies9 analyses, etc. that were exchanged or comrnunicated between 

EC related to the wor-lz performed by S 
the answer, provide a copy of the contract between 

BREC and S&L and D 

esponse) Please see the documents in Big Rivers’ response to Item 36 of 
I(IUC’s First Set of Data Requests, and which are provided on a CD accompanying 
Big Rivers’ responses to those requests, for all correspondence between S&L, DPI 
and Big Rivers. Please see Big Rivers ‘ Sargent & Lundy Purchase Order Nos. 
203562 and 210260 which are attached hereto. The contracts between Big Rivers 
and S&L and DPI are provided under a petition for confidential treatment. 

itness) Robert W. Berry 





E L E C T R I C  C O R P O R A T I O N  

PURCHASE ORDER NO 
203562 

Your Toiichstonc Encrgy Chopcrativc 

VENDOR: 

CHICAGO, iL 60603-5780 

RwLsIoN 

I 

VENDOR NQ 
39288 

DELIVER TO DATE OF ORDEWBUYER 
19-APR-11 Foster, Mark 

ITEM PART NUMBERlDESCRlPTlON DELIVERY DATE QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE EXTENSION 

PAYMENT TERMS 

FREIGHT TERMS 
PREPAID ADD 

30 NET DAYS 

Special Instructions: This Purchase Order No must appear on all invoices, packing lists, cartons and correspondences related to this order 

ATTN: TODD HANSSEN (PER JIM GARRETT) REVISED TO ADD LINE 2 

BEST WAY POSSIBLE 

BUYER TELEPHONElFAX 

SHIP VIA 
270-844"5565 888-730,.6935 



g& E L E C T R I C  C O R P O R A T I O N  

VENDOR NO 
39288 

Your Toidistone Eticrgy Cooperative 

VENDOR: SARGENT AND LU 

CHICAGO, IL 60603-5780 

DELIVER TO 

-.-_-.--_I 
PART NUMBERlDESCRlPTlON 

NOT TO EXCEED COST OF $189,000 00 
EASED ON SARGENT LUNDY 
PROPOSAL DATED 4/15/2011. TIME AND 
MATERIAL RATES SECTION 5 

SHIP TO:GARREll, JAMES R 

ADDITIONAL WORK AS PROPOSED BY 
SARGENT AND LUNDY'S 12/11/11 
LETTER ADDRESSED TO ERIC 
ROBESON; SPECIFICALLY ITEMS 1 
THROUGH 4 INCLUSIVE OF COST 
ADJUSTMENTS TO PHASE I1 PRICING 
(LETTER ON FILE )" 

SHIP TO:KING, VlCKlE 

3UESTIONS / REPLIES CONCERNING THIS 
IOCUMENT SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO: 
L?ARK FOSTER - SEBREE STATION PHONE 

dARK FOSTER@BIGRIVERS COM 
270) 844-5565 FAX (888) 730-6935 EMAIL. 

PURCHASE ORDER NO 
203562 

BIG RIVERS ELECTIC CORP 

9000 HWY 2096 
ROBARDS,KY 42452 

SEBREE STATION - ATTN: WAREHOUSE 

BIG RIVERS ELECTIC GORP 
SEBREE STATION - ATTN: WAREHOlJSE 
9000 HWY 2096 r- ROBARDS,KY 42452 -1 

-.- 
DATE OF ORDEWBUYER 
19-APR-1 t Foster, Mark 
BUYER TELEPHONElFAX 
270-844-5565 888-730-6935 
SHIP VIA 
BEST WAY POSSIF 

DELIVERY DATE 

20-APR-11 

QUANTIT 

18900 
0 

1 

UNIT 

LOT 

EACH 

REVISED DATElBlJYER 
16-FEB-12 Foster, Mark 
F 0.B 
DESTINATION 
VENDOR CONTACTlTELEPHONE 
1312) 269-2000 - 

UNIT PRICE 

$ 1.00 

$30300.00 

EXTENSION 

$ 189000 00 

$ 30300 00 

TOTAL 1 $219,300.00 1 





ELECTRIC COR PO RAT1 0 N 

V E N D O R ~ O  DELIVER TO 
39288 
PAYMENT TERMS 
30 NET DAYS 
FREIGHT TERMS 
PREPAID ADD 

Youi Touchstone Energy Coopemtivc &z 
VENDOR: SARGENT AND LUMDY LLC 

55 EAST MONROE ST 
CHICAGO, IL 60603-5780 

DATE OF ORDEWBUYER REVISED DATE/BUYER 
06-MAR-12 Frederick, Dana Leigh Frederick, Dana Leigh 
BUYER TELEPHONWFAX F.0.B 
270-844-6139 888-514-31 78 DESTINATION 
SHIP VIA VENDOR CONTACTKELEPHONE 
BEST WAY POSSIBLE (312) 2692000 ,. 

~- 
SHIP TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henderson.KY 42420 

~~- 
BILL TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henderson.KY 42420 

Special Instructions: This Purchase Order No. rniisf appear on all invoices, packing lists, cartons and correspondences related to this order 

QUESTIONS I REPLIES CONCERNING THIS DOCUMENT SHOtJLD BE DIRECTED TO: DANA FREDERICK - HEADQUARTERS PHONE 
(270) 844-6139 FAX (888) 514-3178 EMAIL: DANA.FREDERICK@BIGRIVERS.GOM 

A signed copy of the General Services Agreement (GSA) is on file at Big Rivers Electric Corporation and is hereby incorporated by reference 

I TOTAL I CONTINUED 
I I I 

I 



e> E L E C T R I C  C O R P O R A T I O N  

PURCHASE ORDER NO REV'S'oN 
0 

21 0260 

Your Totickstone Energy Coopcrative 

VENDOR: SARGENT AND LUNDY LLC 
55 EAST MONROE ST 
CHICAGO, IL 60603-5780 

PAGE 
2 

VENDOR NO 
39288 

PREPAID AD1 

ITEM 

1 
-- 

DELIVER TO 

PART NUMBERIDESCRIPTION 

TO PROVIDE WITNESS TESTIMONY 
PER 2/17/12 PROPOSAL FOR EMISSION 
CONTROL EQUIPMENT REQUIRED TO 
MEET THE REGlJlATORY 
REQUIREMENTS ISSUED BY THE EPA 
IN2011. 

I_-_____.---- 
DATE OF ORDEWBUYER 
06-MAR-12 Frederick, Dana Leigh 
BlJYER TELEPHONOFAX 
270-844-6139 888-514-31 78 
SHIP VIA 
BEST WAY POSSIE 
~~ 

DELIVERY DATE QUANTIP LJNIT 

EACH 

REVISED DATOBUYER 

F.0.B 
DESTINATION 
VENDOR CONTACTlTELEPHONE 

Frederick, Dana Leigh 

(312) 2692000 __ 

UNIT PRICE - 
$ 1  00 

EXTENSION 

TOTAL 1 $75,00000 1 



a-11” xi” E L E C T R I C  C O R P O R A T I O N  
__. 

Your Touchstone Encrgy Coopcmtivc _-___ 
VENDOR: SARGENT AND LUNDY LLC 

55 EAST MONROE ST 
CHICAGO, iL 60603-5780 

PURCHASE ORDER NO ”” 
2 II 0260 __ ____ 

SHIP TO. 
201 Third Street 
Henderson,KY 42420 

BILL TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henderson,KY 42420 

TACTRELEPHONE 
30 NET DAYS 
FREIGHT TERMS 



Your Touchstone Energy' Coopcrativc \ 

VENDOR: 

CHICAGO, IL 60603-5780 

39288 

PURCHASE ORDER N O T T m - - F  
21 0260-1 

05-APR-12 King, Vickie - King, Vickie 

I . ~  

SHIP TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henderson,KY 42420 

~. 
VENDOR NO DELIVER TO 

30 NET DAYS .- 

PREPAID ADD ,---.,- 

PAYMENT TERMS 

FREIGHT TERMS 

--"___l 

BILL TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henderson,KY 42420 

_~_".--__ 
DATE OF ORDEWBUYER REVISED~ATEIBUYER 

DESTINATION 
VENDOR CONTACTFELEPHONE 
312) 269-2000 

BUYER TELEPHONElFAX F.0.B 

SHIP VIA 
270-844-6152 - 

K S T W A Y  POSSIBLE" ...._.__.-__-- "_".__""_"d ( 

ITEM PART NUMBER/DESCRIPTION DELIVERY DATE QUANTIN UNIT UNIT PRICE EXTENSION 

Special Instructions: This Purchase Order No. must appear on all invoices, packing lists, cartons and correspondences related to this order 

QUESTIONS I REPLIES CONCERNING THIS DOCUMENT SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO: DANA FREDERICK - HEADQUARTERS PHONE 
(270) 844-61 39 FAX (888) 514-3178 EMAIL: DANA FREDERICK@BIGRIVERS COM 

I 



E L E C T R I C  C O R P O R A T I O N  

Your Touchstonc Eiierby ' Cooperativc 

CflICAGO, IL 60603-57'80 

ITEM 

1 

tS 

s 
-I_ 

- 
PART NUMBERlDESCRlPTlON 

.__"I 
TO PROVIDE WITNESS TESTIMONY 
PER 2/17/12 PROPOSAL FOR EMISSION 
CONTROL EQUIPMENT REQUIRED TO 
MEET THE REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS ISSUED BY THE EPA 
IN2011 

201 Third Street 
Henders0n.W 42420 

_________.....- 
BILL TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henders0n.W 42420 

~ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ . _ _  
DATE OF ORDEWBUYER 

--.- 05-APR-12 King, Vickie 
BUYER TELEPHONElFAX 
270-844-6152 
SHIP VIA - . . . . . .. . 
-.. BEST WAY POSSIE 

DELIVERY DATE QUANTlPl 

14300 

UNIT 

EACH 

- - 
REVISED DATEBUYER 

King, Vickie 
F.0.B 
DESTINATION 

(312) 269-2000 - 
UNIT PRICE 

$1.00 

EXTENSION 
-. 

$ 14300.00 



k>j ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

T N X N O  DELIVER TO DATE OF ORDEWBUYER 
39288 03-MAY-I2 King, Vickie 
PAYMENT TERMS BUYER TELEPHONWFAX 

FREIGHT TERMS SHIP VIA 
PREPAIDADD ~ BEST WAY POSSIBLE 

Klng, Vickie 

30 NET DAYS _ll____l 270-844-61 52 

ITEM PART NIJMBEFUDESCRIPTION DELIVERY DATE QUANTITY LJNlT UNIT PRICE EXTENSION 

Your Toiichstonc Energy' Coopcra t i vc  

VENDOR: 

CHICAGO, lL 60603-5780 

I-- 
201 Third Street 
Henderson,KY 42420 

-1__1_.... 

BILL TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henderson,KY 42420 

Special Instructions: This Purchase Order No must appear on ail invoices, paclting lists, cartons and correspondences related to this order 

QUESTIONS I REPLIES CONCERNING THIS DOCUMENT SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO: DANA FREDERICK - HEADQUARTERS PHONE 
(270) 844-6139 FAX (888) 514-3178 EMAIL: DANA FREDERICK@BIGRIVERS COM 



ELECTRIC C 0 R P O  RAT ION 

.’ PURCHASE ORDER NO RT. 
21 0280-2 

Your X,uchstonc Energy Cooperative 

VENDOR: SARGENT AND LUNBY L & 6  

CNICAGO, IL 60603-5780 

VENDOR NO 
39288 

DELIVER TO 
I_____ 

PREPAID AD 

ITEM 

1 

PART NlJMBEWDESCRlPTlON 

TO PROVIDE WITNESS TESTIMONY 
PER 2/17/12 PROPOSAL FOR EMISSION 
CONTROL EQUIPMENT REQUIRED TO 
MEET THE REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS ISSUED BY THE EPA 
IN 2011 

I . ~  
SHIP TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henderson,KY 42420 

BILL TO: 
201 Third Street 
Henderson,KY 42420 

DATE OF ORDEWBUYER 

BUYER TELEPHONUFAX 

SHIP VIA 

03-MAY-12 King, Vickie,.- -. 
270.844-6152 

_ . . . 1 _ ~  

BEST WAY POSSll 

DELIVERY DATE 

-___. 

QUANTIT 

1834 1 

UNIT 

EACH 

-___- 
REVISED DATEBUYER 

King, Vickie 
F.0.B 
DESTINATION 

(312) 269-2000 I 

UNIT PRICE 

$ 1.00 

EXTENSION - - 
$ 18341.00 





BIG R I W R S  ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL O F  ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL F ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 
RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

CONVlENIENC D NECESSITY, AND FOR AIJTHORITY TO 
EST A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

esponse to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

J u n e  1,2012 

1 Item 28) 
2 BREC? 
3 
4 
5 

6 
7 
8 Rivers with this case. 
9 

What is the current cost of the work performed by S&L for 

Response) Beginning May 2011 and continuing through February 2012, Big 
Rivers incurred a cost of $218,189 for the S&L study titled Environmental 
Compliance Study, dated February 13, 2012. In addition, from March 1, 2012 
through May 23, 2012, Big Rivers incurred a cost of $32,641 for S&L to assist Big 

10 Witness) Mark A. Hite 
11 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-28 

Witness: Mark A.-Hite 
Page 1 of 1 





IG RIVERS ELECT IC CORPORATION 

1 
2 
3 

4 
S 
6 
7 

8 

9 

10 
11 
12 
13 

14 
IS 
16 

APPLICATION O F  BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMEN ED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 
RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES O F  PUBLIC 

CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR AUT 
A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

J u n e  1,2012 

Item 29) 
and DPI? 

What is thre expected total cost of the work for BREC by S&L 

Response) Per Exhibit Hite-5 of the Direct Testimony of Mark Hite, the 
expected cost of the work for Rig Rivers by S&L and DPI for assistance with Case 
No. 2012-00063 is $150,000 (including the $32,641 incurred to-date). Note that 
such amount does not include the cost of the S&L study titled Environmental 
Compliance Study, dated February 13, 2012. Please see Big Rivers’ response to 
Item 28. In addition to this figure, S&L is being considered along with several 
other firms (as discussed in response to Item 21 of these responses) for 
engineering services for the environmental projects identified in the filing. These 
costs have not been identified yet. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-29 

Witness: Mark  A. Hite 
Page 1 of 1 





BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

1 

2 
3 
4 
5 

6 

7 

8 
9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

ON OF BIG RIVlERS ELECTRIC 
FOR OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL LAN, 

RE URCHARGE TARIFF, FOR OF PUBLIC 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED  RO RON MENTAL COST 

RITY TO ENCE AND NECESSITY, A 
LISR A REGUIATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2812-80063 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

Item 30) 
BREC and its Member Co-ops regarding the impact of the 2012 Plan on 
residential ratepayers. 

Please provide copies of any and all conainunications between 

Response) Please see the documents in Big Rivers’ response to I tem 36 of 
KIUC’s First Set of Data  Requests, and  which a re  provided on a CD accompanying 
Big Rivers’ responses to those requests.  Please also see the  Big Rivers Board of 
Directors’ meeting presentations,  copies of which have been provided in  response 
to I tem 43 of I<IUC’s First Se t  of Data  Requests. The CEOs of Big Rivers’ 

members  receive copies of these presentations. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-30 

Witness: Mark A. Hite 
Page 1 of 1 





BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

APPLICATION OF RIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
PROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVXRONMENTAL COST 
RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC, 

CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR A ~ T H O ~ I T Y  TO 
LISH A REGUIATORY ACC 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

esponse to t h e  Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Reques t  for Information 

J u n e  1,2012 

1 I t em 31) 
2 

3 present. 
4 
5 Response) Please see attached. 
6 
7 

8 Witness) Mark A. Hite 
9 

Please provide copies of all presentations BREC made to 
rating agencies and/or investment firms between January 1, 2010 and the 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-31 

Witness: Mark  A. Hite 
Page 1 of 1 
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IVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

APPLICATION O F  BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 E ~ R O N ~ E ~ T ~  COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 
RECOWRY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR 

CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, A 
A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00 

esponse to the Office of the Attorney General's 
equest for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

J u n e  1,2012 

tern 32) 
issuances by BREC between January 1,2009 and the present. 

Please provide copies of all prospectuses for  any security 
2 

4 
5 
6 accompanying these responses. 
7 
8 
9 Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Response) Please see the Offering Statement for the June 8,  2010, $83.3 million 
Pollution Control Refunding Bond issue which Big Rivers is providing on the CD 

10 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-32 

Witness: Mark A. Hite 
Page 1 of 1 





BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

1 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

7 
8 

9 

10 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF’ ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

RECOVERY SUR O F  PUBLIC 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 

RICTY TO 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

esponse to the  Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

J u n e  1,2012 

I t em 33) 
January 1, 2010 and the present from the major credit rating agencies 
published since Janu,ary 1, 2010. 

Please provide copies of credit reports for BREC between 

Response) Please see the  attached Big Rivers’ credit ra t ing  reports since 
J a n u a r y  1, 2010, from Moody’s, S&P a n d  Fitch. 
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Ratings 

Outstanding Debt 
$83,300,000 County of Ohio, KY 
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds 
Series 2010A BBB- 

Rating Outlook 
Stable 

Key Utility Statistics 
Fiscal Year Ended 12/31/10 

System type 
NERC Region 
Number of Customers 
Annual Revenues ($ Mil.) 
Top User (% of Revenues) 
Primary Fuel Source 
Peak Demand (MW) 
Energy Growth (“h) 
Debt Service Coverage (x) 
Days Operating Cash 
Equity/Capitalization (%) 

Wholesale 
Electric 

MISO 
3 

530 06 
53 

Coal 
1,391 
53 6 
132 

216 72 
31 85 

Related Research 
U S  Public Power Peer Study - 
June 201 1. June 20, 201 1 

Risk Profile Reshaped: The recent termination of its generating asset lease transaction has 
reshaped the risks surrounding Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers), effectively 
reducing leverage and financial risk in exchange for increased reliance on a concentrated 
customer base and the wholesale marketplace. 

Abundant Low-Cost Resources: Big Rivers benefits from abundant low-cost power resources 
and an average wholesale system rate of $36.35 per MWh in 2010, net of credits, that is 
regionally competitive and among the lowest in the nation. Member retail rates are similarly low 
and competitive. 

Heavy Customer Concentration: Big Rivers has resumed electric service to two local 
aluminum smelters through its largest member, Kenergy Corp. (Kenergy). The two smelters 
have a combined demand of 850 MW, and together account for approximately 53% of total 
energy sales. 

Subject to Rate Regulation: The electric rates charged by Big Rivers and its members are 
regulated by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC), which limits the cooperative’s 
financial flexibility, and may delay the timing or amount of necessary rate increases 

Acceptable Financial Metrics: Acceptable financial metrics for the rating category include 
fiscal 2010 debt service coverage (DSC) of 1.32x, and total debt to funds available for debt 
service (FADS) of 12.2~. Metrics improve to 178x (DSC) and 9 . 0 ~  (debt to FADS) when 
revenues from member rate stability (MRS) reserves are included. 

Forecast Stability: FADS and times interest earned ratios (TIER) are expected to remain 
relatively stable going forward, aided by the continued use of MRS reserves and a 
TIER-adjustment mechanism included in the cooperative’s power sale agreements with the 
smelters. 

Restrictive Rate Regulation: Future regulatory decisions that prevent the cooperative from 
adequately recovering costs would likely result in downward pressure on the rating or Outlook. 

Onerous Environmental Regulation: Environmental regulations proposed by the U S. 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), if adopted, could result in a much higher cost of 
compliance for the cooperative, versus other utilities with newer, more diversified resources. 

Deteriorating Operating Conditions: Declining nonsmelter member sales, weak surplus 
energy sales, or constrained smelter operations that reduce financial margins and liquidity 
could also put downward pressure on the rating or Outlook 

Analysts 
Dennis Pidherny 

dennis pidherny@fitchratings corn 

Eric Espino 

+I 212 908-0738 

1 212 908-0574 
IC espino@fitchrabngs corn 



Big Rivers is a generation and transmission cooperative based in Henderson, KY Big Rivers 
BBB- Affirmed Stable 8/12/1 1 supplies wholesale electric and transmission from its total capacity of 1,824 MW to three 
BBB- Assigned Stable 7/2/09 distribution cooperatives Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, Jackson 

Purchase Energy Corporation, and Kenergy These members provide service to a total of 
approximately 11 2,500 retail customers located in 22 western Kentucky counties. 

Each of the three Big Rivers members purchases power pursuant to a wholesale power 
contract (WPC) that extends through Dec 31, 2043, well beyond the final maturity date of the 
cooperative’s outstanding debt llnder the terms of the WPCs, the members are required to 
purchase all of the power required to meet the needs of their systems, except Kenergy’s 
requirements for the smelters (see the Smelter Agreements section on page 4)  

OutlooW 
Rating Action Watch Date 

Bankruptcy 

In September 1996, Big Rivers filed for voluntary Chapter 11 relief under the U S Bankruptcy 
Code, due to an inability to sell power produced from its excess capacity at prices sufficient to 
cover its above-market costs 

After emerging from bankruptcy in 1998, and in accordance with its plan of reorganization, Big 
Rivers entered into a 25-year lease of all of its generating assets with Western Kentucky 
Energy Corp. (WKEC), at the time a wholly owned subsidiary of LG&E Energy Corp (LG&E) 
The transaction essentially transferred the operational responsibilities of the assets and related 
risks in exchange for annual lease payments, and a fixed-price purchase power contract with 
LG&E Energy Marketing, Inc (LEM), another subsidiary of LG&E 

The Unwind Transaction 

In 2009, the lease with WKEC was effectively unwound, resulting in Big Rivers receiving cash 
and consideration with a value of $865 million, and gaining back control of its generation fleet. 
Big Rivers also resumed electric service to two local aluminum smelters that have historically 
dominated the service area’s electric demand, and were supplied by LEM following the 
reorganization. The smelters will again represent a significant portion of the cooperative’s 
electric demand 

The consideration received in connection with the unwind allowed Big Rivers to pay down 
approximately $140 million of debt, establish $253 million of rate-stabilization reserves, and 
improve system equity from negative 19% to approximately 30% 

The board of Big Rivers consists of six members, comprised of two from each of the member 
cooperatives Two members are elected each year, and serve three-year terms. There are full 
board meetings once a month, often supplemented with more informal meetings when 
necessary There are no specific committees given the small size of the board According to 
Big Rivers, management has an excellent working relationship with the board 

Since completing the unwind transaction, Big Rivers has expanded its senior management 
team to include two new vice presidents for production, and governmental relations and 
enterprise risk management, to oversee the expanded responsibilities related to power supply. 
The cooperative’s employee base has also grown to approximately 630 employees, including 

Related Criteria 
Revenue-Supported Rating Criteria, 
June 20, 201 1 

’ ’ S. Public Power Rating Criteria. 
ch 28,201 I 
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the production personnel acquired with the generating facilities, many of whom were employed 
by Big Rivers prior to the bankruptcy. 

Fitch Ratings believes that the cooperative's post-unwind transition has progressed very well, 
due in large part to the many years of preparation undertaken by the Big Rivers management 
team in anticipation of the transaction. 

Big Rivers assumed full operating responsibilities earlier this year without any disruption, 
although E.ON provided some initial support to the post-unwind transition, particularly in the 
areas of information technology and generation dispatch. In December 2000, Big Rivers 
became a fully integrated member of the Midwest Independent System Operator (MISO). 

Big Rivers and its members are subject to oversight by the KPSC, which constrains the board's 
rate-setting ability, compared to other public power and cooperative utilities that are self- 
regulated The KPSC is an independent agency that regulates gas, water, sewer, electric, and 
telecommunications utilities in Kentucky 

Fitch views external rate regulation as limiting to financial flexibility, but the KPSC has been 
responsive to the needs of Big Rivers in recent years, particularly during the unwind approval 
process The recent inclusion of rate tariffs, designed to allow the monthly recovery of 
fluctuations in the cost of fuel, purchased power, and costs related to environmental 
compliance, are credit positive, and are expected to lower the frequency of formal rate cases 

Big Rivers has also adopted a very proactive approach to rate setting (see the Rates and Cost 
Structure section on page i'), which is designed to anticipate the need for rate relief well in 
advance of the timetable required by the KPSC, and should increase the likelihood of timely 
rate relief The KPSC will also allow utilities to file for emergency or interim rate relief that can 
be implemented within 30 days, if necessary, under certain circumstances corresponding 
retail rate increase requests are typically coordinated with those of Big Rivers, but members 
must file separately with the KPSC 

Big Rivers serves three electric cooperatives, which together provide electric service to 
approximately 112,500 customers. While the operating profiles of Jackson Purchase and 
Meade are largely typical of rural electric cooperatives, including a heavy concentration of 
residential customer and electric sales, Kenergy's profile is somewhat unique because its 
electric load is dominated by two aluminum smelters One smelter is owned by Rio Tinto Alcan 
Primary Products Corporation (Alcan), located in Sebree, KY, and the other is owned by 
Century Aluminum of Kentucky General Partnership (Century) in Hawesville, KY 

The Alcan and Century smelters accounted for 87.7% and 80 0% of the distribution 
cooperative's total energy sales and revenue, respectively, in 201 0 By comparison, Jackson 
Purchase's entire large industrial load accounted for only 7.1% of its energy sales and 5.5% of 
revenue An overview of the three members is provided on the next page. 
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Jackson Kenergy Meade 
Number of Consumers 29,152 54,991 28,267 
Total MWh Sales 683,481 9,318,498 479,367 
Total Revenues ($) 45,400 399,473 33,648 

Number of Residential Consumers 
MWh - % Residential 
Revenues -% Residential 

26,053 45,201 26,213 
64 6 8 7  78 2 
68 8 14 3 77 8 

Number of Small Commercialllndustrial Consumers (1,000 KVA or Less) 3,080 9,680 2,048 
MWh - % Small Commercial 28 1 3 6  21 5 
Revenues- % Small Commercial 25.5 5 6  22 0 

Number of Large Commercial/lndustriaI Consumers (1,000 KVA or Less) 7 34 0 
MWh - % Large Commercial 7 1  87 7 0 0  
Revenues - % Large Commercial 5 5  80 0 0 0  

KVA - Kilovolt-ampere 
Source: Big Rivers 

The Aluminum Smelters 

Aluminum smelting is energy-intensive, with power costs accounting for approximately 33% of 
a smelter’s production costs Access to Big River’s low-cost power has therefore been positive 
for the smelters, as both operations are adjacent to the Big Rivers generating facilities. The 
aluminum smelters have been fixtures in the Big Rivers service territory sinrx? the 1970s, and 
remain the dominant employers in western Kentucky, with 1,375 employees in total. A brief 
discussion of each facility and its owner is provided below. 

Alcan is owned by Rio Tinto (IDR ‘A-’/Stable), an international mining group. Its Kentucky 
facility is the company’s only U.S. aluminum smelter. Alcan has been operating at that facility 
since 1973. The company produces 186,000 metric tons of primary aluminum annually from its 
three potlines. The base contract demand under its agreement with Big Rivers is 368 MW, 
which results in annual energy consumption projected at 3.1 terawatt-hours (TWh), assuming 
2417 operations and a 98% load factor. 

Century Aluminum Company, the general partnership’s parent, is a public company that owns 
and operates aluminum smelters in Kentucky, South Carolina, West Virginia, and Iceland. 
Operations at the facility in Hawesville began in 1970, and it currently produces 244,000 metric 
tons of primary aluminum from five potlines annually. The Century smelter’s base contract 
demand is 482 MW, with projected annual consumption of 4.2 NVh 

Production at the smelting facilities has historically been relatively steady, although production 
at the Century facility was reduced from five potlines to four in the wake of declining aluminum 
prices in 2009-2010. Century’s energy requirements fell from 4.1 NVh to approximately 
3.3 TWh as a result The fifth potline was recently returned to full utilization, and energy 
requirements have increased through 201 1 

Smelter Agreements 

In July 2009, as part of the unwind transaction, Big Rivers and Kenergy began supplying the 
sizable load requirements of the smelters, which had previously been the responsibility of LEM. 
Under the terms of various agreements, Big Rivers has agreed to supply energy to Kenergy, 
for resale to the smelters on a take-or-pay basis through the end of 2023, subject to certain 
termination conditions. 

_.I---_- ~ _--l---l___.-- _ _ _ - - ~  .--I_--.- ---.-.-I __-___ -.-_- 
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The smelter agreements are designed to provide all of their aggregate energy requirements, 
including base monthly energy (850 MW hourly), supplemental energy (10 MW hourly of 
interruptible energy to each smelter), and back-up energy (imbalance energy for Kenergy made 
available to the smelters). Surplus capacity is generally marketed off-system by Big Rivers for 
the ultimate benefit of the smelters. 

Charges under the smelter agreements are designed to provide a slight premium (25 cents per 
MWh) over the rates charged to Kenergy’s other large industrial customers. They also 
incorporate the cooperative’s standard recovery clauses for fuel, environmental compliance 
expenditures, and purchased power. 

The smelter agreements also include certain provisions that allow for adjustments in the 
amounts paid by the smelters, designed to enable Big Rivers to achieve a TIER of 1 . 2 4 ~  for 
each fiscal year. During years in which the cooperative’s ratio falls below the 1 . 2 4 ~  threshold, 
additional payments are required by the smelters, subject to limitations If the cooperative’s 
TIER exceeds 1 .24~  during any fiscal year, amounts contributing to the excess coverage may 
be rebated to the members, with a pro rata portion allocated to the smelters. 

Fitch views the smelter agreements as supportive to credit quality, but also notes that the 
support is somewhat limited, given the ability of the smelters to terminate the agreements upon 
one-year notice Some additional comfort is derived from the conditional nature of the 
termination provision, which would also require that a smelter cease all smelting operations 
within the Kenergy service area to terminate the agreement, but the ability to rely on contract 
revenues over the long term is still limited. 

and and Ener 
JMWhs) 
Member Peak Demand (MW) 
Total Peak Demand (MW) 
Electric Sales - Members 
Growth (%) 
Electric Sales - Other 
Growth (%) 
Electric Sales-Smelter Contracts 
Growth (%) 
Total Electric Sales 
Growth ( O h )  

NM - Not meaningful 
Source: Big Rivers 

2010 
657 

__I_- 

1,391 
3,422,558 

7 99 
2,209,431 

26 51 
6,348,431 

120 01 
11,969,420 

53 63 

2009 
668 

1,308 
3,159,032 

(4 64) 
1,746,438 

(5 33) 
2,885,491 

NM 
7,790,961 

51 06 

2008 
614 
614 

3,312,709 

1,844,677 

0 
NM 

5,157,386 
(16 33) 

(0 45) 

(34 95) 

2007 
654 
654 

3,327,605 
4 38 

2,835,789 
37 51 

0 
NM 

6,163,594 
17 39 

Member energy demand has remained relatively stable since 2007, following a decline in 2009, 
due to unfavorable weather and economic weakness, and a subsequent rebound in 2010, as 
illustrated in the table above However, member sales have become increasingly dominated by 
off-system sales of excess generating capacity and sales to the smelters following the unwind 

In 2010, member sales accounted for only 28.5% of total energy sales, reflecting a full year of 
sales under the smelter agreements. Big Rivers expects member load growth of approximately 
1.4% per annum and declining market sales, as capacity is used to meet growing member 
demand. However, member sales are not expected to exceed 31% of total energy sales 
through 2019 



The Big Rivers resource portfolio and power supply is dominated by coal-fired generation, both 
owned and leased. Although coal-fired capacity accounts for 87% of the cooperative's resource 
capacity, coal-fired generation accounted for approximately 97% of total power supply in 201 0. 
Purchases from the cooperative's Southeastern Power Administration allocation supplied most 
of the remaining power supply. 

The current portfolio of assets and related capacity comfortably exceeds the forecast peak 
demand of the membership, including the massive smelter demand, and should remain 
adequate through the load forecast period (2025). No additional resources are contemplated at 
this time The cooperative's current resources are summarized below. 

Owned Generation FuelType - Capacity (MW) Commercial Operation 
Kenneth Coleman Plant 
- 

Unit 1 
Unit 2 
Unit 3 
Robert D. Green Plant 
Unit 1 
Unit 2 
Robert A. Reid Plant 
Unit 1 
Combustion Turbine 
D.B. Wilson 
Unit 1 

Leased Generation 
HMP&L Station Two 
Unit 1 
Unit 2 
(City of Henderson Capacity Allocation) 

Total OwnedlLeased Generation 

Purchased Power 
SEPA Allocation 
Total Capacity 

Coal 
Coal 
Coal 

Coal 
Coal 

CoaVGas 
OillGas 

Coal 

Coal 
Coal 

150 
138 
155 

231 
223 

65 
65 

417 

153 
159 

(110) 

1,661 

178 
1,824 

1969 
1970 
1972 

1979 
1981 

1966 
1979 

1986 

1973 
1974 

HMP&L - Henderson Municipal Power 8, Light SEPA - Southeastern Power Administration 
Source: Big Rivers 

Despite the changes in ownership and operating responsibility following the unwind, the Big 
Rivers plants have continued to perform well when compared to similarly sized and equipped 
units. For the period 2007-2010, six of the eight units reported equivalent availability factors 
(EAF) in the top quartile The EAF for the entire system in 2010 was a record 93.7%. 

Environmental Compliance 

Big Rivers reports that all of its units are in compliance with current environmental standards. 
Currently, eight of the cooperative's nine coal units are equipped with flue gas desulphurization 
systems to control S02, and three of the units are equipped with selective catalytic reduction 
systems to control NOx emissions. 

The cooperative could face greater-than-average challenges with respect to environmental 
regulations proposed by the EPA, given its near full reliance on coal-fired capacity and 
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generation, and the characteristics of its fleet Big Rivers estimates that full compliance with the 
regulations could require expenditures of approximately $785 million by 2015, and increase 
wholesale rates and member retail rates by 39% and 20%, respectively 

The cooperative has acknowledged that it may seek to mothball certain units or explore fuel 
conversion to natural gas as an alternative, given the advanced age and relatively small Size of 
certain generating units Any shortfall in capacity necessary to serve its load, including that of 
the smelters, would likely be purchased initially, until a longer term strategy is adopted 

There is no renewable portfolio standard at this time in the state of Kentucky 

Transmission 

Big Rivers is nearing the completion of a significant transmission expansion project that was 
initiated in concert with the unwind transaction The $20 million dual-phase project is designed 
to increase the cooperative's capability to export power off-system from 912 MW to 
approximately 1380 MW. This transfer capability is large enough to export excess generation, 
including the peak demand of both smelters 

Phase one of the transmission expansion project, which included a 345-kV tie with Kentucky 
Utilities Company, providing eastern path access to the Southwest Power Pool, was completed 
in April 2008. Big Rivers has recently been completing phase two expansion projects. The final 
project, construction of a 13-mile transmission line between the cooperative's D.B. Wilson 
generating facility .and the Tennessee Valley Authority transmission system, is expected to be 
completed by year-end 201 1 

Fitch views the cooperative's expanded export capability favorably, particularly given the 
prospect of significant excess capacity and reliance on off-system sales if the smelters were to 
discontinue operations. While the completion of the projects does not ensure the sale of excess 
capacity, it removes the physical constraints. 

Coal Supply 

The Big Rivers generating units are located nearby in the heart of the western Kentucky portion 
of Illinois Basin coal fields. Half of its coal supply is delivered by truck and half by barge, 
significantly reducing transportation costs and ultimate production casts. Big Rivers also 
assumed all of the WKEC coal supply contracts, many of which were favorably priced and have 
lowered the cost of production. 

Capital Resource and Expenditure Plan 

The Big Rivers' capital plan for 201 1-2019 totals $460 7 million, and will largely be financed 
with internally generated funds Nearly all of the remaining expenditures will be related to 
modest improvements at the cooperative's generating units, with the exception of the 
transmission expenditures noted above. The current capital plan does not incorporate any 
major expenditures for additional environmental compliance 

Pursuant to the terms of the WPCs and the indenture, the Big Rivers board is required to 
review its wholesale rate at least annually and seek revisions to ensure covenant compliance, 
as necessary. Any change in rates charged by Big Rivers is subject to the approval of the 
KPSC. 

_______--̂ __ _-_I__ --_____ _-_-I ____ __l.____._--____l_-.~------ - 
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A number of factors mitigate the risks related to rate-regulation, including Big Rivers’ proactive 
policies dictating annual reviews of the cooperative’s annual budget and financial forecast Big 
Rivers seeks to anticipate the need for rate relief well in advance of any projected revenue 
shortfall, given the anticipated seven-month time frame for KPSC approval and implementation 
of rate increases. 

The rate structure flexibility approved by the KPSC as part of the unwind has also improved the 
timeliness of rate recovery. The KPSC has most notably implemented a fuel-adjustment clause, 
which allows Big Rivers to track changes in fuel costs and adjust rates accordingly on a 
monthly basis without further approval. The KPSC has also implemented an environmental 
surcharge to recover costs related to programs limiting the emissions of coal-fired generation. 

The very competitive cost structure exhibited by Big Rivers, and the resulting wholesale and 
retail rates, among the lowest in the nation, are further mitigating regulatory risk. Although the 
competitiveness of the cooperative’s wholesale and member retail rates are currently 
subsidized as a result of the MRS credit, charges excluding the credit are still relatively 
attractive. In 2010, Big Rivers reported a nonsmelter member wholesale rate of $36.35 per 
MWh Excluding the MRS credit, the rate was $44.26 per MWh, comfortably below the average 
member revenue per MWh for cooperatives nationwide. 

Member retail rates similarly remain equally competitive with the region’s other power suppliers, 
and nationwide, largely due to low power costs. Retail rates for the smelters and Kenergy’s 
other large industrial customers averaged 4.4 cents per kWh in 2010, well below the Kentucky 
state average of 6.0 cents per kwh. Residential rates across the membership are also solidly in 
line with neighboring utilities as shown below. 

Average Residential Electric Rate - April 201 1 

(CentslkWh) 
17 

Kentucky Big Rivers Duke Energy Louisville Big Rivers AEP East U S Average 
Utilities (including Kentucky Gas & (Excluding Kentucky Kentucky 

Credits) Electric Credits) Power Power 

Source: Big Rivers 

Big Rivers filed for a general rate increase of 6 85% with the KPSC on March 1, 201 1 
Discovery, testimony, and public hearings were completed in July 201 1, and a final order is 
expected from the KPSC in August, with new rates effective Sept 1, 2011 The filing alsa 
seeks to redistribute certain costs across the various customer classes Under the terms of the 
KPSC order approving the unwind, Big Rivers was required to file a rate case within three 
years of the closing Big Rivers is filing for a rate increase sooner than expected, keeping with 
the policies noted earlier, and in response to lower than anticipated off-system revenues 

The cooperative’s current financial forecast incorporates somewhat modest base rate 
increases, but actual wholesale rates are projected to increase significantly over time, due to a 
forecast increase in coal costs and the depletion of the MRS reserves While the resulting 2019 

6ig Rivers Electric Corpoiation 
August 31. 201 1 

8 



rates for the smelters and non-smelter members are still expected to be regionally competitive, 
the higher cost of power to be borne by members may introduce some economic strain. The 
Cooperative’s current forecast does not include the potential cost effect of further environmental 
compliance, which would most likely introduce more strain. 

Managing its power supply operations and the ultimate cost of its wholesale power in the wake 
of escalating costs, diminishing reserves, and potentially burdensome environmental 
regulations will be the single greatest challenge for Big Rivers, and the most important factor in 
the cooperative’s future creditworthiness 

The significant changes in the operating profile of Big Rivers in recent years, particularly the 
effect of the unwind, make the comparison of historical financial metrics difficult Fitch’s 
assessment of Big Rivers’ financial position is largely based on fiscal 2010 performance 
against budget (the first full year of post-unwind operations) and the cooperative’s projected 
performance under both base case and stressed scenarios 

Financial performance for fiscal 2010 was relatively solid and virtually on budget. Operating 
margins for the year were slightly lower than forecast ($51.3 million versus $54.6 million 
forecast), as weaker wholesale prices for power were nearly offset by increased, but more 
efficient, generation. Net margins for the year were almost exactly on budget ($7.0 million 
versus $7.1 million budgeted). Actual figures reported by Big Rivers for TIER (1 14x), DSC 
(1.47x), and equity to capitalization (32%) were also solidly in-line with forecast performance. 

Fitch-calculated ratios for DSC (1.32~) and total debt to FADS (12.2~) were commensurate with 
the current rating, and do not reflect the inclusion of withdrawals from the MRS reserve. 
Including those revenues, the metrics improve to 1 . 7 8 ~  and 9.Ox, respectively. Metrics for cash 
on hand (37 days, excluding the MRS reserves) and total liquidity on hand (109 days) were 
somewhat low for the cooperative’s operating profile. 

Fitch has reviewed Big River’s financial forecast, and believes the near-term targets are 
achievable and based on reasonable assumptions. Maintenance of a TIER in excess of I.Ox, 
coupled with the absence of significant capital expenditures and the anticipated refunding of 
maturing debt, should allow the cooperative to gradually improve its liquidity and equity ratios 
to levels commensurate for the current rating. 

Fitch has also reviewed Big Rivers’ sensitivity analysis, which assumes the loss of both 
smelters at the end of 2012 and the sale of excess capacity at base case wholesale price 
projections. Maintaining coverage and cash levels consistent with the cooperative’s goals 
would require average base rates approximately 15% higher than the base case projections for 
the period 2013-2017, based on the expectation that market-based sales can be executed An 
increase of this magnitude is not unreasonable, but would likely strain the members and draw 
scrutiny from the KPSC The current rating adequately reflects these risks. 

Debt 

At Dec. 31, 2010, Big Rivers reported total long-term debt of $817.0 million, the largest portion 
of which is the Rural Utilities Service (RUS) Series A note for $558 7 million, which has a final 
maturity of 2021, but requires payments of $60 million in 2012 and $200 million in 2016 as 
negotiated with the RUS. The cooperative‘s remaining long-term debt includes a RUS Series B 
note for $116.2 million, maturing in 2023, and two series of County of Ohio, KY, tax-exempt 
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pollution control bonds, series 1983 and series 2010 A, totaling $58.8 million and $83.3 million, 
respectively. 

The series 2010 A bonds were remarketed in June 2010 as fixed-rate bonds, with a final 
maturity of July 2031. The series 1983 bonds are currently held as bank bonds by the liquidity 
provider (Dexia Credit), bear interest at a variable rate, and mature in June 2013. As with the 
scheduled 2012 and 2016 RUS payments, Big Rivers expects to refinance the series 1983 
maturity, introducing a moderate degree of refinancing risk, and reinforcing the importance of 
continued access to the capital markets. Fitch believes this risk is manageable. 

Liquidity 

Big Rivers maintains lines of credit totaling $100 million with CoBank, ACB ($50 million), and 
National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation ($50 million), which provide additional 
liquidity for operations. The current lines of credit expire in 2012 and 2014, respectively, and 
are expected to be renewed upon expiration. 

ember Cooperatives 

The consolidated financial profile of the Big Rivers membership has improved marginally in 
recent years, and is supportive of the cooperative’s rating. For the year ended Dec 31, 2010, 
the members reported consolidated operating income before depreciation, interest, and taxes 
of $37.3 million on total revenues of $482.2 million, and an aggregate ratio for debt service 
coverage of 1.84x, as calculated by Big Rivers. The improved performance is due, in part, to 
the approval of rate increases at both Jackson Purchase and Kenergy. At year-end 2010, the 
members reported total net worth of $131 million, and an aggregate ratio of equity to 
capitalization of 35.9% A summary of aggregate metrics for 2008-2010 is provided below 

18 Mil.) 
Operating Revenues 
Operating Income Before Depreciation, Interest, and Taxes 
DSC (x) 
TIER (x) 
Net Debt 
Total Margins Plus Equities 
Equity/Capitalization (YO) 

2008 
434 0 

28 5 
1 46 
1.37 

220.1 
111.9 
33 7 

DSC - Debt service coverage TIER - Times interest earned ratios 
Source: Big Rivers 

2009 
422 8 

30 8 
1 52 
144 

236 7 
1179 
33 2 

2010 
482 2 

37 3 
1 84 
2 11 

233 9 
131 0 
35 9 
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- 
j$OOO, Fiscal Years Ended Dec. 31) 2006 2007 
Cash Flow (x) 
Debt Service Coverage 2 93 2 64 
Adjusted Debt Service Coverage with General Fund Transfer 2 93 2 64 
Coverage of Full Obligations 2 0 1  1 87 
Liquidity 
Days Cash On Hand 257 275 
Days Liquidity On Hand 297 302 
Leverage 
DebVFunds Available for Debt Service (x) 7.6 7 0  
Equity/Capitalization (%) (26 0) (19.6) 
Equity/Adjusted Capitalization (%) (18 4) (13.4) 

Other (%) 
Operating Margin 34 2 29 7 
General Fund TransferlTotal Revenue 0.0 0.0 
Capex/Depreciation 39 3 55.2 
Income Statement 
Total Operating Revenues 268,688 329,870 
Total Operating Expenses 170,260 231,836 
Operating Income 88.328 98,034 
Adjustment to Operating Income for Debt Service Coverage 50,176 53,963 
Funds Available for Debt Service 138,504 1 51,997 
Total Annual Debt Service 47,277 57,659 
Balance Sheet 
Unrestricted Funds 96,143 148,914 
Restricted Funds 186,690 192,932 
Total Debt 1,063,034 1,061,737 
Equity and/or Retained Earnings (217,371) (174,137) 

Source: Fitch Ratings and Creditscope 
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TIER [*I 1.2x 0.9x 1 . 5 ~  1.2x 

2010 2009 2008 3-Year Avg 

DSCR 1 . 5 ~  0.9x 1.2x 1.2x 

FFO I Debt 2.5% 59.1% 5.9% 22.5% 

FFO + Interest / interest 1 4 x  9.1x 1 8 x  4 2x 

Equity I Capitalization 31 8% 30.8% -17 4% 15.1% 

[l] All ratios calculated in accordance with Moody's Electric G&T Cooperative Rating Methodology ustng Moody's standard adJustments 
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Revenues from electricity sold under long-term wholesale power contracts with member 
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Big Rivers Electric Corporation is an electric generation and transmission cooperative 
(G&T) headquartered in Henderson, Kentucky and owned by its three member system 
distribution cooperatives- Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation; Kenergy Corp; and 
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation. These member system cooperatives 
provide retail electric power and energy to more than 112,000 residential, commercial, and 
industrial customers in 22 Western Kentucky counties. 
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The Baal senior secured rating considers the financial benefits of several steps taken by Big Rivers to 
unwind a lease and other transactions in 2008 and 2009 wherein its prior deficit net worth turned 
substantially positive, cash receipts were utilized to reduce debt, and two committed bank credit 
facilities aggregating $100 million were established to improve liquidity. Revenues generated from 
competitively priced power sold under long-term wholesale contracts with the three member owners 
should continue to support Big Rivers financial performance in keeping with its current rating level, 
while allowing capital expenditures to be largely met with internally generated funds. 

A significant constraint to Big Rivers’ rating is that one of its member owners, Kenergy Corp., makes a 
high concentration of its sales to two aluminum smelters (Century Aluminum Company: Corporate 
Family Rating B3; stable outlook and Rio Tinto Alcan: senior unsecured rating A3; stable outlook), 
both of whom face credit challenges due to the significant volatility in both metal prices and demand. 
In addition, these smelters have the option to terminate their respective power purchase arrangements, 
subject to a one-year notice and other conditions. Big Rivers’ rating is further constrained because its 
rates are regulated by the KPSC, which is atypical for the G&T coop sector. 

Financial FUexibili 
Transactions In 2 

In 2008, Big Rivers bought out two leveraged lease transactions and in 2009 completed a series of 
other steps to terminate another lease and other long-term transactions previously involving E.ON 
U.S. LLC (formerly known as: LG&E Energy Marketing Inc.) and Western Kentucky Energy corp.  
These entities previously leased and operated the generating units owned by Big Rivers. In turn, Big 
Rivers was purchasing the power from these units at generally fixed below market rates to use in 
servicing the requirements of its three members, exclusive of the load requirements of Kenergy’s two 
large aluminum smelters. At the same time, Big Rivers terminated other agreements and entered into 
various new arrangements whereby it now sells to Kenergy 850 MW in aggregate for resale to the two 
aluminum smelters. This arrangement reintroduced a concentration of load risk for Big Rivers. Key 
credit positives resulting from consummation of all the unwind transactions were as follows: 
elimination of Big Rivers’ deficit net worth, with equity of $379.4 million at December 31, 2009, 
which increased to $386.6 million as of December 31, 2010 compared to a negative $155 million at 
12/31/2008, and partial utilization of the $505.4 million in cash payments received from E.ON to 
repay about $140.2 million of debt owed to the Rural Utilities Service (RUS) and to establish $252.9 
million of reserves. The reserves were comprised of: a $157 million Economic Reserve for future 
environmental and fuel cost increases; a $35 million Transition Reserve to mitigate potential costs if 
the smelters decide to terminate their agreements or otherwise curtail their load due to reduced 
aluminum production; and a $60.9 million Rural Economic Reserve, which would be used over two 
years to provide credits to rural customers upon full utilization of the Economic Reserve. 

As part of the unwind process, Big Rivers completed the buyout of leveraged leases with Bank of 
America and Phillip Morris Capital Corporation (PMCC) during 2008. Among the positive credit 
effects of the buyouts were removal of $922 million of defeased obligations (about $735 million of 
which was off-balance sheet), and removal of exposure to Ambac, albeit at a net cost of $120 million, 



including a $1 2 million PMCC note. We note, however, that part of the cash payment from E.ON 
upon consummation of unwinding all the various transactions included full reimbursement of Big 
Rivers' lease buyout costs, and the $16 million remaining deferred loss on reacquired debt was written 
off. 

Under a contract times interest earned ratio (TIER) arrangement with the two smelters, Big Rivers is 
targeting a minimum TIER of 1.24x, which would leave ample cushion under its financial covenants 
and positioning itself favorably among its similarly rated peers. Under current market conditions, we 
expect that Big Rivers would file for rate relief as necessary, in the event that TIER drops below the 
1 . 2 4 ~  target. 

epresent Valuable Assets Even s Environmental Costs Leaom 

Big Rivers owns generating capacity of about 1,444 megawatts (MW) in four substantially coal-fired 
plants. Total power capacity is about 1,824 MW, including rights to about 202 MW of coal-fired 
capacity from Henderson Municipal Power and Light (HMP&L) Station Two and about 178 MW of 
contracted hydro capacity from Southeastern Power Administration. The economics of power 
produced from these sources enables Big Rivers to maintain a solid competitive advantage in the 
Southeast and even more so when compared to other regions around the country. The consistently 
high capacity factors and efficient operations of the assets results in average system wholesale rates to 
members around $36 per MWh (including the beneficial effects of the member rate stability 
mechanism), which translates to member retail rates to residential customers around 8 cents per k w h .  

Because Big Rivers is substantially dependent on coal-fired generation, it faces a high degree of 
uncertainty with regard to future environmental regulations, including the form and substance those 
will take, the timing for implementation, and the amount of related costs to comply. We note that the 
Economic Reserve should help mitigate some of the need for initial rate increases to cover future 
compliance costs. 

Big Rivers is subject to regulation for rate setting purposes by the KPSC, which is atypical for the 
sector and can pose challenges in getting timely rate relief if and when needed. We view the existence 
of certain fuel and purchased power cost adjustment mechanisms available to Big Rivers as favorable to 
its credit profile since they can temper risk of cost recovery shortfalls if there is a mismatch relative to 
existing rate levels. Although Big Rivers did not file for a general rate increase in 2010, additional 
revenues were generated under the fuel adjustment clause and through use of a portion of the various 
reserve funds. In keeping with the KPSC order issued on March 6, 2009 requiring Big Rivers to file 
for a general review of its financial operations and rates by July 16, 2012 (i.e. three years from the 
closing of the unwind transaction), Big Rivers filed a wholesale tariff rate case with the KPSC on 
March 1, 201 1. The rate case is intended to bolster wholesale margins, while also addressing increased 
depreciation costs, administrative costs tied to joining the Midwest Independent Transmission System 
Operator (MISO) as outlined in more detail below, and maintenance costs incurred during scheduled 
generation plant outages. According to the filing, the requested increase in member wholesale tariff 
rates would equate to an estimated 6.85% (approximately $30 million) increase in total member 
revenue. Hearings have been scheduled for July 261h and 27th and a decision is expected in August 
201 1, with new rates to be effective September 1, 2011. If the case is not decided in this time line, the 
regulatory process allows for interim rates to be put into effect, subject to refund. According to 
management a t  Big Rivers, the cooperative has not had a wholesale tariff rate increase in 20 years and 
its existing depreciation study and tariffs have been in place since July 1998. We will continue to 
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monitor the proceedings in the pending case to determine the degree of supportiveness the KPSC 
provides for this request. Significant shortfalls that compromise Big Rivers ability to achieve timely and 
full recovery of its costs of service and anticipated financial results could pressure its credit quality. The 
timing of future rate cases is likely to be influenced primarily by the outcome of future environmental 
assessments. 

re A Linchpin To So nd Credit Profile 

The substantial revenues derived under Big Rivers’ long-term wholesale contracts with its members 
will continue as the contracts were extended by an additional 20 years to December 31,2043 when the 
unwind of transactions were completed in 2009. The low cost power provided under the contracts 
makes member disenchantment unlikely, even in the face of potential rate increases in the near term 
associated with the pending rate case and, in the medium to longer term, due to environmental 
compliance costs. The currently overall sound member profile provides assurance of this revenue 
stream, which is integral to servicing Big Rivers’ debt. The potential for degradation in the 
creditworthiness of the smelters is a particular credit concern, only tempered in part by assurances of 
two month’s worth of payment obligations covered by letters of credit from an A1 rated financial 
institution ( or some other form acceptable to Big Rivers) under certain circumstances. 

Big Rivers’ net margins for 2010 reflected improvement over 2009 results (exclusive of the effects of 
the unwind transactions on 2009 results) as fundamental results in 2009 were negatively affected b,y 
costs related to a planned generation plant outage at the D.B. Wilson plant in Centertown, Kentucky, 
which included a turbine overhaul. Also, during 2010 a considerable reduction in annual interest 
expense in line with substantially reduced debt following the unwind and non-operating margins 
resulting from accounting treatment for certain materials and supplies more than compensated for the 
effects of lower market prices for off-system sales during 2010 compared to 2009. 

O n  a historical basis, Big Rivers dramatically improved its equity position whereby its equity to total 
capitalization is now over 30% thanks to significant debt reductions following the unwind. At this 
level, Big Rivers equity to total capitalization maps to the A category for this metric under the rating 
Methodology. Based on expected continuation of management’s current practice of not returning 
patronage capital back to members (a credit positive strategy in our view) we anticipate that the equity 
ratio should continue to improve as net margins are fully retained and little if any new debt is added 
over the next couple of years. We also note that Big Rivers’ historical three-year average metrics such as 
funds from operations (FFO) to debt and FFO to interest are particularly strong due to the one time 
effects of the unwind, and are therefore not sustainable a t  those levels. Assuming the KPSC is 
supportive of Big Rivers’ pending request for an increase in member wholesale tariff rates, then we 
anticipate that Big Rivers should map on average to the A or Baa ranges for other key metrics, such as 
the times interest earned, the debt service coverage, FFO to interest and FFO to debt ratios. We would 
view a lack of substantial support for timely and full recovery of costs of service in rate case 
proceedings as a credit negative, which could cause downward pressure on the ratings for Big Rivers. 

Under historical operating conditions, the two smelters served by Kenergy can be expected to consume 
over 7 million MWh of energy annually, representing a substantial load concentration risk. As noted 
above, this risk is a significant constraint to Big Rivers’ rating, making its operating and risk profile 
rather unique compared to peers. With Big Rivers’ ongoing transmission capacity upgrade projects 
nearing completion (expected by Q-4 201 I), either of the two smelters could serve a one-year notice of 
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termination of their contract at any time. Given the cost effective power being provided by Big Rivers 
to allow Kenergy to service this load, we do not currently expect the smelters to exercise this option. 
Moreover, in December 2010 Big Rivers became a transmission owning member of the Midwest 
Independent Transmission System Operator (MISO), thereby enhancing its reliability and ensuring 
compliance with mandated emergency reserve requirements established by regulators. This step, the 
anticipated completion of expansion of its own transmission lines in Q-4 201 1 and legislation to 
permit sales to non-members, when coupled with the low cost of the power, should enhance Big 
Rivers' ability to move excess power off system in the event that the smelters cancel their contracts or 
otherwise reduce load due to curtailment of aluminum production due to market and economic 
conditions. T o  the latter point, during 2009, Century Aluminum of Kentucky arranged for the orderly 
curtailment of one of its five potlines, pending improvement in economic conditions. Following 
improved economic and market conditions, Century completed its restart of the fifth potline in May 
201 1. During the period of time that Century Aluminum's potline was shut down, Big Rivers moved 
to sell into the open market the approximately 87 megawatts of capacity it would otherwise have been 
providing to Kenergy for service to the one Century Aluminum pot line. 

Big Rivers supplements its internally generated funds with $100 million of unsecured committed 
revolver capacity, with National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (NRUCFC) and 
CoBank providing $50 million each. The NRUCFC and CoBank facilities, which expire on July 16, 
2014 and July 16, 2012, respectively, replaced the smaller $15 million facility previously provided by 
NRUCFC, which was terminated upon completion of the unwind transactions in 2009. The $50 
million NRUCFC facility provides for issuance of up to $10 million of letters of credit. We view the 
significant increase in available bank credit as credit positive. As of May 31, 201 1 Big Rivers had 
approximately $67 million of unrestricted cash and equivalents on its books, and had substantial 
unused capacity under the two credit facilities as the only usage related to $5.6 million of letters of 
credit outstanding with NRLJCFC. Assuming little change to future usage of the bank facilities and 
the cash position, as well as no change to management's current policy of not returning patronage 
capital back to members, we anticipate that Big Rivers should be able to largely fund its anticipated 
short-term working capital needs, capital expenditures of about $52 million, and current maturities of 
long term debt of around $7 million during 201 1 without the need for new debt. Big Rivers does, 
however, face a more material RUS long-term debt maturity of about $76 million in 2012, most of 
which we anticipate will be refinanced and the balance retired. We also note that the CoBank facility 
expires within the next 12 months and we anticipate that Big Rivers will renew the facility well ahead 
of the expiration date. 

The quality of the alternate liquidity provided by the bank revolvers benefits from the multi-year tenor 
at the time they were arranged and the absence of any onerous financial covenants, which largely 
mirror the financial covenants in existing debt documents. Big Rivers is in compliance with those 
covenants and we expect that to remain so in the foreseeable future. Additionally, the NRUCFC 
facility benefits from no ongoing material adverse change (MAC) clause; however, the CoBank facility 
is considered of lesser quality because of the ongoing nature of its MAC clause related to each 
drawdown. We would view an amendment to the CoBank revolver to eliminate the ongoing 
applicability of the MAC clause as part of the renewal and extension process to be a credit positive 
step. There are no applicable rating triggers in any of the facilities that could cause acceleration or puts 
of obligations; however, a ratings based pricing grid applies 



As part of the unwinding of various transactions completed in 2009, Big Rivers replaced the previously 
existing RUS mortgage with a new senior secured indenture. Under the current senior secured 
indenture RUS and all senior secured debt holders are on equal footing in terms of priority of claim 
and lien on assets. The current senior secured indenture provides Big Rivers with the flexibility to 
access public debt markets without first obtaining a case specific RUS lien accommodation, while 
retaining the right to request approval from the RLJS for additional direct borrowings under the RUS 
loan program, if they choose to do so. Given persistent questions about the availability of funds under 
the federally subsidized RUS loan program, we consider the added flexibility of the current senior 
secured indenture to be credit positive. 

The stable rating outlook is based on Big Rivers' successful completion of the unwind transactions, 
thereby improving its financial profile and repositioning itself to continue efficiently meeting the needs 
of its members in the future. 

at  co 

Given the rating constraints linked to customer load concentration a t  Kenergy, rate regulation, and 
looming pressures tied to environmental issues, a rating upgrade is unlikely in the foreseeable future. 
Changes to eliminate rate regulation of cooperatives in Kentucky could contribute to a positive action, 
especially if it coincides with improvement in market conditions for the aluminum smelters and 
sustained improvement of FFO to interest and debt metrics to near 2 . 3 ~  and 8% respectively, on 
average. 

Loss of significant load (Le. the smelters) that is not otherwise compensated for through off system 
power sales could contribute to a negative action, as would lack of regulatory support for substantial 
and timely recovery of costs. In terms of credit metrics, if FFO to interest and debt falls below 2x and 
5%, respectively, for a sustained period of time, then rating pressure could result. 

____ - -- - .-__- 

.S. Electric Generation & Trains ission Cooperatives 
~ ~ ~ ~ o ~ o ~ ~ ~ ~  
Big Rivers' mapping under Moody's U.S. Electric Generation &Transmission Cooperative rating 
Methodology appears below and is based on historical data through December 31, 2010. The 
Indicated Rating for Big Rivers' senior most obligations under the Methodology is currently A2 and 
relies on the aforementioned historical quantitative data and qualitative assessments. In particular we 
note that the A2 Indicated Rating reflects improvement over the Baa2 Indicated Rating level from 
historical published reports, which were based on historical data only through 2008. We note that the 
improvement in the Indicated Rating under the Methodology largely stems from better scores for the 
factors relating to dependence on purchased power and financial metrics such as equity as a percentage 



of capitalization, FFO to debt and FFO to interest, all of which improved upon completion of the 
unwind transactions. Notwithstanding a currently higher Indicated Rating for Big Rivers under the 
Methodology compared to its actual rating, the unique risks relating to Big Rivers load concentration 
to the smelters and the fact that it is subject to rate regulation by the KPSC will likely persist and 
continue to constrain its rating level in the future. 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation 

U.S. Electric Generation & Transmission Cooperatives Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B 

Factor 1: Wholesale Power Contracts & Regulatory Status (20%) 

a) % Member Load Served & Regulatory Status X 

Factor 2: Rate Flexibilitv (20%) 

a) Board Involvement / Rate Adjustment Mechanism X 

b) Purchased Power / Sales % 

c) New Build Capex (% Net PP&E) 

d) Rate Shock Exposure X 

19% 

X 

Factor 3: Member /Owner Profile (10%) 

a) Residential Sales /Total Sales 16% 
~ 

b) Members' Consolidated Equity / Capitalization 36% 

Factor 4: 3-Year Average Financial Metrics (40%) 

at TIER 1.2x 

b\ DSC 1.2x 

cl FFO / Debt 22.5% 

d\ FFO / Interest 4 . 2 ~  

e) Equity /Capitalization 15.1% 

Factor 5: Size (10%) 

a) MWh Sales (Millions of MWhs) 

b) Net PP&E ($billions) $1.1 

12.0 

Rating: 

a) Indicated Rating from Methodology 

b) Actual Ratins Assiqned (Senior Secured) 

A2 
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Long Term Rating BBB-/Stable Affirmed 
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Ohio Cnty, Kentucky 

Big Rivers Electric Corp, Kentucky 

Ohio Cnty (Big Rivers Electric Corp ) poll ctrl rfdg rev bnds (Big Rivers Elec Corp Pro]) ser 2010A 

Long Term Rating BBB-/Stable Affirmed 

Standard & Poor's Ratings Services has affirmed its 'BBB-' issuer credit rating on Big Rivers Electric Corp., Ky., and 
its 'BBB-' long-term rating on Ohio County, Ky.'s $83.3 million pollution control refunding revenue bonds, series 
2010A (Big Rivers Electric Corp. Project). The outlook is stable. 

Ohio County sold the bonds for the benefit of Big Rivers, which used bond proceeds to refund auction rate 
securities. We understand that the financing structure obligates the utility to unconditionally pay the county's bonds' 
debt service. Big Rivers issued a note to the county that provides it with a security interest in Big Rivers' assets under 
its mortgage indenture. The county's bonds' security interest is on par with the utility's senior-secured debt. Big 
Rivers' long-term debt totaled $817 million as of December .31, 2010. 

The ratings reflect our view of the following credit weaknesses: 

e We believe that the utility's extreme level of customer concentration and its leading customers' credit profiles 
represent meaningful credit exposures. The cooperative relies on two customers for about 6.5% of energy sales to 
members and 5.3% of total member and nonmember energy sales. These two customers are aluminum smelters 
whose operations are vulnerable to economic cycles. 

cooperative, Kenergy Corp., and the smelters are weak because the smelters can terminate their obligations with 
one-year's notice. 

e The cooperative and its member distribution cooperatives are subject to state rate regulation that distinguishes 
Big Rivers from many other cooperatives that have autonomous ratemaking authority. Rate regulation could 
potentially expose the utilities' financial performance to delayed rate relief or cost disallowances, particularly if 
Big Rivers needs to reallocate the smelters' shares of fixed costs to its nonsmelter customers. 

0 Surplus energy sales in volatile wholesale markets account for about 16% of energy sales, are important to the 
utility's revenue stream, and help support its financial obligations. 

e The cooperative is adding transmission capacity to increase physical access to wholesale markets. However, even 
with the additions, we believe the utility lacks the certainty of firm contractual transmission arrangements, which 
could frustrate the surplus power sales Big Rivers would need to make if the smelters reduce operations 
meaningfully or close. 

0 In our opinion, the take-or-pay features of the retail power sales contracts between Big Rivers' distribution 

0 Nearly one-third of the utility's debt either does not amortize before maturity or has limited amortization, which 
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produces highly uneven debt service coverage ratios (DSCRs) and pIesents refinancing risk. 

decade and has a limited track record of generation operations. 
(9 In July 2009, Big Rivers regained operational control over generation assets it had not operated for more than a 

We believe these strengths temper the exposures: 

e The long-term wholesale power contracts between the utility and its three member distribution cooperatives 

0 Members have exclusive rights to sell electricity in defined territories. 
e We believe that Big Rivers' members' retail rates are competitive and they could contribute to financial flexibility. 

However, members' favorable rates depend on the smelters' operating at high load factors that help absorb high 
fixed costs. Rate levels also benefit from the subsidies that more than $200 million of rate mitigation reserves 
provide. 

provide a measure of revenue stream security. 

Henderson, Ky.-based Big Rivers is a generation and transmission cooperative that produces and procures electricity 
for sale to three member distribution cooperatives and their more than 112,000 retail customers. It relies on two 
aluminum smelters for more than half of operating revenues, which erodes revenue stream stability and 
predictability and distinguishes the utility from most cooperative utilities that generally earn the bulk of revenues 
from residential customers. Moreover, Big Rivers projects that it needs to sell surplus energy into competitive 
wholesale markets to support its financial obligations. Nonmember revenues accounted for about 16% of 2010's 
operating revenues. We believe that reductions in the smelters' operations and electricity consumption could increase 
market reliance. Also, declines in wholesale market electricity prices due to weak natural gas prices or abundant 
supplies could erode margins from market sales and place upward pressure on the costs that the utility's nonsmelter 
customers bear. 

The stable outlook reflects our expectations that the sound debt service coverage Big Rivers projects could provide a 
financial cushion to service debt obligations under adverse conditions that could arise from the operational, 
financial and regulatory challenges the utility faces. We believe management needs to actively oversee these 
challenges to preserve credit quality. In our view, the ratings' upward potential is limited in the near term because 
the utility must refinance considerable bullet maturities, depends on volatile smelter loads for substantial revenues, 
and relies on volatile wholesale energy markets for meaningful portions of its revenue requirements. 

We believe Big Rivers faces an extreme level of customer concentration and it leading customers' credit profiles 
represent meaningful credit exposures. In 2010, two of the more than 112,000 end-use customers accounted for 
more than half of operating revenues. These two, Rio Tinto Alcan Inc. (Alcan; A-/Stable/A-2) and Century 
Aluminum Co. (B/Stable/--), are aluminum smelters whose operations and financial performance are exposed to 
extreme commodity price volatility, We believe these companies' economic viability hinges on aluminum prices and 
the economy's strength, among other things. Big Rivers expects Century's electricity purchases to provide about 
36% of its revenues, which meaningfully exposes the cooperative's financial performance to a single 
speculative-grade customer's cash flows. 
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If Alcan or Century reduces or ceases operations at their Kentucky facilities, Big Rivers would need to sell surplus 
electricity in competitive wholesale markets in a bid to recover substantial portions of its fixed costs. The several 
agreements that Big Rivers, Kenergy, and the smelters signed provide that certain profits from market sales 
following curtailment inure to the smelters' benefit. The agreements also provide that the smelters must cover the 
cooperative's losses resulting from market sales following curtailment. 

Given Century's weak credit quality, its ability to make up shortfalls is questionable. If the smelters terminate 
operations, their Big Rivers obligations end. While the cooperative might retain profits from off-system sales in this 
scenario it will also bear the risk of losses. 

We believe that selling electricity in wholesale markets to cover debt service presents meaningful credit challenges 
because wholesale market sales represent speculative and unpredictable revenue streams. Wholesale markets expose 
utilities to volatile prices, competing market participants, operational uncertainties such as acquiring physical access 
to transmission capacity, and potentially higher liquidity needs. 

etan 
We believe that the take-or-pay features of the retail power sales contracts between Kenergy and the smelters are 
weak. 

Kenergy is one of Big Rivers' three member distribution cooperatives. It resells the cooperative's electricity to the 
smelters under power supply contracts expiring in 2023. These contracts have take-or-pay elements that require the 
smelters to pay for specific quantities of energy, irrespective of whether they need it. Yet we believe that these 
contracts' take-or-pay features are weak and do not provide meaningful credit protections. For example, the 
smelters can terminate their contracts on one year's notice without penalties if they close their Kentucky facilities. 

We believe Big Rivers' financial performance could suffer if the Kentucky Public Service Commission (PSC) does not 
provide timely rate relief or disallows costs, particularly if the utility needs to reallocate the smelters' shares of fixed 
costs to its nonsmelter customers. 

In our view, if the smelters close their operations and Big Rivers cannot fully recoup the smelters' share of fixed 
costs through surplus electricity sales in competitive wholesale markets, its nonsrnelter retail customers might need 
to bear substantial additional costs. The cooperative will not have control over revenues from electricity sales in 
competitive wholesale markets to compensate for eroded smelter activity. Moreover, it can only recover shortfalls 
from the nonsmelter retail customers if it and its distribution cooperative members can obtain rate relief from the 
Kentucky PSC. 

Big Rivers and its member distribution cooperatives are unlike many other cooperative utilities because they cannot 
autonomously raise rates to respond to increasing costs or to reallocate costs. The Kentucky PSC regulates these 
utilities' wholesale and retail electricity rates. Rate regulation presents credit concerns because rate proceedings can 
be lengthy and delay cost recovery. Moreover, rate-regulated utilities do not have cost recovery guarantees. 
Nevertheless, in recent rate proceedings, the Kentucky PSC provided Big Rivers' distribution cooperatives with rate 
relief that was closely aligned with the utilities' requests. Also, the commission took steps in connection with the 
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E.ON generation asset lease termination that we view as supporting credit quality, including directing E.ON to fund 
rate-stabilization accounts benefiting the cooperative members' nonsmelter, retail customers. 

We believe that Big Rivers' 2010 nonsmelter member wholesale rates of $36 per megawatt-hour (MWh) indicate 
capacity for further rate increases as necessary to reallocate costs to the cooperative's nonsmelter customers. Big 
Rivers applied in March 201 1 for rate increases effective Sept. 1,201 1. The filing requests a 5.94% rate increase for 
large industrial customers and a 5.47% rate increase for the smelters. Big Rivers is requesting a 10.71% increase for 
the nonsmelter, nonindustrial customers. The blended requests represent a 6.8.5 % rate increase. The utility expects 
that lower purchase power adjustment factor costs will reduce the blended effective rate increase to 6.17%. 

Based on Big Rivers' fiscal 2010 financial statements, Standard & Poor's calculated accrual and cash from 
operations debt service coverage of 1.4x, which was strong but about 20 basis points below projected coverage 
levels. While off-system sales volumes exceeded expectations, the sales were made at lower-than-expected prices due 
to weak wholesale electricity markets. Big Rivers' experience with low wholesale markets in 20 10 underscores the 
considerable risks of wholesale market activity. 

The cooperative achieved 2010's DSCR by reducing expenses, including deferring maintenance. It also applied 
reserve monies to the prepayment of a portion of its Rural Utility Service debt to reduce interest expense inasmuch 
as the benefits of maintaining reserves in a low interest rate environment paled in comparison to the cost of servicing 
debt. 

Based on Big Rivers' financial forecast, we have calculated accrual-basis DSCRs that fluctuate considerably through 
201 3 .  The variability reflects the cooperative's use of nonamortizing debt that underlies highly uneven 201 1-2013 
debt service. Our calculations indicate DSCRs of 2 . 6 ~  in 2011, 1 . 3 ~  in 2012, and 2013 and 2 . 3 ~  in 2014. The 
forecast assumes Big Rivers receives the full rate relief it requested earlier this year. 

About one-third of debt is nonamortizing. Scheduled principal repayments for 201 1 are a low $7 million, but jump 
to $76 million in 2012 and $79 million in 201.3 before returning to a more moderate $22 million in 2014 and $2.3 
million in 2015. Consequently, the imminent bullet maturities highlight the relative importance of market access for 
refinancing compared to debt service coverage as important credit factors through 20 1.3. 

ose s 
We believe that Big Rivers' few vintage, coal-fired generation assets present operational exposures that can affect 
financial performance. The cooperative sells the electricity it produces at its seven owned coal plants and the two 
coal plants it operates that Henderson's Municipal Power and Light utility own. Big Rivers operates and has 
contractual rights to nearly 1,800 megawatts (MW) of generation capacity. Its and Henderson's power plants range 
in age from 24-41 years, with a weighted average age of 32 years, based on contributions to overall generating 
capacity. 

Big Rivers' wholesale electric rates include automatic fuel and purchased power cost adjustment mechanisnis that we 
believe mitigate some credit concerns surrounding the mature fleet's ability to serve native load customers reliably. 
These true-up mechanisms shift some of the operational risks of operating older units to the smelter and nonsmelter 
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customers by making them responsible for replacement power costs if units are not running. 

While the fuel adjustment is an automatic, formulaic, monthly adjustment, the purchased power cost adjustment is 
only automatic for the smelters. Before they are eligible for recovery in rates, the PSC must review the power 
purchase costs Big Rivers incurs on behalf of its nonsmelter customers. All costs recoverable under the adjustment 
mechanisms are subject to PSC prudence reviews. 

There is a two-month lag for the fuel adjustment clause between when costs are incurred and when the cooperative 
recovers the member portion through rates. Similarly, the purchase power adjustment for the smelters also entails a 
two-month cost recovery lag. The purchase power adjustment covering the smelters applies to only approximately 
two-thirds of the costs. The remaining third of is deferred as a regulatory account for recovery in base rates in a 
general rate case. 

Some of Big Rivers' plants have what we believe are high heat rates. Its fleet's heat rates range from 10,600-13,382 
BTU per kilowatt-hour with a weighted average heat rate of 11,100, reflecting the small percentage of the fleet with 
the highest heat rates. We are concerned that portions of the fleet might not dispatch to support market sales that 
compensate for losses of smelter sales. 

Big Rivers projects using coal to produce 9.5% of the electricity it sells, exposing the utility and its customers to 
potentially higher operating costs as the regulation of carbon and other emissions progresses. The plants' heat rates 
contribute to carbon intensity in the range of 1.1 tons of coal per MWh. Their ages, heat rates, and carbon intensity 
raise questions about their ability to compete against potentially more efficient and less carbon-intensive units in 
wholesale markets if the smelters reduce or end their cooperative electric purchases. In our view, the extent of 
carbon regulation will determine the effects of this level of carbon intensity on Big Rivers' production facilities' 
economics. 

Because aluminum smelting is a carbon-intensive process, we believe a combination of costly carbon constraints on 
aluminum production and carbon charges levied on the smelters' electricity purchases could impair their operations 
and heighten the likelihood that the cooperative's generating assets might have to compete in wholesale markets. 

ans 
Big Rivers' expects to complete transmission upgrades in the fall of 201 1. Until completed, the utility lacks sufficient 
capacity to market the smelters' power if both sharply reduce or discontinue operations. Even once completed, we 
believe that the cooperative's lack of firm contractual access rights could frustrate its ability to move power across 
others' transmission systems, including, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) system. 

Big Rivers only has contracts for 100 MW of firm transmission capacity across the TVA system. Management views 
the high cost of securing firm transmission access for a contingent exposure as unwarranted. The utility has physical 
interconnections with other power markets beyond TVA, such as the Midwest Independent System Operator and 
E.ON. However, Big Rivers' electricity needs to cross TVA's transmission system to access key markets such as 
Southern Co. and Entergy Corp. Lack of transmission access due to fully loaded lines during peak periods could 
frustrate the cooperative's ability to capture the most robust power prices for surplus power it might need to sell if it 
loses smelter loads. 
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In our opinion, the long-term wholesale power contracts between Big Rivers and its three member distribution 
cooperatives provide a measure of revenue stream security. 

The cooperative and its members extended their wholesale power sales contracts 20 years to 2043 in connection 
with the E.ON generation asset lease unwind transaction. We view this long tenor as contributing to credit quality 
because we understand that terms of wholesale power contracts between the utility and its three members require 
the members to purchase their electricity needs from Big Rivers. Furthermore, the members have exclusive rights to 
sell electricity within defined service territories, which shields the cooperative and its members from competition. 

Big Rivers' long-term wholesale power contracts also contribute to credit quality because they extend beyond its 
debt's final maturity. Debt outstanding matures by 2031. However, about 11% of debt matures after the contracts 
with the smelters expire in 2023. Debt that matures after the smelter contracts roll off could lead to heightened 
wholesale market exposure, which we view as a credit weakness. Furthermore, Big Rivers expects that imminent 
refinancings of bullet maturities could extend debt even further beyond the smelter contracts' expiration. 

Generally, lengthy requirements contracts, such as those of the cooperative, provide meaningful revenue 
predictability and credit support. However, the members' substantial reliance on two industrial loads that are 
vulnerable to commodity price cycles erodes the contracts' credit support and distinguishes Big Rivers from most 
other cooperative utilities. Rate regulation also dilutes the benefits of the long-term wholesale power contracts since 
the cooperative, unlike most others, cannot unilaterally impose additional costs on its captive customers, which 
could frustrate a reallocation of fixed costs if it loses smelter loads. Also, Big Rivers lacks control over prices for 
market sales it may need to make if the smelters' operations falter, tempering the wholesale power contracts' 
benefits. 

We view Big Rivers' members' retail rates as highly competitive, and they could contribute to financial flexibility. 

Energy Information Administration data shows that che cooperative's rnembers' retail rates compare very favorably 
with average rates for the residential, commercial, and industrial sectors in Kentucky. Members' 2009 average 
residential and commercial rates were about 1.5 YO below the state's average. Industrial rates for Kenergy, the 
member with the smelter, and other industrial loads were about 2.5% below the state's in 2009. 

We believe the smelters' high load factors are likely contributors to the favorable rate competitiveness across the 
system because their high electricity consumption provides a robust platform for spreading fixed costs over many 
MWh. Here too, the exposure to the smelters can become a liability if commodity prices or economic conditions 
compromise the smelters' operations. 

Rates also benefit from the more than $200 million of rate mitigation reserves from the proceeds of the E.ON lease 
unwind transaction. The utility plans to deploy an average $24 million of the reserves' balances each year through 
2017 to subsidize rate levels. The cooperative's forecast shows that this will enhance operating revenues by about 
.5% each year and we believe that there could be meaningful upward rate pressure once the reserves are exhausted. 
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criteri ese 
USPF Criteria: Applying Key Rating Factors To U.S. Cooperative IJtilities, Nov. 21, 2007 
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130 East Randolph Street 
Suite 2900 
Chicago, IL 60601 
tel312 233-7001 
reference no : 40298153 

July 5,201 I 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation 
201 Third Street 
P.O. Box 24 
Henderson, KY 42420 
Attention: Mr. C. William Blackburn, CMA, Chief Financial Officer 

Re : Big Rivers Electric Corporation, Kentucky, Issuer Credit Rating 

Dear Mr. Blackburn: 

Standard & Poor’s has reviewed the Issuer Credit Rating on the above-referenced issuer After such 
review, we have affirmed the “BBB-” rating and stable outlook. A copy of the rationale 
supporting the rating and outlook is enclosed. 

The rating is not investment, financial, or other advice and you should not and cannot rely upon 
the rating as such. The rating is based on information supplied to us by you or by your agents but 
does not represent an audit. We undertake no duty of due diligence or independent verification of 
any information. The assignment of a rating does not create a fiduciary relationship between us 
and you or between us and other recipients of the rating. We have not consented to and will not 
consent to being named an “expert” under the applicable securities laws, including without 
limitation, Section 7 of the Securities Act of 1933. The rating is not a “market rating” nor is it a 
recommendation to buy, hold, or sell the obligations. 

This letter constitutes Standard & Poor’s permission to you to disseminate the above-assigned 
rating to interested parties. Standard & Poor’s reserves the right to inform its own clients, 
subscribers, and the public of the rating. 

Standard & Poor’s relies on the issuer/obligor and its counsel, accountants, and other experts for 
the accuracy and completeness of the information submitted in connection with the rating. To 
maintain the rating, Standard & Poor’s must receive all relevant financial information as soon as 
such information is available. Placing us on a distribution list for this information would facilitate 
the process. You must promptly notify us of all material changes in the financial information and 
the documents, Standard & Poor’s may change, suspend, withdraw, or place on Creditwatch the 
rating as a result of changes in, or unavailability of, such information. Standard & Poor’s reserves 
the right to request additional information if necessary to maintain the rating. 



Page I 2 

Please send all information to: 
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services 
Public Finance Department 
55  Water Street 
New York, NY 1004 1-0003 

If you have any questions, or if we can be of help in any other way, please feel free to call or 
contact us at npublicfinance@standardandpoors.com. For more information on Standard & 
Poor’s, please visit our wehsite at www.standardandpoors.com . We appreciate the opportunity to 
work with you and we look forward to working with you again. 

Sincerely yours, 

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services 
a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business. 

gc 
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Standard 4% Poor’s Ratings Services 
Terms and Conditions Applicable To Public Finance Ratings 

You understand and agree that: 

General. The ratings and other views of Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (“Ratings Services”) are statements of opinion 
and not statements of fact. A rating is not a recommendation to purchase, hold, or sell any securities nor does it comment on 
market price, marketability, investor preference or suitability of any security. While Ratings Services bases its ratings and 
other views on information provided by issuers and their agents and advisors, and other information fkom sources it 
believes to be reliable, Ratings Services does not perform an audit, and undertakes no duty of due diligence or independent 
verification, of any information it receives. Such information and Ratings Services’ opinions should not be relied upon in 
making any investment decision. Ratings Services does not act as a “fiduciary” or an investment advisor. Ratings Services 
neither recommends nor will recommend how an issuer can or should achieve a particular rating outcome nor provides or 
will provide consulting, advisory, financial or structuring advice. 

All Rating. Actions in Ratings Services’ Sole Discretion. Ratings Services may assign, raise, lower, suspend, place on 
Creditwatch, or withdraw a rating, and assign or revise an Outlook, at any time, in Ratings Services’ sole discretion. Ratings 
Services may take any of the foregoing actions notwithstanding any request for a confidential or private rating or a withdrawal 
of a rating, or termination of this Agreement, Ratings Services will not convert a public rating to a confidential or private 
rating, or a private rating to a confidential rating. 

Publication. Ratings Services reserves the right to use, publish, disseminate, or license others to use, publish or disseminate 
the rating provided hereunder and any analytical reports, including the rationale for the rating, unless you specifically request 
in connection with the initial rating that the rating be assigned and maintained on a confidential or private basis. If, however, a 
confidential or private rating or the existence of a confidential or private rating subsequently becomes public through 
disclosure other than by an act of Ratings Services or its affiliates, Ratings Services reserves the right to treat the rating as a 
public rating, including, without limitation, publishing the rating and any related analytical reports. Any analytical reports 
published by Ratings Services are not issued by or on behalf of you or at your request. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary herein, Ratings Services reserves the right to use, publish, disseminate or license others to use, publish or disseminate 
analytical reports with respect to public ratings that have been withdrawn, regardless of the reason for such withdrawal. 
Ratings Services may publish explanations of Ratings Services’ ratings criteria from time to time and nothing in this 
Agreement shall be construed as limiting Ratings Services’ ability to modify or refine its ratings criteria at any time as 
Ratings Services deems appropriate. 

Information to be Provided bv You. For so long as this Agreement is in effect, in connection with the rating provided 
hereunder, you warrant that you will provide, or cause to be provided, as promptly as practicable, to Ratings Services all 
information requested by Ratings Services in accordance with its applicable published ratings criteria. The rating, and the 
maintenance of the rating, may be affected by Ratings Services’ opinion of the information received from you or your 
agents or advisors. You further warrant that all information provided to Ratings Services by you or your agents or advisors 
regarding the rating or, if applicable, surveillance of the rating, as of the date such information is provided, (i) is true, 
accurate and complete in all material respects and, in light of the circumstances in which it was provided, not misleading 
and (ii) does not infkinge or violate the intellectual property rights of a third party. A material breach of the warranties in this 
paragraph shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 

Confidential Information. For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” shall mean verbal or written 
information that you or your agents or advisors have provided to Ratings Services and, in a specific and particularized 
manner, have marked or otherwise indicated in writing (either prior to or promptly following such disclosure) that such 
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information is “Confidential”. Notwithstanding the foregoing, information disclosed by you or your agents or advisors to 
Ratings Services shall not be deemed to be Confidential Information, and Ratings Services shall have no obligation to treat 
such information as Confidential Information, if such information (i) was known by Ratings Services or its affiliates at the 
time of such disclosure and was not known by Ratings Services to be subject to a prohibition on disclosure, (ii) was 
known to the public at the time of such disclosure, (iii) becomes known to the public (other than by an act of Ratings 
Services or its affiliates) subsequent to such disclosure, (iv) is disclosed to Ratings Services or its affiliates by a third party 
subsequent to such disclosure and Ratings Services reasonably believes that such third party’s disclosure to Ratings 
Services or its affiliates was not prohibited, (v) is developed independently by Ratings Services or its affiliates without 
reference to the Confidential Information, (vi) is approved in writing by you for public disclosure, or (vii) is required by 
law or regulation to be disclosed by Ratings Services or its affiliates Ratings Services is aware that 1J.S. and state securities 
laws may impose restrictions on trading in securities when in possession of material, non-public information and has 
adopted securities trading and communication policies to that effect. 

Ratings Services’ Use of Information. Except as otherwise provided herein, Ratings Services shall not disclose Confidential 
Information to third parties. Ratings Services may (i) use Confidential Information to assign, raise, lower, suspend, place on 
Creditwatch, or withdraw a rating, and assign or revise an Outlook, and (ii) share Confidential Information with its affiliates 
engaged in the ratings business who are bound by appropriate confidentiality obligations; in each case, subject to the 
restrictions contained herein, Ratings Services and such affiliates may publish information derived from Confidential 
Information. Ratings Services may also use, and share Confidential Information with any of its affiliates or agents engaged in 
the ratings or other financial services businesses who are bound by appropriate confidentiality obligations (“Relevant Affiliates 
and Agents”), for modelling, benchmarking and research purposes; in each case, subject to the restrictions contained herein, 
Ratings Services and such affiliates may publish information derived from Confidential Information. With respect to 
structured finance ratings not maintained on a confidential or private basis, Ratings Services may publish data aggregated 
from Confidential Information, excluding data that is specific to and identifies individual debtors (“Relevant Data”), and share 
such Confidential Information with any of its Relevant Affiliates and Agents for general market dissemination of Relevant 
Data; you confm that, to the best of your knowledge, such publication would not breach any confidentiality obligations you 
may have toward third parties. Ratings Services will comply with all applicable 1J.S. and state laws, rules and regulations 
protecting personally-identifiable information and the privacy rights of individuals. Ratings Services acknowledges that you 
may be entitled to seek specific performance and injunctive or other equitable relief as a remedy for Ratings Services’ 
disclosure of Confidential Information in violation of this Agreement. Ratings Services and its affiliates reserve the right to 
use, publish, disseminate, or license others to use, publish or disseminate any non-Confidential Information provided by you, 
your agents or advisors. 

Ratinps Services Not an Expert. Underwriter or Seller under Securities Laws, Ratings Services has not consented to and 
will not consent to being named an “expert” or any similar designation under any applicable securities laws or other 
regulatory guidance, rules or recommendations, including without limitation, Section 7 of the IJ.S. Securities Act of 1933. 
Ratings Services is not an “underwriter” or “seller” as those terms are defined under applicable securities laws or other 
regulatory guidance, rules or recommendations, including without limitation Sections 1 1 and 12(a)(2) of the U.S. Securities 
Act of 1933. Rating Services has not performed the role or tasks associated with an “underwriter” or “seller” under the 
[Jnited States federal securities laws or other regulatory guidance, rules or recommendations in connection with this 
engagement. 

Office of Foreign Assets Control. As of the date of this Agreement, (a) neither you nor the issuer (if you are not the issuer) 
or any of your or the issuer’s subsidiaries, or any director or corporate officer of any of the foregoing entities, is the subject 
of any U.S. sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U S .  Department of the Treasury 
(“OFAC Sanctions”), (b) neither you nor the issuer (if you are not the issuer) is 50% or more owned or controlled, directly 
or indirectly, by any person or entity (“parent”) that is the subject of OFAC Sanctions, and (c) to the best of your 
knowledge, no entity 50% or more owned or controlled by a direct or indirect parent of you or the issuer (if you are not the 
issuer) is the subject of OFAC sanctions, For so long as this Agreement is in effect, you will promptly notie Ratings 
Services if any of these circumstances change. 

Ratings Services’ Use of Confidential and Private Ratings. Ratings Services may use confidential and private ratings in its 
analysis of the debt issued by collateralized debt obligation ( 0 0 )  and other investment vehicles. Ratings Services may 
disclose a confidential or private rating as a confidential credit estimate or assessment to the managers of CDO and similar 
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investment vehicles. Ratings Services may permit CDO managers to use and disseminate credit estimates or assessments on 
a limited basis and subject to various restrictions; however, Ratings Services cannot control any such use or dissemination. 

Entire Ameement. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent you, the issuer (if you are not the issuer) or Ratings Services 
from acting in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. Subject to the prior sentence, this Agreement, including 
any amendment made in accordance with the provisions hereof, constitutes the complete and entire agreement between the 
parties on all matters regarding the rating provided hereunder. The terms of this Agreement supersede any other terms and 
conditions relating to information provided to Ratings Services by you or your agents and advisors hereunder, including 
without limitation, terms and conditions found on, or applicable to, websites or other means through which you or your 
agents and advisors make such information available to Ratings Services, regardless if such terms and conditions are 
entered into before or after the date of this Agreement. Such terms and conditions shall be null and void as to Ratings 
Services. 

Limitation on DamaPes. Ratings Services does not and cannot guarantee the accuracy, completeness, or timeliness of the 
information relied on in connection with a rating or the results obtained from the use of such information. RATINGS 
SERVICES GIVES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY 
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICtJLAR PIJRPOSE OR USE. Ratings Services, 
its affiliates or third party providers, or any of their officers, directors, shareholders, employees or agents shall not be liable 
to you, your affiliates or any person asserting claims on your behalf, directly or indirectly, for any inaccuracies, errors, or 
omissions, in each case regardless of cause, actions, damages (consequential, special, indirect, incidental, punitive, 
compensatory, exemplary or otherwise), claims, liabilities, costs, expenses, legal fees or losses (including, without 
limitation, lost income or lost profits and opportunity costs) in any way arising out of or relating to the rating provided 
hereunder or the related analytic services even if advised of the possibility of such damages or other amounts except to the 
extent such damages or other amounts are finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a proceeding in which 
you and Ratings Services are parties to result from gross negligence, intentional wrongdoing, or willful misconduct of 
Ratings Services. In hrtherance arid not in limitation of the foregoing, Ratings Services will not be liable to you, your 
affiliates or any person asserting claims on your behalf in respect of any decisions alleged to be made by any person based 
on anything that may be perceived as advice or recommendations. In the event that Ratings Services is nevertheless held 
liable to you, your affiliates, or any person asserting claims on your behalf for monetary damages under this Agreement, in 
no event shall Ratings Services be liable in an aggregate amount in excess of US$S,OOO,OOO except to the extent such 
monetary damages directly result from Ratings Services’ intentional wrongdoing or willful misconduct. The provisions of 
this paragraph shall apply regardless of the form of action, damage, claim, liability, cost, expense, or loss, whether in 
contract, statute, tort (including, without limitation, negligence), or otherwise. Neither party waives any protections, 
privileges, or defenses it may have under law, including but not limited to, the First Amendment of the Constitution of the 
United States of America. 

Termination of Agreement. This Agreement may be terminated by either party at any time upon written notice to the other 
party. Except where expressly limited to the term of this Agreement, these Terms and Conditions shall survive the 
termination of this Agreement. 

No Third-Pam Beneficiaries. Nothing in this Agreement, or the rating when issued, is intended or should be construed as 
creating any rights on behalf of any third parties, including, without limitation, any recipient of the rating. No person is 
intended as a third party beneficiary of this Agreement or of the rating when issued. 

Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding on, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their successors and 
assigns. 

Severability. In the event that any term or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, 
then the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected, impaired, or invalidated, and each such term and provision shall 
be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

Amendments. This Agreement may not be amended or superseded except by a writing that specifically refers to this 
Agreement and is executed manually or electronically by authorized representatives of both parties. 
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Reservation of Rights. The parties to this Agreement do not waive, and reserve the right to contest, any issues regarding 
sovereign immunity, the applicable governing law and the appropriate forum for resolving any disputes arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement.. 
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Fitch Ratings-New York-12 August 201 1: As part of ongoing surveillance, Fitch Ratings affirms 
the 'BBB-' rating on the $83.3 million County of Ohio, KY's pollution control refunding revenue 
bonds (Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project). 

The Rating Outlook is Stable. 

Fitch is also withdrawing its issuer credit rating for Big Rivers, which was assigned prior to Fitch 
assigning a rating on any of Big Rivers' publicly held bonds. 

SECURITY 

The bonds are secured by a mortgage lien on substantially all of the corporation's owned tangible 
assets, which include the revenue generated from the sale or transmission of electricity. 

IU2Y RATING DRIVERS 

Risk Profile Reshaped: The recent termination of its generating asset lease transaction has reshaped 
the risks surrounding Big Rivers, effectively reducing leverage and financial risk in exchange for 
increased reliance on a concentrated customer base and the wholesale marketplace. 

Abundant Low-Cost Resources: Big Rivers benefits from abundant low-cost power resources and 
an average wholesale system rate ($36.3S/MWh [megawatt hour] in 2010, net of credits) that is 
among the lowest in the nation. Member retail rates are similarly low and competitive. 

Heavy Customer Concentration: Big Rivers has resumed electric service, through its largest 
member Kenergy Corp., to two local aluminum smelters (a combined demand of 850 MW at a 98% 
load factor) that account for approximately 53% of total energy sales. 

Subject to Rate Regulation: Big Rivers' and its members' electric rates are regulated by the 
Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC), which limits the cooperative's financial flexibility 
and may hinder necessaiy rate increases. 

Acceptable Financial Metrics: Acceptable financial metrics for the rating category include fiscal 
2010 debt service coverage (DSC) of 1.32 times (x) and total debufunds available for debt service 
(FADS) of 1 2 . 2 ~ .  Including revenues from member rate stability (MRS) reserves, metrics improve 
to 1 . 7 8 ~  (DSC) and 9 . 0 ~  (debt/FADS). 

Forecasted Stability: FADS and times interest earned ratios (TIER) are expected to remain 
relatively stable going forward, aided by the continued use of MRS reserves and a TIER adjustment 
mechanism included in the cooperative's power sale agreements with the smelters. 

WHAT COULD TRIGGER A RATING ACTION 
Restrictive Rate Regulation: Future regulatory decisions that prevent the cooperative from 
adequately recovering costs would likely result in downward pressure on the rating or Outlook. 

Onerous Environmental Regulation: Environmental regulations proposed by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), if adopted, could result in a much higher cost of 
compliance for the cooperative versus other utilities with newer, more diversified resources. 

Deteriorating Operating Conditions: Declining non-smelter member sales, weak surplus energy 
sales, or constrained smelter operations that reduce financial margins and liquidity could also put 



downward pressure on the rating or Outlook. 

CREDIT PROFILE 

Big Rivers is a generation and transmission cooperative based in Henderson, Kentucky. Big Rivers 
supplies wholesale electric and transmission from its total capacity of 1,829 MW to three 
distribution cooperatives .. Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, Jackson 
Purchase Energy Corporation and Kenergy Corp. Combined, these members provide service to 
approximately 1 12,500 retail customers located in 22 western Kentucky counties. 

Emergence from Bankruptcy 

In September 1996, Big Rivers filed for voluntary Chapter 11 relief under the U.S. Bankruptcy 
code, generally due to an inability to sell power produced from its excess capacity at prices 
sufficient to cover its above-market costs. After emerging from bankruptcy in 1998, and in 
accordance with its plan of reorganization, Big Rivers entered into a 25-year lease of all its 
generating assets with Western Kentucky Energy Corp. (WKEC). The transaction essentially 
transferred the operational responsibilities of the assets and related risks in exchange for annual 
lease payments, and a fixed price purchase power contract with LG&E Energy Marketing, Inc. 
(LEM). 

TJnwinding the Lease Transaction 

In 2009, the lease with WKEC was effectively 'unwound, resulting in Big Rivers receiving cash and 
consideration totaling $865 million and resuming control of its generation fleet. Big Rivers also 
resumed electric service to two local aluminum smelters that have historically dominated the 
service area's electric demand and were supplied by LEM following the reorganization. Going 
forward, the smelters will again represent a significant portion of the cooperative's electric demand. 

The consideration received in connection with the unwind allowed Big Rivers to pay down 
approximately $140 million of debt, establish $253 million of rate stabilization reserves and 
improve system equity from (1 9%) to approximately 30%. 

Financial Performance Acceptable for Rating Category 

Fiscal 2010 financial performance was relatively solid and generally on budget. Electric operating 
margins ($51.3 million) for the year were slightly lower than forecasted. Weaker wholesale prices 
for power were nearly offset by increased, but more efficient, generation. Net margins for the year 
were almost exactly on budget ($7 million). Actual figures reported by Big Rivers for conventional 
TIER (1.1 Sx), DSC (1 .47~)  and equityhapitalization (32%) were also solidly in line with forecasted 
performance. 

Fitch-calculated ratios for DSC (1 32x) and total debt/FADS (12 .2~)  were acceptable for the current 
rating category and do not reflect the inclusion of withdrawals from reserves. Including those 
revenues, the metrics improve to 1 . 7 8 ~  and 9 . 0 ~ ~  respectively. Metrics for cash on hand (37 days, 
excluding reserves) and total liquidity on hand (1 09 days) were somewhat low for the cooperative's 
operating profile. 

Contact: 

Primary Analyst 
Dennis M. Pidherny 
Senior Director 

Fitch, Inc. 
One State Street Plaza 
New York, NY 10004 

+1-212-908-0738 

Secondary Analyst 



Eric Espino 
Director 
+1-212-908-0574 

Committee Chairperson 
Doug Kilcommons 
Senior Director 
3-1 -2 12-908-0740 

Media Relations: Cindy Stoller, New York, Tel: +l 212 908 0526, Email: 
Cindy .stoller@fitchratings.com. 

Additional information is available at 'www.fitchratings.com'. 

In addition to the sources of information identified in Fitch's Revenue-Supported Rating Criteria, 
this action was additionally informed by information from Creditscope. 

Applicable Criteria and Related Research: 

--'Revenue-Supported Rating Criteria', June 20, 201 1; 
--'U.S. Public Power Rating Criteria', March 28,201 1. 

For information on Build America Bonds, visit 'www.fitchratings.com/BABs.' 

Applicable Criteria and Related Research: 
U.S. Public Power Rating Criteria 
http://www.fitchratings.corn/creditdesk/reports/repo~~~ame.cfm?rpt~id=6 13065 
Revenue-Supported Rating Criteria 
http://www.fitchratings.com/creditdesk/reports/report~frame.cfm?rpt~id=63 7 1 30 

ALL FITCH CREDIT RATINGS ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN LdMITATIONS AND 
DISCL,AIMERS. PLEASE READ THESE LIMITATIONS AND DISCLAIMERS BY 
FOLLOWING THIS LINK: 
HTTP://FITCHRATINGS.COM/UNnERSTANDINGCREDITRATINGS. IN ADDITION, 
RATING DEFINITIONS AND THE TERMS OF USE OF SUCH RATINGS ARE AVAILABLE 
ON THE AGENCY'S PIJBLIC WEBSITE 'WWW.FITCHRATINGS.COM'. PUBLISHED 
RATINGS, CRITERIA AND METHODOLOGIES ARE AVAILABLE FROM THIS SITE AT 
ALL, TIMES. FITCH'S CODE OF CONDIJCT, CONFIDENTIALITY, CONFLICTS OF 
INTEREST, AFFILIATE FIREWALL, COMPLIANCE AND OTHER RELEVANT POLICIES 
AND PROCEDIJRES ARE ALSO AVAILABLE FROM THE 'CODE OF CONDUCT' SECTION 
OF THIS SITE. 

mailto:stoller@fitchratings.com
HTTP://FITCHRATINGS.COM/UNnERSTANDINGCREDITRATINGS


ec 

Inside This Report ma 
Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1 
Governance and Management 
Strategy.. ............ . . . . . . . . .  2 
Assets and Operations. . . . . . . . . . .  3 
Cost Structure . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6 
Financial Performance and Legal 
Provisions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7 
Customer Profile and Area,.. ,2 
Key Rating Considerations.. . . . . . . .  14 

Five Key Areas: This report is a sector-specific extension of Fitch Ratings' global master 

public power systems. More specifically, the report elaborates on five key areas of operational 
and financial importance to the credit quality of municipal and cooperative power entities. 
These areas are governance and management strategy; assets and operations; cost structure; 
financial performance and legal provisions; and customer profile and servicx? area. 

Consistent Rating Factors: These key elements of Fitch's public power rating criteria remain 
largely consistent with its prior criteria reports. However, the weighting of individual credit 
factors can change as the industry evolves, particularly in response to new regulatory initiatives 
or as new market dynamics emerge. In addition, not all rating factors outlined in this report 
apply to each individual rating or rating action. Each specific rating action commentary or rating 
report discusses those factors most relevant to the individual rating decisions. This report 
replaces the previous report, "U.S. Public Power Rating Criteria," dated March 28, 201 1. 

criteria report, "Revenue-Supported Rating Criteria," and details Fitch's approach to rating U.S. 
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Higher Ratings: U,S. public power utilities are effectively owned by their customers and 
operate with a mission to provide essential, reliable, and relatively low-cost electric service. 
Fitch's average retail system rating for the sector is 'A+', compared with an issuer default rating 
of 'BBB+' for investor-owned utilities. 

Distinguishing Characteristics: Key credit characteristics supporting higher ratings for public 
power utilities include their self-regulating authority and predominantly residential customer 
bases Self-regulating authority allows for the more timely recovery of costs through electric 
rates, while higher proportions of residential customers provide for more stable energy sales 
and, in turn, more predictable financial operations 



The strength of a utility’s senior management and governing body, usually an independent 
board of directors or elected city council, is a key credit consideration in Fitch’s analytical 
process. Management’s experience and ability to design and implement a comprehensive 
strategic plan is important to an issuer’s rating, as is its ability to respond to unforeseen 
circumstances. A high degree of board or city council understanding of a utility’s business 
strategy and the issues facing the utility is also important. 

Achieving Strategic Goals 

Fitch typically reviews prior strategic and financial plans versus actual outcomes in an 
assessment of management and governance effectiveness. A stronger management team 
consistently meets or exceeds financial projections, and copes well with unexpected 
developments. Moreover, Fitch takes into account the reasonableness of key financial and 
operational planning assumptions in its assessment 

Forecasts of customer and load growth 
New generation, transmission, or distribution requirements 

Plans to meet capital needs, including financing schedules 
Plans for rate increases 

Financial projections, including stress scenarios 
Risk-management procedures and analysis 

Comprehensive Resource Planning 

A utility’s power resource strategy encompasses the long-term decisions aimed at providing 
reliable, high-quality service at the lowest cost to its customers. Fitch analyzes the long-term 
strategies set forth in a utility’s integrated resource plan to determine if they are adequate and 
reasonable. Fitch monitors the implementation of those strategies and a utility’s flexibility for 
responding to changing market conditions. 

Fitch also discusses with management the purpose, amount, and structure of planned debt 
issuances, and any debt-management policies in assessing a utility’s capital needs and their 
effect on its future debt profile and financial performance. Fitch assesses the willingness and 
ability of an issuer’s management and governing body to increase rates to ensure the 
measured, timely, and adequate recovery of total costs. Fitch also evaluates the likely effect of 
rate increases on a utility’s financial performance relative to its peer group. 

Preparing for Uncertainties 

The extent of risk management performed by a utility is viewed as a key indicator of 
management‘s sophistication. Fitch views favorably a management team that is able to 
recognize and discuss risks (and mitigating factors) that could affect a system and, in turn, 
bondholder security Such risks include participation in the fuel and energy commodity markets, 
plans for managing a large generation unit or transmission outage; reliance on off-system 
counterparty credit quality; and the effect of regulatory or legislative changes. 

Related Criteria 
Criteria for Rating Prepaid Energy 
Transactions, Aug 15, 201 1 

?evenue-Supported Rating Criteria, 
June 20, 201 1 

-.-.--_l_l____l..__l_l__-_______ I _-___I_-...__._I____ __._____I_._.._____._-_-__.- ~ ____--.-- II 

U S Public Power Rating Criteria 2 
January 1 1, ,701 2 



Stronger 
Management and board of directors with extensive experience 
An objective, engaged board of directors that does not exert political pressure. 
Transparency and strong communication between management, the board of directors, and customers 
In the case of wholesale power systems, coordinated efforts among member utility systems and the governing body 
Frequent analysis and updating of financial forecasts and resource management plans 
Well-developed and documented risk-management policies and procedures. 
Documented succession planning 

Midrange 
Generally stable management team and board of directors with modest turnover 
Comprehensive strategic and resource plans, forecasts of demand, and risk-management policies that generally reflect 
current economic, system, and political conditions 

Weaker 
Lack of experience or frequent turnover of management. 
Significant political pressure in the underlying municipality or in the members' service area 
Failure to maintain open communication between the utility and the board of directors, which may reveal itself in 
unexpected, significant rate increases. 
Limited financial forecasting and rate planning 
Lack of adequate risk-management policies and procedures. 

Fitch analyzes the generation, transmission, and distribution assets of wholesale and retail 
power systems to determine if a utility's power supply mix and asset operating performance 
adequately meet demand requirements. Fitch also analyzes how a utility's power supply mix 
and performance compare to similar systems. 

erati ons 
Stronger 

A stable, diverse, and regionally cost-effective power resource mix 
Adequate fuel supply contracts and a well-constructed fuel-hedging strategy 
Sound operating performance that is in line with or better than industry standards 
Adequate reliability and redundancy 
A power supply plan to maintain load balance. 
Sufficient transmission access 

Midrange 
A power supply mix in line with the region 
Fuel-hedging strategy that strives to minimize fuel price volatility at competitive prices 
Sound asset operations, comparable to industry standards 
Limited unexpected outages that cause resources to perform below industry standards 
Evolving power supply plan that might have an open position 

Weaker 
A generation portfolio that is uneconomic or might ultimately pose unusual environmental concerns 
Dependency on a single fuel or generation site 
Below-average reliability levels stemming from frequent outages, high line losses, theft, or customer dissatisfaction 
Excessive dependence on the open market for either spot power purchases or sales of surplus power 
Lack of a comprehensive power supply plan 



Generation Benchmarking 

Fitch compares a utility's generation mix to that of industry standards, the regional market in 
which the utility operates, and other utilities in the rating category. This benchmarking of fuel 
and other generation risk exposure allows for a comparative analysis of a utility's relative 
strengths and weaknesses. Fitch considers the following areas in its assessment of generation: 

Fuel mix; 
* Plant availability and capacity factors; 
* Load factor; 

Heat rate; 
0 Refueling time, for nuclear plants; and 
* Environmental mandates or goals. 

Fitch looks through the wholesale provider and performs a similar assessment for distribution 
systems that purchase power under bilateral contractual agreements from a joint-action agency 
or cooperative. 

New Power Resources 

A utility's current and future power resource plan is generally aimed at providing reliable, high.- 
quality service at the lowest cost to its customers. Fitch analyzes the long-term strategies set 
forth in a utility's integrated resource plan to determine if they are adequate and conservatively 
developed. Fitch also evaluates the implementation of those strategies and a utility's flexibility 
in responding to changing market conditions. 

Many factors influence a system's demand for future power resources These include customer 
or load growth, expiring purchase power contracts, the replacement of older generating units 
with more efficient ones, or renewable mandates Fitch considers the following areas in its 
assessment of a utility's integrated resource plan: 
e 

0 

* 

0 

e Environmental factors. 

Building and owning assets provides many benefits, such as: 
* Control of asset operation; 
0 

0 

However, there are also benefits to being a power purchaser in periods when market power 
supply is ample, and electric transmission access is available. Some small- to medium-sized 
systems can benefit from avoiding large, costly capital programs and operating obligations that 
come with owned generation. 

Fitch does not typically evaluate the merits of owning generation versus purchasing power On 
the contrary, Fitch's analysis considers the costs and benefits to individual utilities of both 
scenarios 

The type of generation chosen and alternatives considered; 
The size and cost of the unit; 
'The effect of the unit on the utility's existing portfolio resource mix (baseload, intermediate, 
or peaking), 
The availability of transmission and distribution resources, and 

Limited counterparty risk and collateral-posting (requirements associated with power 
purchases); and 
Equity associated with owning a long-term asset. 



Renewable Resources 

Fitch reviews a utility's strategy for developing renewable or alternative power generation to 
gauge how a utility's generation mix will change, particularly when it must comply with a state 
renewable portfolio standard. Fitch also evaluates the capital and operational costs of the 
projects, and how they will ultimately affect customer rates. 

Renewable energy projects are expected to have long-term environmental benefits. However, 
the intermittent nature of their generation and higher operating costs relative to traditional 
generating resources can pressure a utility's financial operations without adequate cost 
recovery. The availability and types of these resources and the transmission capability vary by 
region. 

Environmental Considerations 

Fitch conducts a review of a utility's compliance with current and proposed environmental 
standards to fully understand a system's future capital needs and operating expenses. 
Environmental retrofits can be costly on a capital basis and from an operating perspective, as 
increased captive consumption often results in lower plant output. The cost to retrofit may be 
high for older, coal-fired generating facilities, rendering the generating facility uneconomic and 
subject to retirement As such, the effect of more restrictive federal and state environmental 
policies can have significant operating and financial repercussions for a utility. 

Fuel-Supply Management 

The ability to manage fuel costs is a key credit factor, because fuel is often a utility's largest 
budgetary expense Hedging can be critical to the financial stability of, for example, a retail 
distribution system that purchases a portion of its power in the spot market As such, Fitch 
reviews a utility's hedging techniques as part of its risk-management assessment 

The use of financial markets and power derivatives can help mitigate the risk of price volatility 
or a longer term trend of increasing prices. However, these instruments can leave a utility 
exposed to a drop in fuel prices, which can render certain hedges uneconomic, or "out of the 
money." This might require a collateral posting by the utility that, if coupled with declines in 
operating performance, could tighten liquidity and result in negative credit pressures 

Other factors of the fuel supply that Fitch considers include: 
e Diversity of fuel mix, 
e Flexibility of fuel agreements; 
e Fuel transportation arrangements, and 
e 

The optimal fuel-supply strategy varies by utility. It is driven by the diversity of generating 
resources, sufficiency of fuel sources, and the ability to mitigate associated risks 

Alternative fuels, if primary sources are not available. 

Off-System Sales and Purchases 

A power generator's off-system sales to non-native load can reduce existing customers' costs 
or provide surplus funds for reinvestment in system facilities, depending on market conditions. 
However, heavy reliance on off-system sales is viewed as a negative credit factor Such 
revenues tend to be more volatile, reflecting inherently variable power market prices 



Conversely, spot purchases can increase overall cost efficiency if power generators can 
purchase power in the open market when the cost is beneficial (the market cost of power is 
lower than the cost of a system’s own generation), However, short-term purchases will also 
expose issuers to greater cost volatility. 

Distribution and Transmission 

Fitch views the distribution function largely as a monopoly-type, stable business with limited 
business risk Fitch’s review of a distribution system includes an assessment of its reliability, as 
measured by the frequency of outages, line losses, etc., and the extent and timeliness of 
necessary capital improvements for its traditionally “wires only” infrastructure. 

Fitch evaluates the level of historical and planned system investment to determine if customer 
growth will affect the operations of the existing system relative to a peer group. Fitch also 
reviews a utility’s business strategy regarding its transmission connection with a regional 
operator or other transmission system that can provide it with reliable access to market power, 
if needed. 

Fitch analyzes a utility’s cost structure and methods of adjusting rates to determine its rate- 
raising flexibility for the timely funding of financial operations and capital needs The analysis is 
conducted “bottom up,” by looking at the costs to generate (or purchase) and supply electricity 
to customers, and “top down,” by examining the structure of retail rates charged to different 
customer classes. A utility with overall rates that are below neighboring systems or systems 
with similar fuel mixes is generally viewed as having greater flexibility to use rates as a tool for 
funding. 

Local Rate-Setting Authority 

Most municipal systems and electric cooperatives are not subject to regulation by state public 
service commissions. Instead, public power systems typically maintain local authority to adjust 
rates as needed, which contributes to the timely recovery of costs. This flexibility is viewed as a 
positive credit factor and a distinguishing factor from comparable investor-owned utilities It 
provides management with the ability to raise rates to maintain financial stability, build liquidity, 
or pay for portions of a capital improvement plan. 

Fitch also considers the use of automatic or interim rate adjustments, which further ensure 
timely cost recovery, in its assessment of a utility’s rate structure. Interim adjustments that may 
be effected by a utility’s management team -without the involvement of a governing board - 
can help ensure the overall stability of financial operations. 

The rates of wholesale power suppliers, including joint-action agencies and generation and 
transmission cooperatives, and their distribution members are compared at the wholesale and 
retail levels, respectively. 



Stronger 
Board of directors and city council have the sole authority to set customer or member rates 
Retail/wholesale rates are typically below those of neighboring utilities and frequently more competitive nationally. 
Competitive "all-in" production costs 
Use of an automatic monthly fuel or purchased power adjustment surcharge for timely recovery of variable energy and 
fuel costs 
Timely and measured rate increases in anticipation of multiyear capital spending 

Midrange 
Comparable rates to neighboring utilities, and within range of regional averages 
Might utilize a fuel or purchased power surcharge (typically adjusted less frequently than monthly). 
Includes financial projections, and a welldocumented strategy for servicing new debt for a capital program 
Established transparency, as well as some communication with the rate-setting authorities, to ensure no rate shocks to 
customers 

Weaker 
Outside regulatory approval required for rate increases. 
Political pressure that might limit or postpone needed rate increases, which could ultimately affect a utility's financial 
metrics. 
Above-average rates relative to a peer group, which reduces flexibility for managing unforeseen operating or other capital 
expenses. 
Lack of any fuel or purchased power adjustment factor 

Fina Le revisions 

The assessment of a utility's financial performance and policies, and the legal provisions 
underpinning specific debt issuances, are important considerations in Fitch's ratings process 
Fitch reviews five years of audited financial statements for an established utility to understand 
its historical trends and competitive position relative to a peer group. A utility's operating results, 
liquidity levels, and capital structure are evaluated. Financial projections, including planning 
assumptions for load growth, rate increases, and expenses, are likewise critical to the rating 
process. Fitch also examines the financial profiles of a wholesale power provider's members, to 
the extent that information is available. 

Financial Performance 

Fitch's analysis of financial metrics focuses principally on three core areas: cash flow, liquidity, 
and capital structure No single financial ratio stands apart from the rest. On the contrary, the 
ratios are examined together, providing a context for a utility's financial position that informs a 
complete analysis. 

Cash Flow 

Cash flow indicators, particularly as they pertain to debt service coverage, provide a measure 
of financial cushion to meet bondholder obligations. Fitch primarily considers two measures of 
debt service coverage to compare utilities that own, versus purchase, generation The standard 
debt service coverage ratio measuring funds available for debt service to total debt service 
applies to all utilities. An adjusted measure of debt service coverage, primarily for retail 
systems that own little or no generation, treats a percentage (30%) of purchased power costs 
as a debt-like obligation. Thirty percent is an approximation based on historical experience for 
that portion of off-balance sheet obligations that might otherwise be a fixed expense. The ratio 
provides a more conservative estimate of financial margin 
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Wholesale power suppliers generally have lower coverage levels than retail systems, as total 
wholesale costs are passed through to their members on a monthly basis. Fitch reviews a 
wholesale system's cost structure, rate adjustment, and billing processes to assess the 
timeliness of cost recovery, given their lower financial coverage metrics. 

Liquidity 

Liquidity measures, such as days cash on hand and days liquidity on hand, provide an estimate 
of an issuer's ability to meet uncertain operating or other capital expenses. Public power 
entities typically carry less cash on the balance sheet than water and wastewater utilities. As 
such, days liquidity on hand, reflecting any undrawn bank facilities, is an important measure of 
financial flexibility. 

Certain utilities rely heavily on third-party liquidity providers for bank revolvers or lines of credit, 
as is typically more common of cooperatives. Fitch assesses the diversity and credit quality of 
the liquidity providers, the ability to extend and replac& such agreements, and the adequacy 
and terms of the liquidity support when reviewing these utilities. 

Ratio Calculation Significance 
Cash Flow 
FADS ($) Operating Revenues-Operating Expenses+Depreciation+lnlerest 

Debt Service Coverage (x) 

Coverage of Full Obligations (x) 

DebVFADS (x) Total DebVFADS 

Income 
FADSRotal Annual Debt Service 

(FADScFixed Charge-General Fund Transfer)/ 
(Total Annual Debt ServicetFixed Charge)' 

Liquidity 
Days Cash on Hand 

Days Liquidity on Hand 

Unrestricted Cash and Cash Equivalents/ 
(Operating Expenses-Depreciation)x365 
(Unrestricted Cash and Cash EquivalentscAvailable Lines of Credit and 
Commercial Paper Capacity)/(Operating Expense~-Depreciation)x365 

Capital Structure 
EquityKapitalization (%) Total Equity/Capitalization 

Debt ServiceKash Operating 
Expenses (%) Service-Depreciation) 
DebVCustomer ($) Total Debtrrotal Customers 
Variable Rate Debtrrotal Debt (Oh) Variable Rate Debtrrotal Debt 

Other 
Operating Margin (YO) 

Capex/Depreciation and Capex/(Depreciation+Amortization) 
Amortization (%) 
Free Cash Flow/Capex ($) 
Net DebVNet Utility Plant (x) 

General Fund Transfer/ 
Operating Revenues (%) 

'Fixed charge - 30% of purchased power expense, which is an approximation of the associated fixed costs. I 

PILOT - Payment in lieu of taxes 

Total Annual Debt Servicel(0perating ExpensestTotal Annual Debt 

Operating MarginlOperating Revenues 

(FADS-Total Annual Debt Service-General Fund Transfer)/Capex 
(Total Debt-Reserve Funds)/Net Utility Plant 

(General Fund Transfer+PILOT)/Operating Revenues 

Provides available, current cash resources 

Indicates the margin available to meet current debt 
service requirements 
Indicates the margin available to meet all debt service and 
other fixed obligations 
Indicates the size of debt compared to the margin available 
for debt service 

Indicates financial flexibility, specifically cash and cash 
equivalents, relative to expenses 
Indicates financial flexibility, including all available sources 
of cash and liquidity, relative to expenses 

Provides a measure of cost recovery, leverage, and debt 
capacity 
Provides an indication of debt burden relative to cash operating 
expenses 
Provides a measure for relative comparison of leverage 
Provides context for an issuer's short-term obligations 

Provides a measure of operating stability and capacity to 
manage an increase in debt levels. 
Indicates whether annual capital spending keeps pace with 
depreciation 
Indicates a utility's ability to internally fund capex 
Provides a measure of leverage relative to the book value 
of physical assets 
Indicates the degree to which a utility supports city or 
county general fund operations 

FADS - Funds available for debt service 
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A utility's transfer policy can influence its liquidity measures. As such, Fitch reviews transfers to 
a corresponding municipality's general fund to determine if they are formulaic. Subjective, 
open-ended transfer policies that allow a local government to affect the liquidity levels of a 
utility generally increase credit risk. For electric cooperatives, the amount of patronage capital 
repatriated has similar importance. 

Capital Structure 

A utility's capital structure, which encompasses the strength of its balance sheet, presents 
another indication of financial flexibility. More specifically, the equity-to-capitalization ratio 
measures a utility's ability to grow equity over time. 

A rising equity ratio is favorable, as it suggests adequate cost recovery in rates or load growth. 
A high level of system equity indicates capacity for issuing additional debt to fund future capital 
needs. Wholesale power providers with equity levels below 10% are likely to be considered 
financially disadvantaged. 

elect ~~~~~~~~6 
Debt Service Coverage (x) DebUFADS (x) Days Cash on Hand EquitylCapitalization (%) 
Stronger 
Coverage of consistently 
more than 2 . 0 ~  provides 
solid cash flow and 
bondholder protection. 

Midrange 
Many utilities target 
coverage in the 1 5x-2 Ox 
range 

Weaker 
Consistently less than 1 5x 
coverage provides limited 
cushion for unexpected 
revenue shortfalls 

Less than 6x debt to FADS 
indicates a favorable level of 
leverage relative to cash 
flow. 

Ratios in the 6x-9x range 
indicate a generally balanced 
level of debt relative to cash 
flow 

Greater than 9x debt without 
a suitable rationale can 
indicate a deficient rate 
structure. 

More than 120 days cash on Strong equity levels of more 
hand indicates solid financial than 40% indicate adequate 
flexibility to meet unforeseen cost recoverv and amde debt 
spending needs. 

Many utilities target 
approximately 60-90 days 
operating cash 

Less than 60 days cash 
indicates less financial 
flexibilitv. but can be 

capacity for iuture capital 
needs. 

Many utilities maintain 
20%40°h equity levels 

Less than 15Yoand 10% 
equity is relatively low for 
retail electric and wholesale 

adequaie if a utility is subject systems, respectively 
to less cash flow volatilitv. 

FADS -Funds available for debt service Note: The debt and equity ratios above do not reflect off-balance sheet 
obligations, which apply to retail systems that are participants in joint-action agencies or are part-owners of generation 
facilities Fitch reviews adjusted financial ratios to take into account such obligations 

Debt Profile 

Fitch's assessment of a utility's debt profile considers the purpose, amount, and structure of its 
existing debt, and any off-balance sheet obligations such as take-or-pay contracts or interest 
rate swap agreements. Future financing plans, including the funding of a long-term capital 
program, and the renewal and replacement of any bank liquidity facilities, are also important 
considerations. 

The amount of hedged or unhedged variable-rate debt an issuer can manage is a function of its 
operating risk profile; the strength, predictability, and amount of its cash flows; the level of 
available funds; and its management of interest rate exposure and maturities. Fitch will assess 
the resiliency of an issuer's financial metrics relative to a peer group when evaluating its ability 
to manage variable-rate and short-term debt exposure. Higher rated issuers with broader 
market access are typically better able to take on a greater percentage of variable-rate debt, as 
compared with lower rated issuers. 

-.._---...___-____-___I Î ______.--_I- 
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Legal Provisions 

Aspects of the Bond Indenture 

The legal provisions of a bond indenture or resolution provide a framework for the 
establishment of funds and, ultimately, the repayment of a debt obligation. A s  such, Fitch 
analyzes indenture provisions, such as the pledge of revenues, rate covenant, additional bonds 
test, debt service reserve fund, and flow of funds to determine the relative strength of the 
security. 

Pledge of Revenues 

Fitch does not distinguish between a pledge of gross and net revenues for public power 
systems, as all systems must fully cover annual operating expenses and debt service from total 
revenues. A weaker revenue pledge may allow for the inclusion of other available funds as 
revenues. Separately, a mortgage interest provides bondholder support via a lien on physical 
assets, as is typical of cooperatives. 

Rate Covenant 

The rate covenant provides a minimum level of protection and ensures that a system reliably 
covers debt service by a certain margin. Fitch views it as an element of financial cushion. Rate 
covenants with only a 1.Qx (sum sufficient) debt service coverage requirement, or those that 
allow inclusion of other funds in the calculation of the rate covenant, are typically viewed as 
being weaker. 

Additional Bonds Test 

The terms of the additional bonds test often mimic the rate covenant. The strongest tests 
include both a historical and projected debt service coverage test and limit the period for 
calculating net revenues to the 12 months immediately preceding the issuance of additional 
debt 

Debt Service Reserve Fund 

The incidence of relying on a debt service reserve fund to pay debt obligations is low, given the 
limited number of public power entities that Fitch rates below investment grade. However, 
maintaining additional legally restricted, cash-funded reserves is looked upon favorably, 
particularly for weaker credits Fitch evaluates those instances where reserve funds have been 
funded with a surety from a financial guarantor on a case-by-case basis. 

Flow of Funds 

The flow of funds is fairly standardized, providing for regular deposits to the debt service fund 
after the payment of operations and maintenance. A s  such, the flow of funds has little bearing 
on the rating, except in the uncommon instances when it deviates from the typical arrangement 

These key bond covenants are important to overall bondholder protection, though the degree 
to which they influence a rating varies. The legal provisions for a lower rated entity take on 
greater importance, as they are more likely to be tested. 



Rate Covenant Additional Bonds Test 
Stronger 
Greater than 1 . 2 5 ~  coverage of ADS by More than 1 25x coverage of MADS from net revenues Typically, the 
net revenues alone test includes both a historical and projected revenue period, the test will 

have to be met over a consecutive number of months 

Midrange 
Coverage of  ADS between 1 lox-1 25x Coverage of MADS from net revenues of between 1 lox  and 1 25x 
by net revenues alone May only include a historical or projected net revenue coverage test; 

may allow inclusion of other available fund balances to meet the test 

Weaker 
Less than 1 l o x  coverage of ADS by net Less than 1 lox  coverage of ADS from net revenues Typically, a 
revenues plus available funds historical or projected test, with a looser interpretation of  the revenue 

period (i e 12 consecutive months of the 24 months preceding the 
issuance of additional bonds) 

ADS -Annual debt service MADS -Maximum annual debt service 

Wholesale Power Contracts 

The power sales contracts between a wholesale power supplier and its distribution customers 
are among the most important factors supporting the credit rating of a wholesale power system 
(joint-action agency or cooperative). The credit strength of a wholesale provider is intrinsically 
linked to that of its purchasers. As such, a wholesale power supplier would be unlikely to obtain 
an investment-grade rating absent these long-term agreements, many of which are court 
validated to provide assurances that they are enforceable. 

In particular, Fitch evaluates the nature of the contractual obligation (take-or-pay, take-and-pay, 
all requirements, etc ) and the expiration and renewal terms of these contracts relative to the 
final maturity of an issuer's outstanding bonds. Debt maturities beyond the terms of the 
agreements are considered a negative rating factor, as issuers could be forced to sell power in 
the open market on a merchant basis to support debt service 

ke- 
Strengths 
Long-term commitment of participants to purchase 100% of project output 
Participants are required to make payments regardless of unit operation; many such contracts have been deemed by the 
state courts as legally binding to the participants 
Contracts can mitigate price volatility risk (for the power purchaser) inherent in short-term purchase power contracts, as 
the contracts are often for a fixed price plus a modest escalator 
Step-up requirements can mitigate the default risk of the weakest and smallest participants 
(e.g with a 25% step up, a default by 25% of participants [by participation] would be borne by the other participants rather 
than by bondholders) 

Weaknesses 
Depending on the transaction's structure, the stepup provision can be insufficient to mitigate a default of the weakest 
participants 
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Strengths 
Long-term commitment of participants to purchase 100% of project output 
The risk of an individual member defaulting is, in effect, borne by membership rather than bondholders in the form of 
higher average wholesale rates set by the agency (e g an unlimited stepup provision when a take-and-pay is coupled 
with an "all-requirements" power supply contract) 

Weaknesses 
Members are only obligated to pay for power that is available (able to be generated) Hence, the project would lose 
member revenues if fi were rendered non-operable. 

Effects of Litigation 

Fitch considers any litigation that might result in financial payments in its review of an issuer's 
legal framework. Any such payments that materially affect an issuer's balance sheet could 
result in a negative rating action. 

~ ~ ~ ~ o ~ e ~  Profile and 
Service area characteristics provide an indication of the stability of a constituency's load, and 
ultimately its ability to pay electric hills. Stronger electric systems typically serve growing, well- 
diversified areas However, the essential nature of electric service and the remedies available 
to most public power providers (shutoffs and liens) make payment delinquencies in the sector 
extremely low, regardless of wealth and other economic indicators. 

Service Area Considerations 

A utility's ability to maintain a sound operating position, despite changing service area 
characteristics, is an important rating consideration. Some of the factors Fitch considers in its 
assessment of a service area are shown in the table below. 

tries 
Indicator Measure 
Economy 1J S Bureau of Labor Statistics and 1J.S. 

Bureau of Economic Analysis 
employment by sector statistics 

Breakdown of residential, commercial, 
and industrial customers provided by the 
utility or consultant 

Customer Composition 

Top 10 Customers Provided by the utility or consultant 

Population U S Census figures 

kwh Sales Provided by the utility or consultant 

Unemployment Rate 

Wealth Levels U S Census and U S Bureau of 

U S Bureau of Labor Statistics figures 

Economic Analysis figures 

Significance 
A diversified economy is typically better positioned 
to absorb cyclical changes than an economy 
concentrated in a certain sector, providing for 
greater stability of revenues 
A higher percenfage of residenfial energy sales 
(more than 40%) typically provides for greater 
financial stability Residential customers each 
account for very small percentages of total sales. 
As such, the loss of any single customer does not 
disrupt a utility's revenue stream 
As a percentage of the total, 5% of sales to the 
largest customer or 25% of sales to the 10 largest 
customers reveals concentration in the revenue 
base, which can be disruptive if a large customer(s) 
leaves the area 
A growing service area typically leads to additional 
energy sales in support of revenues 
The trend of kwh sales provides an indication of the 
health of the local economy, with steady annual 
increases demonstrating sound economic and 
population growth 
Provides an indication of the relative health of a 
local employment base. 
Provides an indication of the relative ability to pay 
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Fitch performs a more detailed analysis of an electric system’s customer base to further 
evaluate the stability of the revenue source when there is industry or customer concentration. 
The latter is defined as one or a few large customers accounting for a material proportion of 
revenues (e.g. an individual customer accounting for more than 5%, or the top 10 accounting 
for more than 25% of the system’s operating revenues). Fitch also conducts an analysis of all 
relevant member information when reviewing joint-action agencies and cooperatives, to the 
extent that information is available. 



Governance and anagement Strategy 
0 Type of governing body (e.g. utility board, city council, etc.) 

Management's relationship with governing body 
Management's experience and depth of industry knowledge 

Management's track record at achieving financial and strategic goals 
The relationship among the members, for joint-action agencies and cooperatives 

0 Business strategy and planning 
e 

e 

ssets and Operations 
0 Review of generation mix and comparison to the region 

Historical operating performance of generation facilities 
0 Relative load balance or shortfall, and plans for meeting additional power needs 
0 Environmental concerns and compliance 
0 Fuel supply and hedging contracts 
6 Off-system power saleslpurchases 
e Distribution and transmission issues 

Cost Structure 
State or federal regulatory oversight 
Rate-raising flexibility and competitiveness 
Process of adjusting rates to ensure timely and adequate cost recovery 
Structure and use of fuel or purchased power adjustment mechanism 
Average total power supply cost relative to a peer group 
Generating plant production costs relative to similar plants in the region 
Average wholesale cost of power for joint-action agencies and cooperatives 
Average retail rates by customer classification and comparison to peers 

Financial Performance and Legal Provisions 
e 

e Management's financial policies 
e 

e 

e 

0 

0 

e Any material pending litigation 

Historical five-year analysis of key cash flow, liquidity, and leverage ratios 

Financial projections and reasonableness of key assumptions 
Existing debt characteristics and future financing needs 
Financial analyses of the largest member distribution systems, for joint-action agencies 
and cooperatives 
Review of indenture provisions and bond security features 
Type, length, and renewal terms of wholesale power contracts 

Customer Profile and Service Area 
a 
e 

e 

e 

Economic and demographic makeup and trends 
Customer composition, including a breakout of kWh sales and revenues 
Customer revenue or business sector concentration 
Service area profiles of member systems, for joint-action agencies and cooperatives 

____--..-I_ __ _-________ ~ -._-.___.__I__-_-.________ . . 
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Ratings 
Outstanding Debt 
$83,300,000 County of Ohio, KV 
pollution control revenue bonds 
Series 2010A BBB- 

Rating Outlook 
Stable 

Key Utility Statistics 
(Fiscal Year Ended 12/31/10) 

System Type 
NERC Reglion 
No. of Customers 
Annual Revenues (S Mil.) 
Top User (X of Revenues) 
Primary Fuel Source 
Peak Demand (MW) 
Energy Growth 1%) 
Debt Service Coverage (x) 
Days Operating Cash 
EquitylCapitalization (X) 

Analysts 
Dennis M Pidherny 

Dennis pidherny@litchratings corn 

Eric Espino 
+ I  21 2 908-0738 
Eric espino@litchratings corn 

+ I  212 908-0738 

Wholesale 
Electric 

M I S 0  
3 

530.06 
53 

Coal 
1,391 
53.6 
1 32 

216.72 
31.85 

Risk Profile Reshaped: The recent termination of its generating asset lease transaction has 
reshaped the risks surrounding Big Rivers Electric Corporation, effectively reducing leverage 
and financial risk in exchange for increased reliance on a concentrated customer base and 
the wholesale marketplace. 

Abundant Low Cost Resources: Big Rivers benefits from abundant low-cost power 
resources and an average wholesale system rate ($36.35/MWh in 2010, net of credits) that 
is regionally competitive and among the lowest in the nation. Member retail rates are 
similarly low and competitive. 

Heavy Customer Concentration: Big Rivers has resumed electric service, through its 
largest member Kenergy Corp., to two local aluminum smelters (a combined demand of 850 
MW at a 98% load factor), which account for approximately 53% of total energy sales. 

Subject to Rate Regulation: The electric rates charged by Big Rivers and its members are 
regulated by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC), which limits the 
cooperative's financial flexibility and may delay the timing or amount of necessary rate 
increases. 

Acceptable Financial Metrics: Acceptable financial metrics for the rating category include 
fiscal 2010 debt service coverage (DSC) of 1 . 3 2 ~  and total debt/funds available for debt 
service (FADS) of 12.2~. Including revenues from member rate stability (MRS) reserves, 
metrics improve to 1.78~ (DSC) and 9 . 0 ~  (debt/FADS). 

Forecasted Stability: FADS and times interest earned ratios (TIER) are expected to remain 
relatively stable going forward, aided by the continued use of MRS reserves and a TIER 
adjustment mechanism included in the cooperative's power sale agreements with the 
smelters. 

at n 
Restrictive Rate Regulation: Future regulatory decisions that prevent the cooperative from 
adequately recovering costs would likely result in downward pressure on the rating or 
Outlook. 

Onerous Environmental Regulation: Environmental regulations proposed by the US. 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), if adopted, could result in a much higher cost of 
compliance for the cooperative versus other utilities with newer, more diversified resources. 

Deteriorating Operating Conditions: Declining non-smelter member sales, weak surplus 
energy sales, or constrained smelter operations that reduce financial margins and liquidity 
could also put downward pressure on the rating or Outlook. 
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e 
Big Rivers is a generation and transmission cooperative based in Henderson, Kentucky. Big 
Rivers supplies wholesale electric and transmission from its total capacity of 1,829 MW to three 
distribution cooperatives - Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, Jackson 
Purchase Energy Corporation and Kenergy Corporation. Combined, these members provide 
service to approximately 112,500 retail customers that are located in 22 western Kentucky 
counties. 

Each of the three Big Rivers members purchases power pursuant to a wholesale power 
contract (WPC) that extends through December 31, 2043, well beyond the final maturity date of 
the cooperative’s outstanding debt. Under the terms of the WPC’s the members are required 
to purchase all of the power required to meet the needs of their systems, except Kenergy’s 
requirements for the smelters (See Smelter Agreements). 

Bankruptcy 

In September 1996, Big Rivers filed for voluntary Chapter 1 1  relief under the U.S. Bankruptcy 
code, generally due to an inability to sell power produced from its excess capacity at prices 
sufficient to cover its above-market costs. After emerging from bankruptcy in 1998 and in 
accordance with its plan of reorganization, Big Rivers entered into a 25-year lease of all of its 
generating assets with Western Kentucky Energy Corp. (WKEC), at the time a wholly owned 
subsidiary of LG&E Energy Corp. (LG&E) The transaction essentially transferred the 
operational responsibilities of the assets and related risks in exchange for annual lease 
payments, and a fixed price purchase power contract with LG&E Energy Marketing, Inc. (LEM), 
another subsidiary of LG&E. 

The Unwind Transaction 

In 2009, the lease with WFEC was effectively “unwound”, resulting in Big Rivers receiving cash 
and consideration with a value of $865 million, and gaining back control of its generation fleet. 
Big Rivers also resumed electric service to two local aluminum smelters that have historically 
dominated the service area’s electric demand and were supplied by LEM following the 
reorganization. Going forward, the smelters will again represent a significant portion of the 
cooperative’s electric demand 

The Consideration received in connection with the unwind allowed Big Rivers to pay down 
approximately $1 40 million of debt, establish $253 million of rate stabilization reserves and 
improve system equity from ( 1  9Y0) to approximately 30%. 

an 
The Board of Big Rivers consists of six members, comprised of two from each of the member 
Cooperatives. The members serve three-year terms and two are elected each year. There are 
full board meetings once a month, often supplemented with more informal meetings when 
necessary. There are no specific committees given the small size of the board. According to 
Big Rivers, management has an excellent working relationship with the board. 

Since completing the unwind transaction, Big Rivers has expanded its senior management 
team to include several new positions including a Chief Production Officer and Vice President 
of Risk Management to oversee the expanded responsibilities related to power supply. The 
cooperative’s employee base has also grown to approximately 630 reflecting the production 
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personnel acquired with the generating facilities, many of whom were employed by Big Rivers 
prior to the bankruptcy. 

Overall, Fitch believes that the cooperative’s post-unwind transition has progressed very well, 
due in large part to the many years of preparation undertaken by the Big Rivers management 
team in anticipation of the transaction. Although E.ON provided some initial support to the 
post-unwind transition, particularly in the areas of information technology and generation 
dispatch, Big Rivers assumed full operating responsibilities earlier this year without any 
diSrtJptiOn. Generation dispatch is currently managed by ACES Power Marketing, which 
provides portfolio risk management services for aggregate energy load and generation of 
44,000 MW and 35,000 MW, respectively 

Big Rivers and its members are subject to oversight by the KPSC, which constrains the board’s 
rate setting ability, compared to other public power and cooperative utilities that are self- 
regulated. The KPSC is an independent agency that regulates gas, water, sewer, electric and 
telecommunications utilities in Kentucky. Although Fitch views external rate regulation as 
limiting to financial flexibility, it should be noted that the KPSC has been responsive to the 
needs of Big Rivers in recent years, particularly during the unwind approval process. The 
recent inclusion of rate tariffs designed to allow the monthly recovery of fluctuations in the cost 
of fuel and purchased power, as well as costs related to environmental compliance, are credit 
positive and are expected to lower the frequency of formal rate cases. 

Big Rivers has also adopted a very proactive approach to rate setting (see Rates and Cost 
Structure), which is designed to anticipate the need for rate relief well in advance of the 
timetable required by the KPSC, and should therefore increase the likelihood of timely rate 
relief. The KPSC will also allow utilities to file for emergency or interim rate relief that can be 
implemented within 30 days if necessary, under certain circumstances. Corresponding retail 
rate increase requests are typically coordinated with those of Big Rivers, blJt members must file 
separately with the KPSC. 

rea 

Big Rivers serves three electric cooperatives, which together provide electric service to 
approximately 11 2,500 customers. While the operating profiles of Jackson Purchase and 
Meade are largely typical of rural electric cooperatives (including a heavy concentration of 
residential customer and electric sales), Kenergy’s profile is somewhat unique in that its electric 
load is dominated by two aluminum smelters - one owned by Alcan Primary Products 
Corporation located in Sebree, KY and another owned by Century Aluminum of Kentucky 
General Partnership in Hawesville, KY. Together the smelters accounted for 87.7% and 80.0% 
of the distribution cooperative’s total energy sales and revenue, respectively, in 2010. By 
comparison, Jackson Purchase’s entire large industrial load accounted for only 7.1 Yo and 5.5% 
of energy sales and revenue. An overview of the three members is provided below. 
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Overview of the Big Rivers Members 

No. of Consumers 
Total MWh Sales 
Total Revenues ($) 

No. of Residential Consumers 
MWh - % Residential 
Revenues - % Residential 

No. of Small Commercial/Industrial Consumers 
MWh - % Small Commercial 
Revenues ~ % Small Commercial 

No. of Large Commercial/lndustrial Consumers 
MWh - % Large Commercial 
Revenues - % Large Commercial 

Meade Jackson 

683,481 9,318,498 479,367 

Kennergy 
29,152 54,991 28,267 

45,400 399,473 33,648 

64.6% 8.7% 78.2% 
68.8% 14.3% 77.8% 

3,080 9,680 2,048 

26,053 45,201 26,213 

28.1% 3.6% 21.5% 
25.5% 5.6% ‘ 22.0% 

7 34 0 
7.1% 87.7% 0.0% 
5.5% 80.0% 0.0% 

Source: Big Rivers. 

The Aluminum Smelters 

Aluminum smelting is energy intensive, with power costs accounting for approximately 33% 
of a smelter’s production costs. Access to Big River’s low-cost power has therefore been a 
positive for the smelters, as both operations are adjacent to the Big Rivers generating 
facilities. The aluminum smelters have been fixtures in the Big Rivers service territory since 
the 1970’s and remain the dominant employers in western Kentucky with 1,375 employees 
in total. A brief discussion of each facility and its owner is provided below. 

8 Alcan is owned by Rio Tinto (rated ‘A-’, Stable Outlook by Fitch), an international 
mining group, and its Kentucky facility is the company’s only US. aluminum 
smelter. Alcan has been operating at that facility since 1973. The company 
produces 186,000 metric tons of primary aluminurn annually from its three potlines. 
The base contract demand under its agreement with Big Rivers is 368 MW, which 
results in annual energy consumption projected at 3.1 terra-watt hours (TWh), 
assuming 24/7 operations and a 98% load factor. 

Century Aluminum Company, the general partnership’s parent, is a public company 
that owns and operates aluminum smelters in Kentucky, South Carolina, West 
Virginia and Iceland. Operations at the facility in Hawesville began in 1970, and it 
currently produces 244,000 metric tons of primary aluminum annually, from five 
potlines. The Century smelter’s base contract demand is 482 MW, with projected 
annual consumption of 4.2 TWh. 

8 

Production at the smelting facilities has historically been relatively steady, although 
production at the Century facility was curtailed from five potlines to four during 2009-2010 in 
the wake of declining aluminum prices. As a result, Century’s energy requirements fell from 
4.1 TWh to 3.3-3.4 TWh. The fifth potline was recently returned to full utilization and energy 
requirements have increased through 201 1. 

The Smelter Agreements 

In July 2009, as part of the unwind transaction, Big Rivers and Kenergy began supplying the 
sizable load requirements of the smelters, which had previously been the responsibility of LEM. 
Under the terms of various agreements, Big Rivers has agreed to supply energy to Kenergy, 
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for resale to the smelters through the end of 2023 on a take-or pay basis, subject to certain 
termination conditions. 

The smelter agreements are designed to provide all of their aggregate energy requirements, 
including: i) base monthly energy (850 MW hourly); ii) supplemental energy (10 MW hourly of 
interruptible energy to each smelter); and iii) back-up energy (imbalance energy for Kenergy 
made available to the smelters). Surplus capacity is generally marketed off-system by Big 
Rivers for the ultimate benefit of the smelters. 

Charges under the smelter agreements are designed to provide a slight premium (25 cents per 
MWh) over the rates charged to Kenergy’s other large industrial customers, and incorporate 
the cooperative’s standard recovery clauses for fuel, environmental compliance expenditures 
and purchased power. In addition, the smelter agreements include certain provisions, which 
allow for adjustments in the amounts paid by the smelters to enable Big Rivers to achieve a 
TIER of 1 .24~  for each fiscal year. During years in which the cooperative’s ratio falls below the 
1.24~ threshold, additional payments are required by the smelters, subject to limitations. 
Conversely, if the cooperative’s TIER exceeds 1.24~ during any fiscal year, amounts 
contributing to the excess coverage may be rebated to the members, with a pro rata portion 
allocated to the smelters. 

Fitch views the smelter agreements as supportive to credit quality, but also notes that the 
support is somewhat limited, given the ability of the smelters to terminate the agreements upon 
one-year notice. Some additional comfort is derived from the conditional nature of the 
termination provision, which would also require that a smelter cease all smelting operations 
within the Kenergy service area in order to terminate the agreement, but the ability to rely on 
contract revenues over the long-term is still limited. 

Big Rivers Demand and Energy Sales 
(MWhs) 

Member Peak Demand (MW) 
Total Peak Demand (MW) 
Electric Sales -Members 
Growth (%) 
Etectric Sales - Other 
Growth (%) 
Electric Sales -Smelter Contracts 
Growth (%) 
Total Electric Sales 
Growth (%) 

Source: Big Rivers. 

201 0 
657 

1,391 
3,411,558 

7.99% 
2,209,431 

26.51% 
6,348,431 

120.01% 
11,969,420 

53.63% 

- 2009 
668 

1,308 
3,159,032 

-4.64% 
1,746,438 

-5.33% 
2,885,491 

NM 
7,790,961 

51.06% 

2008 
614 
614 

3,312,709 
-0.45% 

1,844,677 
-34.95% 

0 

5,157,386 
-16.33% 

2007 
654 
654 

3,327,805 
4.38% 

2,835,789 
37.51 % 

0 

6,163,594 
17.39% 

As illustrated in the table above, member energy demand has remained relatively stable since 
2007 following a decline in 2009, due to unfavorable weather and economic weakness, and a 
subsequent rebound in 20’1 0. Member sales, however, have become increasingly dominated 
by off-system sales of excess generating capacity, as well as sales to the smelters following 
the unwind. In 2010, member sales accounted for only 28.5% of total energy sales, reflecting 
a full year of sales under the smelter agreements. Going forward, Big Rivers expects member 
load growth of approximately 1.4% per annum and declining market sales, as capacity is used 
to meet growing member demand. However, member sales are not expected to exceed 31% 
of total energy sales through 2019. 



ts 
The Big Rivers resource portfolio and power supply is dominated by coal-fired generation, both 
owned and leased. Although coal-fired capacity accounts for 87% of the cooperative’s 
resource capacity, coal-fired generation accounted for approximately 97% of total power 
supply in 201 0. Purchases from the cooperative’s Southeastern Power Administration (SEPA) 
allocation supplied most of the remaining power supply. The current portfolio of assets and 
related capacity comfortably exceeds the forecasted peak demand of the membership, 
including the massive smelter demand, and should remain adequate through the load forecast 
period (2025). As such, no additional resources are contemplated at this time. The 
cooperative’s current resources are summarized below. 

Big Rivers Generating Resources 

Owned Generation 
Kenneth Coleman Plant 
Unit 1 
Unit 2 
Unit 3 
Robert D. Green Plant 
Unit 1 
Unit 2 
Robert A. Reid Plant 
Unit 1 
Combustion Turbine 
D.B. Wilson 
Unit 1 

Leased Generation 
HMP&L Station Two 
Unit 1 
Unit 2 

(City of Henderson Capacity 

Total OwnedtLeased 
Allocation) 

Generation 

Purchased Power 
SEPA ALlocation 
Total Capacity 
Source: Big Riven 

WE 

Coal 
Coal 
Coal 

Coal 
Coal 

CoaltGas 
OiltGas 

Coal 

Coal 
Coal 

fuel Capacity Commercial 
(MWI Operation 

- 

150 1969 
138 1970 
155 1972 

23 1 1979 
223 1981 

65 1966 
65 1979 

41 7 1986 

153 1973 
159 1974 

178 
1,829 

Despite the changes in 
ownership and operating 
responsibility following the 
unwind, the Big Rivers plants 
have continued to perform well 
when compared to similarly 
sized and equipped units. For 
the period 2007-2010, six of 
the eight units reported 
equivalent availability factors 
(EAF) in the top quartile. The 
EAF for the entire system in 
2010 was a record 93.7% 

Environmental 
Compliance 

Big Rivers reports that all of its 
units are in compliance with 
current environmental 
standards. Currently, eight of 
the cooperative’s nine coal 
units are equipped with flue 
gas desulphurization systems 

(FGDs) to control S02, and three of the units are equipped with selective catalytic reduction 
systems (SCRs) to control NOx emissions. 

Going forward, however, the cooperative could face greater than average challenges with 
respect to environmental regulations proposed by the EPA given its near full reliance on coal- 
fired capacity and generation, as well as the characteristics of its fleet. Big Rivers estimates 
that full compliance with the regulations could require expenditures of approximately $785 
million by 2015 and increase wholesale rates by 39% and member retail rates by 20%. The 
cooperative has acknowledged that it may seek to mothball certain units or explore fuel 
conversion to natural gas as an alternative, given the advanced age of certain generating units 
and their relatively small size. Any shortfall in capacity necessary to serve its load, including 
that of the smelters, would likely be purchased initially until a longer-term strategy was 
adopted. 

There is no renewable portfolio standard at this time in the state of Kentucky. 

Transmission 
--.---__.I ~ - - -~__________-___.  __x ~ ~ -.__-__ _.___I -_-.I__-.--.. 
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Big Rivers is nearing the completion of a significant transmission expansion project that was 
initiated in concert with the unwind transaction. The $20 million dual phase project is designed 
to increase the cooperative’s capability to export power off-system from 912 MW to 
approximately 1380 MW - a transfer capability large enough to export excess generation 
including the peak demand of both smelters. Phase I, which included a 345 kV tie with 
Kentucky Utilities Company, providing eastern path access to the Southwest Power Pool, was 
completed in April 2008. More recently, Big Rivers has been completing the phase two 
expansion projects. The final project, construction of a 13-mile transmission line between the 
cooperative’s D.B. Wilson generating facility and the Tennessee Valley Authority transmission 
system, is expected to be completed by year-end 201 1. 

Fitch views the cooperative’s expanded export capability favorably, particularly given the 
prospect of significant excess capacity and reliance on off-system sales if the smelters were to 
discontinue operations. While the completion of the projects does not ensure the sale of 
excess capacity, it certainly removes the physical constraints. 

Coal Supply 

The Big Rivers generating units are located in the heart of the western Kentucky portion of 
Illinois basin coal fields. As such, half of its coal supply is delivered by truck and half by barge, 
significantly reducing transportation costs and ultimate production costs. Big Rivers also 
assumed all of the WKEC coal stipply contracts, many of which were favorably priced and 
have lowered the cost of production further. 

Capital Resource and Expenditure Plan 

The Big Rivers’ capital plan for 201 1-2019 totals $460.7 million and will largely be financed 
with internally generated funds. Save for the transmission expenditures noted above, nearly 
all of the remaining expenditures will be related to modest improvements at the cooperative’s 
generating units. The current capital plan does not incorporate any major expenditures for 
additional environmental compliance. 

ate 
Pursuant to the terms of the WPCs, as well as the indenture, the Big Rivers board is required 
to review its wholesale rate at least annually and to seek revisions as necessary to ensure 
covenant compliance. However, as noted earlier, any change in rates charged by Big Rivers is 
subject to the approval of the KPSC. 

A number of factors mitigate the risks related to rate regulation including Big Rivers’ proactive 
policies that dictate annual reviews of the cooperative’s annual budget and financial forecast. 
Given the anticipated time frame for KPSC approval and implementation of rate increases 
(approximately 7 months), Big Rivers seeks to anticipate the need for rate relief well in advance 
of any projected revenue shortfall. 

Also improving the timeliness of rate recovery has been the rate structure flexibility approved 
by the KPSC as part of the unwind. Most notably, the KPSC has implemented a fuel 
adjustment clause, which allows Big Rivers to track changes in fuel costs and to adjust rates 
accordingly on a monthly basis without further approval. In addition, the KPSC has also 
implemented an environmental surcharge to recover costs related to programs limiting the 
emissions of coal-fired generation. 

Further mitigating regulatory risk is the very competitive cost structure exhibited by Big Rivers 
and the resulting wholesale and retail rates that are among the lowest in the nation. Although 
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the competitiveness of the cooperative’s wholesale and member retail rates are currently 
subsidized as a result of the MRS credit, charges excluding the credit are still relatively 
attractive. In 2010, Big Rivers reported a non-smelter member wholesale rate of $36.35/MWh. 
Excluding the MRS credit, the rate was $44.26/MWh, comfortably below the average member 
revenue per MWh for cooperatives nationwide. 

Similarly, member retail rates remain equally competitive with the region’s other power 
suppliers, and nationwide, largely due to low power costs. In 2010, retail rates for the smelters, 
and Kenergy’s other large industrial customers, averaged 4.4 centslkwh, well below the 
Kentucky state average of 6.0 centslkwh. Residential rates across the membership are also 
solidly in-line with neighboring utilities as shown below. 

Average Residential Electric Rate - April 2011 
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On March 1, 2011, Big Rivers filed for a general rate increase with the KPSC. Discovery, 
testimony and public hearings were completed during July 201 1, and a final order is expected 
from the KPSC in August, with new rates effective Sept. 1, 201 1.  In addition to the requested 
increase (6.85%), the filing also seeks to redistribute certain costs across the various customer 
classes. Under the terms of the KPSC order approving the unwind, Big Rivers was required to 
file a rate case within three years of the closing. However in keeping with the policies noted 
earlier and in response to lower than anticipated off-system revenues, Big Rivers is filing for a 
rate increase sooner than expected. 

The cooperative’s current financial forecast incorporates somewhat modest base rate 
increases, but actual wholesale rates are projected to increase significantly more over time 
due to a forecasted increase in coal costs and the depletion of the MRS reserves. While the 
resulting 2019 rates for the smelters and non-smelter members are still expected to 
regionally competitive, the higher cost of power to be borne by members may introduce 
some economic strain. Furthermore, the Cooperative’s current forecast does not include the 
potential cost impact of further environmental compliance, which would most likely introduce 
even f1Jrther strain. 

Managing its power supply operations and the ultimate cost of its wholesale power in the 
wake of escalating costs, diminishing reserves and potentially burdensome environmental 
regulations will be the single greatest challenge for Big Rivers and the most important factor 
in the cooperative’s future creditworthiness. 



siti 
The significant changes in the operating profile of Big Rivers in recent years, particularly the 
impact of the unwind, make the comparison of historical financial metrics difficult. Therefore 
Fitch's assessment of Big Rivers' financial position is largely based on fiscal 2010 performance 
against budget (the first full year of post-unwind operations) and the cooperative's projected 
performance under both base case and stressed scenarios. 

Financial performance for fiscal 2010 was relatively solid and virtually on budget. Operating 
margins for the year were slightly lower than forecasted ($51.3 million vs. $54.6 million) as 
weaker wholesale prices for power were nearly offset by increased, but more efficient, 
generation. Net margins for the year were almost exactly on budget ($7.0 million VS. $7.1 
million). Actual figures reported by Big Rivers for TIER (I.l4x), DSC (1.47~) and 
equitykapitalization (32%) were also solidly in-line with forecasted performance. 

Fitch-calculated ratios for DSC (1.32~) and total debVFADS (I  2 . 2 ~ )  were commensurate with 
the current rating and do not reflect the inclusion of withdrawals from the MRS reserve. 
Including those revenues, the metrics improve to 1.78~ and 9.0x, respectively. Metrics for cash 
on hand (37 days, excluding the MRS reserves) and total liquidity on hand (109 days) were 
somewhat low for the cooperative's operating profile. 

Fitch has reviewed Big River's financial forecast and believes the near-term targets are 
achievable and based on reasonable assumptions. Overall, maintenance of a TIER in excess 
of 1 .Ox, coupled with the absence of significant capital expenditures and the anticipated 
refunding of maturing debt, should allow the cooperative to gradually improve its liquidity and 
equity ratios to levels commensurate for the current rating. 

Fitch has also reviewed Big Rivers' sensitivity analysis which assumes the loss of both 
smelters at the end of 2012, and the sale of excess capacity at base case wholesale price 
projections. Based on the expectation that the market-based sales can be executed, 
maintaining coverage and cash levels consistent with the cooperative's goals would require 
average base rates that are approximately 15% higher than the base case projections for the 
period 2013-2017. An increase of this magnitude is not unreasonable, but would likely strain 
the members and drawn scrutiny from the KPSC. The current rating adequately reflects these 
risks. 

Debt 

At Dee. 31, 2010, Big Rivers reported total long-term debt of $817.0 million, the largest portion 
of which is the RUS Series A Note ($558.7 million), which has a final maturity of 2021 but 
requires payments of $60 million in 2012 and $200 million in 2016 as negotiated with the RlJS. 
The cooperative's remaining long-term debt includes a second RlJS Note maturing in 2023 
(Series B, $1 16.2 million) and two series of County of Ohio, Kentucky tax-exempt pollution 
control bonds - series 1983 and series 201 0 A, totaling $58.8 and $83.3 million respectively. 

The series 2010 A bonds were remarketed as fixed rate bonds with a final maturity of ,July 2031 
in June 2010. The series 1983 are currently held as bank bonds by the liquidity provider 
(Dexia Credit), bear interest at a variable rate and mature in June 2013. As with the scheduled 
2012 and 2016 RUS payments, Big Rivers expects to refinance the series 1983 maturity, 
introducing a moderate degree of refinancing risk and reinforcing the importance of continued 
access to the capital markets. Fitch believes this risk is manageable. 

Liquidity 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation 
AUgllSt 11, 201 1 

9 



Big Rivers maintains lines of credit totaling $100 million with CoBank, ACB ($50 million) and 
National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation ($50 million), which provide additional 
liquidity for operations. The current lines of credit expire in 2012 and 2014, respectively, and 
are expected to be renewed upon expiration. 

ember Cooperatives 

The consolidated financial profile of the Big Rivers membership has improved marginally in 
recent years and is supportive of the cooperative’s rating. For the year ended Dec. 31, 2010, 
the members reported consolidated operating income before depreciation, interest and taxes of 
$37.3 million on total revenues of $482.2 million, and an aggregate ratio for debt service 
coverage of 1.84x, as calculated by Big Rivers. The improved performance is due, in part, to 
the approval of rate increases at both Jackson Purchase and Kenergy. At year-end 2010, the 
members reported total net worth of $131 million and an aggregate ratio of equity to 
capitalization of 35.9%. A summary of aggregate metrics for 2008-201 0 is provided below. 

Big Rivers Member Aggregate Financial Metrics 
($ Mil.) 

Financial Metric 2008 2009 
Operating revenues 434.0 422.8 
Operatini income before 

DSC (x) 
TIER 
Net Debt 
Total Margins plus Equities 
EquitylCapitalization (%) 
Source: Big Rivers 

depreciation, interest and taxes 
28.5 

1.46 
1.37 
220.1 
111.9 
33.7 

30.8 

1.52 
1.44 
236.7 
117.9 
33.2 

2010 

37.3 

1.84 
2.11 
233.9 
131.0 
35.9 

-- 
482.2 
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Financial Summary -- Big Rivers Electric 
Cooperative 
($OOOs, Fiscal Years Ended Dec. 31) 

Cash Flow (x) 

Debt Service Coverage 
Adjusted Debt Service Coverage with 
General Fund Transfer 

Coverage of Full Obligations 

Liquidity 
Days Cash On Hand 
Days Liquidity On Hand 

Leverage 
Debt / Funds Available for Debt Service (x) 
Equity / Capitalization (%) 

Equity / Adjusted Capitalization (%) 

Net Debt / Net Utility Plant (x) 

Other (x) 

Operating Margin 
General Fund Transfer / Total Revenue 
Capex / Depreciation 

Income Statement 

Total Operating Revenues 

Total Operating Expenses 

Operating Income 
Adjustment to Operating Income for Debt 
Service Coverage 

Funds Available for Debt Service 

Total Annual Debt Service 

Balance Sheet 

Unrestricted Funds 

Restricted Funds 

Total Debt 

Equity and/or Retained Earnings 

2006 

2.93 

2.93 

2.01 

257 
297 

7.6 
-26.0 
-18.4 
1.04 

34.2 
0.0 
39.3 

258,588 

170,260 

88,328 

50,176 

138,504 

47,277 

96,143 

186,690 

1,053,034 

2007 

2.64 

2.64 

1.87 

275 
302 

7.0 
.19.6 
-1 3.4 
1 .oo 

29.7 
0.0 
55.2 

329,870 

231,836 

98,034 

53,963 

151,997 

57,559 

148,914 

192,932 

1,061,737 

2008 

1.24 

1.24 

1.19 

98 
130 

7.3 
-17.5 
-13.3 
1 .IO 

34.6 
0.0 
66.3 

273,181 

178,542 

94,639 

47,075 

141,714 

114,211 

38,903 

1,039,120 

(217,371 ) (174,137) (1 54,602) 

2009 

3.52 

3.52 

2.88 

78 
201 

2.3 
30.9 
25.2 
0.73 

14.9 
0.0 

157.4 

373,360 

317,668 

55,692 

37,951 

362,180 

102,849 

60,290 

243,225 

848,552 

379,392 

2010 

1.78 

1.78 

1.49 

37 
109 

9.0 
31.9 
26.6 
0.72 

9.7 
0.0 

113.4 

527,324 

476,072 

51,252 

40,384 

91,636 

51,453 

44,780 

217,562 

826,996 

386,575 
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May IO, 2010 

Mr C William Blackburn 
VP Financial Services & CFO 
Big Rivers Electric Corporation 
201 Third Street 

Henderson, KY 424 19 

Rear lvlr Blackburn 

P a Box24 

Filch Ratings has assigned one or more ratings and/or otherwise taken rating action(s), as detailed on the attached 
Notice of Rating Action 

Ratings assigned by Fitch are based on documents and information provided to us by issuers, obligors, and/or their 
experts and agents, and are subject to receipt of the final closing documents. Fitch does riot audit or verify the truth 
or accuracy of such information. 

Ratings are not a recommendation or suggestion, directly or indirectly, to you or any other person, to buy, sell, make 
or hold aiiy investment, loan or security or to undei’talte any investment strategy with respect to any investment, loan 
or security or any issuer. Ratings do not cornment on the adequacy of market price, the suitability of any investment, 
loan or security for a particular investor (including without limitation, any accounting and/or regulatory treatment), or 
the tax-exempt nature or taxability of payments made in respect of any investment, loan or security. Fitch is not your 
advisor, nor is Fitch providing to you or any other party any financial advice, or any legal, auditing, accounting, 
appraisal, valuation or actuarial services. A rating should not be viewed as a replacement for such advice or 
services 

It i s  important that Fitch be provided with all information that may be material to its ratings so that they continue to 
accurately reflect the status of the rated issues. Ratings may be changed, withdrawn, suspended or placed on Rating 
Watch due to changes in, additions to or the inadequacy of inforrnation. 

Ratings are not recommendations lo  buy, sell or hold securities. Ratings do not comment on the adequacy of market 
price, the suitability of any security for a particular investor, or the tax.-exempt nature or taxability of payments made 
in respect of any security. 

The assignment of a rating by Fitch shall not constitute a consent by Fitcli io use its name as an expert in coiinection 
with any registration statement or other filing under IJ S , U I<., or any other relevant securities laws 

We ale pleased to have had the opportunity to be of service to you 
free to contact us at any time. 

If we can be of fulther assistance, please feel 

Sincerely, 

Lina Santoro 
Senior Director 
F-’~iblic: Power 

I S / k a  

Enc Notice of Rating Action 
(Doc ID 144031) 
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ese 

ig Rivers Electric C o p ,  Kentucky 
Ohio County; Rural Electric Coop 
18-May-2010 

tisnale 
Standard 8 Poors Ratings Services has assigned its 'BRR-' issuer credit iating to 
its 'BBB-' long-term idling to Ohio CQMF~@ Ky ' s  $83 3 inJlion pollution control refunding reventic bonds scries 2010A 
(Big Rivers Electric. Corporation Pioject) The autlook is stable 

ivers Electria: Gorp. (BREC) and 

3hio Coiinty is selling tlie bonds for the benefit of BREC. which plans to use bond proceeds to refund auction rate 
ecuirties that represent a portion of its $848 million of debt obligations We uriderstand that the financing structure 

obligates OREC to Linconditionally pay the county's bonds' debt service and issue a note to the  county providing it with a 
security interest iii BREC's assets under its mortgage indenture The Ohio County bonds' security interest will be on par 
wrth the cjliiity's senior-secured debt 

BREC and Ohio County might decide to sell the bonds with a guarantee from National f?ural tltilities Cooperative 
Firiaiice Corp (A/Negative/A-I) If the bonds carry such a guaranlee. we will review tire guarantee and the rating on tlie 
bonds to reflect any benefits that may tollow 

The ratirigs reflect our view of the following credit weaknesses 

We believe that RREC's extreme level of customer concentration and its leading custoiiiers' credit pi-ofiles 
represent iiieaningftil credit exposures The cooperative relies on two ctisloiners for about 68% of eneigy sales to 
nieinbers and 62% of total energy sales These two customers are aluminirm si-cielters with olwatioiis !hat are 
vulwiable to c?corio~n~c cycles 

c 111 our opinion !he take-or-pay features of the retail powei sales contracts between BREC distribuliori 

cooperative I<eneryy Corp , and the srnelters are weak because the srnelteis can terrriiriate their BHEC 
obligations on one-year's notice 

@ The cooperative and its inemher distribution coopet-atives are subject io state rate regulatiori that distinguishes 

BREC from many other cooperatives that have aulorioiiious raternakincj autliori1.y Rate ieyiilaticr could 
pcteniially expose the iitilities' financial performance to tielayed :ate telief or CCJSi dlsallitwances particularly if 
RRt-'C needs 10 reallocate ?he smelters' shares of fixed costs to its nmsmeltei cc.rstorners 

I he cooperative relies 0'1 sales of stirpitis energy in ui-icerialrl wholesale inatkets to ai.ig:i>eint its resentit- stream 
and stipporl its financial obligations 

8 
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Although BREC plans to add transniission capacity to in~rease physical access io witolesale markets the 
projects are behind schedule Moreover we believe the utility lacks the cmtainty of firi ii c.onrractual transmission 
arrangements which could frustrate the suiplus power sales BREC would need 10 niake i f  the smelters 
rneanirrgfully reduce operations or close 

* Nearly one third of BREC's debt either does not amortize before matiirrty or liar liinrled arnorlization which 
skews debt service coverage ratios Using btll~et niattirilies can inflate debt seivtcs coverage cornpared v/ith 
cooperatives that use amortizing debt exclusively Bullet maturities could also piesirit refinanwg risk 

* In July 2009 BREC regained operational control over generation assets ct had not operated for inore than a 
decade The absence of a full fiscal year of generation operations creates uncertainties particularly because $538 
million of nonrecurring gains from the E ON transaction unwind in 2009 were critical to that yeai s sound iinancial 
periormance 

We believe these strengths temper the exposures 

BREC reduced debt to $848 million from $ 1  04 billion using proceeds of the {ease unwind transaction and 
achieved a lower debt balance than the 5872 niillion of debt it projected hefoi-e the transaction 

e It applied a portion of the lease unwind proceeds to building equity 

e BREC projects what we view as sound debt service coverage of I 5% or greater during five years but we believe 
the cooperative needs strong coverage levels as a cushion against losin!$ the smelters or reductions in smelter 
demand that could impair financial performance 

e2 BREC projects fully funding $222 inillion of 2010.2013 capital needs f r c m  operating cash flow However. iri our 
opinion, if sales of surplus power are made at depressed power prices or adverse economic conditions reduce 
smelter loads lhat create more surplus energy, the utility could need additional debt lo support capital spending 
requirements 

B In our opinion. the Icng-term wholesale power contracts between UREC and its three member distribution 
cooperatives provide a measure of revenue sti-eain secuiity 

Members have exclusive rights to sell electricity in defined territories 

e We believe that BREC's members' retail rates are competitive and they could cortiribute to fiiiaricial flexibility 

However, members' favorable rates depend on the smelters' operating at high b a d  factors that help absorb high 
fixed costs Rate levels also benefit from the subsidies that $200 inilliori of rate rmtigatioii reserves provide 

Henderson, i<y -based BREC is a generation and transmission (G8T) cooperalive that produces and proctires electricity 
for sale to 3 member distribution cooperatives and their inore than 11 1,000 reicitl citstorners It relies on two aluminum 
smelters for nearly two-thirds oi operating revenues, which erodes revenue strearn stabi!iiy and predictability and 
distinguishes the utility from most cooperative utilities that aenerally earn high percentages of re'venues fi-om residential 
customers Moreover, BRkC projects that i t  needs to sell siur-plus energy into competitive wholesale rriarkets 10 support 
its financial obligations Although the cooperative projects nonmember revenoes will represent about 10% of operating 
revenues during five years reductions in the smelters' operations and el@( 
market reliance Declines in wholesale market electricity prices due to we& natural gas prices or abundant supplies 
could erode margins froin niai-ket sales and place upward pressure on the costs that the utility's norisnielter c,ustomers 
bear 

consiiinpiioii could lead to greater 

look 
The stable outlook reflects our expectatioix Iliat tlie strong debt service mveraye 8HEC pt'ojeir:ts cocilrl jsro'ride a 
financial cusl'ion to .cervice debt obligations under adverse (:oriditions ihat ci7uld arise from Ihe o!?eratiorial firiaricial arid 
regulatory challenges the utility faces We believe inaiiagen'ierit needs to actively ovei?ne ihest? challenges to 13reserve 
credit qtrality Case No. 201 1-00036 
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We believe that 6REC's extreme level of ctistonier concmtration and it leading customers credit profiles represent 
meaningful credit exposures The utility uses its power plants to produce and sell wholesale electricity its principal 
customers are its three member distribution cooperatives that resell the electricity lo their nearly ~110.000 retail 
customers RREC IS projecting that only two of the 130 OOCi customers will account for about 60% of its revenues These 
two Rio Tinro Alcan (Alcan BBB+/StabIe/A-2) and Century Aluminum Co (BiNegativel-). are aluriiiriiin-i smelters whose 
operations 2nd financial performance are exposed to extreme commodity price volatility We believe these companies' 
economic viability hinges on aluminum prices, and the econorny's strength, among other things RREC expects Cenlury's 
electricity purchases to provide about 36% of its revenues. which meaningfully exposes the cooperative's financial 
performance to a single speculative-grade customer's cash flows. 

If Alcaii or Century ceased opeiattons at their Kentucky facilities BREC would need to sell surplus electricity in 
cornpetrtive wholesale markets in a bid to recover substantial portions of its fixed costs If the smelters reduce their 
operatiors the cooperative will need to sell the resulting surplus energy in the market fcr the smelters' benefit 1 he 
several agreements that BREC its distribution cooperative meinber Kenergy and the smelters signed provide that 
certain profits from market sales following curtailment inure to the smelters berlefit The ayreements also provide that the 
smelteis niust cover the cooperative's losses resulting from market sales following curlailment 

Given Century's weak credit quality its ability to make up shortfalls is questionable If the smelters terminate operations 
their BREC ohligations end While the cooperative might relairi profits from off-system sales In this scenario it will also 
bear the risk of losses 

We believe that selling electricity in wholesale markets to cover debt service presents rneaningful credit challenges 
necause wholesale rnarkel sales represent speculative and unpiedictable revenue streams Wholesalr markets expose 

!illties to vclatile prices competing market participants operatiopal uncertainties such as acquiring physical access to 
tiansinission capacity and polentially higher liquidity needs 

OWer Sak?S CQ 
We believe Chat the take-or-pay features of the reiail [)ov~ei sales contracts between BREC dislributirn cooperative 
Keneryy arid the smelters are weak 

Kenergy is one of BREC's three member distribution cooperatives It resells DREC electricity to the sn\elters under 14- 

year power supply contracts These contracts have take-or-pay elements that require the smellers to pay for sp,ccific 
qtiaritities of energy. irrespective of whether they need i t  Yet vie believe that these contracts' take-or-pay features are 
weak ani 30 not provide meaningful credit protections 101 example, the srnil9ers car1 terminate their contracts without 
penalties ~f they close their Kentucky facilities 

',&/e belie~c GREC's financial performance could suffer I f  ths Krnliicky PSC does not proctde isiiiely rate relief or 
clisal!oc,is d:os1s pai-ticularly if BREC needs to reallocatc- the smelters' shares of iixeo 9351s f o  its nnilsmeltcr CliS!ofnerS 

In OLII view. if the smellers close their operations arid BREC cannot fully recoup the sniel!ers' share of fixed costs througll 
sdirpltis elec.iricity sales in competitive wholesale marliets BREC s norisinelter retail cudomers might need lo bear 

al dditional cosis The cooperative will not liave control over reverities if i t  needs to sell elec.tricrty in 
con-ipe;;live wholesale niarkets to compensate for eroded smelter activity Moreover. it can only r e c o w  shoi-tfalls from 
the norisine!tlzr retail customeis if it arid its distribution cooperative members can obtain rale relief from the Kentucky 
PSC 

Case No. 201 1-00036 
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to respond to increasing costs or to reallocate costs The Kentucky PSC regulates these utilities wholesale and retail 
electricity rates Rate regulation presents credit concerns because rate proceedings can be lengthy and delay cost 
recovery Moreover, rate-regulated utilities do not have cost recovery guarantees Nevertheless in recent rate 
proceedings. the Kentucky PSC provided BREC's distiibutiori cooperatives with raie relief that was closely aligned with 
the utilities' requests Also, the commission took steps in connection with the lease termiiiatioii that we view as 
supporting credit quality, including directing E ON to fund rate stabilization accounts benefiting the cooperative members' 
nonsmelter, retail customers 

We believe that BREC's 2010 nansmelter member wholesale rates of $36 per rncgawatt-hour (MWh) indicate there is 
capacity for further rate increases as necessary to reallocate casts to the cooperative's nonsmelter customers 

We believe that BREC's few vintage coal-fired generation assets present operational expostir~s that can affect financial 
performance The cooperative sells the electricity it produces at its seven owned coal plants and the two coal plants it 
operates that are owned by Iienderson's Municipal Power and Light utility BREC operates and has contractual rights to 
nearly I 800 rdIW of generation capacity Its and llenderson's powei plants ianqe iii age from 23 to 40 years with a 
weighted average age of 32 years based on contributions to overall generating capacity 

BREC's wholesale electric rates include automatic fuel and purchased power cost adjustment mechanisms that we 
believe mitigate some credit concerns surrounding the mature fleet's ability to serve native load customers reliably 
These true-up mechanisms shiR some of the operational risks of operating older units to the smelter and nonsinelter 
customers by rnalting them responsible for replacement powei- costs if units are not running 

While the fuel adjustment is an automatic, formulaic monthly adjus!iiient tlie purcnased powei cost adjiistment is only 
itornatic for the smelters Before they are eligible for recovery in rates the PSC must review the power puichase costs 

BREC incurs on behalf of its nonsineltei customei s All costs recoverable under the adjustment inechanisnis aie subject 
to PSC prudence reviews 

There is a two-month lag for the fuel adjustment clause between when costs are incurred and when the cooperative 
recovers the member portion through rates Similarly. the purchase power adjusbrient lor the srnelters also entails a two. 
month Cost recovery lag The purchase power adjustment covering the smelters applies io  only approximately two-thirds 
of the costs The remaining one-third of the purchase power adjustment cost is deferred as a regulatory account for 
recovery in base rates in a general rate case The utility projects that its next general rate application will be during 201 1 

and rate adjustments froin that case will go into effect in 2012 

Sorne of BREC's plants have high heat rates Its fleet's heat fates range froiri I O  600 i71 I J  per kilowatt hour (ItWn) to 

13,382 BTU per kWh with a weighted average heat rate of 1 I ,  100 reflecting tlie sinall perceniage of the fleet with the 
highest heat rates We are concerned that portions of the fleet might not dispatch to stippor~ maiket sales that 
coniuensate for losses of smelter sales 

BREC projects using coal to produce 95% of the electricity it sells, exposing the utility arid its ciistomers to potentially 
higher operating costs as the regulation of carbon and other emissions progresses The plants heat rates contribute to 
carbon intensity in the ranye of 1 I Ions of coal per MWh Their ages heat i-ztes i;liid carbon intensity raise. questions 
about their ability to compete against potentially more efficient and less carbon-iiiterisive units i i i  wholesale niarltets if the 
srnelters reduce or end their cooperative electric purchases In our view, the exteiit of carbon regtilalion will deterrnine 
the effects of this level of carbon intensity on BREC's production facilities' economics 

Because aluminum smelting is a carbon-Intensive process. we /believe a cornbiri:itiorl C J ~  r;i,stly wrbuii constraints 011 

aluminum production and carbon charges levied on the smelters' electricity purchases (:auld iinpair their opclations and Case No. 201 1-00036 
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heighten the likelihood that UREC's generating assets might have to compete in wholesale markets 

Tr 
Although UREC plans to add transmission capacity for physicti l  access to wholesale markets, we believe it lacks the 

certainty of firm contractual transmission arrangements that can facilitate surplus power sales if the smelters reduce 

operations or close 

The Kentucky PSC approved transrnission capauty additions that will increase capacity by about 51%. or 460 M\iW 

BREC projects its transmission upgrades will cost a moderate $5 3 million Yet we believe the cooperative's ability to 
remarket the smelters' power still presents credit concerns 

BREC's rransinission upgiades are behind sr hedule and imtil completed the utility lacks stifficient capacity to market the 

smellers power if both sharply reduce or discontinlie operations Even once c.oiiipleted we believe that the cooperative s 

lack of firm coiit idctual access rights could frustrate its ability to move power across otheis t iansmission systenis 

inclt iding the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) system BREC only has contracts for 100 MW of fiiin transmission 

capacity across the TVA systern Management views the high cost of securing firm transmission access for a coi i t i ryent 

exposure as unwarranted The utility has physical intercorinections with othei power markets beyond W A  such as the 

Midwest Independent System Operator and the Southwest Power Pool However BREC's e k t r i c i t y  needs lo cross 

TVA's tra-smission system to access l e y  markets such as Southern Co and Entergy Corp Lack of transmission access 

due to fully loaded lines during peak periods could frustrate the cooperative's ability to capture the most robust power 

prices for suiplus power it might need to sell if it loses smelter loads 

BREC projects modest declining debt balances as it funds its 2010-2013 capital needs froin operating cash flow The 

generaled funds The piinc,ipal capital projects will add environmental controls to generation plarits and enhance the 

coaperaiibe's transinission system 

oopera( iw projects $222 niillion of capital spending in that period It plans to fund these piojects with ii-itPrnally 

However in our view, if UREC's makes its market sales of surpli is powei- at depressed power prices or i f  adverse 

economic or rnarltel conditions reduce sinelter loads and create more surplus energy. the utility coulcl lace additional 

debt riiieds Also. the Kentiicky PSC's wholesale arid retail rate adjustments for BREC anti ;Is irieinbe:i cooperatives will 
determine 1 1 - 1 ~  precise amount of debt that could be needed 

In our *-)pinion the long-terrn wholesale power contracts between BREC and its threft i i iernbei rlistrihution cooperatives 

provide a rneasuie of revenue stream security 

The ccioperative and its rnembers extended their wholesale power sales contracts 20 year$ 'io XI43 in connecticin with 

rhe E Ol'd lease unw,nd tiansaction We view this long tenor as coiiiribciting to credit qualily because we understand that 

terms of wholesale power contracts between BREC and its members require the cooperati%'s three meinbers to 

purchase lheir e iectrk i ty needs from HREC Furthermoie the members have ej:cIusive rgiiis to sell electricity within 

defined service territories, which shields the cooperative and its members from competition 

ng- ier in  wholesale power contracts also contribute to credii quality because they e 

f rnalurily i.>ebt outstanding malures by 2023, before the contract. wii!i tlie snlelter 

projects that upcorning refinancings will mature as late as 20.39, which IS witliin the tei-nl of the wholesale power contiacts 

5ii! well beynnd the smelter contracts' expiration Debt that vialures after the smelter coriirac:is roll off c:oulCi 1ea:l to 
heightened wholesale market exposure which we view as a credit weakness Case No. 201 1-00036 
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Generally. lengthy requirements contracts, such as those of BREC, provide nieawqfirl re~ieriire predictability and credit 
support However, the cooperative's members' substantial reliance on two industrial loads rhat are vulnerable to 
commodity price cycles erodes the contracts' credit support and distinguishes BREC from most other cooperative uiilities 
Rate regulation also dilutes the benefits of the long-term wholesale power coniracts since the cooperative, unlike most 
others, cannot unilaterally impose additional cosrs on its captive cuslorners, which could frtistrare a reallocation of fixed 
costs i f  it loses smelter loads Also BREC lacks control over prices for market sales it may need to make if the smelters' 
operations falter tempering the wholesale power contracts' benefits 

We view BREC's members' retail rates as highly Competitive, arid they could contribute to financial flexibility 

Energy Information Administration data shows that the coopeiative's members' retail ra!es compare very favorably with 
average rates for the residential, commercial. and industrial sectors in Kentucky Members 2009 average residential and 
commercial rates were about I 1% below the state's average Their average industrial rates were about 25% below the 
state's 

We believe the smelters' high load factors are likely contributors to the fa~orable rate competitiveness because their high 
electricity consuinption provides a robust platform foi spreading fixed costs over many MVdhs I-lcre too the exposure to 
the smelters can become a liability if commodity prices or econornic conditions compromise the smelters' operations 

Rates also benefit from the 9200 million of rate mitigation reserves from the proceeds of h e  E ON lease unwind 
transaction The utility plans to deploy an average $24 million of the reserves' balances each year through 20 18 to 
subsidize late levels The utility s forecast shows that this will enhance operating revenuer, by about 5% each year arid 
we believe that there could be meaningful upward rate pressure once the reserves are whausted 

ewiee C e 
BREC projects sound debt seivice coverage but we believe losing the smellers could impaii fiiiancial performdnce The 
cooperative projects robust coverage of 1 5x or greater during five years These levels are stronger than those of many 
other generation and transmission cooperatives Yet they do not enhance the rating bt-cadse we helieve that BREC 
needs robust coverage as a financial cushion against the poient,al fluctuations in lis zkirninuni srnelter ustorneis' 
performance 

The cooperative's base case financial forecast assumes stable smelter opei ations B P K  iurthei assumes that 
competitive wholesale markets could provide opportiinities to cwn  higher revenues aria ?chieve higher debt sevice 
coveiage because the negotiated smelter rates yield low margins 

While we agree that wholesale markets may at times provide opportunities to reap windfalls. we helieve that, on the 
whole coinpetitive wholesale market sales can erode financial margins BREC faces considerable risks iri wholesale 
market activity If it must compete in wholesale marltets to sell a ineariingful ainoiint of Its power plants' capability to 
recover fixed costs the cooperative. like other inerciiant generators, will need to find pirchzsers that can buy sufficient 
electricity to recoup the smelters' share of fixed costs BREC must also secure enoug!i trarwnission access to suppoit 
such sales 'Transmission constraints during peak periods may frustrate the cooperative's ability to obtain the best prices 
for its electricity During hours when coal is on the margin, BREC rnight face depressed marlm prices The collapse of 
natural gas prices also places downward pressure on electricity prices 

Vue evaluated a nttiriher of stress scenarios with regard to poteiitial financ!al results T k s e  indicate that ilie cooperative's 
financial performance remains vulrierable to depressed mar1;et power prices if i t  loses till or it-ieaiiingful poi-tions of the 
smelters' loads To preserve its rating in such scenarios. the i~t i l i i y  would liliely need i t ~ ~ t ~ l ~ l c j i ~ v  approval b r  substantially 
higher rates for its non-snielter cusiomers to shore up finarcial performance The rc;g~Iat~or p ill play ari iiiiportant role in 
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determining credit quality if BREC needs to look to  its nonsmelter customers to absorb fixed costs that the  smelters 

previously bore 

aling F a c t o r s  To U.S. Coo era t ive  Utilities, Mov 21, 2007 

Primary Credit Analyst: 

Secondary Credit Analyst: 

David Bodek, N e w  York l i )  2 12-433-7969, 

Jeffrey Panger,  N e w  Yoric (1) 212-438-2076, 
je~-pangcjp~ch~darc9andlpoors.com 

!\lo conlent (including iatings credit-related analyses and data model software or other application 01 output Iherefrom) 0:  any part 
thereof (Conlenl) may be modified. reverse engineered. ieprodu-ed or distributed in any loriri by any nreans. oi  stored in a dalabasc 
or retrieval system rvilhoirt !he prior wrftlen perrnissiori of Sa? The Content shall no1 be used for any uinlawful or unauthorized 
purposes S&P ils afiiliates and any third-party providers as well as lheir directors officers. shareholders. employees or ayerits 
(collectively S&P Parties) do not guarantee the accuracy completeness timeliness or availability of the Content S&P Parlies are 
not responsible for any eirors or oinissioris. regardless of Ilie cause. for the results obtained froin the use of the Content. or for the 
security oi maintenance of any data input by the user Vie Content is piovided on ari "as is" basis S&P PARTIES DISCLAIM ANY 
AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIEC) WARRANTIES INCL.UDING. BUl.  NOT LIMII El:) TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF 
MERCHANTABILI I'Y OR I-ITNESS FOR A I'ARTICULAH F'IJRIL'OSk OR USE FREEDC)M FROM BUGS. SOFTVdAflE ERRORS 
OR DEFECTS. THAl THE CONTENT'S FUtdCTlONlNG WIILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR THAT THE CONTENT WILL OPERATE 
WITH ANY SOFTWARE OR I iAIIDWARE CONFIGURATION In no event shall S&P Pailies be liable to any party lor any direct. 
indirect incidental, exemplary conipensatory, punitive special or consequential damages costs. expenses. legal fees or losses 
(including without limitation lost incoine or lost profits and opportunity costs) in connection wilh any use of Il!e Content even if 
advised of the possibilily of such daniages 

Credit-related analyses, iiicludirig ralings, and statements i r i  the Corilenl are slaterrierils of opiniori as of the dale they are 
expressed and not slaterinents of fact or recommendations lo purchase. hold, or sell any securities or to make any investment 
decisions SPrP assumes no obligation io update the Content following publicalion in any forrii or format 'The Conterrl should not be 
?lied of? and is not a subslrtute for the skill pdgrnerit and expefienc.h of Ihe user, its manaymeri t  employees, advisors andlor 

Jients when inaking irivestmenl and other husiriess decisions S&P's opinions arid analyses do riot address (he siiitabilily of any 
security S&P does r;ot act as a fiduciary or an investment advisor While SRP has obtained informatiori froin sources it believes Lo 
be reliable S&P does not perform an audit aiicl undertakes no duty of due diligence or independent verification of any inforniation i t  
receives 

S&P keeps cerlain activities of its business uriils separate froiri each other in older Lo preservrt llie ir\deperideilce and objectivity of 
their respective activities As a result. certain business units of S&P may have inforniation that is riot available to other SKP 
business units SRP has eslablistied policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of ce&irl fion-PubIic informalion 
received in connection with each analytical process 

S B P  may receive compensation lor its iratings ancl  certain credit-related analyses. normally froin i swe is  or untleiwriters of securities 
or frorn obligors S&P reseives the right l a  disseminate its opinions and analyses SRP's public raiings and analyses are made 
available oic its Web s!ks ~ P d . s t a n d a r d a n ~ ~ Q o ~ . c o m  (free of charge) arid wmm.r 
~ ~ t n ~ l o b a l c ~ ~ i ~ p c ~ ~ ~ l ~ c o m  (subsci-iplioii), and may be c1islribulc:d through other means. including via SRP publications and third- 
party redislribrttors. Additional information about our ratings fees i!i available at ~ ' ~ ~ ~ . s t a n d ~ ~ d a n d i p o o r s . c o ~ / ~ s ~ ~ ~ ~ n g s ~ ~ ~ ~  

Any Passwardsluser iDs issued by S&P to iisers are single user dedicated and may ONLY he used hy Ihe individual lo whoin lhey 
have been assigned No shaiirig of passwoidslusei 113s and no simullaneous access via the safi ie passwordiuser IO is perinitled 
To reprint translate or use the data or iiifoiiiiatiori other than as (,rovided hereiii contact Client Sc.."fices 55 Waiei Street New 
Yorlc NY io041 ( 1 )  212-438-7280 or by e iiiail to mSoWChJeqMeSt ~ ~ ~ n d a ~ ~ ~ n d ~ Q ~ ~ . c Q ~  
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Mr. C’. William Blackb~uii, ( ’MA 
Page 2 
May 17,201 0 

inforination and tlie documents. Standard R! Poor’s niap change, suspend, withdraw, or place on 
CrcditWatch the rating as a result oE changes in, or unavailability of, such information. Standard 
& Poor’s reserves the right to request additional iiifonnation if necessary to iiiaintain the rating. 

Please sciid all inforination to: 
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services 
Public Finance Department 
55  Water Street 
New Yorlc, NY 1004 I -0003 

Standard & Poor’s is pleased to lie of service to you. For niore infomiatioii 011 Standard rSr Pool’s, 
please visit OLW website at nuv, .stanclardai7di,ooI.s.c~~~. If w c  can be of help 1 1 1  any othei. way. 
please call or contact LIS at n v n u l ~ l i c l i n ~ ~ i ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ s t a ~ ~ c l ~ r d ~ ~ ~ ~ c l p ~ o ~ s . ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ .  ‘Ilianli you f i ~  choosing 
Staiidard & Poor’s and we look foiward to worlting wiili you again. 

Sincerely yours, 

Stanclard & Poor’s Ratings Services 
a Srandad &, Poor‘s Financial Services L , I X  business 

a1 
cnclosures 
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$83.3 million of securities affected 

New York. May I O ,  2010 -- Moody's Investors Service assigned a Baal senior secured rating to a proposed offering of 
$83.3 million of County of Ohio, Kentucky (the county) Pollution Control Refunding Revenue Bonds (Big Rivers 
Electric Corporation Project) to be issued on behalf of Big Rivers Electric Corporatiori (BREC). The rating outlook for 
BREC is stable. Proceeds from the issuance of these bonds will be used to refund $03.3 million in aggregate principal 
amount of PCRBs. Series 2001A(Btg Rivers Electric Carporation Projectj outstanding, which were previously issued 
on behalf of BREC by the county. The prior bonds were Periodic Auction Reset Securities that were insured as to the 
payrnent of principal and interest when due by Ambac Assurance Corporation The Baal rating for the proposed 
offering represents the relative standing of the PCRBs as standalone senior secured obligations of BREC, ranking on 
parity with all of BREC's existing debt under its first mortgage bond indenture dated as of July 1, 2009, as 
supplemented and amended. 

A! the sanie time, body's notes that BREC rnay decide ta deliver the bonds with an unconditional senior unsecured 
guaranty from National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (NRUC. senior unsecured A2; stable outlook). 
Under this scenario, the NRUC guaranty would result in a rating of A2 for the proposed PCRBs. consistent with 
NRUC's current senior unsecured debt rating, and BREC's senior secured debt rating of Baa'I would become the 
underlying rating for the proposed PCRBs 

"The Baal senior secured rating for BREC considers the financial benefits of several steps it took to unwind a lease 
and other transactions with E.ON US. LLC and two affjtiabs (€.ON) in 2008 and 20D9 wherein its prior deficit net 
worth turned substantially positive, cash receipts were utilized to reduce debt. and two coniinilted bank credit facilities 
aggregating $100 million were established to improve liquidity" said Vice President, Kevin Rose. BREC and E.ON 
completer1 the unwinding of the transactions effective July 16,2009. "Revenues generated from competitively priced 
power sold under long-term wholesale contracts with the three member owners should continue to generate FFO to 
interest and debt metrics in support of the Baal senior secured rating level. while capital expenditures are largely met 
with internally generaled funds". Rose added. 

Asignificanl constraint to BREC's ratirrg is lhal one of its member owners, Keiiergy Corp , makes a high 
conceniration of its sales to two aluminum smelters (Century Adurninrini Company and Rio Tinlo Alcan), both of whorn 
face credit challenges due to the significant voratilily in both metal prices and demand. In addition. these smellers 
have the option to terminate their respective power purchase arrangements, subject to a one-year notice and other 
conditions BREC's rating is further constrained because its rates are regulated by the Kentucky Public Service 
Commission, which is atypical for the caaperative seclor and can sonietimes pose challenges in implementing timely 
rate increases when needed to recove6 higher costs of service. 

The stable ratirig outlook for BREC is based on its successfuC completion of the unwind transactions, thereby 
improving its financial profile arid repmitiorzing itself to continue eficiently meeiing the needs of its members in the 
future 

Under the potential scenario where NRtlC's senior unsecured guaranty forms the basis for the rating of the PCREs, 
we note that NRUC's A2 senior unsecured debt rating is based on its high quality asset portfolio; an excellent 
competitive position that includes an abjliky to raise margins on m e m l ~ r  loans; a slrong track record in managing 
credit restructurings, an improved risk management program and a declining exposure to the more volatile 
telecommunications sector The rating also lakes into account NRLlC nianagenient's attempts in recent years to 
reduce the degree of single obligor exposure within the loan portfoh, the cornpany's reliance on capital marltefs to 
fund its lending business, continuing high leverage and the challenges associated with managing certain problem 
loans. 

The stable rating outlook for NRUC incorporates our view that modest loan growth among rural electric cooperatives 
will help maintain strong asset quality within the loan portfolio To that end, vile Ibelieve that the telecom pnttfolio, a 
source of loan portfolio weakness, will coi-itinue to represent fess than 1O0/o of the total loan portfolio The stable 
outlook factors in NKCIC's plans to lower leverage through the offevirig of member capital securities and through the 
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change in NRUC's patronage ieteritiori cycle and incorporates ail eqectatiorl that NRUC will maintain suflicient 
liquidity as well as access to private sources of funding to mitigate the firm's reliance on wholesale funding 

For more information on NRlJC, please refer to the Analysis dated December 10, 2009 and the most recent Credit 
Opinion dated December 9. 2009 Both can be found on moodys corn under the Mational Rural Utilities Cooperative 
Finance Corporation heading 

The principal methodology used in rating BREC is U S Electric Generation P* Transmission cooperatives, published 
in December 2009 and available on www moodys coni in the Rating Ivkthodolagies sub-directory under the Research 
8 Ratings lab Other methodologies and factors that may have been considered in the process of rating this issuer 
can also be found in the Rating Methodologies subdirectory on Moody's website 

The last rating action for BREC was July 14, 2009 when ivbody's assigned a (P)Baal senior secured rating to 
proposed PCRBs representing a standalone senior secured obligation of BREC 

The principal mc!hodologies used in rating NRlJC are U S  Electric Generation & Transmission Cooperatives, 
published in December 2009 and Rating Wthodology Analyring the Credit Risks of Finance Companies. published in 
October 2000, and both are available on www moodys.com in the Rating fvkthodoloyres sub-directory under the 
Research & Ratings tab Other methodologies and factors that may have been considered in the process of rating 
this issuer can also be found in the Rating Wthodologies sub-directory on Wody's website 

The last rating action for NRUC was November 24, 2009 when the ratings were affirmed with a stable rating outlook 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation is an electric generation and transmission coopei ative headquartered in Henderson, 
Kentucky and owned by its three inember system distribution cooperatives- Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, 
Kenergy C:orp, and h a d e  County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation These member system cooperatives 
provide retail electric powei and energy to more than 11 1,000 residential, commercial. and industrial customers in 22 
Western Kentucky counties 

Base0 m t-le,rndo;iun, Virginia, National Kural lltilitres Cooperative Finance Carporation rs a private, not for profit 
cooperative association exclusively serving rural electric, senwe, and telecommunication utilities The principal 
purpose of the company is to provide its members with a source of firlancing to strpplernent the loan programs of the 
Rural Wlities Service of the United States Department of Agriculture 

KevinG Rose 
Wce Prsrdent - Senior Analyst 
hfrasfructvre Finance Group 
&vloody% krvestors Service 

%?Vi! 'kirk 

JOUKWISTS 212-553-0376 
SUBSCRIBERS 21 2-55> 1653 

I k w  York 
Wlliiarn L kkss 
Mnagirg Direclor 
infrastrwfure Finance Group 
Wk-~dfs hwstors Service 
JOURMISTS 232-553-0376 
SUBSGRBERS 212-553- 1653 

rC C.spyright 2010, FVoody's Investors Service, Inc and/or its Iicei'rsors ,n-,lLidmg Wmdy's Assurance Company, Inc 
(Iogefh+i 'r&?OFrY'S") AI righfs reserfled 
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WD EVPbUPirllON OF EACH SECURiTY THaT IS UNDER CON§IDEMION FOR PIJRCHASE, HOLDING, OR 
SALE. 

Case No. 201 1-00036 
Attachment ta item KIUC-92 
Witness: C William Blackburn 
Page 14 of 48 



Global Credit Research 
Rating Action 

1 JUN 2009 

Moody's withdraws (P)Baal rating of County of Ohio, Kentucky 

Wpproxiafely $833 million of proposed securities affected 

New York, June 01, 2009 
assigned to a proposed offering of $83.3 million of County of Ohio, Kentucky Pollution Control Revenue 
Refunding Bonds (Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project), which were lo be issued on hehalf of Big Rivers 
Electric Corporation (Big Rivers j The rating withdrawal foilaivs a decision by CentrJry Aluminurn of Kentucky, 
a wholly owned subsidiary of Century Aluminuni Company, not to proceed as originally planned with their 
contractual role in a series of steps to unwind the existing lease agreements between Big Rivers and E O N  
U S. LLC. After closing o l  the unwind of (fie lease agreemenls, Big Rivers had plarined to cause the County 
of Ohio to proceed wi(h the issuance to refund $83.3 million in aggregate priiicipal amount of Pollution 
Control Refunding Revenue Eonds, Series 200'1 A (Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project) oufstanding, 
which were previously issued on behalf of Big Rivers by lhe County of Ohio, Kentucky The prior bonds were 
Periodic Auction Reset Securities that were insured as to the payment of principal and interest when due by 
Ambac Assurance Corporat.ion The previously proposed offering of bonds were intended to represent 
standalone senior secured obligations of Big Rivers Electric Corporation, ranking on parity with all of Big 
Rivers' existing debt under its first rrinrtgage bond indenture. Since the unwind of the lease agreements 
cannot proceed withmil the participation of all participants in its currenl struclure, Big Rivers does not 
currently plan to proceed witti ttie proposed offering 

Moody's Investors Service withdrew the (P)Baal senior secured rating previously 

The pi incipal meti-iodo'ogy used in rating Big Rivers Electric Corporation's obitgation under the proposed 
bonds was U S Electric Generation 8, Transmission Cooperatives, which can be found at VJWW moodys coni 
in the Creclst Policy 8t Methodologies diiectory, in the Ratings Methodologies subdirectory Othei 
methodologies and factors that may have been coiistdered rri the process of rattrig this issuer can also be 
fomd in the Credit Policy 6 Methodologies directory 

The last ialing aclron was March 1 3 ,  2009 when Moody's assigned a (P)Baal senior secured rating and 
stable outlook for Big Rivers, rcpfeseniirig ihe firs1 time that Moody's had assigned a rating to bonds 
representirrg a standalone obligation of Rig Rivers 

Big Rivers Efectric Carporatiorr is an electric gerieratioii and Irar~smissiori cooperative headquartered in 
Henderson. Kentucky and owned by its three member system distribution cooperatives- Jackson Purchase 
Energy Corporation; Kenergy Ccrp, and Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation. These 
member' system cooperefives provide r&il electric power and energy to more than 'I 11.000 residentiai, 
cornmerciai, and industrial customers in :?2 !Nestern Kentucky counties 

New Yo:k 
Kevin G Rose 
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Moody's Investoi s Service 
JOURI\IALISTS 2 12-53-0376 
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INVESTMENT OR FINANCIAL ADVICE, AND CREDIT RATINGS ARE NOT RECOMMENDATIONS TO 
PURCHASE, SELL, OR HOLD PARTICULAR SECURITIES. CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT COMMENT ON THE 
SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT FOR AMY PARTICULAR INVESTOR. MIS ISSUES ITS CREDIT RATINGS 
WITH THE EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL MAKE ITS OWN STUDY 
AND EVALUATION OF EACH SECURITY THAT IS lJNDER CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE, HOLDING, 
OR SALE. 

0 Copyright 2009, Moady's Investors Service, Inc;. aridlor its licensors including Moody's Assurance Compaiiy, Inc. 
(together, "MOODY'S") All rights reserved. 
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55 Water Street 
New York, NY 1004 1 0003 

I 

Apriil 27, 2000 

Mr. C. WilEiam Blackburn, CMA 
Chid Financial Officer 
Vice Prcsidcnt of Financial Services and ,Po\wi  Supply 
201 ’Third Street 
P.0. Box  24 
Hcndersun. KY 424 IO-0024 

Dear Mr. BEackburii: 

Th:t~~!c you for  recgursting h a t  Stniitinrd & Poor’s Iiatingc Services (“Standatti & POOI ’s” 01 “we‘. 01 
*‘.us‘’) provide Big Rivers Elcctric ‘orpomtion (“‘BIIEC” o r  the ”‘Issuer“’ or “you”) with feedback o n  
the credit rating iri-iplications of irnplemcnting the proposed scenai io described bclow through its 
R a t i ~ ~ g  EvaRmaliun Service (“RES’‘). Slaiidai d & Pooi’s has ieviewcd the sceriaiio piovidcci. Thc 
fol!owiaig is  R summai y arialysis reflecting o u r  Rating Evaluation corninittee’s response. 
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Big Riveis Bias also asked 11s to ~~ssunie chat i t  will restructitrc &lit ;is part of the lease tcrmination 
transaction. Big Rivers has ahorit $140 millinn trl senior sxtiretl pollution conlrol bonds and ahout 
$YO0 million of subordinatc secured Rural IJtiIities Sen> ice debt. We arc assuniing that, at closing. 
the iicw iiictenture will collapse the senioi ;ind srihoidinatc liens, convci ting the subordinate dcht to 
parity senior dcbt. 

Standaid & Pooi's conclusions are based 011 o w  review o f  the se,vcral Ociober 2008 and Apil  2009 
financial forecasts and sccniirios preparcd by 6SRliC' lo1 Staattlard & Poor's review. We also 
reviewed the tlocuments BREC subrnittetl to tis in Octcibci 2FJ% including, but not limited to, thc 
indenture. wliolcsale and retail wiles agrcementc, waclter agieeniients, RUS loan contract ant1 
1evolvii1g crcdit agrecnients. hi addition, (mi evalurttioti reflecis teleplione convcrsritions and 
meetings held between UREC and Stand;ircE & Po01 's. 
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In iect:Rt inrwths. many  a l i i n i i r i u r ~ i  simicl~cis crJrtaileti opct alioits folhwing {he sharp collapse of 
a f u r n i n n n ~  ilrit:es. i P  A l w i  01 Cc .n i~ i i r ) ?  ceasccl opera[ioivs at their Kcntucky rxilities. I3REC would 
need to sc!l suipltis electriciiy in competjti\~e wholesale marlcetc i n  a bid 10 recover mbstantial 
portions of its fixed costs. I f  the smellters reducc theit operations, BREC will nccd to sell LRc 
restiltiiag S L I , T ~ $ I I S  energy in the niaihet f o i  fhc hcnefit o f  the smeltcrs. 'I'hc several qgwmcnts signed 
by 5REC, its disti ibution cooperativc meinbcr, Kenergy ('orp. ("'Keeiergy"), and the smellers 
provide thal (XI  la in  profiis f ~ o i n  inarlict sales following curtailii~eiil inure to the benefit of the 
smclters. The agreenacnt\ dso piovidt. that thc smelters must m v c ~  B R I T  losses resnlting from 
inarket sales Collowing curtailnicnt. Given Century's weak credit qual i ty ,  its a b i l i t y  to malic up 
sliortfdls is cjucstionublc. If the smclters terminale operations, their SKEC obligations end. While 
BREC may retain profits Trom oif-systcm sales in  this scenario if will also hear market the risk of 
losses. 

We believe t h t  selling electiicity i n  wholesale iiiarkets to covcr debt service presents rneaiiingful 
credit challerigcs because wholesale niaiket salcs represent specdative and tinpredictable revenue 
streams. Whotesalc inarkets cxpose utilities to volatiie prices, cunipeting market participants, 
uper'atit~n:d micertiiintiv\ such iis acquiring physical acces  to trarasmission capacity, and potentially 
heightened l i e p i i d i  tp needs. 

Kenergy Tis om: of BREC's t h e e  incmbcr distribution coopcratives. The icase unwind provides for 
Kenergy eo rcselh BREC' electricity LO the smelters under fmuiccn-year power supply contracts. 
Thcse cmttracts havc t;ilic-or-pay eleiiaents that require the sincllcrs to pay f s r  specific quiintitics of 

Yei, wt: betieve Ihat these contracls' 
take-or-pay feattires arc weak and do not provide mcariingfiii credit protections. For example, the 
siiieE~ers can ~ ~ m i i n a t e  tlieii contiacts w ithoitt peiialties i f  tIwy ckrst: their Kentucky facilities. Thc 
SIN el krs- p a  re 11 I co m pan ies iii e 11 o t 11 ac ks t o p pi I ig i lie i r snhsid i a r  ies o hl i ga 1 ions ii n de I t he pow e I salt: s 
8gI?erncDtS 

ctive I ~ I  whether 11ie smelters need the e ~ ~ r g y  
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Assuming BREC and E ON rcrminlite their generatinn ieit\c. BRU'C' will sell tlie elechkity i t  
produces at  its S C V ~ J I  owned coal plants and the fwo t c ~ l  plnaits it leases Croin Henderson, 
Kentucky's Municipal Powei and Light uIility. BREC opemtts iiiici has coii~iactual righls to nearly 
1,800 M W  ok genclalion capacity. BJIEC'c; and Henderson's p v e r  plants iaiigc in agc from 23 lo 
lorty yeais, with a weighted m w a g e  age of 33 gears; based 011 contributions to oveiall ge~ierating 
capacity. 

BREC"s vvhdesale elecliic rates include aukmatic  fuel and p i ~ i ~ i i i i s ~ ' d  power cost :td.justment 
tnechanisms that we believe mitigale sonic of the credit concerns sui rounding the ability of thc 
tnaluic flcet to icliably scrvc nativc load CLES~OFPPC~S.  Tlaesc true-up Incchanisms shifl sonic o f  the 
operational I isks of operating olden unit\  to the srnclter arid non-smeltci customers by maliing them 
responsihlc toz replacement power cosis if units are not W K U I ~ ~ ~ .  
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BRFC advised u s  ~ I i n l  i i  IS acltling traiisniission caixiciiy to lacilitate power sales to others if the 
smelters rcilwco operations o i  closc. 't-!IC Ken1ucky PSC approved the transmission capacity 
additions and BREC projects [hey will cost ii rnoderale $5.3 rniIEiori. Yct, we believe BREC's 
ability to renmrkct the smelrers' powei sf i l l  presenls cretdil concerns. 

BRFCs tiansniissicm additions could p~'oviile sulficient physical iIikwoniiectioms with wlmlcsalc 
snatkets. However. BRE6' Incks f i r m  conlractuiil ; ~ C C C S S  rights that could ensure Lhai i t  c :in nnove 
powcr across nthers' transmission systcms, including. the Tcnricssec Valley Authority (33"") 
svstcm. BREC' only Iias contracts for 100 MW of firm transmission capacity across thc TVA 
4ystern. BWEC"s mirnagemenl views the high cost of securing linai transmission access for a 
contingent exposure as unwarranicd. BREC has physical interconnections with other power 
eriarhels beyond 'TVA, such as the Midwe\t IS0 and the Southwest Power Pool. I-lowever, BREC's 
electricity ntreds Io cross TVA*\ transmissioii system to access key niarkels such as Soulhcnn 
Company aeid Entcrgy. 1,ack of t ransinission access due 10 ful ly  koadcci lilies during peak periods 
could frustrate BREC"s abi l i ty  captuie the inost robust power prices for surplus power it may 
need lo selE if it l o ~ e s  smelter loads 

A. 
proceeds, 

B . 
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I3REC's long-lc:Iiii wholesale power contrwts also contrilauie tu credit quality because they extend 
twenty ycans he) orid its debt'\ 2023 final maiulity. BREC is contemp1:iting restructuring and 
cxtencling st)jile debt to achieve level debt service. 'L'he 2043 expiration date accommotlates dcbt 
rest1 ~ i c l  tiring. 1 lo 7ve1, bccausc ilic sriieftcrs contracts empire in 3023, debt cxten+ms beyond 2023 
\z.ould lead to m,tturities beyond the expillition of the smeltcis' coritIacts and debt service on debt 
maturing alter 2023 m a y  need to he supporlcd by wliolesale mnrkct ievenucs. 

GeneialP). lengthy Icquiier-neiits contracts. S U C ~  as BREC's, piovide nieaningful revenue 
predictability ;ind credit support. However, BREC's members. substantial reliance on two industrial 
loads that aie vulnerable to commodity price cycles crocfes the contracts' crcdit support and 
distinguishes I3KlX f rom most ollier cociperativc utilities. Rate iegulatiori illso dilutcs the benefitx 
of the long-teim \vliolcsale power contracts siiice BKEC, tirililce most otlier cooperatives. cannot 
unilaterally levy additional costs 011 its captive custoiners. which could frustrate a reallocation of 
fixed costs if it loses smelter 1 c ) a d ~  Also. BREC lacks control ovei prices fw riiarket sales i t  niay 
need to make i C the smelteis' operations taller, tempering the wholesalc power contracts' beliefits. 

knergy Inioimntioii Arlministiation data shows that BREC s micmbcis' ietail raks  conipae verj 
favorably \I ith average rates foi the residential, comnrerctal. and industiial sectors i n  Kentucky. 
I\Pitnibcrs' 3907 a \  uragc residential rates were 13SCa below the state's avcragc. Members' average 
commercial and industr jal I ates were 10% and 23% below the state's respective average rates for 
these clmses. 

Vv'e bciieve the smelters' high load hcturs are likcly contiibutois lo the Pworable level of rate 
co t i p  pet it ive nc s i  be cau s t  the E 1 cons i s te i i  L I y 11 i gh el r c i  t ici t y c'o ns u 111 12 t i on p i  uv i c  les it rob u s t p 1 at form 
for spreadiiig lixed co ovei m a n y  ii-rcgarv:ill Iiorrrs. I Bzre i n c r .  the cxposurc to the siiicltcrs citn 
bccorne a Iiabdity if commnoctiiy pi ices or er:ononiic conditions roinpioinise the smclkrs' operations. 
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to sell ;I n1eai.iingfiil arnouiit of  i ts pimw i)litilts' capabilIt) to rccm er fixed costs, BRLC', like other 
niercl~anl g e n e ~ ~ o r s ,  will nccd to i i d  purrchasers that can 1 ~ 1 y  sufficicn~ electricity to recoup the 
sinellei s' sliare or fiucd costs. BREC must also secure enough transmission access to support such 
s;iies. During liorrrs when coal IS ~ I I  the niargin, WKEC' niay face deprcsscd market p i  iccs The 
recent collapse of natiiral gas prices also places tiownwaid pressure on elect1 icity prices. 
Furthermore, tiansmission constiaints during peak pciiods may fiusti ate BREC's ability to obtain 
thc bcst prices for its electricity 

We evaluated a nuriibcr of strcss scenarios with i egard to potential financial I esults. These scenarios 
indicate that BIIEC's financial performance 1 eiiiaiiis vtrliierabIe to depressed market povv er p i  ices if 
it loses the smelters. To preserve its rating in such scciiarios, the utility \vould likely need regulatory 
approval for st~bstantially higher rates for ils non-smelter customers to shorc-up financial 
perfortnance. The regulator n ill play an important role i n  determining future credit qiiality if BREC 
needs to look to its i-noii-smelter customers to absorb fised costs previously borne by tlie smelters. 
Here, Lye believe that East Kentuclcy's significantly higlicr wholesale rates could be cited in support 
of a BREC request for rate iclief for cost recoveiy. 
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Global Credit Research 
Rating Action 
13 MAR 2009 

Rating Action: Ohio (County of) K V  

Moody’s assigns (P)Baal to County of Otiio, Kentucky bonds to be issued 011 behalf of Big Rivers Electric 
Corp. 

Approximately 983.3 million of proposed securities affected 

New York, March 13, 2009 -- Moody’s Investors Service assigned a (P)Baal senior secured rating to a 
proposed offering of $83 3 niillion of County of Ohio, Kentucky Pollution Control Revenue Refunding Bonds 
(Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project) Lo be issued on behalf of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big 
Rivers) The rating outlook for Big Rivers is stable This rating represents the first time that Moody‘s has 
assigned a rating to bonds representing a standalone obligation of Big Rivers Proceeds from the issuance of 
these bonds will be used to refund $83 3 million in aggregate principal amount of Pollution Control Refunding 
Revcnue Bonds, Series 200 1A (Big Rivers Electric Corporation Project) outstanding, which were previously 
issued on behalf of Big Rivers by the County of Ohio, Kentucky The prior bonds piere Periodic Auction Reset 
Securities that were insured as to the payinent of princioal and interest when due by Ambac Assurance 
Corporation The proposed offering of bonds will represent standalone senior secured obligations of Rig 
Rivers Electric Corporation, ranking on parity with all of Big Rivers’ existing debt wider its first mortgage bond 
indenture 

“The (P)Baal rating reilecls anticipaled financial benefils to Big Rivers of a series of steps being taken to 
unwind a lease and other transactions with E ON U S LLC and two affiliates (E ON). including an 
expectation that the cooperative’s current deficit net worth twill turn substantially positive, cash receipts will be 
utilized to reduce existing dcbt, and two new committed bank credil tacilities aggregatii-rg $100 million will be 
established to improve liquidity”, said Moody’s Vice President, I(evm Rose Big Rliders and E ON have 
accepted the conditions included as pan of the approval of the transactions obtained from the Kentucky 
Public Service Commission (I<PSC) on Fvlarch 6, 2009 Suhject to meeting the required conditions, Big Rivers 
and E ON expect to complete the unwinding of the transactions in April. Assuriiing an April closing, the above 
proposed iinancing IS expected to occur by mid-summer “Revendes generated From carnpetitively priced 
power sold under long-term wholesale contracts with h e  three rnember owners of Big Rivzrs should also 
continue to generate FFO to inrcrest and debt iiietrics in sbpport of the (P)Baal ratmg Icvel. while capital 
experidilures are largely met with internally generaled tuiids”, Rose added 

Moody’s further notes ti significarit constraint to Eig Rivei 3’ .sting is the fact that me of its ~neniber owners, 
Kenergy C O J ~  , makes a high concentralion of its sales lo tivo a l i i m i r , ~ ~  smelters. both oi; whom face credit 
challenges due to the significant fall o l i  in both metal prices and oem 
their respective power purchase arrangements beginning on December 31, 2040, S ~ J D J ~ C ~  to one-year notice 
In addition, Big Rivers’ rating is constiained because i( IS s~abject to regulation by the KPSC, which is atypical 
for the cooperative sector and can sorristirnes pose challeiiges in implementing timely rate increases when 
needed to rccovci higher costs of seivice 

, whicli have optrons to terminate 

The principal mcthodology used in rating Big Rivers Electric Corporation was US. Electric Generation & 
Transmission Cooperatives. which can be bund  ai www nioodys.com in the Credit Policy & Methodologies 
directory, in the Ralings Methodologies stlbdirectnry OIlier methodologies and factors that may have been 
considered in the process o i  rating ttiis issuer can also ibe IOLJIT~ in !he Credit Policy & ~~~?eihodologies 
directory 

This rating action represents the first tirrie that rb?cJcJtfy’S kias assigned a raliiig io bni-ds representing a 
standalone obligation of Big Rivers 

Big Rivers Electric Corporatiori is ai I dectric gennraiirin aiid iratis 
Hendei-son, KeiitLicky and owncxl by its three 
Energy Corporation. Keiicrgy Corp; arid Mlea 
1iiernk:er system cooperaiives pruvide retail e 
conrnwrcial, and industrial customers in 22 Westerii Keniticky couiiiiks 

ive ticadquartered in 
ives- Jackson Purchase 

ctric Cooperativp: Corporation These 
eryy to more than i 7 1.000 resictenti;il. 

New York 
Keviii G Rosr; 
Vice President - Senior Analyst 
Corporate t-iiiaiice Grciu[, 
Moody’s lrtvcstors Service 
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William L Hess 
Ivlanaging Director 
Corporate Finance Group 
Moody's Inves:ors Servic,e 
JOlJRNALlSTS 212-553-0376 
SUBSCRIBERS 2 12-553- 1653 

CREDIT RATINGS ARE wI0ODb"S INVESTORS SERVICE, IAIC.'S (MIS) CURRERT OPINIONS OF THE 

SECURITIES. MIS DEFINES CREDIT RISK AS THE RISK THAT AN ENTiTY MAY NOT MEET ITS 
CONTRACTUAL, FINANCIAL OSLIGAT IONS AS THEY COME DUE AND ANY ESTIMATED FINANCIAL LOSS 
IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT. CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT ADDRESS ANY OTHER RISK, INCLUDING BUT 
NOT LIMITED TO: LIQUIDITY RISK, MARKET VALUE RISK, OR PRICE VOLATILITY. CREDIT RATINGS ARE 

RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDl r COMNrlTMENTS, OR DEBT QR DEBT-LIKE 

CURRENT OR HlSTORtCAL FACT. CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT CONSTITUTE 
NCIAI. ADVICE, AND CREDIT RATINGS ARE NOT RECOMMENDATIONS TO 
HOLD PARTICULAR SECURITIES. CREDIT W T I  GS DO MOT COMMENT ON THE 

SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT FOR ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR. IS ISSUES iTS CREDIT RATINGS 
WITH THE EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL MAKE ITS OWN STUDY 
AND EVALUATION QF EACH SECURITY THAT IS UNDER CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE, HOLDING, 
OR SALE. 

0 Copyright 2009, Moody's Investors Service, Inc andioi its licensors including Moody's Assurance Company, Inc 
(together, ''MOODY'S'c) All rights reserved 
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Big Fivers Electric Corporation 

below the median A3 senior most rating foi the sector A significant constraint to Big Rivers' rating IS the 
that one of its member owners Kenergy Corp makes a high concentration of its sales to two aluniinun- 
smelters. both of whom fa= credit challenges due to the significant fall off in both metal prices and den 
In addition these smelters have the option to terminate their respective power purchase arrangements 
beginning December 31 2010 subject to one-year notice 7 he rating is further constrained because th? 
cooperative s rates are subject to regulation by the KPSC, which is atypical for the sector 

Big Rivers took steps in 2008 to buyout two leveraged lease transactions and is nearing coinpletion of ii 

cominercial, and industrial custoiners in 22 Western Kentucky counties 

fact 

and 

series 

860 9 millroii Rural Econoinic Reserve wliicii would be used over two years to provide credits Yo rural 
custonwrs upon exhcitistioii of tlic Traiisiticii Ruseivei 

I 
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unwinding all the various transactions includes full reimbursement of Big Rivers' lease buyout costs. and the 
$16 million reniaining deierred loss on reacquired debt would be written off 

Under a contract times iiteiest earned ratio (TIER) arraiigenient with the two smelters, Big Rivers is assured 
of maintaining a minimum TIER of 1 24x leaving ample ciJshion under its financial covenants and positioning 
itself favoiably amorig its similarly rated peers We expect this recently solid debt service coverage metric to 
remain relatively stable (I e in a iange of t 3x to 1 65x over the next several years 

t V  

Big Rivers owns generating capacity of about 1.440 megawatts (MW) in four scibslantially coal-fired plants 
Total power capacity is about 1,833 NEW including rights to about 215 MW of coal-fired capacity from 
Henderson Miinicipal Powei and Light (HMPRL) Station Two and about 178 MW of contracted hydro capacity 
from Southeastern Power Administration The economic? of power produced from these sourcfis enables Big 
Rivers to maintain a sold compeiitcve advantage in the SOUtheaSi and even more so when cornpared to other 
regions around the countrj The consistently high mpacity factors and efficient operations of the assets 
results in wholesale rates to members around $35 per MWh which translates to member retail rates to norl- 
smelter customers around 7 cents per kWh 

Because Big Rivers is suhsCaritial!y dependent on caal-fired geneiation, it faces a high degree of uncertainty 
associated with the form ano substaice of Future envirorimental legislation. the timing for implementation and 
the aniount of relared costs to comply We view this as mote of a medium-term issue at this time and note that 
the Economic ReS€PJ& shoutd help mitigate some of the need for initial rate increases to cover future 
compliance costs 

h 

Big Rivers is subject to reyulatton fer rate s e t l q  purposes by the KPSC, which is atypical for the sector and 
can pose challenges in getting tmel\c rate relret if and wlien needed We view the existence of certain fuel and 
puichased power cost adjustment mechanisms available to Big Riveis as favorable to its credit profile since 
they can temper risk of cosi recovery shortfalls if there is a mismatch relative to existing rate levels We also 
note little need fool ge-ieral I&E tncraases by Big Rives in the mediuiii term altliough we would not rule out 
additional revenues generqted under the fuel adpuslment clause and through use of a porlion of the various 
reserve funds 

7 he substantial revmiles ~JEFIVI?~ maer Big Rrvers long-term wholesale contracts with its members currently 
run through 2023 ancl wili be e,.!.ewxd 'io Decen?Der 31, 2043 when the unwind of transactions is conrpkterj in 
the near term The low ccst o c w r  provided uridet the contracts niakes it unlikely that there will be member 
disenchantment, even in the face of pofential rate increases in Ihe medium to longer term drip to 
environmental compiiance costs The curronrly overall sound member profile provides assurance of this 
revenue stream wlich is i servicing Bfrg Rivers' debt The polential foi fiirther degradation in th? 
creditworthiness of :he sm particular c-edit concern only tempered in part by assurawxs of ttvo 
month s worth of paynlenl chligatrors Lovered by letters o i  credit frorn an A I  rated financial institutroii ( or 
some other foim acceptibie io  Bag Rivers) u w k i  certain circiumstartces 

er 
IJridrr historical operatinij cwdiiions (lie Imc snneliers served by Keneigy can be expected to cxnstiin? cvei 7 
iiiillioit MWh of energy a m  
Stimrnary Rating Rawmars :h15 ria1 is a significant constraint to Big Rivers' rating, rriaking 1319 Rivers 
operating and risk profile rarh.11 imqiis. cornpared to its peecc At this stage the earliest possible date that t he  
smelters could seive nolfce ofteriimtroct of their contract would be December 31, 2010 (I e the smelters 
carmot provide noti& mlil o ~ ~ o ( p  trarisn~issiOri capacitb upgrade projects arr? completed) Given { h e  cost 
effactive power bejisg p'o~iocii by 
the smelters to e> ercisc tilts ~ p ? i o n  Ltoieover, lransmissiori line expansion and legislation to permit sales to 

,erJ:tsahng 2 substantisl lcad concaritration risk A5 noted ebove IO the 

R i m s  allow Kericrgy to service this load we do no1 currently expect 
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Big Rivers Electric Corporation 

nonmembers when coupled with the low rost of the power shcdld enhance Big Rivers' ability to move 
€#Less powei off systeni in the event ihat the smelters cancel their cantracts or otherwise reduce load due 10 
curtailment of aluininurn pioducuon due to inaihet and econoiwc condilrons Indeed one of the smellers 
Century Aluininum o i  Kentucky, recently announced the orderly cuitaili-nent of one of its five potlines pending 
improvemenl in economic conditions As a result Big Rtvers will move to sell the approximately 8T megawatts 
of capacity i t  would otherwise be providing to Kenergy for service to the one Centiiry Aluminum pot line, into 
the open market 

Big Rivers currently suppleinents its internally generated funds wth a committed $15 million secured line of 
credit from National Rural Utilities Coopeiative Finance Corporation (CFC) A s  of December 2008, the CFC 
line had no direct draws against it, but there were $2 7 niillion of outstanding letters of credit Prospectively 
Big Rivers expects to put in place $100 million of unsecured committed three year revolver capacity with CFC 
and CoBank providing $50 million each Upon effectiveness ofthe new facilities, the $15 million facility would 
be terminated and any outstanding letters of credit would be rolled into the new CFC facility which would 
provide for issuance of up to $1 0 million of letters of credit This step would be Lredit positive. representing a 
considerable increase in the aniount of alternate liquidity available from the banks Big Rivers expects to 
repon about $38 9 millioii of unresiricted cash when it completes the audit for December 3 1 2008 statements 
and cash flow from operations is projected to be around $121 nxilioir for 2008 Assuming completion of the 
unwind transactions duiing ApiiI 2009, cash flow fioin operations in 2009 near $100 million no change in 
management's current policy with respect to not returning aiiy patrovage capital to members and the planned 
additional bank revolvers are finalized we expect Brg Rivers to hat% sufficient means to meet its anticipated 
short-term working capital needs capital expenditures (approximately $90 million) and scheduled principal 
repayments (approximately SI 3 million) over the nexl tour quartets 

The quality of the alternatc- liquidity provided by the anticipated bank revolvers benefits frorn the multi-year 
tenor and the absence of any onerous financial covenants, which larfgely mirror the financial covenants in 
existing debt docurrienls Big Rivers is comfortably in compliance wrth those covenants and we expect that to 
remain so in the foreseeable futute Additionally the CFC fac; 
cfxinge (MAC) clause bawrver the CoBank faciktty is consfdered of lesser quality bsrause of the ongoing 
m h i e  of its MAC Clause relatea to each drawdown Thwe ale rjo appirtable rating triggers in any of the 
fdcilities that coiild came ac.celeration oi puts of obltgatioris ryowever a ratings based pricing grid applies 

benefits @om no ongoing material adverse 

Substantially all o i  6ig Riveis assets are currently subject io :he lien of an RUS mortgage, however certain 
tar exempt debt of Big Rivers dncl any OiJ~Staildiilg arncunls under (he existrng $ 1 5  mrllion secured CFC line of 
credit enjoy a super priority of pavrnerlt claim and lien on assets under 1Pe ctinent RUS mortgage over RUS 
As pait of the unwinding of various transactions, Big Rivers wI; :;.place the existing RUS mortyage with a new 
senior secured indenttire The ncw indenture would re-estabbsh RlRS and all Senior secured debt holders on 
equal footing in terms of prioiiyy oi claim and lien oii assets The new snclenture will also provide Big Rivers 
&t i  the Oexibrlity t3 ilccess public debt markets while rekaininy fhe rrgttl !o borrow from RUS if they choose to 
do so Given persistent qiicstiolis about the availability of furids tirxkr Ehe iederally subsidized RlJS loan 
prograin w e  consider the adoeo ikxit) i I i ty of the new s e c i ~ d  wienrure trr be credit positive 

"- 

The stable lilting outlool, is Lased on rxpectations that Rig Rivers swcrr;-ssftrlly completes the unwind 
lransactions iii thF near tc rin thereby improving its financial profile and repositianiiiy itself to continue 
eiftciently meeting ihe nee-!s of its iiieiiibers in the futuie 
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Rig Rivers Electric Corporatioil 

Given the rating constraints linked to customer load concentration at Kenergy rate regulation, and iooming 
pressures tied to environmental issues a rating upgrade is unlikely in the foreseeable future Changes to 
eliminate rate regulation of cooperatives in Kentucky could contribute to a positive action especially if it 
coincides with improvement in market conditions for the aluminum smelters and sustained improvement of 
FFO to interest and debt nietrics to near 2 3x and 8'36, respectively, on average 

Loss of significant load (I e the smelters) that is not otherwise compensated for through off system power 
sales could contribute to a negative action, as would lack of regulatoiy support for substantial and timely 
recovery of costs In terms of credit rnetrics, if FFO to interest and deht falls below 2x and 6%, respectively. 
for a sustained period of time then rating pressure could result 

Tr 

Big Rivers' mapping under Moody s I J  S Electric Generation &Transmission Cooperative rating Methodology 
appears below The Incircaito Raring foi Big Rivers' senior most obligations under the Methodaiogy is Baal 
and relies on historical quantitative dara and qualitative assessrnents In particular we note that the Baal 
rating is significantly influenced b$ the weal( standing for the factors relating lo dependence on purchased 
power, the percentage of residential sales and equity as a percentage of capitalization A more fzvorable 
prospective view of some of Itiose factors especially given the high likelihood we currently ascribe to 
successlul cornpletron of the zforernentroned unwind transactions, ~ o u l d  likely generate a higher indicated 
Rating for Erg Rivers under the Methodology Nevertheless the unique nsks relating to Big Rivers load 
concentiation to the smelters vdl likely persist and continue to constrain its rating level in the Future 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

1 
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3 
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9 
10 
11 
12 

APPLICATION OF RIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FO ROVAL OF ITS 2012 COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

EST REGULATORY ACCOUNT’ 

APPROVAL OF ITS NMENTAL COST 

CONVENIENC CESSITY, AND FOR AUTHOR1 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

J u n e  1,2012 

Itern 34)  

assigned to BREC since the year 2008 by S&P, Moody’s, and Fitch. For anry 
ch,ange in thre credit and/or bond rating, please provide a copy of th,e 
associated report. 

Please provide any and all corporate credit and bond ratings 

Response) The credit rating reports on Rig Rivers from S&P, Moody’s and Fitch 
issued since 2008 are provided in the response to Item 33. There has been no 
change in the ratings assigned to Big Rivers since the July 2009 Unwind closing. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-34 

Witness: Mark A. €lite 
Page 1 of 1 





IG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

1 

2 

3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

9 
10 

11 
12 

13 
14 

15 
16 
17 
18 
19 

LICATION OF BIG ORPORATTON 

APPROVAL OF ITS NMENTAL, COST 
FO ROVAI, OF ITS 2012 COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

RECOVERY SURC ARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PU 
CONVENIENCE AN 

ESTABLT 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

Item 35) 
revenue requirement associated wi th  RREC‘s Environmental Compliance 
Plan (“ECP’). The summary shodd inclu,de the annual amounts of  
eligible plant, depreciation, ECP rate base, TIER, operating expenses, a n y  
applicable tax rates and adjustment factor, and overall revenue 
requ,irements; (2) any applicable data and work papers in both hard copy 
and electronic (Microsoft Excel) formats, wi th  all data and formulae 
intact. 

Please provide a copy ofi (1) the docu,inents detailing th,e 

Response) Please reference the ECP tab of the “Build Case” financial model 
Excel file provided in Big Rivers’ response dated April 26, 2012, to  KITJC’s Motion 
to  Dismiss. The ECP tab includes the annual amounts of eligible plant, 
depreciation, rate base, TIER (which is a component of Return on Rate Base), 
operating expenses, property tax, property insurance, the overall revenue 
requirement, and the allocation of the revenue requirement based on Total 
Adjusted Revenue. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-35 

Witness: Mark A. Hite 
Page 1 of 1 





BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
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APPLICATION OF BIG RIITEXS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
OVAL O F  ITS 2012 E ONMEMTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMEN 

CONVENIENCE AN 

ENVIRONMENT 
RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, CERTIFICATES IC 

ECESSITY, AND FOR AUTHORITY TO 
REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

esponse to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for  Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

J u n e  1,2012 

I t em 36) Please provide BREC’s au,th<orized and actu,al earned TIER 
over the past  five years. Please provide all figures used in making any 
and all necessary calculations. Please provide copies of  all associated 
work papers and source documents, in both hard copy and electronic 
(Microsoft Excel) formats, with all data and formulae intact. 

Response) The attached Excel workbook contains the earned TIER calculations 
for years 2007-2011. The Statement of Operations (RTJS Form 12a) for years 
2007-2011 were used for calculating earned TIER, and are also attached. Rig 
Rivers’ authorized TIER is 1.24 per the 2008 Unwind Financial Model and the 
Commission’s Order in Case No. 2011-00036, general adjustment in rates. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-36 

Witness: Mark A. Hite 
Page 1 of 1 
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S ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
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2 
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5 
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10 

1 1 ,  
12 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF TITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL C 

CONVENIENC 
RECOVERYSUR E TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

D NECESSITY, AND FOR AUTHORITY TO 
SW A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 
CASE NO. 2812-00863 

Response to the Office of t h e  Attorney General's 
Initial Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

I t em 37) 
sheet, income statement, statement of  cash flows, and the notes to the 
financial statements) for BREC for the past two years. Please provide 
copies of such data in both hard copy and electronic (Microsoft Excel) 
formats, with all data and formulae intact. 

Please provide copies of the financial statements (balance 

Response) Please see the attached documents. Also, please see the electronic 
versions provided on the CD accompanying these responses. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to  AG 1-37 

Witness: Mark A. Hite 
Page 1 of 1 





Financial Statements 

December 3 1,20 10 and 2009 

(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon) 



KPMG LLP 
1601 Market Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2499 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Directors and Members 
Big Rivers Electric Corporation: 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of  Big Rivers Electric Corporation (the Company) as of 
December 3 1, 2010 and the related statements of operations, equities, and cash flows for the year then 
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The accompanying financial 
statements of the Company as of December 3 1, 2009 and for the years ended December 3 1, 2009 and 2008 
were audited by other auditors whose report thereon dated March 26, 20 10, expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those statements. 

We conducted our audit in  accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the IJnited States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Goverwnent Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31, 2010, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended ill conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

In accordance with Goveriwent Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 25, 201 1, 
on our consideration of Big Rivers Electric Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and shoitld be read in con,junction with this 
report in considering the results of our audit. 

March 25, 201 1 

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limiled iiabilily partnership. 
the U.S. member firm of KPMG lnleinallonal Cooperelive 
(‘KPMG lnlernalional’) a Sniss entily 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Balance Sheets 

December 3 1 ,20  10 and 2009 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Assets 

LJtility plant - net 
Restricted investments - member rate mitigation 
Other deposits and investments - at cost 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Fuel inventory 
Nonfuel inventory 
Prepaid expenses 

Total current assets 

Deferred charges and other 
Total 

Equities and Liabilities 

Capitalization: 
Equities 
Long-term debt 

Total capitalization 

Current 1 iabil ities: 
Current maturities of long-term obligations 
Notes payable 
Purchased power payable 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Accrued interest 

Total current liabilities 

Regulatory liabilities - member rate mitigation 
Other 

Deferred credits and other: 

Total deferred credits and other 

Commitments and contingencies (see note 14) 

Total 

2010 2009 

$ 1,091,566 1,078,274 
21 7,562 243,225 

5,473 5,342 

44,780 60,290 
45,905 47,493 
37,328 37,830 
23,218 20,4 12 

2,502 3,233 

153,733 169,258 
- 

3 3 5  1 - 9,384 
$ 1,472,185 1,505,483 

$ 386,575 379,392 
834,367 - -  809,623 - 

1,196,198 - 1,2 13,759 - 

7,373 14,185 
10,000 - 

1,516 3,3 62 
29,782 30,657 
10,627 9,864 
11,134 9,097 

70,432 67,165 

185,893 207,348 
19,662 17,211 

205,555 224,559 

$ 1,472,185 1,505,483 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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RIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CO 

Statements of Operations 

Years ended December 3 I ,  20 10,2009, and 2008 

(Dollars in  thousands) 

Operating revenue 
Lease revenue 

Total operating revenue 

Operating expenses: 
Operations: 

Fuel for electric generation 
Power purchased and interchanged 
Production, excluding fuel 
Transmission and other 

Maintenance 
Depreciation and amortization 

Total operating expenses 

Electric operating margin 

Interest expense and other: 
Interest 
Interest on obligations related to long-term lease 
Amortization of loss from termination of 

long-term lease 
Income tax expense 
Other - net 

Total interest expense and other 

Operating margin 

Interest income on restricted investments 

Gain on unwind transaction (see note 2) 
Interest income and other 

Nonoperating margin: 

under long-term lease 

Total nonoperating margin 

Net m argiii 

2010 2009 2008 

$ 5 27,3 24 341,333 2 14,758 
- 32,027 58,423 

527,324 373,360 273,181 

207,749 80,655 
99,42 1 116,883 
52,507 2 2 3  1 
35,273 35,444 
46,880 29,820 

-- 34,242 32,485 

476,072 3 17,668 

5 1,252 - 55,692 

- 

1 14,643 

28,600 
4,258 

31,041 

178.542 

__ 

94,639 

46,570 59,898 6S,7 1 9 
- 6,991 - 

___ 2,172 81 1 

166 112 123 

46,995 63,207 79,578 

4,257 (735 15) 15,061 

259 1,025 5,934 

- 8,742 
__ 537,978 - 

2,734 867 4,013 

2,734 538,845 12,755 

$ 6,991 53 1,330 27,8 16 

- 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Balance December 31,2007 - 
Comprehensive income: 

Net margin 
Defined benefit plans 

Total comprehensive income 

Balance - December 3 I ,  2008 
Comprehensive income. 

Net margin 
Defined benefit plans 

Total comprehensive income 

Balance - December 3 I ,  2009 
Comprehensive income: 

Net margin 
Defined benefit plans 

Total comprehensive income 
Balance - December 31,2010 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Statements of Equities (Deficit) 

Years ended December 3 I ,  201 0,2009, and 2008 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Total 
equities 
(deficit) 

9; (174,137) 

27,816 
(8,281) 
19,535 

( 1  54,602) 

531,330 
2,664 

_. 533,994 

379,392 

6,99 1 
192 

7,183 
9; 386,575 

Accumulated 
margin 

- (deficit) 

(1 74,639) 

27,8 I 6 

27,816 

( I  46,823) 

53 1,330 

53 1 , 3 3 0  

384,507 

6,991 

- --- 
~ 

__ 

6,99 1 

391,498 
-- 

Donated 
capital and 

mem bcrships 

764 

Other equities - 
Consumers' 

contributions 
to debt 
service -.- 

3,681 

764 

- 
___ 

3,681 

___ 
__ 

764 

- 
__ 

3,681 

- 
__ 

764 3,681 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
inconie 

(3,943) 

__ 
2,664 

2,664 

(9,560) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
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BIG IlIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31, 2010,2009, and 2008 

(Dollars in thousands) 

2010 2009 2008 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Net margin 
Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash provided 

by operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 
Increase in restricted investments under long-term lease 
Decrease in deferred AMT income taxes 
Amortization of deferred loss (gain) on sale-leaseback - net 
Deferred lease revenue 
Residual value payments obligation gain 
Interest compounded - RUS Series B Note 
increase in obligations under long-term lease 
Noncash gain on unwind transaction 
Cash received for member rate mitigation 
Noncash member rate mitigation revenue 
Changes in certain assets and liabilities. 

Accounts receivable 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred charges 
Purchased power payable 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Other- net 

Net cash provided by operating activities 
Cash flows from investing activities. 

Capital expenditures 
Proceeds from disposition or investments related to sale-leaseback 
Proceeds from restricted investments 
Purchases of restricted investments and other deposits and investments 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities. 
Principal payments on long-term obligations 
Proceeds from long-term obligations 
Principal payments on short-term notes payable 
Proceeds from short-term notes payable 
Payments upon termination of sale-leaseback 
Debt issuance cost on bond refunding 

Net cash used in financing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents -end of year 

Supplemental cash flow information: 
Cash paid for interest 
Cash paid for incoine taxes 

f 6,991 53 1,330 27,816 

37,650 
- 

- 
(23,953) 

37,084 

- 
2, I72 

(3,768) 
(3,881) 
6, I36 

(269,44 1 ) 
2 17,856 
(12,033) 

__ 

(26,049) 
(3,497) 
(2,783) 
(1,538) 
(5,973) 
24,825 

7,88 I 
6,852 

505,173 

34,320 
(2,502) 
5,035 

(4,582) 
(6,748) 
5,841 
2,749 

(1,187) 

6,218 
12 

(3 19) 
1,871 

(3,702) 
899 
327 

(4,940) 
- 61,108 

(42,683) (58,388) (22,760) 
- 222,739 - 

28,143 8,982 - 
(252,798) (401) ___ - 

(14,540) (302,204) - 199,578 -.-- 

(121,355) 
83,300 

10,000 

(2,002) 
(30,057) 

( 1  5,510) 

60,290 
f 44,780 

- 

- 

--- 

(363,956) 

( 1  2,380) 
- 

__ 
- 

(246) 
(18 1,582) 

21,387 

38,903 
60,290 

~~ 

(4033 8) 

- 
(329,859) 

__ 

(370,697) -~ 
( 1  10,Ol I )  

148,914 
38,903 

9; 37,268 5 1,078 74,x 19 
260 626 1,220 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 3 1,20 10 and 2009 

(Dollars in thousands) 

(I) Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) General In formation 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation (“Big Rivers” or the “Company”), an electric generation and 
transmission cooperative, supplies wholesale power to its three member distribution cooperatives 
(Kenergy Corp., Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, arid Meade County Rural Electric 
Cooperative Corporation) under all requirements contracts, excluding the power needs of two large 
aluminum smelters (the “Aluminum Sinelters”). Additionally, Big Rivers sells power under separate 
contracts to Kenergy Corp. for the Aluminum Smelters load and markets power to nonmember 
utilities and power marketers. The members provide electric power and energy to industrial, 
residential, and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties. The 
wholesale power contracts with the members remain in effect until December 3 1 , 2043. Rates to Big 
Rivers’ members are established by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) and are 
subject to approval by the Rural Utilities Service (RIJS). The financial statements of Big Rivers 
include the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 980, Certain Types of Regulation, which was adopted by the Company in 2003, 
and gives recognition to the ratemaking and accounting practices of the KPSC and RIJS. 

In  1999, Big Rivers L,easing Corporation (BRLC) was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of Big 
Rivers. BRLC’s principal assets were the restricted investments acquired in connection with the 
2000 sale-leaseback transaction discussed in Note 4. The sale-leaseback transaction was terminated 
on September 30, 2008 and BRLC was dissolved on July 7, 2009, in conjunction with the Unwind 
Transaction (See Note 2). 

Management evaluated subsequent events up to and including March 25, 201 1, the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

(6) Principles of Consolidation 

The financial Statements of Big Rivers include the accounts of Big Rivers and its wholly owned 
subsidiary, BRLC. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated. 

(c) Estiniates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are based 
upon management’s evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the financial 
statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 
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(c- System ofAccoitttts 

Big Rivers’ maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts as 
prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. These regulatory agencies retain 
authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters. Adjustments 
to RUS accounting have been made to make the financial statements consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. 

(e) Revenue Recogriitio!i 

Revenues generated from the Company’s wholesale power contracts are based on month-end meter 
readings and are recognized as earned. Prior to its termination, in accordance with FASB ASC 840, 
Leases, Big Rivers’ revenue from the Lease Agreement was recognized on a straight-line basis over 
tlie term of the lease. The major components of this lease revenue include the annual lease payments 
and the Monthly Margin Payments (described in Note 2). 

(f) UtilitJ, Plaitt and Depreciation 

Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of contracted services, materials, 
labor, overhead, and an allowa~ice for borrowed funds used during construction. Replacements of 
depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged to utility plant. 

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated 
total cost of $250 or more before consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized is 
determined by applying the effective rate of Big Rivers’ weighted average debt to the accumulated 
expenditures for qualifying pro,jects included in construction in progress. 

Prior to July 17, 2009, the Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction (see Note 2), and in accordance 
with the terms of the Lease Agreement, the Company generally recorded capital additions for 
Increniental Capital Costs and Nonincremental Capital Costs expenditures funded by LG&E and KU 
Energy LLC (formerly E.ON LJ.S. LLC) as iitility plant to which the Company maintained title. A 
corresponding obligation to LG&E and K U  Energy LLC (LG&E arid KU). was recorded for the 
estimated portion of these additions attributable to the Residual Value Payments (see Note 2). A 
portion of this obligation was amortized to lease revenue over the useful life of those assets during 
the remaining lease term. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company recorded 
$0 and $5,557, respectively, for such additions in utility plant. The Company recorded $0, $3,881, 
and $6,748 in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively, as related lease revenue in the accompanying 
financial statements. All amounts recorded for 2009 reflect the period prior to the Effective Date of 
the Unwind Transaction. LJnder the terms of the Unwind Transaction, LG&E and K U  waived their 
right to the Residual Value Payment, and the Company recognized a gain. 

I n  accordance with the Lease Agreement, and in addition to the capital costs funded by LG&E and 
KU (see Note 2) that were recorded by the Company as utility plant and lease revenue, LG&E and 
ICU also incurred certain Nonincremental Capital Costs and Major Capital Improvements (as defined 
in  tlie Lease Agreement) for which they waived rights to a Residual Value Payment by Big Rivers 
upon lease termination. Such amounts were not recorded as utility plant or lease revenue by the 

. 
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Company during the lease. I n  connection with the Unwind Transaction the Company recognized a 
gain of $19,679 for the Nonincremental Capital assets for which LG&E and KIJ had waived rights 
to. 

LG&E and KU constructed a scrubber (Major Capital Improvement) at Big Rivers’ Coleman plant. 
The scrubber achieved commercial acceptance in January 2007. The Company acquired the Coleman 
scrubber at no cost under the terms of the IJnwind Transaction, recognizing a gain of $98,500 in 
2009. 

Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated 
remaining service lives, as approved by the RUS and KPSC. The annual composite depreciation 
rates used to compute depreciation expense were as follows: 

Electric plant 
Transmission plant 
General plant 

1 .GO% - 2.47% 
1.76% - 3.24% 
1.1 I % - 5.62% 

For 201 0,2009, and 2008, the average composite depreciation rates were 1.86%, 1 .S5%, and 1.85%, 
respectively. At the time plant is disposed of, the original cost plus cost of removal less salvage value 
of such plant is charged to accumulated depreciation, as required by the RUS. 

(g) In2pairnwn f Review of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets are reviewed as facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be 
impaired. This review is performed in accordance with FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and 
Equipment as it relates to impairment of long-lived assets. FASB ASC 360 establishes one 
accounting model for all impaired long-lived assets and long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale or 
otherwise. FASB ASC 360 requires the evaluation of impairment by comparing an asset’s carrying 
value to the estimated future cash flows the asset is expected to generate over its remaining life. If 
this evaluation were to conclude that the carrying value of the asset is impaired, an impairment 
charge would be recorded based on the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its fair 
value (less costs to sell for assets to be disposed of by sale) as a charge to operations or discontinued 
operations. 

(11) In vcntory 

Inventories are carried at average cost and include coal, petroleum coke, lime, limestone, oil and gas 
used for electric generation, and inaterials and supplies used for utility operations. Emission 
allowances are carried in inventory at a weighted average cost by each vintage year. Issuances of 
allowances are accounted for on a vintage basis using a monthly weighted average cost. 

(0 Restricted Investments 

Investments are restricted under KPSC order to establish certain reserve funds for member rate 
mitigation in conjunction with the Unwind Transaction. These investments have been classified as 
held-to-maturity and are carried at amortized cost (see Note 10). 
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(j) Cash arid Cash Eqicivaleiits 

Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

(id Income Tmes 

Big Rivers was formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization described in Internal Revenue Code 
Section S01(c)(12). To retain tax-exempt status under this section, at least 85% of the Big Rivers’ 
receipts must be generated from transactions with the Company’s members. In 1983, sales to 
nonmembers resulted in Big Rivers failing to meet the 85% requirement. Until Big Rivers can meet 
the 85% member income requirement, the Company will not be eligible for tax exempt status and 
will be treated as a taxable cooperative. 

.As a taxable cooperative, Big Rivers is entitled to exclude the amount of patronage allocations to 
members from taxable income. Income and expenses related to nonmember operations are taxable to 
Big Rivers. Big Rivers files a Federal income tax return and certain state income tax returns. 

Under the provisions of FASB ASC 740, Incoine Taxes, Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax 
assets and liabilities for temporary differences between amounts reported for financial reporting 
purposes and amounts reported for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based upon these temporary differences using enacted tax rates for the year in which 
these differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax expense or benefit is based on the 
change in assets and liabilities from period to period, subject to an ongoing assessment of realization. 
Tax benefits associated with income tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return are 
recorded only when the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is satisfied and measured at the 
largest amount of benefit that is greater than SO% likely of being realized upon settlement. 

(0 Patronage Capital 

As provided in the bylaws, Big Rivers accounts for each year’s patronage-sourced income, both 
operating and nonoperating, on a patronage basis. Notwithstanding any other provision of the 
bylaws, the amount to be allocated as patronage capital for a given year shall not be less than the 
greater of regular taxable patronage-sourced income or alternative minimum taxable 
patronage-sourced income. 

(nz) Derivatives 

Management has reviewed the requirements of FASB ASC 81 5, Dei-ivafives and Hedging, and has 
determined that certain contracts the Company is party to may meet the definition of a derivative 
under FASB ASC 815. The Company has elected the Normal Purchase and Normal Sale exception 
for these contracts and, therefore, the contracts are not required to be recognized at fair value in the 
financial statements. 
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(it) Fair Value Measurements 

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB ASC 820, Fair. Value 
Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal, or most advantageous, market 
for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. The Fair Values Measurements Topic establishes a three-Level fair value hierarchy that 
prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use 
of observable inputs when possible. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as 
follows: 

0 

0 

Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 - observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level I ,  such as quoted prices 
for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets 
and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data; and 

Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are 
significant to the fair values of the assets or liabilities, i~icluding certain pricing models, 
discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable 
inputs. 
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(2) LG&E Lease Agreement 

Big Rivers, LG&E and KU, Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), and LG&E Energy 
Marketing (LEM), closed effective July 17, 2009, a transaction resulting in a mutually acceptable early 
termination of the 1998 L,G&E Lease Agreement (referred herein as the “Unwind Transaction” or 
“llnwind”). LG&E and KU, WKEC, and LEM are collectively referred to in the Notes as “LG&E and KU 
Entities.” This transaction was approved by the KPSC and the RUS. The IJnwind Transaction resulted in 
Big Rivers recognizing a net gain of $537,978. This transaction resulted in the acquisition of assets, the 
assumption of liabilities, the forgiveness of liabilities, and the establishment of a regulatory reserve 
prescribed by the KPSC in their approval of the transaction. Assets and liabilities in the unwind transaction 
were accounted for at fair value or recorded value, as appropriate. The gain froin the Unwind Transaction 
is sumniarized as follows: 

Unwind 
gain 

Assets received: 
Cash 
Coleman scrubber 
Inventory 
Construction in progress 
lJtility plant assets 
SO2 allowances 

Liabilities (assumed) forgiven: 
Economic Reserve 
Rural Economic Reserve 
Post-retirement benefits liability 
Residual value payments obligation 
LEM Settlement Note 

Recognition of (expenses) income: 
Deferred lease income 
Deferred loss from termination of sale/leaseback 
Deferred loss from LEM Marketing Payment/Settlement Note 
I-Jnwind transaction costs 
Other 

Gain on unwind transaction 

$ 506,675 
98,500 
55,000 
23,074 
19,679 

980 

( 157,000) 
(60,856) 

145,251 
15,440 

(8,768) 

7,187 
(73,829) 
( 14,520) 
(1 8,99 1 ) 

156 
$ 537,978 

The terms of the LG&E Lease Agreement as originally structured are outlined in the following text. 

On July IS, 1998 (Effective Date), a lease was consummated (Lease Agreement), whereby Big Rivers 
leased its generating facilities to Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of L,G&E and KU. Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, WKEC operated the generating facilities 
and maintained title to all energy produced. Throughout the lease term, in order for Big Rivers to fulfill its 
obligation to supply power to its members, the Company purchased substantially all of its power 
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requirements from LG&E Energy Marketing Corporation (LEM j, a wholly owned subsidiary of LG&E 
and KU, pursuant to a power purchase agreement. 

Big Rivers continued to operate its transmission facilities and charged LEM tariff rates for delivery of the 
energy produced by WKEC and consumed by LEM’s customers. The significant terms of the Lease 
Agreement were as follows: 

a. 

b. 

C. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

g. 

WKEC was to lease and operate Big Rivers’ generation facilities through 2023. 

Big Rivers retained ownership of the generation facilities both during and at the end of the lease 
term. 

WKEC paid Big Rivers an annual lease payment of $30,965 over the lease term, subject to certain 
adjustments. 

On the Effective Date, Big Rivers received $69,100 representing certain closing payments and the 
first two years of the annual lease payments. I n  accordance with FASB ASC 840, Leases, the 
Company amortized these payments to revenue on a straight-line basis over the life ofthe lease. 

Big Rivers continued to provide power for its members, excluding the member loads serving the 
Aluminuni Smelters, through its power purchase agreements with LEM and tlie Southeastern Powei 
Administration, based on a pre-determined maximum capacity. When economically feasible, the 
Company also obtained the power necessary to supply its member loads, excluding the Aluminum 
Smelters, in the open market. Kenergy Corp.’s retail service for tlie Aluminum Smelters was served 
by LEM and other third-party providers that included Big Rivers. To the extent the power purchased 
from LEM did not reach pre-determined minimums, the Company was required to pay certain 
penalties. Also, to tlie extent additional power was available to Big Rivers under the LEM contract, 
Big Rivers made sales to nonmembers. 

LEM reimbursed Big Rivers the margins expected from the Aluminum Smelters, defined as the net 
cash flows that Big Rivers anticipated receiving if the Company had continued to serve the 
Aluminum Smelters’ load, as filed in tlie Rate Hearing (the “Monthly Margin Payments”). 

WKEC was responsible for the operating costs of the generation facilities; however, Big Rivers was 
partially responsible for ordinary capital expenditures (Nonincremental Capital Costs) for the 
generation facilities over the term of the Lease Agreement, generally up to predetermined annual 
amounts. At the end of the lease term, Big Rivers was obligated to fund a “Residual Value Payment” 
to LG&E and KIJ for such capital additions during the lease (see Note 1 ). Ad,justments to the 
Residual Value Payment were made based upon actual capital expenditures. Additionally, WKEC 
made required capital improvements to the facilities to comply with new laws or a changes to 
existing laws (Incremental Capital Costs) over tlie lease life (the Company was partially responsible 
for such costs: 20% through 2010) and the Company was required to submit another Residual Value 
Payment to LG&E and KIJ for the undepreciated value of WKEC’s 80% share of these costs, at the 
end of the lease. The Company had title to these assets during the lease and upon lease termination. 
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Big Rivers entered into a note payable with LEM for $19,676 (the “LEM Settlement Note”) to be 
repaid over the term of the Lease Agreement, with an interest rate at 8% per annum, in consideration 
for LEM’s assumption of the risk related to tmforeseen costs with respect to power to be supplied to 
the Aluminurn Smelters and the increased responsibility for financing capital improvements. The 
Company recorded this obligation as a component of deferred charges with the related payable 
recorded as long-term debt in the accompanying balance sheets. This deferred charge was amortized 
on a straight-line basis up to the Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction. 

On the Effective Date, Big Rivers paid a nonrefundable marketing payment of $5,933 to LEM, 
which was recorded as a component of deferred charges. This amount was amortized on a 
straight-line basis up to the Effective Date of the tJnwind Transaction. 

During the lease term, Big Rivers was entitled to certain “billing credits” against amounts the 
Company owed LEM under the power purchase agreement. Each month during the first 55 months 
of the lease term, Big Rivers received a credit of $89. For the year 201 1, Big Rivers was to receive a 
credit of $2,611 and for the years 2012 through 2023, the Company was to receive a credit of $4,111 
annual 1 y I 

In accordance with the power purchase agreement with LEM, the Company was allowed to purchase 
power in the open market rather than from LEM, incurring penalties when the power purchased from LEM 
did not meet certain minimum levels, and to sell excess power (power not needed to supply its 
jurisdictional load) in the open market (collectively referred to as “Arbitrage”). Pursuant to the New RUS 
Promissory Note (currently the RUS Series A Note) and the RUS ARVP Note (currently the RUS Series B 
Note), the benefit, net of tax, as defined, derived from Arbitrage had to be divided as follows: one-third, 
adjusted for capital expenditures, was used to make principal paynients on the New RUS Promissory Note; 
one-third was used to make principal payments on the RUS ARVP Note; and the remaining value was 
retained by the Company. 
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(3) XJtility Plant 

At December 3 1,201 0 and 2009, utility plant is summarized as follows: 

201 0 2009 

Classified plant in  service: 
Production plant 
Transmission plant 
General plant 
Other 

Less accumulated depreciation 

Construction in progress 
IJtility plant - net 

$ 1,689,024 1,675,733 
237,689 236,639 

18,937 18,201 
543 543 

1,946,193 1,931,116 

909,501 908,099 

1,036,692 1,023,017 

54,874 55,257 
$ 1,091,566 1,078,274 

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, was $684, $133, and $492, 
respectively. 

The Company has not identified any material legal asset retirement obligations, as defined in 
FASB ASC 4 IO,  Asset Retireinent Obligations. In accordance with regulatory treatment, the Company 
records an estimated net cost of removal of its utility plant through normal depreciation. As of 
December 3 1, 201 0 and 2009, the Company had approximately $38,000 and $35,835, respectively, related 
to non-legal removal costs included in accumulated depreciation. 

(4) Sale-Leaseback 

On April 18, 2000, the Company completed a sale-leaseback of two of its utility plants, including the 
related facilities and equipment. The sale-leaseback provided Big Rivers a $1,089,000 fixed price purchase 
option, at the end of each lease term (25 and 27 years), which, together with future contractual interest 
receipts, would be fully funded. 

On September 30, 2008, the Company completed an early termination of the sale-leaseback transaction. 
The termination was precipitated by the June 2008 downgrade of the claims-paying ability of Ambac 
Assurance Corporation (Ambac). Ambac served as insurer of Big Rivers’ payment obligations, thereby 
providing credit support under the transaction. Ambac’s downgrade exposed the Company to adverse 
consequences under the contractual terms of the transaction and after consideration of alternative options, 
Big Rivers ultimately settled on termination as the preferred solution. Proceeds from disposition of the 
restricted investment and payments required under the termination agreements were $222,739 and 
$329,559, respectively, reflecting a net cash payment of $107,120. To meet its remaining obligations Big 
Rivers’ entered into a $12,380 promissory note (see Note 5) with Philip Morris Capital Corporation 
(PMCC). A net loss of $77,001 resulting from the early termination of the sale-leaseback was recorded as a 
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regulatory asset and was amortized up to the Effective Date of the LJnwind Transaction; with the balance of 
the regulatory asset reflected as an offset to the gain recognized from the Unwind Transaction. 

Prior to termination the sale-leaseback transaction was recorded as a financing for financial reporting 
purposes and a sale for Federal income tax purposes. In connection therewith, in 2000, Big Rivers received 
$866,676 of proceeds and incurred $791,626 of related obligations. Pursuant to a payment undertaking 
agreement with a financial institution, Big Rivers effectively extinguished $656,029 of these obligations 
with an equivalent portion of the proceeds. The Company also purchased investments with an initial value 
of $146,647 to fund the remaining $135,597 of the obligations. Interest received and paid was recorded to 
these accounts up to the date of lease termination. The Company paid 7.57% interest on its obligations 
related to long-term lease and received 6.89% on its related investments. The Company made a $64,000 
principal payment on the New RIJS Promissory Note with the remaining proceeds. The $75,050 gain was 
deferred and was amortized up to the date of lease termination, with the Company recognizing $1,998 i n  
2008. 

The unamortized balance of the deferred loss was recognized in  2009 in conjunction with the unwind 
transaction described in Note 2 based on agreement with the KPSC. 

Amounts recogiiized in the statement 
December 3 1, 2008, were as follows: 

of operations related to the sale-leaseback for the year ended 

2008 

Power contracts revenue (revenue discount 
adjuslment - see Note 6) $ (2,453) 

Interest on obligations related lo long-term lease: 
Interest expense $ S,989 
Amortize gain on sale-leaseback (1,998) 

Net interest on obligations related to long-term 
lease $ 6,99 I 

Interest income on restricted investments under long-term 
lease $ 8,742 

Interest income and other 779 
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(5)  Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations 

A detail of long-term debt at December 3 1, 201 0 and 2009, is as follows: 

2010 2009 

RUS Series A Promissory Note, stated amount of, $561,06 1, 
stated interest rate of 5.75%, with an imputed interest rate 
of 5.84% maturing July 2021 

RIJS Series B Note, stated amount of $245,530, no stated 
interest rate, with interest imputed at 5.80%, maturing 
December 2023 

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, fixed interest 
rate of 6.00%, maturing in July 203 1 

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest 
rate (average interest rate of 3.56% and 10.50% in 201 0 
and 2009, respectively), maturing in October 2022 

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest 
rate (average interest rate of 3.27% and 3.22% in 2010. 
and 2009, respectively), maturing in June 20 I3 

Total long-term debt 

Current maturities 
Total long-term debt - net of current maturities 

$ 558,73 1 596,786 

116,165 109,666 

83,300 __ 

- 83,300 

58,800 58,800 

8 16,996 848,552 

7,373 14,185 
$ 809,623 834,367 

The following are scheduled maturities of long-term debt at December 3 1 

Amount 

Year: 
201 1 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
Thereafter 

(a) RlJS Notes 

$ 7,373 
76,078 
79,275 
2 I ,676 
22,968 

609.626 

Total $ 8 16.996 

On July IS,  1998, Big Rivers recorded the New RUS Promissory Note and the RUS ARVP Note at 
fair value using the applicable market rate of 5.82%. On the Unwind Closing Date, the New RIJS 
Note and the ARVP Note were replaced with the RIJS 2009 Promissory Note Series A and the RUS 
2009 Promissory Note Series B, respectively. After an Unwind Closing Date payment of $1 40,181, 
the RlJS 2009 Promissory Note Series A is recorded at an interest rate of 5.84%. The RIJS 2009 
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Series B Note is recorded at an imputed interest rate of 5.80%. The RlJS Notes are collateralized by 
substantially all assets of the Company and secured by the Indenture dated July 1 , 2009 between the 
Company and U.S. Bank National Association. 

(6) Pollution Control Bonds 

In June 2010, the County of Ohio, ICentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Refunding 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (Series 2010A Bonds), the proceeds of which are supported by a 
promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate. These bonds bear interest at a 
fixed rate of 6.00% and mature in July 203 1 I Proceeds from the Series 201 OA Bonds were used to 
refund the $83,300, County of Ohio, Kentucky, Periodic Auction Rate Securities, Series 2001 A. 

The County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Variable Rate Demand Bonds, 
Series 1983, the proceeds of which are supported by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears 
the same interest rate as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and mature in 
June 20 13. 

The Series 1983 bonds are supported by a liquidity facility issued by Credit Suisse First Boston, 
which was assigned to Dexia Credit in 2006. In addition, the Series 1983 bonds are supported by a 
municipal bond insurance and surety policy issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation. Big Rivers has 
agreed to reimburse Ambac Assurance Corporation for any payments under the municipal bond 
insurance policy or the surety policy. Both Series are secured by the Indenture dated July 1, 2009 
between the company and U.S. Bank National Association. 

The Series 1983 are subject to a maximum interest rate of 13% . The December 3 1, 201 0 interest rate 
on the Series 1983 Pollution Control Bonds was 3.25%. 

(c) LEM Settlenteitt Note 

On July 15,1998 Big Rivers executed the Settlement Note with LEM. The Settlement Note required 
Big Rivers to pay to LEM $1 9,676, plus interest at 8% per annum over the lease term. The principal 
and interest payment was approximately $1,822 annually. On the Unwind Closing Date, in 
connection with the Unwind Transaction the remaining balance on the Settlement Note in the 
amount of $15,440 was forgiven. 

Notes payable represent the Company’s borrowing on its line of credit with the National Rural 
Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (CFC) and CoBank, ACB (CoBank). The maximum 
borrowing capacity on the lines of credit is $100,000 consisting of $50,000 each for CFC and 
CoBank. Big Rivers had $10,000 of borrowings outstanding, at an interest rate of 2.46%, on the 
CoBank line of credit at December 31, 2010. Letters of credit issued under an associated Letter of 
Credit Facility with CFC reduced the borrowing capacity on the CFC line of credit by $5,928. 
Advances on the CFC line of credit bear interest at a variable rate and outstanding balances are 
payable in full by the maturity date of July 16,20 14. The CFC variable rate is equal to the CFC Line 
of Credit Rate, which is defined as “the rate published by CFC from time to time, by electronic or 
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other means, for similarly classified lines of credit, but if not published, then the rate determined for 
such lines of credit by CFC from time to time.” Advances on the CoBank line of credit bear interest 
at a variable rate and outstanding balances are payable in full by the maturity date of July 16, 2012. 
The CoBank variable rate is a fixed rate per annum (for interest periods of 1, 2, 3 and 6 months) 
equal to LIBOR plus the Applicable Margin as determined by the Company’s credit rating. At 
December 31, 2010 the Company had available to it a $2,500 line of credit with CFC to finance 
storm emergency repairs and expenses related to electric utility operations with a February 25, 20 I 1 
maturity date. 

(e) Covennitts 

Big Rivers is in compliance with all debt covenants associated with both long-term and short-term 
debt. The Company’s Indenture and its line of credit with CFC require that a Margins for Interest 
Ratio (MFIR) of at least 1.10 be maintained for each fiscal year. The CoBank line of credit 
agreement requires that at the end of each fiscal year the Company have a Debt Service Coverage 
Ratio (DSCR) of not less than 1.20. Big Rivers’ 201 0 MFIR was 1.15 and its DSCR was 1.47. 

(6) Rate Matters 

The rates charged to Big Rivers’ members consist of a demand charge per kW and an energy charge per 
kWh consumed as approved by the KPSC. The rates include specific demand and energy charges for its 
members’ two classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural customers under its 
jurisdiction. For the large industrial customers, the demand charge is generally based on each customer’s 
maximum demand during the current month. Each members rural demand charge is based upon the 
maximum coincident demand of their rural delivery points. 

Prior to the 1Jnwind Transaction the demand and energy charges were not subject to adjustments for 
increases or decreases in fuel or environmental costs. I n  conjunction with the Unwind Transaction, the 
KPSC approved the implementation of certain tariff riders; including a fuel acljustment clause and an 
environmental surcharge, offset by an unwind surcredit (a refund to tariff members of certain charges 
collected from the Aluminum Smelter in accordance with the contract terms). The net effect of these tariffs 
is recognized as revenue on a monthly basis with an offset to tlie regulatory liability - member rate 
mitigation described below. 

The net impact of the tariff riders to members rates is currently mitigated by a Member Rate Stability 
Mechanism (MRSM) that was funded by certain cash amounts received from the E.ON Entities in 
connection with tlie IJnwind Transaction (the Economic and Rural Economic Reserves) and held by Big 
Rivers as restricted investments. An offsetting regulatory liability - member rate mitigation was 
established with the funding of these accounts. 

In  its order approving the Unwind Transaction, the KPSC stipulated that Big Rivers file a rate case within 
three years of the Unwind Closing Date or by July 2012. On March 1, 201 1, the Company filed an 
application with the KPSC requesting authority to adjust its rates for wholesale electric service. 
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Effective since September 1, 2000, and continuing through August 3 1, 2008, the KPSC approved Big 
Rivers’ request for a $3,680 annual revenue discount adjustment for its members, effectively passing the 
benefit of the sale-leaseback transaction (see note 4) to them. On September 1, 2008, Big Rivers’ 
discontinued the revenue discount adjustment to its members in con,junction with the sale-leaseback 
termination. 

The wholesale rates established for the members non-smelter large direct-served industrial customers (the 
“Large Industrial Rate”) provide the basis for pricing the energy consumed by the Aluminum Smelters. 
The primary component of the pricing used for the Aluminum Smelters is an energy charge in dollars per 
MWh determined by applyiiig the Large Industrial Rate to a load with a 98% load factor, and adding an 
additional charge of $0.2.5 per MWh. The other components reflected in  the pricing of the Aluminum 
Smelters’ energy usage are certain charges and credits as provided for under the terms of the Aluminum 
Smelters’ wholesale electric service agreements between Big Rivers and Kenergy Corp. (Kenergy Corp. is 
the retail provider for the Aluminum Smelters load). 

(7) Income Taxes 

As a result of the sale-leaseback terminations in 2008 (see note 4)’ Big Rivers no longer considers that it is 
more likely than not that it will recover its net deferred tax assets (which consisted of Net Operating Loss 
(NOL) Carryforwards, Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) Credit Carryforwards, Fixed Asset Book to Tax 
Differences, Economic Reserve Book to Tax Differences, and RIJS Series B Note Book to Tax 
Differences). An income statement charge of $5,035 relating the AMT amounts carried forward at 
January 1, 2008 together with a charge of $900 relating to the 2008 AMT obligation were recorded in the 
Statement of Operations for 2008. AMT charges were recorded in the Statement of Operations for 2010 
and 2009 in the amount of $259 and $1,025, respectively. 

At December 3 1, 20 10, Big Rivers had a Nonpatron Net Operating Loss Carryforward of approximately 
$42,354 expiring at various times between 2010 and 2030, and an Alternative Minimum Tax Credit 
Carryforward of approximately $6,038, which carries forward indefinitely. 

The Company has not recorded any regular income tax expense for the years ended December 3 1, 20 10, 
2009 and 2008, as the Company has utilized federal net operating losses to offset any regular taxable 
income during those years. Had the Company not had the benefit of a net operating loss carryforward, the 
Company would have recorded $3,846, $19,619, and $20,363 in current regular tax expense for the years 
ended December 3 1,20 10,2009 and 2008, respectively. 
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The components of the net deferred tax assets as of December 3 I ,  201 0 and 2009, were as follows: 

2010 2009 

Deferred tax assets: 
Net operating loss carryforward 
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 
Member rate mitigation 
Fixed asset basis difference 
RLJS Series B Note 

Total deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

RlJS Series B Note 

Bond refunding costs 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

Net deferred tax asset (prevaluation allowance) 

Valuation allowance 
Net deferred tax asset 

$ 16,730 20,990 
6,038 7,052 

10,326 10,326 
10,752 11,420 
14,767 - 

58,6 I3 49,788 

(8) (23,793) 

58,605 25,995 

(58,605) (25,995) 
- - $ 

A reconciliation of the Company’s effective tax rate for 201 0,2009 and 2008, follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Federal rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 
State rate - net of federal benefit 4.5 4.5 4.5 
Permanent differences 0.5 
Patronage allocation to members (38.8) (35.4) (3 1.3) 

(8.2) 
Tax benefit of operating loss 

Alternative minimum tax 3.0 0.2 18.0 

__ - 

carryforwards and other (1.2) (4.1) 

Effective tax rate 3.0% 0.2% 18.0% 
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The Company files a federal income tax return, as well as certain state income tax returns. The years 
currently open for federal tax examination are 2006 tlirough 2010 and 1995 through 1997, due to unused 
net operating loss carryforwards. The major state tax jurisdiction currently open for tax examination is 
Kentucky for years 2003 through 2010 and years 2001 through 2002, also due to unused net operating loss 
carry forwards. The Company has not recorded any unrecognized tax benefits or liabilities related to federal 
or state income taxes. 

The Company classifies interest and penalties as an operating expense on the income Statement and 
accrued expense in the balance sheet. No material interest or penalties have been recorded during 2010, 
2009, or 2008. 

(8) Power Purchased 

Prior to the Unwind Transaction and in accordance with tlie Lease Agreement, Big Rivers supplied all of 
the members’ requirements for power to serve their customers, other than the Aluminum Smelters. 
Contract limits were established in tlie Lease Agreement and included minimuin and maximum hourly and 
annual power purchase amounts. Big Rivers could not reduce tlie contract limits by more than 12 MW in 
any year or by more than a total of 72 MW over the lease term. In tlie event Big Rivers failed to take the 
minimum requirement during any hour or year, Big Rivers was liable to LEM for a certain percentage of 
the difference between the amount of power actually taken and the applicable minimum requirement. 

Although Big Rivers was required by the Lease Agreement to purchase minimum hourly and annual 
amounts of power from LEM, the lease did not prevent Big Rivers from paying tlie associated penalty i n  
certain hours to purchase lower cost power, if available, in the open market or reselling a portion of its 
purchased power to a third party. The power purchases made under this agreement for the years ended 
December 3 1, 2009 and 2008, were $5 1,592 and $99,700, respectively, and are included in power 
purchased and interchanged on the statement of operations. 

(9) Pension Plans 

(a) Defitted Benefit Plans 

Big Rivers has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees 
who meet minimum age and service requirements and who were employed by tlie Company prior to 
the plans closure dates cited below. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of 
service and the five highest consecutive years’ compelisation during the last ten years of 
employment. Big Rivers’ policy is to fund such plans in accordance with the requirements of the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

The salaried employees defined benefit plan was closed to new entrants effective January 1, 2008, 
and the bargaining employees defined benefit plan was closed to new hires effective November 1 ~ 

2008. The Company simultaneously established base contribution accounts in the defined 
contribution thrift and 401 (k) savings plans, which were renamed as the retirement savings plans. 
The base contribution account for an eligible employee, which is one who meets the minimum age 
and service requirements, but for whom membership in the defined benefit plan is closed, is funded 
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by employer contributions based on graduated percentages of the employee’s pay, depending on his 
or her age. 

The Company has adopted FASB ASC 71 5, Defined Rerzejit Plans, including the requirement to 
recognize the funded status of its pension plans and other postretirement plans (see Note 12 - 
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions). FASB ASC 715 defines the funded status of a defined 
benefit pension plan as the fair value of its assets less its prqjected benefit obligation, which includes 
projected salary increases, and defines the funded status of any other postretirement plan as the fair 
value of its assets less its accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. 

FASB ASC 7 15 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its 
year-end balance sheet and requires disclosure in the notes to the financial statements certain 
additional information related to net periodic benefit costs for the next fiscal year. The Company’s 
pension and other postretirement benefit plans are measured as of December 3 1,201 0 and 2009. 

The following provides an overview of the Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension 
plans. 

A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its noncontributory defined benefit pension 
plans at December 3 1,20 1 0 and 2009, follows: 

Benefit obligation - beginning of period 
Service cost - benefits earned during the period 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 
Participant contributions (lump sum repayment) 
P1 an settlements 
Benefits paid 
Actuarial loss 
Benefit obligation - end of period 

2010 2009 

$ 25,49.3 24,253 
1,289 1,24 1 
1,368 1,466 

40 
262 

1,460 2,176 

$ 28,804 25,493 

___ 
___ 

(806) (3,94 5) 

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $21,977 and $1 8,630 at 
December 3 1, 201 0 and 2009, respectively. 
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A reconciliation of the Company’s pension plan assets at December 3 1,20 10 and 2009, follows: 

2010 2009 

Fair value of plan assets -beginning of period $ 22,270 20,295 
Actual return on plan assets 2,707 4,820 
Employer contributions 1,096 1,060 

40 

Fair value of plan assets - end of period $ 25,267 22,270 

Participant contributions (lump sum repayment) 
Benefits paid (806) (3,945 1 

- 

The funded status of the Company’s pension plans at December 3 1,2010 and 2009, follows: 

Benefit obligation - end of period 
Fair value of plan assets - end of period 

Funded status 

2010 2009 

$ (28,804) (25,493) 
25,267 22,270 

$ (3,537) (3,223) 

Components of net periodic pension costs for the years ended December 3 1, 20 10, 2009, and 2008, 
were as follows: 

Service cost 
Interest cost 
Expected return on plan assets 
Amortization of prior service cost 
Amortization of actuarial loss 
Settlement loss 

Net periodic benefit 
cost 

2010 2009 

$ 1,289 
1,368 

(1,533) 
19 

584 

1,241 
1,466 

(1,332) 
19 

834 
1.690 

2008 

1,072 
1,220 

(1 3 5  16) 
19 

247 

$ 1,727 3,918 1,042 

A reconciliation of the pension plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at 
December 3 1 , 201 0 and 2009, follows: 

2010 2009 

Prior service cost $ (40) (59) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income $ (9,394) (9,710) 
Unamortized actuarial (loss) (9,354) (9,65 1) 
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In 201 1, $19 of prior service cost and $560 of actuarial loss is expected to be amortized to periodic 
benefit cost. 

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income at December 3 1,  201 0 and 2009, 
follows: 

Prior service cost 
IJnamortized actuarial (loss) 

Other comprehensive income 

2010 2009 

$ 19 19 
297 3,575 

$ 3 16 3,594 

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, amounts recognized in the statement of financial position were as 
follows: 

2010 2009 

Deferred credits and other $ (3,537) (3,223) 

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation and determine the net periodic benefit 
cost were as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Discount rate - projected benefit 

Discount rate - net periodic benefit 

Rates of increase in compensation 

Expected long-term rate of return on 

obligation 4.95% 5.59% 6.38% 

cost 5.59 6.38 6.25 

levels 4.00 4.00 4.00 

assets 7.25 7.25 7.25 

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension cost for 
each fiscal year is chosen by the Company from a best estimate range determined by applying 
anticipated long-term returns and long-term volatility for various asset categories to the target asset 
allocation of the plans, as well as taking into account historical returns. 

IJsing the asset allocation policy adopted by the Company noted in the paragraph below, we 
detennined the expected rate of return at a 50% probability of achievement Level based on 
(a) forward-looking rate of return expectations for passively managed asset categories over a 20-year 
time horizon and (b) historical rates of return for passively managed asset categories. Applying an 
approximately 80%/20% weighting to the rates determined in (a) and (b), respectively, produced an 
expected rate of return of 7.28%, which was rounded to 7.25%. 
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Big Rivers utilizes a third party investment manager for the plan assets, and has communicated 
thereto the Company’s Retirement Plan Investment Policy, including a target asset allocation mix of 
50% U S .  Equities (an acceptable range of 45-55%), 15% International Equities (an acceptable range 
of 10-20%), and 35% fixed income (an acceptable range of 30-40%). As of December 3 1, 201 0 and 
2009, the investment allocation was 58% and 55%, respectively, in LJ.S. Equities, 9% and 1 I%, 
respectively, in  International Equities, and 33% and 34%, respectively, in fixed income. The 
ob,jective of the investment program seeks to (a) maximize return on investment, (b) minimize 
volatility, (c) minimize company contributions, and (d) provide the employee benefit in accordance 
with the plans. The portfolio is well diversified and of high quality. The average quality of the fixed 
income investments must be “A” or better. The Equity portfolio must also be of investment grade 
quality. The performance of the investment manager is reviewed semi-annually. 

At December 3 1, 201 0 and 2009, the fair value of Big Rivers’ defined benefit pension plan assets by 
asset category, as required by FASB ASC 320 (see Note I),  are as follows: 

Cash and money market 

Equity securities: 
U.S. large-cap stocks 
U.S. mid-cap stock mutual funds 
U.S. small-cap stock mutual funds 
International stock mutual funds 
Preferred stock 

TIPS Bond Fund 
LJ.S. Government Agency Bonds 
Taxable U.S. Municipal Bonds 
U S .  Corporate Bonds 

Fixed: 

Level 1 

$ 1,517 

9,73 I 
2,926 
1,448 
2,194 

490 

$ 18,467 

December 31, 

- 1,517 

Levei 2 2010 

- 9,73 1 
___ 2,926 
- 1,448 
__ 2,194 

490 - 

161 
1,843 1,843 
2,635 2,635 
2,322 2,322 

6,800 25,267 

__ 
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Cash and money market 

Equity securities: 
U.S. large-cap stocks 
L1.S. mid-cap stock mutual funds 
U.S. small-cap stock mutual funds 
International stock mutual funds 
Preferred stock 

1J.S. Government Agency Bonds 
Taxable U.S. Municipal Bonds 
L J S .  Corporate Bonds 

Fixed: 

Level 1 

$ 815 

8,580 
2,064 
1,282 
2,328 

404 

- 

9; 15,473 

December 31, 

815 

Level 2 2009 
- 

- 8,580 
- 2,064 
- 1,282 
- 2,328 

404 - 

2,139 2,139 

2,376 2,376 

6,797 22,270 

2,282 2,282 

Expected retiree pension benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 201 0 
are as follows: 

Amount 

Years ending December 3 1 : 
201 1 $ 1,788 
2012 2,115 
201 3 3,939 
2014 1,787 
201s 3,139 
2016 - 2020 12,017 

Total $ 24,785 

I n  201 I ,  the Company expects to contribute $949 to its pension plan trusts. 

(6) Dcjiiied Contribution Plans 

Big Rivers has two defined contribution retirement plans covering substantially all employees who 
meet minimum age and service requirements. Each plan has a thrift and 401(k) savings section 
allowing employees to contribute up to 75% of pay on a pre-tax and/or after-tax basis, with employer 
matching contributions equal to 60% ofthe first 6% contributed by the employee on a pre-tax basis. 

A base contribution retirement section was added and the plan name changed from thrift and 401(k) 
savings to retirement savings, effective January 1 , 2008, for the salaried plan and November 1, 2008, 
for the bargaining plan. The base contribution account is funded by employer contributions based on 
graduated percentages of pay, depending on the employee’s age. 
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The Company’s expense under these plans was $4,389 and $355 for the years ended December 31 , 
201 0 and 2009, respectively. 

(c) Deferred Compensation PImi 

Effective May 1, 2008, Big Rivers established a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for its 
eligible employees who are members of a select group of management or higlily compensated 
employees. The purpose of the plan is to allow participants to receive contributions or make deferrals 
that they could not receive or make under the salaried employees qualified defined contribution 
retirement savings plan (formerly the thrift and 401 (k) savings plan) as a result of noiidiscrimination 
rules and other limitations applicable to the qualified plan under the Internal Revenue Code. The 
nonqualified plan also allows a participant to defer a percentage of his or her pay on a pre-lax basis. 

The nonqualified deferred compensation plan is unfunded, but the Company has chosen to finance its 
obligations under the plan, including any employee deferrals, through a rabbi trust. The trust assets 
remain a part of the Company’s general assets, subject to the claims of its creditors. The 2010 
employer contribution was $61 and deferred compensation expense was $1 08. As of December 3 1, 
2010, the trust asset was $20.5 and the deferred liability was $165. 

(10) Restricted Investments 

The amortized costs and fair values of Big Rivers restricted investments held for member rate mitigation at 
December 3 1.20 I O  and 2009 are as follows: 

2010 2009 

costs values costs values 
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair 

Cash and money market $ 12,812 12,812 2.5,186 25,186 
Debt securities: 

U.S. Treasuries 60,94 1 62,582 67,895 67,474 
U.S. Government Agency 143,809 1 43,922 150,144 150,181 

Total $ 2 17,562 219,3 16 243,225 242,84 I 
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Gross unrealized gains and losses on restricted investments at December 31, 2010 and 2009 were as 
follows: 

2010 2009 
Gains Losses Gains Losses 

__ - __ - Cash and money market $ 
Debt securities: 

t.J.S. Treasuries 1,641 - 12 434 
U.S. Government Agency 33 1 217 79 41 

Total $ 1,972 217 91 475 

Debt securities at December 31, 2010 and 2009 mature, according to their contractual terms, as follows 
(actual maturities may differ due to call or prepayment rights): 

201 0 2009 

costs values costs values 
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair 

In one year or less $ 71,1 I 1  71,193 46, I02 46,112 
After one year through five years 146,45 1 148,123 197,123 196,729 

Total $ 217,562 21 9,3 16 243,225 242,84 1 

Gross unrealized losses on investments and the fair values of the related securities, aggregated by 
investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss 
position at December 3 1,201 0 and 2009, were: 

2010 2009 
Less than 12 months Less than 12 months 

Fair Fair 
Losses values Losses values 

Debt securities: 
U.S. Treasuries $ __ - 434 59,872 
1.I.S. Government Agency 217 15,783 41 45,026 

Total $ 217 15,783 475 104,898 

The unrealized loss positions were primarily caused by interest rate fluctuations. The number of 
investments in an unrealized loss position as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 was one and eight, 
respectively. Since the company does not intend to sell and will more likely than not maintain each debt 
security until its anticipated recovery, and no significant credit risk is deemed to exist, these investmeiits 
are not considered other-than-temporarily impaired. 
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Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments 

FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements arid Disclosures, defines fair value, establishes a framework 
for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measures. It applies under other 
accounting standards that require or permit fair value measurements and does not require any new fair 
value measurements. 

The carrying value of accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short 
maturity. At December 3 1, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents included short-term investments in an 
institutional money market government portfolio account classified as trading securities under ASC 320 
that were recorded at fair value whicli were determined using quoted market prices for identical assets 
without regard to valuation adjustment or block discount (a Level 1 measure), as follows: 

2010 2009 

Institutional money market goveriiinetit portfolio $ 44,174 59,887 

It was not practical to estimate the fair value of patronage capital included within othei deposits and 
investments due to these being untraded companies. 

Big Rivers’ long-term debt at December 3 1, 201 0 consists of RIJS notes totaling $674,896, variable rate 
pollution control bonds in the amount of $58,800, and fixed rate pollutioii control bonds in  the amount of 
$83,300 (see Note 5). The RUS debt cannot be traded in the market and, therefore, a value other than its 
outstanding principal amount cannot be determined. The fair value of the Company’s variable rate 
pollution control debt is par value, as each variable rate reset effectively prices such debt to the current 
market. At December 31, 2010, the fair value of Big Rivers’ fixed rate pollution control debt was 
determined based on quoted prices in  active markets of identical liabilities (Level I measure) and totaled 
$82,099. 

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions 

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. 
Generally, except for generation bargaining retirees, Big Rivers pays 85% of the premium cost for all 
retirees age 62 to 65. The Company pays 25% of the premium cost for spouses under age 62. For salaried 
retirees age 55 to age 62, Big Rivers pays 2.5% of the premium cost. Beginning at age 65, the Company 
pays 25% of the premium cost if the retiree is enrolled in Medicare Part B. For each generation bargaining 
retiree, Big Rivers establishes a retiree medical account at retirement equal to $1,200 per year of service up 
to 30 years ($1,250 per year for those retiring on or after January 1, 201 2). The account balance is credited 
with interest based on the IO-year treasury rate subject to a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 7%. The 
account is to be used for the sole purpose of paying the premium cost for the retiree and spouse. 

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 
(the Medicare Act) was enacted. The Medicare Act created Medicare Part D, a new prescription drug 
benefit that is available to all Medicare-eligible individuals, effective January I ,  2006. National Rural 
Electric Cooperative Association (NRECA), the provider of Big Rivers’ health plan coverage through the 
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NRECA Group Benefits Trust, chose to become a Medicare Part D provider. Effective January 1, 2006, 
Part D coverage is the only drug coverage available to Big Rivers’ Medicare-eligible retirees. 

The discount rates used in computing the postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost 
were as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Discount rate - projected benefit obligation 4.96% 5.78% 6.32% 
Discount rate - net periodic benefit cost 5.78 6.32 5.85 

The health care cost trend rate assumptions as of December 3 1, 201 0 and 2009, were as follows: 

Initial trend rate 
Ultimate trend rate 
Year ultimate trend is reached 

2010 2009 

7.60% 7.70% 
4.50 4.50 

2028 2028 

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects: 

2010 2009 

One-percentage-point decrease: 
Effect on total service and interest cost components $ (20 1) (138) 
Effect on year end benefit obligation (1 , I3  1) (989) 

One-percentage-point increase: 
Effect on total service and interest cost components 236 162 
Effect on year end benefit obligation 1,306 1,134 

A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its postretirement plan at December 3 1 ,  201 0 and 
2009, follows: 

2010 2009 

Benefit obligation - beginning of period 
Service cost - benefits earned during the period 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 
Transaction benefit obligation assumed in the unwind 
Participant contributions 
Plan amendments 
Benefits paid 
Actuarial loss 

$ 13,864 
1,313 

743 

85 
- 

- 

(3 13) 
172 

2,948 
878 
464 

8,768 
48 

175 
(203) 
786 

Benefit obligation - end of period $ 15,864 13,864 
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A reconciliation of the Company’s postretirement plan assets at December 3 1,2010 and 2009, follows: 

Fair value of plan assets - beginning of period 
Employer contributions 
Participant contributions 
Benefits paid 
Fair value of plan assets - end of period 

201 0 2009 
- __ $ 
22s 1.5.5 

85 48 
(313) (203) 
- $ - 

The funded status of the Company’s postretirement plan at December 3 I ,  201 0 and 2009, follows: 

2010 2009 

Benefit obligation - end of period 
Fair value of plan assets - end of period 

9; (1 5,864) (1 3,864) 

Funded status $ (1 5,864) (1 3,864) 

The coinponeiits of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 3 1,2010, 2009, 
and 2008, were as follows: 

2010 2009 2008 

Service cost $ 1,313 878 129 
Interest cost 743 464 167 
Amortization of prior service cost 17 17 2 

(17) (60) Amortization of actuarial (gain) ___ 

Ainortizatioii of transition obligation 31 31 31 
Net periodic benefit cost $ 2,104 1,373 269 

A reconciliation of the postretirement plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at 
December 3 1, 201 0 and 2009, follows: 

2010 2009 

Prior service cost 
Unamortized actuarial gain 
Transit ion obligation 

Accumulated other compreliensive income $ 26 150 

I n  201 I ,  $18 of prior service cost, $0 of actuarial gain, and $31 of the transition obligation is expected to 
be amortized to periodic benefit cost. 
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The recognized acljustments to other comprehensive income at December 3 1, 20 10 and 2009, follows: 

Prior service cost 
Unamortized actuarial gain 
Transition obligation 

Other comprehensive loss 

2010 2009 

$ I 8  (157) 
(172) (803) 

30 30 

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, amounts recognized in the statement of financial position were as 
follows : 

Accounts payable 
Deferred credits and other 

Net amount recognized 

2010 2009 

$ (600) (424) 
(1 5,264) (13,440) 

$ (15,864) (1 3,864) 

Expected retiree benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 201 0 are as follows: 

Amount 
Year: 

201 1 
2012 
2013 
2014 
201 5 
2016 - 2020 

$ 600 
813 
995 

1,20 1 
1,355 
8.685 

Total $ 13.649 

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in  1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement benefit 
plan which vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. 
To the extent an employee’s sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours such excess hours are paid at 20% 
of the employee’s base hourly rate at the time of retirement or death. The accumulated obligation recorded 
for the postretirement sick leave benefit is $391 and $375 at December 3 1, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
The postretirement expense recorded was $21, $45, and $62 for 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively, and 
the benefits paid were $5, $78, and $0 for 2010,2009, and 2008, respectively. 
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($3) Related Parties 

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, Big Rivers had tariff sales to its members of 
$1 5 1,00 1, $125,826, and $1 14,s 14, respectively. 111 addition, for the years ended December 3 I ,  20 10, 
2009, and 2008, Big Rivers had certain sales to Kenergy for the Aluminum Smelters and Domtar Paper 
(formerly Weyerhaeuser) loads of $281,473, $1 67,885, and $55,124, respectively. 

At December 3 1, 2010 and 2009, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of $36,636 and 
$3 5,524, respectively I 

Revenue and offsetting expense amounts related to Big Rivers’ energy services department reservation of 
the Company’s trarisinission (in accordance with its Open Access Transmission Tariff) for third party sales 
in 20 10 and 2009, were $1 2,129, and $1 0,099, respectively. 

(14) Commitments and Contingencies 

Big Rivers is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business. While the results of such 
litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, management, based upon advice of counsel, believes that the 
final outcome will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements. 
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KPMG LLP 
1601 Market Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2499 

~ n d e ~ e ~ ~ e n t  Auditors' Report 

The Board of Directors and Members 
Big Rivers Electric Corporation: 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (the Company) as of 
December 31, 201 1 and 2010, and the related statements of operations, equities, and cash flows for the 
years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. The accompanying 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 3 1 ,  2009 were audited by other auditors 
whose report thereon dated March 26, 2010, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the tlnited States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing S'taiidards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan aiid perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used aiid 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31, 201 1 and 2010, and the results of 
its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

In accordance with Coverninent Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 26, 2012, 
on our consideration of Big Rivers Electric Corporation's inteiiial control over financial reporting and our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Governinent Auditing Standards and should be read in conjunction with this 
report in considering the results of our audits. 

March 26, 2012 

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership. 
the U.S member fin of KPMG International Cooperative 
('KPMG International"), a Swiss enlily 



Balance Sheets 

December 3 1,20 1 1 and 20 10 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Assets 

Utility plant - net 
Restricted investments - member rate mitigation 
Other deposits and investments - at cost 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Fuel inventory 
Nonfuel inventory 
Prepaid expenses 

Total current assets 

Deferred charges and other 
Total 

Equities and Liabilities 

Capitalization: 
Equities 
Long-term debt 

Total capitalization 

Current liabilities: 
Current maturities of long-term obligations 
Notes payable 
Purchased power payable 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Accrued interest 

Total current liabilities 

Regulatory liabilities - member rate mitigation 
Other 

Deferred credits and other: 

Total deferred credits and other 

Commitments and contingencies (see note 14) 

Total 

201 2010 

$ 1,092,063 $ 1,091,566 
163,162 2 17,562 

5,911 5,473 

44,849 44,780 
44,287 45,905 
33,894 37,328 
25,295 23,218 

4,217 2,502 

152,542 153,733 

4,244 3,8S 1 
$ 1,417,922 $ 1,472,185 

$ 389,820 $ 386,575 
7 14,254 809,623 

1,104,074 1,196,198 

72,145 7,373 
__ 10,000 

1,878 1,516 
28,446 29,782 
10,380 10,627 
9,899 11,134 

122,748 70,432 

169,OO 1 185,893 
22,099 19,662 

191,100 205,555 

$ 1,417,922 $ 1,472,185 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Statements of Operations 

Years ended December 3 1 , 20 1 1 , 20 10, and 2009 

(Dollars in thousands) 

2011 2010 2008 

Operating revenue 
Lease revenue 

Total operating revenue 

Operating expenses: 
Operations: 

Fuel for electric generation 
Power purchased and interchanged 
Production, excluding fuel 
Transmission and other 

Maintenance 
Depreciation and amortization 

Total operating expenses 

Electric operating margin 

Interest expense and other: 
Interest 
Amortization of loss from termination of 

long-term lease 
Income tax expense 
Other - net 

Total interest expense and other 

Operating margin 

Gain on unwind transaction (see note 2) 
Interest income and other 

Nonoperating margin: 

Total nonoperating margin 

Net margin 

$ 561,989 $ 527,324 $ 341,333 
- 

I_ 32,027 

56 1,989 527,324 373,360 

226,229 207,749 80,655 
1 12,262 99,42 1 1 16,883 
50,4 10 52,507 22,38 1 

47,7 18 46,880 29,820 
35,407 34,242 32,485 

511,111 476,072 3 17,668 

50,878 5 1,252 55,692 

39,085 35,273 35,444 

45,226 46,570 59,898 

__ 2,172 
100 259 1,025 
220 166 112 

45,546 46,995 63,207 

- 

5,332 4,257 (7,515) 

___ - 537,978 
268 2,734 867 

268 2,734 538,845 

$ 5,600 $ 6,991 $ 53 1,330 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Balance - December 3 1,2008 
Comprehensive income. 

Net margin 
Defined benefit plans 

Total comprehensive income 

Balance - December 31,2009 

Comprehensive income: 
Net margin 
Defined benefit plans 

Total comprehensive income 

Balance - December 31,2010 

Comprehensive income: 
Net margin 
Defined benefit plans 

Total comprehensive income 

Balance - December 3 1,201 1 

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Statements of Equities (Deficit) 

Years ended December 31,201 1,2010, and 2009 

(Dollars in thousands) 

- Otlier equities 

Consumers’ Accnmulated 
Total Accumulated Donated contributions other 

equi tics margin capital and to debt comprelicnsive 
(deficit) (deficit) mem bcrsliips service income-- 

9; (154,602) $ (146,823) $ 764 $ 3,681 9; (12,224) 

__ - 531,330 531,330 __ 
- 2,664 

__ 2,664 

3 7 9 , 3 2 L  __. 384,507-- 764 __ 3,681 (9,560) 

- - - 2,664 -- 
__ --- ~- - 533,994 531,330 

- - 6,991 6,991 __ 

7,183 

192 

192 

-- 386,575 391,498 764 ~- 3,681 (9,368) 

__ - - 192 ~- 
- ___ 6,991 ~ - - -  

5,600 5,600 
(2,355) ___ (2,355) 

(2,355) 3,245 5,600 __ - 

9; 389,820 $ 397,098 $ 764 $ 3,681 9; (11,723) 
- -  -- 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 31,201 1,2010, and 2009 

(Dollars in thousands) 

2011 2010 2009 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net margin 
Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash provided 

by operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of deferred loss (gain) on sale-leaseback - net 
Deferred lease revenue 
Residual value payments obligation gain 
Interest compounded - RIJS Series A Note 
Interest compounded - RUS Series B Note 
Noncash gain on unwind transaction 
Cash received for member rate mitigation 
Noncash member rate mitigation revenue 
Changes in certain assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable 
Inventories 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred charges 
Purchased power payable 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Other - net 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Capital expenditures 
Proceeds from restricted investments 
Purchases of restricted investments and other deposits and 

investments 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Principal payments on long-term obligations 
Proceeds from long-term obligations 
Principal payments on short-term notes payable 
Proceeds from short-term notes payable 
Debt issuance cost on bond refunding 

Net cash used in financing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 

Supplemental cash flow information: 
Cash paid for interest 
Cash paid for income taxes 

$ 5,600 $ 6,991 $ 531,330 

37,808 37,650 37,084 
- - 2,172 
- - (3,768) 

- (3,881) 
8,398 - 
6,884 6,499 6,136 

- (269,441) 
- 217,856 

(18,947) (23,953) (12,033) 

- 
- 

1,618 
1,357 

(1,715) 
121 
362 

(1,336) 
(448 1 )  

(70) 
38,599 

(38,746) 
56,095 

1,588 
(2,304) 

73 1 
1,251 

(1,846) 
(875) 

2,800 
555 

29,087 

(42,683) 
28,143 

(26,049) 
(3,497) 
(2,783) 
(1,538) 
(5,973) 
24,825 
7,881 
6,852 

505,173 

(58,388) 
8,982 

___ (252,798) 

17,349 (14,540) (302,204) 

(45,879) (1 2 1,355) , (168,956) 

( 1  0,000) - (12,380) 
__ 83,300 - 

- 10,000 - 
__ (2,002) (246) 

(55,879) (30,057) (181,582) 

69 ( 1 5,s 1 0) 21,387 

44,780 60,290 38,903 
$ 44,849 $ 44,780 $ 60,290 

$ 31,441 $ 37,268 $ 5 1,078 
130 260 626 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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BIG 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 3 1,201 1 and 2010 

(Dollars in thousands) 

rganization and Summary of Significant ~ccounting Policies 

General 111 fornzation 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers or the Company), an electric generation and 
transmission cooperative, supplies wholesale power to its three member distribution cooperatives 
(Kenergy Corp., Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, and Meade County Rural Electric 
Cooperative Corporation) under all requirements contracts, excluding the power needs of two large 
aluminum smelters (the Aluminum Smelters). Additionally, Big Rivers sells power under separate 
contracts to Kenergy Corp. for the Aluminum Smelters load and markets power to nonmember 
utilities and power marketers. The members provide electric power and energy to industrial, 
residential, and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties. The 
wholesale power contracts with the members remain in effect until December 31, 2043. Rates to Big 
Rivers’ members are established by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) and are 
subject to approval by the Rural Utilities Service (RIJS). The financial statements of Big Rivers 
include the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 980, Certain Types of Regulation, which was adopted by the Company in 2003, 
and gives recognition to the ratemaking and accounting practices of the KPSC and RUS. 

Management evaluated subsequent events up to and including March 26, 20 12, the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

Principles of Consolidation 

The financial statements of Big Rivers include the accounts of Big Rivers and its wholly owned 
subsidiary, Big Rivers Leasing Corporation (BRLC). All significant intercompany transactions have 
been eliminated. BRLC was dissolved July 7, 2009. 

Estinzates 

The preparation of the financial statements in  conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of 
contingent assets arid liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial 
statements are based upon management’s evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the 
date of the financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

System of Accoufzts 

Big Rivers’ maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Unifonn System of Accounts as 
prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. These regulatory agencies retain 
authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters. Adjustments 
to RUS accounting have been made to make the financial Statements consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the IJnited States of America. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

December 3 1,201 1 and 2010 

(Dollars in thousands) 

(e) Revenue Recogitition 

Revenues generated from the Company’s wholesale power contracts are based on month-end meter 
readings and are recognized as earned. Prior to its termination, in accordance with FASB ASC 840, 
Leases, Big Rivers’ revenue froin the Lease Agreement was recognized on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. The major components of this lease revenue include the annual lease payments 
and the Monthly Margin Payments (described in note 2). 

If) Utility Plant arid Depreciation 

Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of contracted services, materials, 
labor, overhead, and an allowance for borrowed funds used during construction. Replacements of 
depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged to utility plant. 

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated 
total cost of $250 or more before consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized is 
determined by applying the effective rate of Big Rivers’ weighted average debt to the accumulated 
expenditures for qualifying projects included in construction in progress. 

Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated 
remaining service lives, as approved by the RIJS and KPSC. During 2010, the Company 
coininissioned a depreciation study to evaluate the remaining economic lives of its assets. In 201 1 , 
the study was completed and approved by the RLJS and KPSC. The annual composite depreciation 
rates used to compute depreciation expense were as follows: 

Electric plant 
Transmission plant 
General plant 

Jan-Nov 201 1 ec 2811 

1.60 - 2.47% 
1.76 - 3.24 
1.1 1 - 5.62 

0.50 - 20.22% 
1.42 - 2.23 
2.84 - 17.12 

For 20 1 1, 201 0, and 2009, the average composite depreciation rates were 1.9 1 %, 1.86%, and 1.85%, 
respectively. At the time plant is disposed of, the original cost plus cost of removal less salvage value 
of such plant is charged to accumulated depreciation, as required by the RUS. 

Inipairment Review of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets are reviewed as facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be 
impaired. FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, requires the evaluation of impairment 
by comparing an asset’s carrying value to the estimated future cash flows the asset is expected to 
generate over its remaining life. If this evaluation were to conclude that the future cash flows were 
not sufficient to recover the carrying value of the asset, an impairment charge would be recorded 
based on the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its fair value (less costs to sell for 
assets to be disposed of by sale) as a charge to net margin. 

(g) 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

December 3 1,20 1 1 and 20 10 

(Dollars in thousands) 

(It) Inventory 

Inventories are carried at average cost and include coal, petroleum coke, lime, limestone, oil and gas 
used for electric generation, and materials and supplies used for utility operations. Emission 
allowances are carried in inventory at a weighted average cost by each vintage year. Issuances of 
allowances are accounted for on a vintage basis using a monthly weighted average cost. 

(0 Restricted Investments 

Investments are restricted under KPSC order to establish certain reserve funds for inember rate 
mitigation in conjunction with the Unwind Transaction. These investments have been classified as 
held-to-maturity and are .carried at amortized cost (see note 9). 

0) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

(IC) Income Taxes 

Big Rivers was formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization as described in Internal Revenue 
Code Section SOl(c)(12). To retain tax-exempt status under this section, at least 85% of the Big 
Rivers’ receipts must be generated from transactions with the Company’s members. 111 1983, sales to 
lionmembers resulted in Big Rivers failing to meet the 85% requirement. Until Big Rivers can ineet 
the 85% ineinber income requirement, the Company will not be eligible for tax-exempt status and 
will be treated as a taxable cooperative. 

As a taxable cooperative, Big Rivers is entitled to exclude the amount of patronage allocations to 
inembers from taxable income. Income and expenses related to lion-patronage sourced operations are 
taxable to Big Rivers. Big Rivers files a federal income tax return and certain state income tax 
returns. 

‘IJnder the provisions of FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax 
assets and liabilities for temporary differences between amounts reported for financial reporting 
purposes and amounts reported for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based upon these temporary differences using enacted tax rates for the year in which 
these differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax expense or benefit is based on the 
change in assets and liabilities from period to period, subject to an ongoing assessment of realization. 
Tax benefits associated with income tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return are 
recorded only when the more-likely than-not recognition threshold is satisfied and measured at the 
largest amount of benefit that is greater than SO% likely of being realized upon settlement. 

8 (Continued) 



HG N 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 3 1,201 1 and 2010 

(Dollars in thousands) 

(0 Patronage Capital 

As provided in the bylaws, Big Rivers accounts for each year’s patronage-sourced income, both 
operating and nonoperating, on a patronage basis. Notwithstanding any other provision of the 
bylaws, the amount to be allocated as patronage capital for a given year shall not be less than the 
greater of regular taxable patronage-sourced income or alternative minimum taxable 
patronage-sourced income. 

(nz) Derivatives 

Management has reviewed the requirements of FASB ASC 8 15, Derivatives and Hedging, and has 
determined that certain contracts the Company is party to may meet the definition of a derivative 
under FASB ASC 815. The Company has elected the Normal Purchase and Normal Sale exception 
for these contracts and, therefore, the contracts are not required to be recognized at fair value in the 
financial statements. 

(n) Fair Value Measurements 

FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the exchange price 
that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal, or 
most advantageous, market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. FASB ASC 820 establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy 
that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the 
use of observable inputs when possible. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as 
follows: 

Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices 
for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets 
and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data; and 

Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are 
significant to the fair values of the assets or liabilities, including certain pricing models, 
discounted cash flow methodologies, and similar techniques that use significant unobservable 
inputs. 

.S 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

December 3 1,201 1 and 20 10 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Big Rivers, LG&E and KU, Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), and LG&E Energy 
Marketing (LEM), closed effective July 17, 2009, a transaction resulting in a mutually acceptable early 
termination of the 1998 LG&E Lease Agreement (referred herein as the Unwind Transaction or Unwind). 
LG&E and KU, WKEC, and LEM are collectively referred to in the notes as “LG&E and KU Entities.” 
This transaction was approved by the KPSC and the Rl-JS. The Unwind Transaction resulted in Big Rivers 
recognizing a net gain of $537,978. This transaction resulted in the acquisition of assets, the assumption of 
liabilities, the forgiveness of liabilities, and the establishment of a regulatory reserve prescribed by the 
KPSC in their approval of the transaction. Assets and liabilities in the unwind transaction were accounted 
for at fair value or recorded value, as appropriate. The gain froin the IJnwind Transaction is summarized as 
follows: 

BJnwind 
gain 

Assets received: 
Cash 
Coleman scrubber 
Inventoiy 
Construction in progress 
IJtility plant assets 
SO2 allowances 

Liabilities (assumed) forgiven: 
Economic reserve 
Rural economic reserve 
Post-retirement benefits liability 
Residual value payments obligation 
LEM Settlement Note 

Deferred lease income 
Deferred loss from termination of sale/leaseback 
Deferred loss from LEM Marketing Payment/Settlement Note 
IJnwind transaction costs 
Other 

Recognition of (expenses) income: 

Gain on unwind transaction 

506,675 
98,500 
55,000 
23,074 
19,679 

980 

(1 57,000) 
(60,856) 

145,25 1 
15,440 

(8,768) 

7,187 
(73,829) 
(14,520) 
(1 8,99 1) 

156 
$ 537,978 

The terms of the LG&E Lease Agreement as originally structured are outlined in the following text. 

On July 15, 1998 (Effective Date), a lease was consummated (Lease Agreement), whereby Big Rivers 
leased its generating facilities to Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of LG&E and IW. Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, WKEC operated the generating facilities 
and maintained title to all energy produced. Throughout the lease term, in order for Big Rivers to fulfill its 
obligation to supply power to its members, the Company purchased substantially all of its power 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

December31,2011 and2010 

(Dollars in thousands) 

requirements from LG&E Energy Marketing Corporation (LEM), a wholly owned subsidiary of LG&E 
and KU, pursuant to a power purchase agreement. 

Big Rivers continued to operate its transmission facilities and charged LEM tariff rates for delivery of the 
energy produced by WKEC and consumed by LEM’s customers. The significant terms of the Lease 
Agreement were as follows: 

a. 

b. 

C. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

g- 

WKEC was to lease arid operate Big Rivers’ generation facilities through 2023. 

Big Rivers retained ownership of the generation facilities both during and at the end of the lease 
term. 

WKEC paid Big Rivers an annual lease payment of $30,965 over the lease term, subject to certain 
adjustments. 

On the Effective Date, Big Rivers received $69,100 representing certain closing payments and the 
first two years of the annual lease payments. In accordance with FASB ASC 840, Leases, the 
Company amortized these payments to revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. 

Big Rivers continued to provide power for its members, excluding the member loads serving the 
Aluminum Smelters, through its power purchase agreements with LEM and the Southeastern Power 
Administration, based on a pre-determined maximum capacity. When economically feasible, the 
Company also obtained the power necessary to supply its member loads, excluding the Aluminum 
Smelters, in the open market. Kenergy Corp.’s retail service for the Aluminum Smelters was served 
by LEM and other third-party providers that included Big Rivers. To the extent the power purchased 
from LEM did not reach pre-determined minimums, the Company was required to pay certain 
penalties. Also, to the extent additional power was available to Big Rivers under the LEM contract, 
Big Rivers made sales to nonmembers. 

LEM reimbursed Big Rivers the margins expected from the Aluminum Smelters, defined as the net 
cash flows that Big Rivers anticipated receiving if the Company had continued to serve the 
Aluminum Smelters’ load, as filed in the Rate Hearing (the Monthly Margin Payments). 

WKEC was responsible for the operating costs of the generation facilities; however, Big Rivers was 
partially responsible for ordinary capital expenditures (Nonincremental Capital Costs) for the 
generation facilities over the term of the Lease Agreement, generally up to predetermined annual 
amounts. At the end of the lease term, Big Rivers was obligated to fund a “Residual Value Payment” 
to LG&E and KLJ for such capital additions during the lease (see note 1) .  Adjustments to the 
Residual Value Payment were made based upon actual capital expenditures. Additionally, WKEC 
made required capital improvements to the facilities to comply with new laws or changes to existing 
laws (Incremental Capital Costs) over the lease life (the Company was partially responsible for such 
costs-20% prior to termination of the lease) and the Company was required to submit another 
Residual Value Payment to LG&E and KIJ for the undepreciated value of WKEC’s 80% share of 
these costs, at the end of the lease. The Company had title to these assets during the lease and upon 
lease termination. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

December 3 1,201 1 and 2010 

(Dollars in thousands) 

11. 

i. 

j. 

Big Rivers entered into a note payable with LEM for $19,676 (tlie LEM Settlement Note) to be 
repaid over the term of the Lease Agreement, with an interest rate at 8% per annum, in consideration 
for LEM’s assumption of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be supplied to 
the Aluminum Smelters and the increased responsibility for financiiig capital improvements. The 
Company recorded this obligation as a component of deferred charges with the related payable 
recorded as long-term debt in the accompanying balance sheets. This deferred charge was amortized 
on a straight-line basis up to the Effective Date of the tlnwind Transaction. 

On the Effective Date, Big Rivers paid a nonrefundable marketing payment of $5,933 to LEM, 
which was recorded as a component of deferred charges. This amount was amortized on a 
straight-line basis up to the Effective Date of the Unwind Transaction. 

During the lease term, Big Rivers was entitled to certain “billing credits” against amounts the 
Company owed LEM under the power purchase agreement. Each month during tlie first 5.5 months 
of the lease term, Big Rivers received a credit of $89. For the year 201 1, Big Rivers was to receive a 
credit of $2,611 and for the years 2012 through 2023, the Company was to receive a credit of $4,111 
annually. 

In accordance with the power purchase agreement with LEM, the Company was allowed to purchase 
power in  the open market rather than from LEM, incurring penalties when tlie power purchased from LEM 
did not meet certain ininiinuin levels, and to sell excess power (power not needed to supply its 
jurisdictional load) in the open market (collectively referred to as Arbitrage). Pursuant to the New RTJS 
Promissory Note (currently the RUS Series A Note) and the RUS ARVP Note (currently the RUS Series B 
Note), the benefit, net of tax, as defined, derived from Arbitrage had to be divided as follows: one-third, 
acljusted for capital expenditures, was used to make principal payments on tlie New RtJS Promissory Note; 
one-third was used to make principal payments on the RUS ARVP Note; and the remaining value was 
retained by the Company. 
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(3) Utility Plant 

At December 3 1,201 1 arid 2010, utility plant is summarized as follows: 

2011 2010 

Classified plant in  service: 
Production plant 
Transmission plant 
General plant 
Other 

L,ess accumulated depreciation 

Construction in progress 
Utility plant - net 

$ 1,706,243 $ 1,689,024 
238,738 237,689 

33,744 18,937 
543 543 

1,979,268 1,946,193 

936,355 909,501 

1,042,9 13 1,036,692 

49,150 54,874 
$ 1,092,063 $ 1,091,566 

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 3 1, 201 1, 2010, aiid 2009, was $548, $684, aiid $133, 
respectively. 

The Company has not identified any material legal asset retirement obligations, as defined in FASB 
ASC 4 10, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations. In accordance with regulatory treatment, the 
Company records an estimated net cost of removal of its utility plant through normal depreciation. As of 
December 3 1, 201 1 and 20 10, the Company had approximately $41,449 and $38,000, respectively, related 
to nonlegal removal costs included in accumulated depreciation. 
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ebt and Other Long-Term Obligations 

A detail of long-term debt at December 3 1 , 20 1 1 and 201 0 is as follows: 

201 1 2010 

RIJS Series A Promissory Note, stated amount of $523,192, 
stated interest rate of 5.75%, with an imputed interest rate 
of 5.84% maturing July 2021 $ 521,250 $ 558,73 1 

RIJS Series B Promissory Note, stated amouiit of $245,530, 
no stated interest rate, with interest imputed at 5.80%, 
maturing December 2023 123,049 116,165 

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, fixed interest 
rate of 6.00%, maturing in July 203 1 83,300 83,300 

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest 
rate (average interest rate of 3.30% and 3.27% in 201 1 
and 20 10, respectively), maturing in June 20 13 58,800 58,800 

786,399 8 16,996 Total long-term debt 

Current maturities 72,145 7,373 

Total long-term debt - net of current maturities $ 714,254 $ 809,623 

The following are scheduled maturities of long-term debt at December 3 1 : 

Year: 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
Thereafter 

Total 

$ 72,145 
79,260 
21,661 
22,955 

23 1,882 
358,496 

$ 786,399 

(n) R US Notes 

On July 1.5, 1998, Big Rivers recorded the New RUS Promissory Note arid the RUS ARVP Note at 
fair value using the applicable market rate of 5.82%. On the Unwind Closing Date, the New RIJS 
Note and the ARVP Note were replaced with the R'CJS 2009 Promissory Note Series A and the RIJS 
2009 Promissory Note Series B, respectively. After an Unwind Closing Date payment of $140,18 1 , 
the RIJS 2009 Promissory Note Series A is recorded at an interest rate of 5.84%. The RUS 2009 
Series B Note is recorded at an imputed interest rate of 5.80%. The RtJS Notes are collateralized by 
substantially all assets of the Company and secured by the Indenture dated July 1, 2009 between the 
Company and U.S. Bank National Association. 
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(6) PolIiitioii Control Boizds 

In June 2010, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Refunding 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (Series 2010A Bonds), the proceeds of which are supported by a 
promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate. These bonds bear interest at a 
fixed rate of 6.00% and mature in July 203 1. 

The County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Variable Rate Demand Bonds, 
Series 1983 (Series 1983 Bonds), the proceeds of which are supported by a promissory note from 
Big Rivers, wllich bears the same interest rate as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a variable 
rate and mature in June 20 13. 

The Series 1983 Bonds are supported by a liquidity facility issued by Credit Suisse First Boston, 
which was assigned to Dexia Credit in 2006. In addition, the Series 1983 Bonds are supported by a 
municipal bond insurance and surety policy issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation. Big Rivers has 
agreed to reimburse Ambac Assurance Corporation for any payments under the municipal bond 
insurance policy or the surety policy. Both Series are secured by the Indenture dated July 1, 2009 
between the company and U.S. Bank National Association. 

The Series 1983 Bonds are subject to a maximum interest rate of 13.00%. The December 31, 201 1 
interest rate on the Series 1983 Pollution Control Bonds was 3.25%. 

(c) Notes Payable 

Notes payable represent the Company’s borrowing on its line of credit with the National Rural 
Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (CFC) and CoBank, ACB (CoBaiik). The maximum 
borrowing capacity on the lines of credit is $100,000 consisting of $50,000 each for CFC and 
CoBank. In March 2011, Big Rivers paid down the $10,000 of borrowings outstanding on the 
CoBank line of credit at December 31, 2010. The Company had no borrowings outstanding on the 
lines of credit at December 31, 2011. Letters of credit issued under an associated Letter of Credit 
Facility with CFC reduced the borrowing capacity on the CFC line of credit by $5,375 and $5,928 at 
December 31, 201 1 and 2010, respectively. Advances on the CFC line of credit bear interest at a 
variable rate and outstanding balances are payable in full by the maturity date of July 16, 2014. The 
CFC variable rate is equal to the CFC Line of Credit Rate, which is defined as “the rate published by 
CFC from time to time, by electronic or other means, for similarly classified lines of credit, but if not 
published, then the rate determined for such lines of credit by CFC from time to time.” Advances on 
the CoBank line of credit bear interest at a variable rate and outstanding balances are payable in fill 
by the maturity date of July 16, 2012. The CoBank variable rate is a fixed rate per annum (for 
interest periods of 1 ,2 ,  3, and 6 months) equal to LIBOR plus the Applicable Margin as determined 
by the Company’s credit rating. On February 25, 201 1, a $2,500 CFC line of credit, available to the 
Company to finance storm emergency repairs and expenses related to electric utility operations, 
matured. 
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(4 Coveriatits 

Big Rivers is in compliance with all debt covenants associated with both long-term and short-term 
debt. The Company’s Indenture and its line of credit with CFC require that a Margins for Interest 
Ratio (MFIR) of at least 1.10 be maintained for each fiscal year. The CoBank line of credit 
agreement requires that at the end of each fiscal year the Company have a Debt Service Coverage 
Ratio (DSCR) of not less than 1.20. Big Rivers’ lines of credit with CFC and CoBank require Equity 
to Asset ratios of 12% and 1 5%, respectively. Big Rivers’ 201 1 MFIR was 1.12, its DSCR was 1.47 
and the Asset to Equity Ratio was 27%. 

The rates charged to Big Rivers’ members consist of a demand charge per kilowatt (kW) and an energy 
charge per kilowatt hour (kWh) consumed as’ approved by the ICPSC. The rates include specific demand 
aiid energy charges for its members’ two classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural 
customers under its jurisdiction. For the large industrial customers, the demand charge is generally based 
on each customer’s maximum demand during the current month. Effective September 1, 201 1, the 
Company received approval from the KPSC to base the member rural demand charge on its Maximuin 
Adjusted Net Local Load (as defined in Big Rivers tariff). 

Prior to the Unwind Transaction the demand and energy charges were not subject to adjustments for 
increases or decreases in fuel or environmental costs. In con.junction with the Unwind Transaction, the 
KPSC approved the implementation of certain tariff riders; including a fuel adjustment clause and an 
environmental surcharge, offset by an unwind surcredit (a refund to tariff members of certain charges 
collected from the Aluminum Smelters in accordance with the contract terms). The net effect of these 
tariffs is recognized as revenue on a monthly basis with a partial offset to the regulatory liability - member 
rate mitigation described below. 

The net impact of the tariff riders to members rates is currently mitigated by a Member Rate Stability 
Mechanism (MRSM) that was funded by certain cash amounts received from the E.ON Entities in 
connection with the Unwind Transaction (the Economic and Rural Economic Reserves) aiid held by Big 
Rivers as restricted investments. An offsetting regulatory liability - member rate mitigation was 
established with the funding of these accounts. 

In its order approving the Unwind Transaction, the KPSC stipulated that Big Rivers file a rate case within 
three years of the Unwind Closing Date or by July 2012. On March 1, 201 1 ,  the Company filed an 
application with the ICPSC requesting, among other things, authority to adjust its rates for wholesale 
electric service. The KPSC entered an order on November 17, 201 1, granting Big Rivers an annual 
revenue increase of $26,745. One of the intervenors in the case has filed an appeal seeking, among other 
things, an approximate $6,200 reduction in the revenue relief granted in the order, and will presumably ask 
that any relief obtained be retroactive to the effective date of the rates approved in the order (September 1, 
201 1). Big Rivers has also sought rehearing on certain matters raised in the order that could increase Big 
Rivers’ annual revenue by $2,735. 

The wholesale rates established for the members nonsmelter large direct-served industrial customers 
(the Large Industrial Rate) provide the basis for pricing the energy consumed by the Aluminum Smelters. 
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The primary component of the pricing used for the Aluminum Smelters is an energy charge in dollars per 
megawatt hour (MWh) determined by applying the Large Industrial Rate to a load with a 98% load factor, 
and adding an additional charge of $0.25 per MWh. The other components reflected in the pricing of the 
Aluminum Smelters’ energy usage are certain charges and credits as provided for under the terms of the 
Aluminum Smelters’ wholesale electric service agreements between Big Rivers and Kenergy Corp. 
(Kenergy Corp. is the retail provider for the Aluminum Smelters load). 

At December 3 1, 201 1, Big Rivers had a Nonpatron Net Operating Loss Carryforward of approximately 
$32,434 expiring at various times between 201 I and 2031, and an Alternative Minimum Tax Credit 
Carryforward of approximately $7,138, which carries forward indefinitely. 

The Company has not recorded any regular income tax expense for the years ended December 3 1, 201 1, 
2010, and 2009, as the Company has utilized federal net operating losses to offset any regular taxable 
income during those years. Had the Company not had the benefit of a net operating loss carryforward, the 
Company would have recorded $3,613, $3,846, and $19,619 in current regular tax expense for the years 
ended December 3 1,20 1 1,20 10 and 2009, respectively. 

The components of the net deferred tax assets as of December 3 1, 201 1 and 2010 were as follows: 

201 B 2010 

Deferred tax assets: 
Net operating loss carryforward 
Alternative minimum tax credit carry forwards 
Member rate mitigation 
Fixed asset basis difference 
RUS Series B Note 

Total deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
RUS Series B Note 
Bond refunding costs 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

Net deferred tax asset (prevaluation allowance) 

Valuation allowance 
Net deferred tax asset 

$ 12,812 $ 16,730 
7,138 6,038 

10,326 10,326 
3,980 10,752 

19,689 14,767 

53,945 58,613 

- - 
(9) (8) 

(9) (8) 
53,936 58,605 

(53,936) (58,605) 
- $ - $ 
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A reconciliation of the Company’s effective tax rate for 201 1,2010, and 2009 follows: 

Federal rate 
State rate - net of federal benefit 
Permanent differences 
Patronage allocation to members 
Tax benefit of operating loss 

carryforwards and other 
Alternative minimum tax 

Effective tax rate 

2011 

35.0% 
4.5 
0.9 

(40.8) 

0.4 
3.5 
3.5% 

2010 2009 

35.0% 35.0% 
4.5 4.5 
0.5 

(38.8) (35.4) 
___ 

3 .O% 0.2% 

The Company files a federal income tax return, as well as certain state income tax returns. The years 
currently open for federal tax examination are 2007 through 201 1 and 1996 through 1997, due to unused 
net operating loss carryforwards. The major state tax jurisdiction currently open for tax examiliation is 
Kentucky for years 2004 through 201 1 and years 2001 through 2003, also due to unused net operating loss 
carryforwards. The Company has not recorded any unrecognized tax benefits or liabilities related to federal 
or state income taxes. 

The Company classifies interest and penalties as an operating expense on the income statement and 
accrued expense in tlie balance sheet. No material interest or penalties have been recorded during 201 1, 
2010, or 2009. 

(7) Power Purchased 

Prior to the Unwind Transaction and in accordance with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers supplied all of 
the members’ requirements for power to serve their customers, other than the Aluminum Smelters. 
Contract limits were established in the Lease Agreement and included minimum and maximum hourly and 
annual power purchase amounts. Big Rivers could not reduce the contract limits by more than 12 MW in 
any year or by more than a total of 72 MW over the lease term. In the event Big Rivers failed to take the 
minimum requirement during any hour or year, Big Rivers was liable to LEM for a certain percentage of 
the difference between the amount of power actually taken arid the applicable minimum requirement. 

Although Big Rivers was required by the Lease Agreement to purchase minimum hourly and annual 
amounts of power from LEM, the lease did not prevent Big Rivers from paying the associated penalty in 
certain hours to purchase lower cost power, if available, in tlie open market or reselling a portion of its 
purchased power to a third party. The power purchases made under this agreement for the year ended 
December 3 1, 2009, was $5 1,592 and is included in power purchased and interchanged on the statement of 
operations. 
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(8) Pension Plans 

(a) Defined Benefit Plans 

Big Rivers has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees 
who meet minimum age and service requirements and who were employed by the Company prior to 
the plans closure dates cited below. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of 
service and the five highest consecutive years’ compensation during the last ten years of 
employment. Big Rivers’ policy is to fund such plans in accordance with the requirements of the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. 

The salaried employees defined benefit plan was closed to new entrants effective January 1 ,  2008, 
and the bargaining employees defined benefit plan was closed to new hires effective November 1, 
2008. The Company simultaneously established base contribution accounts in the defined 
contribution thrift and 40 1 (k) savings plans, which were renamed as the retirement savings plans. 
The base contribution account for an eligible employee, which is one who meets the minimum age 
and service requirements, but for whom membership in the defined benefit plan is closed, is funded 
by employer contributions based on graduated percentages of the employee’s pay, depending on his 
or her age. 

The Company has adopted FASB ASC 7 15, Compensation - Retireinent BeneJits, including the 
requirement to recognize the funded status of its pension plans and other postretirement plans (see 
note 1 1 - Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions). FASB ASC 7 15 defines the funded status of 
a defined benefit pension plan as the fair value of its assets less its projected benefit obligation, 
which includes projected salary increases, and defines the funded status of any other postretirement 
plan as the fair value of its assets less its accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. 

FASB ASC 7 15 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its 
year-end balance sheet and requires disclosure in the notes to the financial statements certain 
additional information related to net periodic benefit costs for the next fiscal year. The Company’s 
pension and other postretirement benefit plans are measured as of December 3 1,20 1 1 and 20 10. 
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The following provides an overview of the Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension 
plans. 

A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its noncontributory defined benefit pension 
plans at December 3 1,201 1 and 2010 follows: 

2011 2010 

Benefit obligation - beginning of period $ 28,804 $ 25,493 
Service cost - benefits earned during the period 1,279 1,289 
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,296 1,368 

Actuarial loss 845 1,460 
Benefit obligation - end of period $ 31,743 $ 28,804 

Benefits paid (48 1) (806) 

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $25,482 and $2 1,977 at 
December 3 1, 201 1 and 2010, respectively. 

A reconciliation of the Company’s pension plan assets at December 3 1,201 1 arid 2010 follows: 

2011 2010 

Fair value of plan assets -beginning of period $ 25,267 $ 22,270 
Actual return on plan assets 3 24 2,707 
Employer contributions 2,890 1,096 

Fair value of plan assets - end of period $ 28,000 $ 25,267 
Benefits paid (481) (806) 

The funded status of the Company’s pension plans at December 3 1 , 201 1 and 2010 follows: 

Benefit obligation - end of period 
Fair value of plan assets - end of period 

Funded status 

2011 2010 

$ (31,743) $ (28,804) 
28,000 25,267 

$ (3,743) $ (3,537) 
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Components of net periodic pension costs for the years ended December 3 1, 201 1 ,  2010, and 2009 
were as follows: 

Service cost 
Interest cost 
Expected return on plan assets 
Amortization of prior service cost 
Amortization of actuarial loss 
Settlement loss 

Net periodic benefit 
cost 

2011 2010 2009 

$ 1,279 $ 1,289 $ 1,24 1 
1,296 1,368 1,466 

14 19 19 
46 1 584 834 
__ ___ 1,690 

(1,737) (1,533) (1,332) 

$ 1,313 $ 1,727 $ 3,918 

A reconciliation of the pension plan amounts in accumulated other Comprehensive income at 
December 3 1 , 201 1 and 2010 follows: 

2011 2010 

Prior service cost 
Unamortized actuarial loss 

$ (26) $ (40) 
(11,151) (9,354) 

Accuinulated other comprehensive income $ (11,177) $ (9,394) 

In 2012, $14 of prior service cost and $696 of actuarial loss is expected to be amortized to periodic 
benefit cost. 

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income (loss) at December 3 1 , 201 1 and 2010 
follows: 

2011 2010 

Prior service cost $ 14 $ 19 
Unamortized actuarial gain (loss) (1,797) 297 

Other comprehensive income (loss) $ (1,783) $ 3 16 

At December 3 1,201 1 and 2010, amounts recognized in the balance sheets were as follows: 

2011 2010 

Deferred credits and other 
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Assumptions used to develop the prqjected benefit obligation and determine the net periodic benefit 
cost were as follows: 

201 1 2010 2009 

Discount rate - projected benefit 

Discount rate - net periodic benefit 

Rates of increase in compensation 

Expected long-term rate of return on 

obligation 4.26% 4.95% 5.59% 

cost 4.95 5.59 6.38 

levels 4.00 4.00 4.00 

assets 7.25 7.25 7.25 

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension cost for 
each fiscal year is chosen by the Company from a best estimate range determined by applying 
anticipated long-term returns and long-term volatility for various asset categories to the target asset 
allocation of the plans, as well as taking into account historical returns. 

Using the asset allocation policy adopted by the Company noted in the paragraph below, we 
determined the expected rate of return at a 50% probability of achievement Level based on 
(a) forward-looking rate of return expectations for passively managed asset categories over a 20-year 
time horizon and (b) historical rates of return for passively managed asset categories. Applying an 
approximately 80%/20% weighting to the rates determined in (a) and (b), respectively, produced an 
expected rate of return of 7.28%, which was rounded to 7.25%. 

Big Rivers utilizes a third party investment manager for the plan assets, and has communicated 
thereto the Company’s Retirement Plan Investment Policy, including a target asset allocation mix of 
50% 1J.S. Equities (an acceptable range of 45%-55%), 15% International Equities (an acceptable 
range of 10%-20%), and 35% fixed income (an acceptable range of 30%-40%). As of December 3 1, 
201 1 and 2010, the investment allocation was 56% and 58%, respectively, in U.S. Equities, 8% and 
9%, respectively, in International Equities, and 36% and 33%, respectively, in fixed income. The 
objective of the investment program seeks to (a) maximize return on investment, (b) minimize 
volatility, (c) minimize company contributions, and (d) provide the employee benefit in accordance 
with the plans. The portfolio is well diversified and of high quality. The average quality of the fixed 
income investments must be “A” or better. The equity portfolio must also be of investment grade 
quality. The performance of the investment manager is reviewed semi-annually. 
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At December 31, 201 1 and 2010, the fair value of Big Rivers’ defined benefit pension plan assets by 
asset category are as follows: 

Cash and money market 
Equity securities: 

U.S. large-cap stocks 
U.S. mid-cap stock mutual fuiids 
1J.S. small-cap stock mutual funds 
Iiiternatioiial stock mutual funds 
Preferred stock 

TIPS bond fund 
U.S. government agency bonds 
Taxable 1J.S. municipal bonds 
1J.S. corporate bonds 
Global bond fund 

Fixed: 

Cash and money market 
Equity securities: 

US.  large-cap stocks 
U S .  mid-cap stock mutual funds 
1J.S. small-cap stock mutual funds 
International stock mutual funds 
Preferred stock 

TIPS bond fund 
U S .  government agency bonds 
Taxable U S .  municipal bonds 
1J.S. corporate bonds 

Fixed: 

ecember 3 1, 
Level 1 Level 2 201 1 

$ 2,129 $ ___ $ 2,129 

10,178 - 10,178 
3,365 - 3,365 
1,666 - 1,666 
2,168 - 2,168 

493 - 493 

723 723 
- 1,085 1,085 
- 3,258 3,258 
I_ 2,630 2,630 
__ 305 305 

$ 20,722 $ 7,278 $ 28,000 

___ 

December 31, 
Level 1 Level 2 2010 

$ 1,517 $ __ $ 1,517 

9,73 1 - 9,73 I 
2,926 __ 2,926 
1,448 - 1,448 
2,194 ___ 2,194 

490 ___ 490 

161 161 
- 1,843 1,843 
- 2,635 2,635 
__ 2,322 2,322 

$ 18,467 $ 6,800 $ 25,267 

- 
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Expected retiree pension benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 20 1 1 
are as follows: 

~~~~~~ 

Years endiiig December 3 1 : 
2012 $ 2,330 
2013 4,386 
2014 1,799 
2015 3,196 
2016 3,265 
2017 - 2020 10.986 

Total $ 25,962 

111 2012, the Company expects to contribute $970 to its pension plan trusts. 

(6) IPeJned Corztsibution Plans 

Big Rivers has two defined contribution retirement plans covering substantially all employees who 
meet minimum age and service requirements. Each plan has a thrift and 401(k) savings section 
allowing employees to contribute up lo 75% of pay on a pre-tax and/or after-tax basis, with employer 
matching contributions equal to 60% of the first 6% contributed by the employee on a pre-tax basis. 

A base contribution retirement section was added and the plan name changed from thrift and 401(1) 
savings to retirement savings, effective January 1, 2008, for the salaried plan and November 1, 2008, 
for the bargaining plan. The base contribution account is funded by employer contributions based on 
graduated percentages of pay, depending on the employee’s age. 

The Company’s expense under these plans was $4,464 and $4,389 for the years ended December 3 1, 
20 1 1 and 20 IO,  respectively. 

(c) Deferred Compensation Plan 

Big Rivers sponsors a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for its eligible employees who are 
members of a select group of management or highly compensated employees. The purpose of the 
plan is to allow participants to receive contributions or make deferrals that they could not receive or 
make under the salaried employees qualified defined contribution retirement savings plan (formerly 
the thrift and 401(k) savings plan) as a result of nondiscrimination rules and other limitations 
applicable to the qualified plan under the Internal Revenue Code. The nonqualified plan also allows 
a participant to defer a percentage of his or her pay on a pre-tax basis. 

The nonqualified deferred compensation plan is unfunded, but the Company has chosen to finance its 
obligations under the plan, including any employee deferrals, through a rabbi trust. The trust assets 
remain a part of the Company’s general assets, subject to the claims of its creditors. The 2011 
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employer contribution was $58 and deferred compensation expense was $8 1. As of December 3 1, 
201 1, the trust asset was $283 and the deferred liability was $202. 

s tric ted Investments 

The amortized costs and fair values of Big Rivers restricted investments held for member rate mitigation at 
December 3 1,20 1 1 and 201 0 are as follows: 

201 1 2010 

Amortized Fair Amortized Pair 
costs values costs values 

Cash and money market $ 12,765 $ 12,764 $ 12,812 $ 12,812 
Debt securities: 

lJ.S. Treasuries 62,073 63,917 60,94 1 62,582 
‘CJ.S. government agency 88,324 88,485 143,809 143,922 

Total $ 163,162 $ 165,166 $ 217,562 $ 219,316 

Gross unrealized gains and losses on restricted investments at December 31, 201 1 and 2010 were as 
follows: 

201 1 2010 

Gains Losses Gains Losses 
- $ - $ - $  - Cash and money market $ 

Debt securities: 
1J.S. Treasuries 1,843 - 1,641 ___ 

1J.S. government agency 161 33 1 217 
Total $ 2,004 $ - $ 1,972 $ 217 

- 

Debt securities at December 31, 201 1 and 2010 mature, according to their contractual terms, as follows 
(actual maturities may differ due to call or prepayment rights): 

201 1 2010 

costs values costs values 
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair 

In one year or less $ 43,021 $ 43,092 $ 71,111 $ 71,193 
After one year through five years 120,14 1 122,074 146,45 1 148,123 

Total $ 163,162 $ 165,166 $ 217,562 $ 219,316 
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Gross unrealized losses on investments and the fair values of the related securities, aggregated by 
investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss 
position at December 3 1,201 1 and 2010 were as follows: 

201 1 2010 

ess than 12 months Less than 12 months 

Fair Fair 
Losses values OSS@S values 

Debt securities: 
- $ - $  - 

- 217 15,783 
Total $ - $ - $ 217 $ 15,783 

$ - 1J.S. Treasuries $ 
tJ.Sn government agency - 

The unrealized loss positions were primarily caused by interest rate fluctuations. The number of 
investments in  an unrealized loss position as of December 3 1, 201 1 and 2010 was zero and one, 
respectively. Since the Company does not intend to sell and will more likely than not maintain each debt 
security until its anticipated recovery, and no significant credit risk is deemed to exist, these investments 
are not considered other-than-temporarily impaired. 

(10) Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments 

FASB ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands 
disclosures about fair value measures. It applies under other accounting standards that require or permit 
fair value measurements and does not require any new fair value measurements. 

The carrying value of accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short 
maturity. At December 3 1, the Company's cash and cash equivalents included short-term investments in an 
institutional money market government portfolio account classified as trading securities under ASC 320, 
Investments - Debt and Equity Securities, that were recorded at fair value which were determined using 
quoted market prices for identical assets without regard to valuation adjustment or block discount (a 
Level 1 measure), as follows: 

201 1 2010 

Institutional money market government portfolio $ 44,844 $ 44,774 

It was not practical to estimate the fair value of patronage capital included within other deposits and 
investments due to these being untraded companies. 

Big Rivers' long-term debt at December 3 1, 20 1 1 consists of R'IJS notes totaling $644,299, variable rate 
pollution control bonds in the amount of $58,800, and fixed rate pollution control bonds in the amount of 
$83,300 (see note 4). The RUS debt cannot be traded in the market and, therefore, a value other than its 
outstanding principal amount cannot be determined. The fair value of the Company's variable rate 
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pollution control debt is par value, as each variable rate reset effectively prices such debt to the current 
market. At December 31, 2011, the fair value of Big Rivers' fixed rate pollution control debt was 
determined based on quoted prices in active markets of identical liabilities (Level 1 measure) and totaled 
$86,399. 

(1 1) ~ o s t r e t i r e ~ e n t  Benefits Other than Pensions 

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. 
Generally, except for generation bargaining retirees, Big Rivers pays 8.5% of the premium cost for all 
retirees age 62 to 65. The Company pays 25% of the premium cost for spouses under age 62. For salaried 
retirees age 55 to age 62, Big Rivers pays 25% of the premium cost. Beginning at age 65, the Company 
pays 25% of the premium cost if the retiree is enrolled in Medicare Part B. For each generation bargaining 
retiree, Big Rivers establishes a retiree medical account at retirement equal to $1,200 per year of service up 
to 30 years ($1,250 per year for those retiring on or after January 1, 2012). The account balance is credited 
with interest based on the 10-year treasury rate subject to a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 7%. The 
account is to be used for the sole purpose of paying the premium cost for the retiree and spouse. 

The discount rates used in computing the postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost 
were as follows: 

201 1 2010 2009 

Discount rate - projected benefit obligation 4.29% 4.96% 5.78% 
Discount rate - net periodic benefit cost 4.96 5.78 6.32 

The health care cost trend rate assumptions as of December 3 1,201 1 and 201 0 were as follows: 

Initial trend rate 
TJltimate trend rate 
Year ultimate trend is reached 

2011 2010 

7.40% 7.60% 
4.50 4.50 

2028 2028 

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects: 

2011 2010 

One-percentage-point decrease: 
Effect on total service and interest cost components $ (211) $ (20 1) 
Effect on year end benefit obligation (1,056) (1,131) 

One-percentage-point increase: 
Effect on total service and interest cost components 254 236 
Effect on year end benefit obligation 1,226 1,306 
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A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its postretirement plan at December 3 1, 201 I and 
2010 follows: 

2011 2010 

Benefit obligation - beginning of period $ 15,864 $ 13,864 
Service cost -benefits earned during the period 1,253 1,313 

Participant contributions 1 GO 85 
Benefits paid (61 1) (313) 
Actuarial loss 620 172 

Benefit obligation - end of period $ 18,040 $ 15,864 

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 754 743 

A reconciliation of the Company’s postretirement plan assets at December 3 1,201 1 and 201 0 follows: 

2011 2010 

$ - - Fair value of plan assets - beginning of period 

Benefits paid (61 1) (3 13) 
Fair value of plan assets - end of period 

$ 
Employer contributions 45 1 228 
Participant contributions 1 GO 85 

- $ - $ 

The funded status of the Company’s postretirement plan at December 3 1,201 1 and 2010 follows: 

2011 2010 

Benefit obligation - end of period 
Fair value of plan assets - end of period 

Funded status 

$ (18,040) $ (1 5,864) 

$ (18,040) $ (15,864) 

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 3 1, 20 1 1, 20 10, 
and 2009 were as follows: 

20111 2010 2009 

Service cost $ 1,253 $ 1,313 $ 878 
Interest cost 754 743 464 
Amortization of prior service cost 17 17 17 

Amortization of transition obligation 31 31 31 
Net periodic benefit cost $ 2,055 $ 2,104 $ 1,373 

(17) Amortization of actuarial (gain) - - 
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A reconciliation of the postretirement plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at 
December 31, 201 1 and 2010 follows: 

2011 2010 

Prior service cost $ (130) $ (147) 
Unamortized actuarial gain (loss) (38.5) 23s 
Transition obligation (31) (62) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $ (5461, $ 26 

In 2012, $18 of prior service cost, $0 of actuarial gain, and $31 of the transition obligation is expected to 
be amortized to periodic benefit cost. 

The recognized adjustments to other compreheiisive loss at December 31, 201 1 and 2010 follows: 

Prior service cost 
Unamortized actuarial loss 
Transition obligation 

Other comprehensive loss 

201 1 2010 

$ 17 $ 18 

31 30 
(620) ( 1 72) 

$ (572) $ ( 1  24) 

At December 3 1 , 201 1 and 201 0, amounts recognized in the balance sheets were as follows: 

Accounts payable 
Deferred credits and other 

Net amount recognized 

2011 2010 

(1 7,278) (15,264) 

$ (18,040) $ (1 5,864) 

$ (762) $ (600) 

Expected retiree benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 201 1 are as follows: 

Amount 
Year: 

2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 - 2021 

Total 

$ 76 1 
963 

1,148 
1,277 
1,383 
8,754 

$ 14,286 
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In addition lo the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement benefit 
plan, which vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. 
To the extent an employee’s sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours such excess hours are paid at 20% 
of the employee’s base hourly rate at the time of retirement or death. The accumulated obligation recorded 
for the postretirement sick leave benefit is $579 and $391 at December 31, 201 1 and 2010, respectively. 
The postretirement expense recorded was $19 1, $2 1, and $45 for 20 1 1, 20 10, and 2009, respectively, and 
the benefits paid were $3, $5, and $78 for 20 1 1, 20 10, and 2009, respectively. 

For the years ended December 3 1, 201 1, 2010, and 2009, Big Rivers had tariff sales to its members of 
$15 1,472, $15 1,001, and $125,826, respectively. In addition, for the years ended December 3 1, 20 1 I, 
2010, and 2009, Big Rivers had certain sales to Kenergy for the Aluminum Smelters and Domtar Paper 
loads of $306,420, $281,473, and $167,885, respectively. 

At December 31, 201 1 and 2010, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of $40,3 14 and 
$36,636, respectively. 

(13) Commitments and Contingencies 

Big Rivers is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business. While the results of such 
litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, management, based upon advice of counsel, believes that the 
final outcome will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements. 

Big Rivers plans to seek KPSC approval for its 2012 environmental compliance plan (ECP) in an April 
2012 filing. This ECP will consist of $283,490 of capital projects, primarily for a new scrubber at the D.B. 
Wilson station and a new selective catalytic reduction facility at the R.D. Green station, and certain 
additional operations and inailitellance costs. The purpose of the ECP is to allow Big Rivers to comply, in 
the most cost-effective manner, with the IJS. Environmental Protection Agency Cross-State Air Pollution 
Rule, and Mercury and Other Air Toxics Standards. Among other things, the ECP filing will seek to 
recover the costs of the ECP through an amendment to Big Rivers’ existing environinental surcharge tariff 
rider, an automatic cost-recovery mechanism that is similar in function to the fuel adjustment clause. The 
regulatory process is expected to last six months after the filing date. 
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BIG RIVEXS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
OR APPROVAL O F  ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES O F  PUBLIC 
CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR AUTHORITY TO 

E S T m L I S H  A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ET\TVERONNIENTAI, COST 

CASE NO. 2012-08063 

esponse to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

J u n e  1,2012 

1 Item 38) Please provide: 
2 

3 a. all data, work papers, and source documents, and 
4 
5 

6 b. all details, including calculations, amortization tables, 
7 

8 

calculations used in developing BRECs long-term and 
short-term cost rates in the ECP; 

and work sheets, related to the amounts for marnortized 
debt issuance balance and unamortized 

9 
10 
11 
12 
13 

14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 

premiuddiscount and issuance expenses; 
details of th)e term loan and senior notes, inchding  
i. issuance date, 

8 8 .  debt amomts,  

c. 

.. 
iii. 
tu. 

copies of lending agreements and provisions, 
copies of all documentation that indicate the 
pricing and interest rate on the term loan and 
senior notes; 

d. all information available on underwriter, underwriting 
spread, loan placement documents, and/or other 
information and source documents; and 
provide th/e data and work papers in (a) - (d), in both 
h,ard copy and electronic (Microsoft Excel) formats, with 
all data and formulae intact. 

e. 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-38 

Witness: Mark  A. EIite 
Page 1 of 2 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

1 
2 
3 
4 

5 

6 
7 
S 

9 

10 
1 1  

12 
13 

14 

1s 

16 
17 
18 
19 

APPLICATIQN OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL 2012 COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPRO ITS M E N T A L  COST 
ECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

CO NIEMC FOR AUTHORITY TO 
EST 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information. 

June 1,2012 

Response) 
a. Please reference the “Build Case”, “Partial Build Case”, “Buy 

Case”, “Build No Smelter Load’, and “Buy No Smelter Load’ 
financial model Excel files provided in Big Rivers’ response to 
I<ITJC’s motion to dismiss. Also reference the Excel files Big 
Rivers provided to KITJC on the CD filed May 29, 2012, in 
response to the May 11, 2012, letter from E(TTJC’s counsel to  Big 
Rivers’ counsel. 
Please reference the Debt tab (lines 7 through 12 and line 124) 
in the “Build Case” financial model Excel file provided in Big 
Rivers’ response to  KIUC’s motion t o  dismiss. 
Not applicable at this time. 
Not applicable at this time. 
See responses to Items 38a and 38b above. 

b. 

c. 
d. 
e. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-38 

Witness: Mark A. Hite 
Page 2 of 2 





BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

9 
10 
1 1  
12 
13 

14 

1s 
16 
17 
18 

19 
20 
21 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
ROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

S AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 

CESSITU, AND FOR AUTHORITY TO 
RIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

ULATORY ACCOUNT 

esponse to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

Item 39) 
that this indicates additional 0 & Mcosts of  $15.73 million to be incurred 
as of  2023. 

Reference the Berry testimony, exhibit 2, p .  2 of 2. Confirm 

a. Please confirm whether this means that by 2023, the 
additional 0 & Mcosts made necessary as a resu,lt of the 
projects which are the subject of  th,e instant filing will be 
incurred annually each and every year thereafter. 
Please state whether the total projected costs $286.14 
million, for the proposed projects inclu,des the $15.73 
inillion of projected 
above. 

b. 

& M costs as set forth in, subpart a., 

Response) Confirmed. In 2023, the estimated additional O&M cost made 
necessary by these projects is estimated to be $15.73 million. The additional O&M 
costs were estimated in 2011 dollars and adjusted for inflation at 2.5% each year 
through 2023. 

a. The additional O&M costs will be incurred annually each and 
every year thereafter adjusted for labor and commodity market 
supply and demand as well as the rate of inflation. 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-39 

Witness: Robert W. Berry 
Page 1 of 2 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

APPLICATIQN OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 E RONMENTAL COM LIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 

CONVENIENCE AN CESSITU, AND FOR AUTHORITY TO 
REGULATOEY ACCOUNT 

E C O W R Y  SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

7 Witness) Robert W. Berry 
8 

b. The $286.14 million shown in  the total  cell of the  fa r  r ight  
column in Exhibit Berry - 2 on page 1 of 2 includes capital  cost 
only. None of the  est imated $15.73 O&M expense is included in 

t h a t  total. 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-39 

Witness: Robert  W. Berry 
Page 2 of 2 





BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

APPLICATION OF IG RIVERS ELECTRIC COR 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONNIENTAL COMPLIANCE PIAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 

CONVENIENCE AND NE 
ESTABLISH A 

RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

esponse t o  the Office of t he  Attorney General’s 

J u n e  1,2012 

1 Item 40) 
2 
3 

4 purposes? 
5 
6 Response) Yes. 
7 
8 

9 Witness) Robert W. Berry 

Reference the Berry testimony in general and at page 6 in 
particular. Is  the Henderson generating unit an integral part of the 
applicant’s generation fleet for planning and system wide operational 

10 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response t o  AG 1-40 

Witness: Robert  W. Berry 
Page 1 of 1 
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2 

3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

9 
10 
I 1  
12 
13 

14 

15 
16 
17 
18 

19 
20 

APPLICATION O F  BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL, O F  ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

RECOVERY SURCHARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PIJBLXC 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL, COST 

COWVENIENC ND NECESSITY, AND FOR AUTHO 
A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General's 
Initial Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

Item 41) 
how the consulting services of S&L were chosen. The response should 
include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following: 

Reference the Berry testimony at p .  11 of 33. Describe in, detail 

a. 
b. 

whether a n  RFP was issued; 
any criteria used in the decision, making process, whether 
by RF'P or otherwise; 
who participated in the decision making process; 
any affiliation, that S&L may have with RREC and/or any 
other G & T o r  RECC; 
the cost for the services; and 
when, the decision was made. 

c. 
d. 

e. 
f i  

Response) 
a. Proposals were solicited from Sargent  & Lundy and  Burns and  

McDonnell. 
b. Vender selection was based on the  best  evaluated bid which 

included scope of work and  lowest cost. 
c. The vice president of power production and  the  plant  manager at 

Sebree participated in the  decision making process. 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-41 

Witness: Robert  W. Berry 
Page 1 of 2 



BIG RIVERS ELECT IC CORPORATION 

APPLICATION O F  BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AlVIlEN ENVIRONMENTAL COST 
RECOVERY SURCIIARGE TARIFF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

COWVIENIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR AIJTHORITU TO 
A REGULATORY ACCOUNT 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

Response to the Office of the Attorney Generafl’s 
Init ial  Request  for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

1 

2 

3 

4 
5 
6 

7 
8 
9 

10 Witness) 
11 

d. There is no affiliation between S&L and Big Rivers and/or any 
other G&T or RECC except engineering and consulting services 
contracted between the parties. 

e. See Big Rivers’ response to Items 28 and 29 of the Attorney 
General’s Initial Data Requests. 

f. The decision to utilize S&L for the compliance study was finalized 
on April 19,2011 

Robert W. Berry 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-41 

Witness: Robert  W. Berry 
Page 2 of 2 





BIG RIVERS ELEGTRTC CORPORATION 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVlERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
R APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS ENVIRONMEN 
RECOVERY SURCHARGE T CERTIFICATE IC 

ESTABLISH RY ACCOUNT 
NVEMENCE AND N A U T ~ O R I ~ Y  TO 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information 

June 1,2012 

1 Item 42) 
2 

3 

4 transaction? 
5 
6 Response) Yes. The Public Service Commission (“Commission’’) granted 
7 
8 
9 

Ikefereizce the Berry testimony at pages 12 and 13. Does the 
cost allocation in any way alter the allocation agreed upon by the sinelters 
and th,e applicant as proposed to the Commission, in, thje [Jnwind 

approval of Rig Rivers’ existing environmental  compliance plan and  current  
environmental  surcharge tariff in  a n  Order  dated J u n e  25, 2008, in Case No. 
2007-00460,l a s  par t  of t he  unwind transaction. On page 7 of that Order,  the 

10 

11 
12 
13 
14 
1s 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

Commission explained its approval of Big Rivers’ proposal to allocate costs based 
on kWh sales: 

The Commission notes that Big Rivers has requested to use kWh 
sales instead of revenues to  determine the CESF and  RESF. As 
noted by Big Rivers, the costs to be recovered at th i s  t ime through 
the proposed surcharge mechanism are variable expenses. The 
Commission agrees with Big Rivers that a n  energy charge is more 
appropriate,  given the current  si tuation, t h a n  the  use of a percentage 
of revenues approach, as authorized for other utilities having a n  
environmental  surcharge. 

1 In  the Matter of: The Application of Big Rivers Electric Corporation for Approval 
of Environmental Compliance Plan and Environmental Surcharge Tariff 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-42 

Witness: Mark A. Hite 
Page 1 of 2 
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I 
2 

3 

4 
5 

6 
7 

8 
9 

10 
11 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC C 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTkL C 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS A NDED ENVIRONMEN 
F, FOR CERTIF 

CONVECNIENCE AND NECESSITY, AND FOR 
RECOVERY SURCHARGE TA 

ESTABLISH A RE ULATORY ACCOUNT 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information 

June 1,2012 

Thus,  t he  current “per-kWh’ cost allocation methodology was  proposed by Big 
Rivers and  approved by the  Commission because it was  appropriate given that the  
existing environmental compliance p lan  included no capital  costs. Since Big 
Rivers’ 2012 environmental compliance plan includes capital  costs, it is now 
appropriate for the environmental  surcharge to allocate costs on a “percentage of 
Total  Adjusted Revenue” basis,  consistent with the  environmental  surcharge 
mechanisms of other utilities in  Kentucky. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-42 

Witness: Mark A. Hite 
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APPLICATION OF IG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 
ECOWRY SURCHARGE TAR FF, FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC 

CONVENIENCE AN UTHORITY TO 
ESTABLI 

CASE NO. 2012-00063 

Response to the  Office of t h e  Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information 

Dated May 21,2012 

June 1,2012 

I t em 43) Reference th,e Berry testimony at page 13, and ,he Applica ion 
in. general. Describe the revenue items specified in the contracts between 
Rig Rivers and Kenergy which are to be adjusted. 

Response) The majority of these i tems  specified a re  described in Article 4, 
Charges and  Credits,  of t he  Wholesale Electric Service Agreements dated Ju ly  1, 
2009, by and  between Big Rivers Electric Corporation and  Kenergy Corp., for 
Century and for Alcan. Other  i tems a r e  described in  Section 5.1 and  in Section 
16.5.1. All of these sections a re  identical for both smelter agreements.  An excerpt 
of these sections that describe the specified i tems is attached. 

Witness) John  Wolfram 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-43 

Witness: John Wolfram 
Page 1 of 1 



3.2 Scheduling. ig Rivers acknowledges and agrees that: 

(a) Century shall not be required to schedule Base Monthly 
Energy, Buy-Through Energy or Back-up Energy but shall use reasonable commercial efforts to 
inform Big Rivers promptly of any material change in Century’s intended usage; and 

(b) In accordance with the OAW, Century shall schedule and 
arrange with Kenergy and Big Rivers no later than 9:OO A. usiness Day immediately 
preceding the day or days of delivery pursuant to the Century Retail Agreement, or as otherwise 
mutually agreed by the Parties, the delivery of Interruptible Energy and Market Energy. 

ARTICLE 4 

CHARGES AND CREDITS 

4.1 Monthlv Charpe. Kenergy shall pay Rig Rivers the following (the “Monthly 
Charge”) for the Electric Services provided or made available under this Agreement: 

4.1.1 

4.1.2 

the Base Energy Charge calculated pursuant to Section 4.2, 

plus the Supplemental Energy Charge calculated pursuant to Section 4.3, 

4.1.3 plus the Back-up Energy Charge calculated pursuant to Section 4.4, 

4.1.4 plus the Transmission Charge pursuant to Section 4.5, 

4.1.5 plus the Excess Reactive Demand Charge calculated pursuant to 
Section 4.6, 

4.1.6 plus the TER Adjustment Charge calculated pursuant to Section 4.7, 

4.1.7 plus the FAC Charge calculated pursuant to Section 4.8.1, 

4.1.8 
pursuant to Section 4.8.2, 

plus the Non-FAC Purchased Power Adjustment Charge calculated 

4.1.9 plus the Environmental Surcharge calculated pursuant to Section 4.8.3, 

4.1.10 plus or minus the monthly amortization of the Restructuring Amount 
calculated pursuant to Section 16.5, 

4.1.1 1 less the Rebate calculated pursuant to Section 4.9, 

4.1.12 

4.1.13 

4.1.14 [Reserved], 

less the Equity Development Credit calculated pursuant to Section 4.10, 

plus the Surcharge calculated pursuant to Section 4. 1 1 

OHS East:160362L 17 17 Case No. 2012-00063 
Attachment for Response to Item AG 1-43 

Witness: John Wolfram 
Page 1 of 14 



4.1.15 less the credits calculated pursuant to Section 4.13, 

.le plus or minus other amounts calculated pursuant to Section 4.14, and 

4.1.17 plus taxes calculated pursuant to Section 4.15. 

4.2 
the sum of: 

Base Energv Charge. For any onth, the ‘“Base Energv Charpe” shall be 

(a) the product of Base Fixed Energy and the Base Rate; and 

(b) the product, whether positive or negative, of the Base * 

Variable Energy and the Base Variable Rate. 

Sample calculations of the Base Energy Charge at different load factors are set forth in 
Exhibit A. 

4.3 Sumlemental Energy Charge. For any Billing Month, the “SuorAemental Energy 
Charge” shall be the sum of the charges, whenever determined, for the Interruptible Energy 
Charge, the Buy-Through Energy Charge, and the Market Energy Charge as calculated below. 

4.3.1 The “Intermotible Energv Charge” shall be the product of (i) the 
quantity of Interruptible Energy metered at the Point of Delivery during the Billing Month and 
(ii) the rate or rates for Interruptible Energy with respect to such Billing Month. 

4.3.2 The “BuyThrough Energv Charge” shall be the sum of: 

(a) the product of (i)  the quantity of Buy-Through Energy 
metered at the Point of Delivery during the Billing Month and (ii) the quotient of (A) the actual 
rate or rates for such Buy-Through Energy that Big Rivers pays to a Third Party Supplier over 
(B) 1 .OQ less the loss factor set forth in the OATT, and 

(6) all other charges that Big Rivers may be required to pay in 
connection with Buy-Through Energy, including (i) any and all separate charges for transmission 
services and related services, whenever incurred (including financial transmission rights, 
transmission congestion charges and similar costs or expenses), provided by a Third Party whose 
transmission system is used to transmit Buy-Through Energy purchased from a Third Party to a 
point at which Big Rivers’ transmission system is interconnected with such system, and (ii) any 
amount payable upon termination by reason of default of the supply arrangements between Big 
Rivers and Third Party Suppliers, net of recoveries by Big Rivers from such suppliers with 
respect to the supply of Buy-Through Energy to Kenergy for resale to Century. 

4.3.3 The “Market Enerrrv Charge” shall be the sum of: 

(a) the product of (i) the quantity of Market Energy metered at 
the Point of Delivery during the Billing Month and (ii) the quotient of (A) the actual rate or rates 
for such Market Energy agreed to between Big Rivers and Kenergy, over (B) 1 .OO less the loss 
factor set forth in the OATR and 
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(b) all other charges that Big ivers may be required to pay to 
Third Party Suppliers in connection with Market Energy, including (i) any and all separate 
charges for transmission services and related services, whenever incurred (including financial 
transmission rights, transmission congestion charges and similar costs or expenses), provided by 
a Third Party whose transmission system is used to transmit Market Energy purchased from a 
Third Party to a point at which Big Rivers’ transmission system is interconnected with such 
system and (ii) any amount payable upon termination by reason of default of the supply 
arrangements between Big Rivers and Third Party Suppliers, net of recoveries by Big Rivers 
fiom such suppliers with respect to the supply of Market Energy to Kenergy for resale to 
Century. 

4.4 Back-Uo Enerm Charge. For any Billing Month, the “Back-Ur, Energv Charge” 
shall be the sum of the Hourly charges for Back-up Energy calculated as follows: 

4.4.1 The charge for Back-up Energy supplied in any Hour shall equal the 
following: 

(a) to the extent the Back-up Energy was supplied from 
generating facilities owned or controlled by Big Rivers and located within Big Rivers’ 
transmission control area, the charge shall be the product of (i) the amount of such Back-up 
Energy, and (ii) the quotient of (A) a price equal to the greater of (1) the real time Hourly 
locational marginal price at Big Rivers’ interface with the Midwest Independent System 
Operator (or such other pricing reference point that shall be mutually agreed upon by the Parties 
and Big Rivers), and (2) Big Rivers’ system lambda; divided by (B) 1.00 minus the loss factor 
set forth in the QAW, 

(b) to the extent the Back-up Energy was not supplied pursuant 
to Section 4.4.l(a), the charge shall be the product of (i) the amount of such Back-up Energy, 
and (ii) the quotient of (A) a price equal to 110% of the highest Hourly all inclusive cost incurred 
by Big Rivers to acquire any Energy, including such Back-up Energy, and the separate cost, if 
any, whenever determined, of transmission services and related services provided by a Thud 
Party whose transmission system is used to transmit Back-up Energy purchased from a Third 
Party to a point at which Big Rivers’ transmission system is interconnected with such system and 
including any imbalance charges or other costs arising from the failure of a Third Party Supplier 
to deliver Energy that it is obligated to deliver; divided by (B) 1 .MI minus the loss factor set forth 
in the OA?T; and 

(c) to the extent that the amount of Back-up Energy required by 
Kenergy for resale to Century during any Hour exceeds the sum of (x) ten MW per Hour, (y) the 
amount of Back-up Energy resulting From deemed interruption of Scheduled Interruptible 
Energy pursuant to Section 2.3.2(a)(iii), and (z) the amount of Back-up Energy resulting from 
the non-delivery of Market Energy purchased by a Thud Party Supplier, then the charge for the 
excess amount of Back-up Energy shall be the product of (i) the excess amount of Back-up 
Energy, and (ii) the greater of (A) $250 per MWh and (B) the price set forth in Section 
4.4. t(b)(ii). 

Sample calculations of the Back-up Energy Charge are set forth in Exhibit A. 
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4.4.2 If during any Hour ig Rivers provides Back-up Energy to Kenergy 
for resale to Century and “Back-IJp Energy” (as defied in the Alcan Wholesale Agreement) to 
Kenergy for resale to Alcan, then the provisions of Section 4.4.1 shall apply to a proportional 
number of MW of Back-up Energy for resale to each of Century and Alcan. 

4.5 Charge for Transmission Services and Ancillarv Services. For any Billing Month, 
the charge for transmission services and ancillary services (the “Transmission Charge”) shall be 
the sum of the charges, calculated in accordance with the OATT, for Transmission Services for 
(a) Base Monthly Energy that are unbundled from the Large Industrial Rate, if any; and (b) 
Supplemental Energy. 

4.6 Excess Reactive Demand Charge. For any Billing Month, the “Excess Reactive 
Demand Charge”, if any, shall be the product of $0.1433 and the amount, expressed in kilovars, 
of the difference, if positive, between: 

(a) the maximum metered reactive demand of Century during 
the Billing Month, and 

(b) an amount of kilavars equal to the sum of: 

(i) the product of (A) 0.4843, and (B) the maximum hourly 
demand during a Billing Month, denominated in kilowatts, associated with Base Monthly 
Energy, Interruptible Energy, Market Energy, “Market Energy” under the Century Retail 
Agreement that is purchased by Kenergy from Third Party Suppliers for resale to Century, and 
Back-up Energy provided by Big Rivers to Kenergy for resale to Century, but less the amount of 
such tnterruptible Energy, Market Energy or Back-up Energy that was purchased by Big Rivers 
from Third Parties, and 

(ii) 74,005. 

4.7 TIER Adiustment Charge. 

4.7.1 The ‘TIER Adiustment Charge” shall be, for any Fiscal Year, the 
amount that is the product of the Applicabie Percentage and the TIER Adjustment if, and only if, 
such TIER Adjustment is a positive amount; provided, however, that in no case will the TIER 
Adjustment Charge for any Fiscal Year exceed the amount that is the product of the Base Fixed 
Energy and the maximum additional charge per MWh set forth below for the applicable Fiscal 
Year: 

F i d  Years lMaximum Additional Charge 
2008-201 1 $1.95 per MWh 
20 12-201 4 $2.95 per MVVh 
201 5-201 7 $3.55 per MWh 

202 1-2023 $4.75 per MWh 

- 

20 1 8-2020 
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R Adjustment shall be negative, there will be an Excess IER Amount and no T 
Adjustment Charge. 

Prior to each Fiscal Year, Big Rivers shall estimate both the TIER 
Adjustment and, if the TIER Adjustment is positive, the TIER Adjustment Charge based on the 
Budget for such Fiscal Year. Big Rivers shall collect such estimated amount from Kenergy in 
equal monthly installments as part of the Monthly Charge for each Billing Month during the 
applicable Fiscal Year. 

4.7.2 

4.7.3 Within 45 days following the end of the first, second and third fiscal 
quarters of each Fiscal Year beginning with the f is t  fiscal quarter after the first anniversary of 
this Agreement, Big Rivers shall again estimate the TIER Adjustment and the corresponding 
amount of the TIER Adjustment Charge based on a comparison of the Budget and year-to-date 
results of operations, and shall calculate a modified mount to be collected b m ,  or refunded as a 
credit to, the Monthly Charge to Kenergy with respect to service to Century during the remaining 
portion of the Fiscal Year, including any amounts necessary to address any estimated under- or 
over-collection of the TIER Adjustment Charge from Kenergy with respect to service to Century 
as compared to the Budget during the remainder of the Fiscal Year. Big Rivers shall collect or 
credit such modified amount from Kenergy pursuant to this Agreement in equal monthly 
installments as part of the Monthly Charge for the remaining Billing Months of the subject Fiscal 
Year. 

4.7.4 As soon as reasonably practicable but no later than 120 days after the 
end of each Fiscal Year, Big Rivers shall calculate the TIER Adjustment and TER Adjustment 
Charge for such Fiscal Year. The TIER Adjustment Charge for such Fiscal Year shall be 
compared to the aggregate amounts paid by Kenergy in respect of the estimated TIER 
Adjustment Charge for such Fiscal Year, and the difference between such amounts shall be 
included as a charge or credit, as applicable, in the Monthiy Charges for the fourth Billing Month 
of the next Fiscal Year. 

4.7.5 The “TIER Adiustment” shall be the amount of incremental revenue, 
whether positive or negative, calculated with respect to each Fiscal Year after determination of 
Net Margins for such Fiscal Year (excluding amounts payable by Kenergy with respect to or 
relating to the revenue that results from the TIER Adjustment Charge and the ”TIER Adjustment 
Charge” as defined in the Alcan Wholesale Agreement), that is necessary for Big Rivers to 
receive in order to achieve a TIER of 1.24 for such Fiscal Year; provided, however, that if the 
Service Period commences or terminates on a date other than the fmt or last day of a Fiscal Year 
and to give effect to this Section 4.7.5, the TIER Adjustment will be calculated on an Hourly 
basis only with respect to the partial period of the first, second or final Fiscal Year of the Service 
Period, as applicable. The determination of the TIER Adjustment shall be subject to the 
following: 

(a) It shall be assumed that: Big Rivers shall have generated 
additional revenue from service to the Members for resale to the Non-Smelter Ratepayers as if 
Big Rivers had increased the Non-Smelter Member Rates by a weighted average of 2.00% in 
2010, another 2.50% in 2018 and another 4.00% in 2021 if and to the extent Big Rivers had not 
prior to or during the year of the calculation increased the Non-Smelter Member Rates by at least 
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such amounts. The revenues from any roll-in of the costs associated with costs recovered under 
the FAC, the Environmental Surcharge Rider or the Regulatory Account that are incorporated 
into base rates comprising a portion of the Non-Smelter Member Rates will not constitute m 
increase in the Non-Smelter Member Rates for purposes of this clause (a), and the revenues 
attributable to any such roll-in will be excluded in calculating the percentage of any increases in 
the Non-Smelter Member Rates. The expiration or termination of Big Rivers’ Member Discount 
Adjustment Rider shall be deemed to be an increase in the Non-Smelter Member Rates for 
purposes of this clause (a), without regard to whether such expiration or termination occurs prior 
to, on or after the Effective Date. 

(b) It shall be assumed that: If a Member provides electric 
service to a New Ratepayer with a Firm demand in excess of 15 M W ,  such Member shall have 
paid to Big Rivers for wholesale Energy purchased and resold to the New Ratepayer at a price 
equal to the greater of: (i) the amount paid for such service and (ii) an amount calculated for the 
same period equal to (A) a rate, expressed in dollars per MWh, resulting from the application of 
the Large Industrial Rate to a load with the New Ratepayer’s load factor, plus $0.25 per MWh, 
pfus (B) the sum of the FAC Factor, the Environmental Surcharge Factor, and the Non-FAC 
Purchased Power Adjustment Factor (each calculated on a per MWh basis), plus (C) the 
Surcharge (the Surcharge being calculated on an amount per MWh based on Base Fixed Energy 
for such Fiscal Year) set forth in Section 4-11, pfus (D) amounts corresponding to the amount per 
MWh paid by Kenergy during the same period for the TIER Adjustment Charge. If a Member 
provides electric service to a New Ratepayer with a Firm demand of 15 NW or less, such 
Member shall have paid to Big Rivers for wholesale Energy purchased and resold to the New 
Ratepayer at a price equal to the sum of: (i) the Large Industrial Rate, and (ii) the sum of the 
FAC Factor, the Environmental Surcharge Factor, and the Non-FAC Purchased Power 
Adjustment  factor (each calculated on a per MWh basis). For purpose of this clause (b), the 
revenues produced by any surcharge with respect to a New Ratepayer similar to the Surcharge or 
the “Surcharge” under the Alcan Retail Agreement will be assumed to accrue solely to the 
benefit of the Non-Smelter Ratepayers except to the extent such surcharge is paid by or imputed 
to a New Ratepayer pursuant to subclause (A) of this clause (b). The assumptions contained in 
this clause (b) shall not apply with respect to a New Ratepayer that frrst interconnects with Big 
Rivers’ transmission system during the last three Fiscal Years of the Service Feriod or following 
notice of termination of this Agreement or the Alcan Retail Agreement. 

(c) It shall be assumed that: Big Rivers’ interest expense shall 
have been reduced by the product of (i) Big Rivers’ average effective interest rate for borrowed 
money for the prior Fiscal Year, and (ii) the aggregate mount of any patronage capital retired by 
Big Rivers to its Members during the Service Period (other than any distribution from the Rural 
Economic Reserve, the Economic Reserve or the Transition Reserve or relating to the Surcharge 
or the “Surcharge” under the Alcan Wholesale Agreement), from and after the date of such 
retirement. 

(d) It shall be assumed that: interest on construction work-in- 
progress relating to the construction of new electric generating facilities or transmission facilities 
shall have been capitalized by Big Rivers if it has the right to elect to do so or it is obligated to 
capitalize such interest under Accounting Principles unless a Governmental Authority has 
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approved the inclusion of such interest expenses in Big Rivers’ revenue requirements for rate- 
making purposes or otherwise approved a surcharge for collecting such interest expenses. 

(e) If Big Rivers acquires or constructs non-peaking electric 
generating facilities alone or with others (“New Facilities”), Big Rivers’ interest expenses shall 
not include the interest imputed on the debt relating to the New Facilities (“Imputed Interest”); 
provided. however, that if a Governmental Authority has approved the inclusion of such 
generating facilities in Big Rivers’ revenue requirements for rate-making purposes or otherwise 
approved a surcharge to provide for the recovery of the costs of such New Facilities, then actual 
interest expense with respect to such New Facilities shall be included in the TER calculation to 
the extent recovery is permitted; provided, further, that this clause (e) may not cause the TIER 
Adjustment to become negative. For purposes of determining Imputed Interest, it shall be 
assumed that the New Facilities were financed 80% with debt and 20% with equity. Imputed 
Interest shall equal the product of (i) the weighted average interest rate on Big Rivers’ debt for 
the Fiscal Year, and (ii) the amount of debt equal to 80% of the capital invested in the New 
Facilities. 

(f) It shall be assumed that: The Rural Economic Reserve, the 
Economic Reserve and the Transition Reserve shall not generate any revenue or tax liability and 
the application of funds from the Rural Economic Reserve, the Economic Reserve or the 
Transition Reserve shall not result in any change in the Net Margins of Big Rivers. 

(8) It shall be assumed that: Big Rivers shall have made no 
payment for damages or indemnification to or for the benefit of a Smelter with respect to the 
provision of Electric Services or “Electric Services” as defined in the Alcan Wholesale 
Agreement. 

(h) It shall be assumed that: Big Rivers shall have paid no 
criminal penalties with respect to its acts or omissions other than criminal penalties that a 
Governmental Authority has approved the inclusion of in Big Rivers’ revenue requirements for 
rate-making purposes or otherwise approved a surcharge for collecting such penalties. 

(i) It shall be assumed that: Big Rivers shall have received no 
proceeds from the sale of Energy to the wholesale market pursuant to Section 4.13.3 or the 
corresponding section of the Alcan Wholesale Agreement. 

(i) It shall be assumed that: Big Rivers shall have incurred no 
expenses that are impermissible for inclusion in rates of electric generation and transmission 
cooperative utilities subject to the jurisdiction of the WSC for rate-making purposes (currently 
including advertising expenses, branding expenses, charitable contributions and lobbying 
expenses) or specifically’ disallowed for rate making purposes by a Governmental Authority; 
provided, however, that denial by a Governmental Authority of expense recovery through the 
FAC or the Environmental Surcharge Rider shall not constitute an expense that is impermissible 
for inclusion in rates if the nature of such expense is recoverable in base rates. 

(k) It shall be assumed that: There are no revenues and expenses 
associated with non-regulated businesses of Big Rivers. 
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(1) It shall be assumed that: No interest is paid pursuant either to 
Section 5.3 or Section 5.4 or pursuant to the corresponding sections of the Alcm Wholesale 
Agreement. 

3 

(m) It shall be assumed that: No amounts have been or are 
payable with respect to Excess Reactive Demand Charges or with respect to “Excess Reactive 
Demand Charges” under the Alcan Wholesale Agreement. 

(n) It shall be assumed that: No administrative fee shall have 
been received by Big Rivers as a result of any Surplus Sales, Undeliverable Energy Sales or 
Potline Reduction Sales or sales of Energy pursuant to the corresponding sections of the Alcan 
Wholesale Agreement. 

(0) Additional costs related to a change in Big Rivers’ 
depreciation rates may not be included in the calculation of the TER Adjustment unless such 
change has been approved, consented to or accepted by the KPSC or, if the KPSC no longer has 
jurisdiction over Big Rivers, by the RUS or any other Governmental Authority having 
jurisdiction over such change, if any. 

(p) It shall be assumed that: The amortization of any 
Restructuring Amount is zero. 

4.7.6 Any proceeds received or transaction costs prepaid by Big Rivers as 
part of or in connection with the consummation of the Unwind Transaction shall be disregarded 
for purposes of computing the TER Adjustment Charge for the Fiscal Year in which the Unwind 
Transaction occurs. 

4.8 Adiustable Charges. 

4.8.1 The “FAC Charge’’ shall be the product of the FAC Factor (expressed 
in dollars per MWh) and Base Monthly Energy. 

4.8.2 The “Non-FAC Purchased Power Adjustment Charge’’ shall be the 
product of the Non-FAC Purchased Power Adjustment Factor (expressed in dollars per MVVh) 
and Base Monthly Energy. 

4.8.3 The “Environmental Surcharge” shall be the product of the Monthly 
Environmental Surcharge Factor (expressed in dollars per MWh) and Base Monthly Energy. 

4.9 Rebate. If there is an Excess TIER Amount in any Fiscal Year and Big Rivers 
elects to implement a rebate to its Members in respect thereof, then no later than the first day of 
the fifth month of the following Fiscal Year, Big Rivers will credit to Kenergy for further credit 
to Century an amount (the “Rebate”) equal to the product of: 

(i) the Excess TER Amount, and 
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( I )  
Year, and 

the numerator of which is the ase Fixed Energy for such Fiscal 

(2) the denominator of which is the sum during the applicable Fiscal 
Year of (A) Big Rivers’ aggregate sales of Energy to Members for resale 
to Non-Smelter Ratepayers, (B) the Base Fixed Energy, and (C) the 
aggregate amount of “Base Fixed Energy” as defined in the Alcan Retail 
Agreement (without regard to whether the Alcan Retail Agreement is then 
in effect). 

4.10 Eauitv Development Credit. If there is an Excess TIER Amount in my Fiscal 
Year and Big Rivers does not elect to implement a rebate to its Members, then no later than the 
first day of the fifth month of the following Fiscal Year, Big Rivers will credit against the next 
Monthly Charge an amount (the “Equitv Development Credit”) equal to the product of: 

(i) the Excess T E R  Amount, and 

(ii) a fraction: 

(1) 
Year, and 

the numerator of which is the Base Fixed Energy for such Fiscal 

(2) the denominator of which is the sum during the applicable Fiscal 
Year of (A) Big Rivers’ aggregate sales of Energy to Members for resale 
to Non-Smelter Ratepayers, (B) the Base Fixed Energy, and (C) the 
aggregate amount of “Base Fixed Energy” as defined in the Alcan Retail 
Agreement (without regard to whether the Alcan Retail Agreement is then 
in effect). 

Notwithstanding the above, the Equity Development Credit for any Fiscal Year may not exceed 
an amount which would cause the charge for Base Fixed Energy (including Energy curtailed 
pursuant to Section 4.13.2 or sold to Third Parties pursuant to Section 4.13.3 as Economic Sales, 
Section 10.1 as Surplus Sales, Section 10.2 as Undeliverable Energy Sales or Section 10.3 as 
Potline Reduction Sales) less the Equity Development Credit for such Fiscal Year on a per MWh 
basis to be less than (A) the Large Industrial Rate for a customer with a 98% load factor plus (B) 
the sum of the FAC Factor, the Environmental Surcharge Factor and the Non-FAC Purchased 
Power Adjustment Factor (each calculated on a per MWh basis). 

Surcharge. In addition to any other amounts payable under this Agreement, and 
notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Kenergy shall pay a surcharge (the 
“Surcharne”) equal to the sum of the following: 

4.11 

(a) As applicable: 

(i) $241,472 each Billing onth from the Effective Date 
through and including December, 201 1; 
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(ii) $344,960 each nth from January, 2012 through 
and including December, 2016; 

(iii) $481,188 each Billing Month from January, 2017 through 
the expiration of the stated Term of this Agreement; plus 

(b) For any Billing Month, the product of (i) Base Fixed Energy 
and (ii) $0.60 per 

(c) For any Billing Month, the product of (i) Base Fixed Energy 
and (ii) the number of cents per MW per Hour (which number shall not exceed 60 or be less than 
zero) that Big Rivers’ projected annual average costs per MWh for fuel consumed by Big Rivers 
in its coal-fired generation as set forth in its Budget are greater than the amounts set forth on 
Schedule 4.1 l(c), in each case, for that Fiscal Year relating to such Billing Month. Big Rivers 
shall within 45 days following the end of each fiscal quarter compute its actual costs per MWh 
for fuel consumed by Big Rivers’ coal-fired generation in each Bilfing Month for such fiscal 
quarter and shall calculate (on a fiscal-year-to-date basis in a manner consistent with this Section 
4.1 l(c)) an additional amount to be paid by or credited to Kenergy based on such actual costs 
incurred for fuel consumed compared to the amounts set forth in the Budget for such Billing 
Months; provided, any additional amounts to be paid by or credited to Kenergy shall be applied 
to amounts due for the remainder of the Fiscal Year under this Section 4.1 l(c). Within 120 days 
of the end of each Fiscal Year, an additional amount shall be credited to Kenergy if necessary so 
that the total amounts paid pursuant to this Section 4.1 l(c) for such Fiscal Year shall not exceed 
an amount equal to the product of Base Fixed Energy for such Fiscal Year and 60 cents per MW 
per Hour; such amount shall be included as a credit, if applicable, in the Monthly Charges for the 
fourth Billing Month of the next Fiscal Year; minus 

(d) For each of the first 96 Billing Months, $1 13,412. 

The obligation of Kenergy to pay the Surcharge will cease to accrue upon the termination of this 
Agreement. Sample calculations of the Surcharge under Section 4.1 l(c) are set forth in 
Exhibit A. 

4.12 [Reserved] 

4.13 Credits. 

4.13.1 Surplus Sales, Undeliverable Energy Sales and Potline Reduction 
Sales. For any Billing Month, Big Rivers shall credit Kenergy (a) the Net Proceeds of any 
Surplus Sales pursuant to Section 10.1 to the extent of the Avoidable Base Charge; and (b) the 
amount of Net Proceeds of any Undeliverable Energy Sales or Potline Reduction Sales to which 
Kenergy is entitled pursuant to Section 10.2 or Section 10.3, respectively, less $0.25 per MWh as 
Big Rivers’ administrative fee in each case. Sample calculations of the Net Proceeds from 
Surplus Sales, Undeliverable Energy Sales and Potline Reduction Sales that would be credited to 
Kenergy are set forth in Exhibit A. 

4.13.2 Curtailment of Purchased Power. For any Billing Month, Big Rivers 
will credit Kenergy for any Hour during such Billing Month an amount equal to the product of 
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eference Rate during such our, and (b) the amount of Base Demand per 
curtailed, if any, during such Hour in an amount and for a duration mutually agreed among Big 
Rivers, Kenergy and Century pursuant to this Section 4.13.2 and the corresponding section of the 
Alcan Wholesale Agreement. If both Century and Alcan agree to the curtailment of the delivery 
of Base Demand per Hour pursuant to this Section 4.13.2 of the Century Retail Agreement and 
the corresponding section of the Alcan Retail Agreement, Century and Alcan must notify Big 
Rivers and Kenergy as to whose curtailment shall take precedence. If Big Rivers is not notified 
as to whose curtailment shall take precedence, the Smelter whose curtailment is largest shall take“ 
precedence, and if the amount of curtailment by each Smelter is the same, then the Smelter 
whose curtailment notice was received by Big Rivers first shall take precedence. Sample 
calculations of credit that would be due to Kenergy for curtailment of purchased power are set 
forth in Exhibit A. 

4.13.3 Economic Sales. For any Billing Month, Big Rivers will credit 
Kenergy 75% of the Net Proceeds that Big Rivers receives in respect of the curtailment of the 
delivery of Base Demand per Hour in an amount and for a duration mutually agreed among Big 
Rivers, Kenergy and Century if Big Rivers sells such curtailed Base Demand per Hour to the 
wholesale Energy market (“Economic Sales”); provided, that unless otherwise agreed among Big 
Rivers, Kenergy and Century, (a) the amount of Base Demand per Hour curtailed by Kenergy on 
behalf of Century may not exceed 100 MW per Hour, (b) the number of curtailments each year 
shall be limited to twelve, and (c) each curtailment may not last longer than four Hours, and 
pruvidedfurther, that Big Rivers shall have no obligation to make Economic Sales until after Big 
Rivers first sells all of its own surplus Energy to the wholesale Energy market. If Kenergy on 
behalf of both Century and Alcan agree to the curtailment of the delivery of Base Demand per 
Hour pursuant to this Section 4.13.3 and the corresponding section of the Alcan Wholesale 
Agreement, Century and Alcan must notify Big Rivers and Kenergy as to whose curtailment 
shall take precedence. If Big Rivers is not notified as to whose curtailment shall take 
precedence, the Smelter whose curtailment is largest shall take precedence, and if the amount of 
curtailment by each Smelter is the same, then the Smelter whose curtailment notice was received 
by Big Rivers first shall take precedence. Sample calculations of the portion of the Net Proceeds 
from Economic Sales that would be credited to Kenergy are set forth in Exhibit A. 

4.14 Other Amounts. For any Billing Month, any amounts payable pursuant to Section 
10.1.4, 10.2.2 or 10.3.7 shall be added to or subtracted as applicable from the calculation of the 
Monthly Charge. 

4.15 Taxes. No state or local sales, excise, gross receipts or other taxes are included in 
the charges and credits set forth in this Article 4. Kenergy shall pay or cause to be paid any such 
taxes which are now or hereafter become applicable to the sale of Electric Services to Kenergy 
under this Apement. 

ARTICLE 5 

5.1 Monthly Invoice. Big Rivers shall bill Kenergy on or before the tenth Business 
Day of each month for the Monthly Charge as calculated pursuant to ArticIe 4 based on the sale 
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of Electric Services during the most recently ended Billing Month plus any other amounts then 
due and owing pursuant to this Agreement. Kenergy shall pay or cause to be paid to Big Rivers 
the Monthly Charge and any other amounts due and owing in immediately available Funds to an 
account designated in the Lockbox Agreement on the Business Day following the 24th day of the 
month following the Billing Month. For the convenience of the Parties, and to facilitate 
satisfaction of Kenergy’s obligation to Big Rivers, Kenergy has assigned to Big Rivers its right 
to receive payment from Century under the Century Retail Agreement and its rights to collect 
and enforce collection of such amounts due from Century other than with respect to the “Retail 
Fee” as defined in the Century Retail Agreement pursuant to the Lockbox Agreement. Big 
Rivers hereby releases Kenergy from M e r  liability under this Agreement for mounts subject 
to such assignment to Big Rivers, provided that such release does not relieve Kenergy of its other 
liabilities or responsibilities under this Agreement. Kenergy shall cooperate with and assist Big 
Rivers with respect to any collections of amounts due from Century to Kenergy which are 
assigned to Big Rivers; provide4 that Big Rivers will reimburse Kenergy for any reasonable 
expenses Kenergy incurs in providing such cooperation or assistance. 

5.2 Right to Discontinue Service. If Kenergy (or Century on behalf of Kenergy) fails 
to pay any monthly invoice rendered by Big Rivers within the time prescribed in Section 5.1, Big 
Rivers may discontinue delivery of any or all Electric Services hereunder upon 120 Hours prior 
written notice to Kenergy and Century of its intention to do so. Big Rivers’ discontinuance of 
such service for non-payment will not in any way affect, diminish or limit the obligations of 
Kenergy (or Century on behalf of Kenergy) to make all payments required under this Agreement 
or the Century Retail Agreement, as and when due. 

5.3 Default Interest. If any monthly invoice rendered by ig Rivers is not paid on the 
due date, interest will accrue and become payable by Kenergy to Big Rivers on all unpaid 
amounts at a rate of four percentage points over the Prime Rate commencing on the first day 
after the due date. 

5.4 Payments Under Protest. If any portion of any monthly statement is disputed by 
Kenergy (or Century), the disputed amount must be paid, under protest, when due. If the 
disputed amount of the payment is found to be incorrect, Big Rivers shall promptly cause to be 
refunded to Kenergy (or to Century on behalf of Kenergy, as applicable) the amount that was not 
then due and payable, together with interest at the Prime Rate commencing on the fmt day after 
the date of payment and accruing on each day thereafter until the date the refund is made. 

5.5 [Reserved.] 

5.6 No Waiver. No payment made by Kenergy (or Century on Kenergy’s behalf) 
pursuant to this Article 5 will constitute a waiver of any right of Kenergy (or Century) to contest 
the correctness of any charge or credit. 

5.7 No Pavment. In no case shall Big Rivers be obligated to make a payment to 
Kenergy in connection with the application of a credit to Menergy’s Monthly Charges except to 
the extent otherwise expressly provided in Section 10.2.l(a) with respect to Undeliverable 
Energy Sales. 
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passage of t h e  or the giving of notice constitute, an Event of Default and this Agreement does 
not provide any other remedy therefor, if such breach has not been cured by the breaching Party 
within 60 days after receiving written notice from the non-breaching Party setting forth, in 
reasonable detail, the nature of such breach, the non-breaching Party may bring a claim for 
money damages with respect to such breach and exercise its rights under Section 15.2, but will 
not be entitled to terminate, or seek to terminate, this Agreement, or suspend performance of its 
obligations and duties hereunder as a result of such breach. 

ARTICLE 15 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

15. 1 Resolution Meetings. If a dispute arises between the Parties concerning the terms 
or conditions of this Agreement, the duties or obligations of the Parties under this Agreement, or 
the implementation, interpretation or breach of this Agreement, either Party may request in 
writing a meeting among an authorized representative of each of the Parties and, if applicable, 
Century to discuss and attempt to reach a resolution of the dispute. Such meeting will take place 
within ten days or such shorter or longer time as agreed upon by the Parties of the request. 
Nothing in this Section 15.1 shall toll or extend the cure period with respect to the failure by a 
Party to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

15.2 Right to Pursue Rbhts and Remedies. Absent resolution of a dispute pursuant to 
Section 15.1, the Parties may pursue at any Governmental Authority all rights and remedies that 
they may have at law, in equity or pursuant to this Agreement subject to the limitations set forth 
in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article 15, each Party may at all times 
seek injunctive relief, where its delay in doing so could result in irreparable injury. 

ARTICLE 16 

GENERAL BROVISIOMS/SUCCES§ORS AND ASSIGN§ 

16.1 Binding Nature. This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon 
the Parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. No interest in this 
Agreement may be transferred or assigned by either Party, in whole or in part, by instrument or 
operation of law, without the prior written consent of the other Party, except as provided in 
Section 16.4, and except that, subject to satisfaction of the conditions of Section 16.2, 
assignment may be made by either Party to such Person as acquires all or substantially all the 
assets of the assigning Party or which merges with or acquires all or substantially all of the 
equity of such Party. When consent is required, consent may not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned or delayed. 

16.2 Limitation on Assignment. In no event may either Party assign this Agreement 
(including as part of a sale of all or substantially all the assets of the assigning Party or a merger 
with or purchase of substantially all the equity interests of such Party) (i) to any Person that does 
not have adequate financial capacity as demonstrated to the reasonabte satisfaction of the non- 
assigning Party or that would otherwise be unable to perform the obligations of the assigning 
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Party pursuant to this Agreement or (ii) on any terms at variance from those set forth in this . 
Agreement except as agreed to in writing by the Parties. 

16.3 Duties. No permitted assignment or transfer will change the duties of the Parties, 
or impair the performance under this Agreement except to the extent set forth in such permitted 
assignment and approved in writing by the Parties. No Party is released from its obligations 
under this Agreement pursuant to any assignment, unless such release is granted in writing. 

16.4 Financing Lien. Either P a y  may, without the approval of the other Party, assign 
this Agreement as collateral security or grant one or more mortgages (including one or more 
deeds of trust or indentures) on or security interests in its interest under this Agreement in 
connection with the general financing of its assets or operations. 

16.5 Big Rivers Restructuring. 

16.5.1 In connection with a Restructuring, Kenergy, Century, Alcan and Big 
Rivers shall determine a good faith estimate of the cumulative increase or decrease in the TER 
Adjustment that such Restructuring would cause in each Fiscal Year over the 24-Billing Month 
period following the date of the effectiveness of Restructuring (the “Restructuriniz Amount”). 
Any change in the Large Industrial Rate approved at the time of or in connection with the 
Restructuring shall not be considered as an effect of the Restructuring. Nothing in this 
Agreement, including this Section 16.5, shall limit the ability of Big Rivers to seek a change in 
or modification of the Large Industrial Rate in connection with the occurrence of a 
Restructuring. 

16.5.2 The Monthly Charge in each month of the 48-month period following 
the effectiveness of the Restructuring shall be increased or decreased, as applicable, by an 
amount equal to 1/48th of the product of the Restructuring Amount and the Applicable 
Percentage; provided, that the application of this Section 16.5 shall not result in Kenergy paying 
less than the sum of the Large Industrial Rate, the FAC Factor, the Environmental Surcharge 
Factor and the Non-FAC Purchased Power Adjustment Factor, all on a per M w h  basis, for a 
customer with a 98% load factor with respect to Base Monthly Energy in any Fiscal Year. 
Sample calculations for determining a Restructuring Amount are set forth in Exhibit A. 

16.5.3 This Section 16.5 shall not be applicable to any Restructuring 
undertaken in response to the loss of revenue caused by the termination of the Alcan Wholesale 
Agreement. 

16.5.4 If Century, Alcan, Kenergy and Big Rivers are not able to determine 
a mutually agreeable estimate of the Restructuring Amount, then Big Rivers, Kenergy, Century 
or Alcan may petition to the WSC to determine the Restructuring Amount. 

ARTICLE 17 

MISCELLANEOUS 

17.1 GoverninP Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted, governed by and construed 
under the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, without regard to its conflicts of law rules. 
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

1 
2 
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4 
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6 
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14 

15 

16 
17 

18 

19 
20 
21 

22 

ON OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, FO 

FOR APPROVAL OF ITS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 
RE URCH 

ENCE 
ESTABLTSH A REG‘IJLAT 

CASE NO. 2012-OOO63 

Response to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
equest for Information 

June 1,2012 

Item 44) 
Application in general. Please explain in complete detail the meaning of 
the statement that there will be “no immediate impact on th,eir 
[residential] bills.” 

Reference the Berry testimony at pages 13 and 14 and the 

a. 
b. 

Will there be one in the future? 
I f  so, by how much and when? 

Response) The s ta tement  that there  will be “no immediate impact on their  
[rural] bills” means  t h a t  in 2016, when the  construction of the  projects i n  the  2012 
Plan is complete, the cost of the  2012 Plan  included in  the ES tariff will be entirely 
mitigated by the  Member Rate Stability Mechanism (“MRSM”) and  the  Rural 
Economic Reserve (“RER’). 

a.,b. Yes. According to the  projections in  the  environmental cost plan 
financial model, the reserve accounts will become depleted in  2018. 
At  that t ime, t he  ru ra l  ra te  class should experience an increase of 
approximately 6.9%. See the direct testimony of John  Wolfram, 
pages 19 through 21, and  Exhibit Wolfram-6. 

Witness) John  Wolfram 
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BIG RIVERS E ECTRIC CORPORATI 

I 
2 
3 

4 

5 

6 
7 

8 
9 

10 
11 

12 

13 

14 
1.5 

16 

APPLICATION OF BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 
FOR APPROVAL OF ITS 2012 ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE PLAN, 

TS AMENDED ENVIRONMENTAL COST 

RTTY TO 
E OF PUBIJC 

onse to the Office of the Attorney General’s 
Initial Request for Information 

June 1, 201.2 

Item 45) 
contemplate thre use of th,e RER account to be used to satisfy any EPA 
related compliance costs? 

Did the Commission’s approval of the Unwind transaction 

Response) I n  its November 17, 2011, Order in  Big Rivers’ recent ra te  case, Case 
No. 201 1-00036, the  Commission approved a modification to Big Rivers’ RER tariff 
so that it would operate in t h e  same manner  as the  MRSM tariff,2 i.e., to mitigate 
charges under Big Rivers’ Eiiviroiimental Surcharge and Fuel  Adjustment Clause 
tariffs, except t ha t  the RER tariff only applies to the  Rural  class. Thus,  the RER 
tariff was modified with Cornmission approval to offset EPA related compliance 
costs subject to recovery through Big Rivers’ Environmental Surcharge tariff. 
None of the intervenors objected to that proposed modification. 

Witness) Mark A. Hite 

2 See Order dated November 17, 2011, in  In  the Matter of: Application of Big Rivers Electric 
Corporation for a General Adjustment in Rates, Case No. 2011-00036, a t  p. 35. 

Case No. 2012-00063 
Response to AG 1-45 

Witness: Mark A. Nite 
Page 1 of 1 


